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The SME Finance Facility Special Fund

Statement of comprehensive income
For the period ended 5 September 2016
Note

Disbursements for technical cooperation
Incentive fees
Performance fees
Other operating expenses
Net loss and comprehensive expense for the period
Attributable to:
Contributor

3

Period to

Year to

5 September 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

1,136
(1,137)
(21)
(22)

(2,468)
(4,831)
(8)
(27)
(7,334)

(22)

(7,334)

5 September 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

-

19,105
2
19,107

-

2,944
2,944

Balance sheet
At 5 September 2016
Note

Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Bank charges refundable
Total assets
Liabilities and contributor’s resources
Other financial liabilities
Total liabilities

5

Contributions
Reserves and accumulated loss
Total contributor’s resources

-

191,390
(175,227)
16,163

Total liabilities and contributor’s resources

-

19,107
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Statement of changes in contributor’s resources
For the period ended 5 September 2016
Accumulated
Contributions

At 31 December 2014
Total comprehensive expense for the year
At 31 December 2015
Contributions transferred
Total comprehensive expense for the period
At 5 September 2016

loss

Total

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

191,390
191,390
(191,390)
-

(167,893)
(7,334)
(175,227)
175,249
(22)
-

23,497
(7,334)
16,163
(16,141)
(22)
-

Statement of cash flows
For the period ended 5 September 2016
€ 000

Cash flows used in operating activities
Net loss for the period
Decrease/(increase) in operating assets
Bank charges refundable
Decrease in operating liabilities
Accrued expenses
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows used in financing activities
Contributions refunded
Net cash used in financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

Period to

Year to

5 September 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

(7,334)

(22)

(2)

2

(2,422)

(2,944)

(9,758)

(2,964)
-

(16,141)
(16,141)
(19,105)
19,105
-

2

€ 000

(9,758)
28,863
19,105

The SME Finance Facility Special Fund
Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
A. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Going concern
The financial statements for the SME Finance Facility Special Fund (“the Fund”) are presented on a basis
other than that of a going concern as the Fund terminated on 31 December 2015 and was subsequently
closed on 5 September 2016. In such circumstances all assets and liabilities are more appropriately reported
at net realisable value rather than historical cost.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
policies of the Fund. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
judgements and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in “Critical accounting
estimates and judgements” within the section for accounting policies.
New and amended IFRS mandatorily effective for the current reporting period
The following standards are effective for the reporting period.
Pronouncement
Amendments to:
IFRS 11: Joint
Arrangements
Amendments to:
IAS 1: Presentation of
Financial Statements

Nature of change
Provides guidance on the accounting for acquisitions of
interests in joint operations in which the activity constitutes
a business. Effective for accounting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2016.
Various amendments to improve presentation and disclosure
under IAS 1.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2016.

Amendments to:
IAS 16: Property,
Plant and Equipment
and
IAS 38: Intangible
Assets

Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation and
amortisation.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2016.

Potential Impact
The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its operations.
The Fund has assessed
the amendments to this
standard and noted that
they would not cause a
significant change in
how information is
currently being
presented and
disclosed.
The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its operations.

IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments is the IASB’s replacement project for IAS 39. The Standard has developed in
phases and was completed in July 2014 with a mandatory application date for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Fund adopted the first phase ‘recognition and measurement of
financial assets’ (November 2009) in its 2010 financial statements. See the accounting policy for financial
assets for more details.
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Accounting policies
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective and not adopted early
The following standards are not yet effective and have not been adopted early.
Pronouncement
IFRS 9
Financial Instruments

Nature of change
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(October 2010).
Hedge accounting (November 2013).

Potential Impact
As the Fund has now
terminated, there is no
potential impact of
adopting this standard

Impairment methodology and introduction of ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ measurement
category for financial assets represented by simple debt
instruments (July 2014).

Amendments to:
IFRS 10:
Consolidation
Financial Statements
and
IAS 28: Investments in
Associates and Joint
Ventures
IFRS 15: Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

IFRS 16: Leases

Amendments to:
IAS 7: Statement of
Cash Flows

IFRS 9 to be adopted in its entirety for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
Provides guidance for the accounting for the loss of control
of a subsidiary as a result of a transaction involving an
associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the
equity method.

As the Fund has now
terminated, there is no
potential impact of
adopting this standard

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined by the IASB.
Establishes principles for reporting useful information to
users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers.

As the Fund has now
terminated, there is no
potential impact of
adopting this standard

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a
contract, ie the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier
(‘lessor’).

As the Fund has now
terminated, there is no
potential impact of
adopting this standard

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019.
An entity shall provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes.

As the Fund has now
terminated, there is no
potential impact of
adopting this standard

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
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B. Significant accounting policies
Financial assets and financial liabilities
Assets and liabilities are measured at fair value. In the case of cash placements, the principal equates to fair
value given the short-term nature of such placements. The basis of fair value for share investments that are
unlisted is determined using valuation techniques appropriate to the market and industry of each investment.
The primary valuation technique used is net asset value.
The value of the financial liabilities equates to their fair value as these are expected to be settled for the
values disclosed on the balance sheet in the short-term.
Contributor's resources
The Fund recognises contributions received from the contributor as equity on the basis that the termination
of the contribution agreement would lead to the winding up of the Fund and the distribution of the residual
assets to the contributor.
Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents comprise
balances with less than three months maturity from the date of the transaction, which are available for use at
short notice and that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Performance fees
Performance fees, which represent payments to banks and leasing companies for lending to small and
medium-sized enterprises (SMEs), are recorded as expenditure over a five year period during which the
incentive can be earned by the banks and leasing companies if performance criteria with respect to sub-loan
portfolio quality are met.
Incentive fees
Incentive fees represent amounts incurred for the period by banks, for on-payment to sub-borrowers, to
encourage higher energy efficiency investment behaviours. Fees are recognised as a liability once the subproject has been verified by the verification consultant.
Interest
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis. Negative interest is recognised within ‘other operating expenses’ in
the income statement.
Disbursements for technical cooperation
Disbursements for technical cooperation, which represent payments for consultancy services provided to the
Fund over a period of time, are recorded as expenditure over the period during which the services are
received.
Taxation
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the European Bank for Reconstruction and
Development (“the AEB”) (“the Bank”), within the scope of its official activities, the Bank, its assets,
property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and duties levied upon goods and services
acquired or imported, except for those parts of taxes or duties that represent charges for public utility
services. As described in note 1, this exemption is extended to the Fund.
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C. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Preparing financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and judgements
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts included in the income statement during the reporting period. The Fund's share
investments were written off during the period.
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Risk management
The Fund was established to alleviate the financing problems of SMEs in Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Estonia,
Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia and Turkey (“the Accession countries”).
To achieve this, the Fund’s resources may be used to:
•
finance technical cooperation, which includes procuring consultancy services to assist
participating banks and leasing companies which on lend or extend leases to SMEs;
•
provide performance fees or other approved incentive fees to PFIs and to sub-borrowers under the
General SME and SME Energy Efficiency Sub-Window;
•
invest in equity funds which will invest in individual SMEs; and
•
finance technical cooperation involving technical assistance related to preparation of sustainable energy
projects, project preparation, marketing, training for PBs staff, feasibility and/or energy audits of Subprojects and verification.
As the primary purpose of the Fund is to assist the financing of SMEs in the Accession countries rather than
generate profits, not all financial risks are actively managed by the Fund. As the Fund participates in
investments jointly with the Bank, credit risk is jointly managed; however the Fund does not hedge against
market risk and is hence exposed to interest rate and equity price risk.
A. Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential loss to a portfolio that could result from the default of a counterparty or the
deterioration of its creditworthiness. The Fund may also be exposed to concentration risk, which is the risk
arising from too high a proportion of the portfolio being allocated to a specific country, industry sector or
obligor, or to a particular type of instrument or individual transaction.
On 5 September 2016 all of the Fund’s resources were transferred to the EU. As such, the Fund has no
exposure to credit risk.
B. Market risk
Market risk is the potential loss that could result from adverse market movements. The driver of market risk
for the Fund is interest rate risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. The length of time for which the rate of interest is fixed on a financial instrument indicates to
what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk.
On 5 September 2016 all of the Fund’s resources were transferred to the EU. As such, the Fund has no
exposure to market risk.
Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices.
On 5 September 2016 all of the Fund’s resources were transferred to the EU. As such, the Fund has no
exposure to equity price risk.
C. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
On 5 September 2016 all of the Fund’s resources were transferred to the EU. As such, the Fund has no
exposure to liquidity risk.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Creation of the Special Fund
The creation of the Fund was approved by the Board of Directors (“the Board”) of the Bank at its meeting of
7 April 1999 and is administered, inter alia, in accordance with the AEB and under the terms of the Rules
and Regulations of the Fund. On 19 April 1999, the Bank entered into a contribution arrangement in respect
of the Fund with the European Union (“EU”).
The Fund’s principal office is located in London at One Exchange Square, EC2A 2JN.
The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the AEB. The Fund is not part of the ordinary
capital resources of the Bank, but any privileges and immunities available to the Bank are extended to the
Fund.
The Fund comprises two windows: (i) the Loan, Guarantee and Leasing Window (incorporating the Rural
Sub-Window and the SME Energy Efficiency Sub-Window) and (ii) the Equity Window.
All payments from the Fund were completed on 29 June 2016. On receipt of a debit note and following the
final transaction, the Fund was closed on 5 September 2016.
2. President’s responsibilities
The President is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS issued by the
IASB.
3. Disbursements for technical cooperation

Commitments

Undrawn

approved
€ 000

Disbursements
€ 000

commitments
€ 000

65,588

(62,179)

3,409

(2,468)

(2,519)

Total projects
At 31 December 2014
Movement in the year

(51)

At 31 December 2015
Movement in the period
At 5 September 2016

65,537

(64,647)

890

(2,026)

1,136

(890)

63,511

(63,511)

-

4. Share investments
IFRS 7 specifies classification of fair values on the basis of a three-level hierarchy of valuation
methodologies. The classifications are determined based on whether the inputs used in the measurement of
fair values are observable or unobservable. The fair values of the Fund's share investments have been
classified as Level 3, that is, those which have fair values determined by inputs not based on observable
market data.
The Fund’s share investments were written off to nil in the period.
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The table below provides information about the Fund's share investments.
5 September 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

876

876

Outstanding disbursements
At 1 January
Share investment written off

-

(876)

As at

-

876

Fair value adjustment
At 1 January

(876)

Movement in fair value revaluation

(876)
-

876

As at

-

As at

-

(876)
-

5. Other financial liabilities
5 September 2016
€ 000

31 December 2015
€ 000

Disbursements for technical cooperation payable

-

2,713

Incentive fees payable

-

228

Interest payable

-

3

As at

-

2,944

6. Undrawn commitments
5 September 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

Disbursements for technical cooperation

-

890

Incentive fees

-

8,870

Performance fees

-

27

As at

-

9,787

This represents amounts for which the fund has contracted but for which the transaction or service was not
undertaken during the period.
7. Analysis of current and non-current assets and liabilities
All assets and liabilities on the balance sheet were classified as current for 2015.
8. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
Since the Fund has been closed, no assets or liabilities exist as at 5 September 2016. All assets and liabilities
presented on the balance sheet approximated their fair value at 31 December 2015.
9. Events after the reporting period
There have been no material events since the reporting date that would require disclosure or adjustment to
these financial statements.
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10. Related parties
The Fund’s related parties are the Bank and the contributor.
The Bank is entitled to charge the Fund a management fee of an amount equal to 1.25 per cent of
contributions received. There were no management fees paid by the Fund to the Bank during the period
(2015: nil) and no amount is payable by the Fund to the Bank at 5 September 2016 (2015: nil). External
auditor’s remuneration in 2016 of €6,800 (2015: €7,700) is payable by the Bank from this management fee.
In 2014 the Bank approved an extension of the term of appointment from four years to five with a maximum
of two consecutive terms. Deloitte LLP (UK) completed its first four-year term in 2014 and has been reappointed for the five year period 2015 - 2019.
During the period the Bank reimbursed the Fund €700 of bank charges (2015: €2,300) none of which were
receivable at the end of the period (2015: €1,800).
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GOVERNORS OF THE EUROPEAN BANK FOR
RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT (“THE BANK”)
Report on the financial statements
We have audited the financial statements of the SME Finance Facility Special Fund (“the Fund”) for the period ended 5
September 2016 which comprise the statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the statement of changes in
contributor’s resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting policies, the risk management statement and the related
notes 1 to 10. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is the International Financial
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.
President’s responsibility for the financial statements
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal
control as the President determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor's responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Financial Statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the Financial Statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the Financial
Statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the Bank’s preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Bank’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the Financial
Statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the SME Finance Facility
Special Fund as at 5 September 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the period then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.
Emphasis of matter - Financial statements prepared other than on a going concern basis
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we have considered the adequacy of the disclosure
made in the Basis of preparation to the financial statements, which explains that the financial statements have been prepared on a
basis other than that of a going concern.
Other reporting responsibilities
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the Financial Statements are not in agreement with the accounting records, if the proper
accounting records have not been kept, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
We have nothing to report in connection with these matters.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank in accordance with Article 24 of the Agreement
Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for the use of the contributor and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this
opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this Report is shown or into
whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants
London, United Kingdom
14 December 2016
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The Balkan Region Special Fund
Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Note

Fee income
Other operating expenses
Net profit and comprehensive income for the year
Attributable to:
Contributors

3

Year to

Year to

31 December

31 December

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

40

34

(38)

(15)

2

19

2

19

31 December

31 December

Balance sheet
At 31 December 2016

2015

2016
Note

Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Other financial assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Contributors’ resources
Contributions
Accumulated loss
Total contributors’ resources
Total liabilities

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

7,929

7,932
4

5

6

Memorandum items
Guarantees*

*See section on credit risk exposures on page 9 for additional details.

1

€ 000

14

32

7,946

7,961

16

33

9,779

9,779

(1,849)

(1,851)
7,930

7,928

7,946

7,961

4,940

7,733

The Balkan Region Special Fund
Statement of changes in contributors’ resources
For the year ended 31 December 2016
Accumulated

At 31 December 2014
Total comprehensive income for the year
At 31 December 2015
Total comprehensive income for the year
At 31 December 2016

Contributions

loss

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

9,779

(1,870)

7,909

-

Total

19

19

9,779
-

(1,851)
2

7,928
2

9,779

(1,849)

7,930

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2016

€ 000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit for the year
Adjustment for:
Decrease in operating assets:
Fee income receivable
Increase in operating liabilities:
Accrued expenses
Net cash from operating activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

2

19

1

4

€ 000

2

3

2

€ 000

25

3

25

7,929

7,904

7,932

7,929

The Balkan Region Special Fund
Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
A. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"). The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss. The financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
policies of the Balkan Region Special Fund (“the Fund”). The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where judgements and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are
disclosed in “Critical accounting estimates and judgements” within the section for Accounting Policies.
New and amended IFRS mandatorily effective for the current reporting period
There are a number of amendments to standards effective for the current reporting period which have no or
negligible impact on the Fund’s financial statements, namely:
 IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
 IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements
 IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment
 IAS 38: Intangible Assets
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments is the IASB’s replacement project for IAS 39. The Standard has developed in
phases and was completed in July 2014 with a mandatory application date for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Fund adopted the first phase ‘recognition and measurement of
financial assets’ (November 2009) in its 2010 financial statements. See the accounting policy for financial
assets for more details.
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective and not adopted early
The following standards are not yet effective and have not been adopted early.
Pronouncement
Amendments to:
IFRS 2: Share-based
Payment

Amendments to:
IFRS 4: Insurance
Contracts

IFRS 9
Financial Instruments

Nature of change
Accounting for a modification of a share-based payment
transaction that changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Provides guidance for insurers in applying IFRS 9:
Financial Instruments with IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(October 2010).
Hedge accounting (November 2013).
Impairment methodology and introduction of ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ measurement
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Potential Impact
The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.

The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.
The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

The Balkan Region Special Fund
category for financial assets represented by simple debt
instruments (July 2014).

Amendments to:
IFRS 10:
Consolidation
Financial Statements
and
IAS 28: Investments in
Associates and Joint
Ventures
IFRS 15: Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

IFRS 16: Leases

Amendments to:
IAS 7: Statement of
Cash Flows

Amendments to:
IAS 12: Income Taxes

IFRS 9 to be adopted in its entirety for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Provides guidance for accounting for the loss of control of a
subsidiary as a result of a transaction involving an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method.

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined by the IASB.
Establishes principles for reporting useful information to
users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers.

The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a
contract, i.e. the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier
(‘lessor’).

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019.
An entity shall provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes.

This is a disclosure
requirement only
which the Fund will
comply with in 2017.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
Clarifies the requirements on recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at
fair value
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.

The Fund is exempt
from all forms of
direct taxes and so this
Standard is not
applicable.

B. Significant accounting policies
Financial assets - Classification and measurement
The Fund early adopted the first instalment of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, concerning the classification
and measurement of financial assets, with effect from 1 January 2010. Pursuant to that adoption, the Fund
classifies its financial assets in the following categories: those measured at amortised cost and those
measured at fair value. This classification depends on both the contractual characteristics of the assets and
the business model adopted for their management.
Financial assets at amortised cost
An investment is classified as ‘amortised cost’ only if both of the following criteria are met: the objective of
the Fund’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flow; and the contractual terms
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding, interest being consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated with the
principal amount outstanding.
Investments meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less any impairment. The Fund’s financial assets at amortised cost are
recognised at settlement date.
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Financial assets at fair value
If either of the two criteria above is not met, the debt instrument is classified as ‘fair value through profit or
loss’. The Fund does not currently have any such assets in this category.
Financial liabilities
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to financial liabilities and therefore still
applies IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
All financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, except for financial guarantees which are measured in
accordance with IAS 39, as described under ‘Financial guarantees’ below.
Financial guarantees
The Fund provides guarantees to the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development ("the Bank") to
cover principal losses the Bank may incur from providing its own guarantees under its Trade Facilitation
Programme ("TFP"). The Fund's resources are allocated into a TFP sub-account and the TFP guarantees are
provided on a first-loss basis.
When a guarantee is issued, it is initially recognised at its fair value. This is measured as the present value of
the fees to be received by the Fund for the provision of those guarantees. This initial fair value represents
both an asset for the Fund and a liability for the same amount.
The initial fair value for both the asset and the liability is subsequently amortised to nil over the life of the
guarantee using the effective interest rate method, unless it is both probable that the guarantee will need to
be settled and the settlement amount can be reliably estimated. In this case, the liability is measured at the
higher of the initial fair value less cumulative amortisation or the expenditure required to settle the
commitment at the balance sheet date.
Financial guarantees are recognised within other financial assets and other financial liabilities.
Contributors’ resources
The Fund recognises contributions received from contributors as a liability on the basis that should a
contributor choose to withdraw from the Fund, the Fund is obligated to return such contributions to the
extent these are not needed to meet existing commitments and obligations of the Fund.
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Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents
comprise balances with less than three months maturity from the date of the transaction, which
are available for use at short notice and that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Foreign currencies
The Fund’s reporting currency for the presentation of its financial statements is the euro (€).
Foreign currency transactions are initially translated into euro using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions, and from the translation at the year-end exchange rate of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, are included in the income statement.
Contributions
Contributions received in currencies other than euro are translated into euro at the exchange rates ruling at
the time of the transaction.
Interest and fees
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis. Interest income is recognised within 'interest income' in the income
statement. Interest expense is recognised in 'operating expenses' in the income statement.
Fees received in respect of services provided over a period of time are recognised as income as the services
are provided. Other fees and commissions are classed as income when received.
Taxation
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank ("the AEB"), within the scope of its
official activities, the Bank, its assets, property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and
duties levied upon goods and services acquired or imported, except for those parts of taxes or duties that
represent charges for public utility services. As described in note 1, this exemption is extended to the Fund.
C. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Preparing financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and judgements
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts included in the income statement during the reporting period.
The Fund’s critical accounting estimates and judgements are as follows:
Financial guarantees
The Fund's method for determining the TFP financial guarantees is described under "Financial guarantees"
within the accounting policies section of the report and further explained under credit risk within the risk
management section of the report.
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Risk management
The Fund was established to assist the reconstruction of the Balkan Countries through the Bank’s Balkan
Region Action Plan, by providing funds to finance investments and technical cooperation activities and to
provide guarantees.
As the purpose of the Fund is to promote development in the Balkan Countries rather than to generate a
return on its assets, not all financial risks are actively managed by the Fund. Credit risk is jointly managed
with the Bank; however the Fund does not hedge against market risk and is hence exposed to foreign
exchange risk and interest rate risk.
Risk governance
The Fund follows the Bank's risk governance procedures as below:
The Bank’s overall framework for identifying and managing risks is underpinned by the Banking VicePresidency being the first line of defence related to debt and equity operations and an independent second
line of defence control functions, including the Risk Management department, Office of the Chief
Compliance Officer, Environmental and Social Department, Finance Department, Evaluations Department
and other relevant units. An Internal Audit Department acts as third line of defence and independently
assesses the effectiveness of the processes within the first and second lines of defence. The Vice President,
Risk and Compliance, Chief Risk Officer (CRO) is responsible for ensuring the independent risk
management of the Banking exposures, including adequate processes and governance structure for
independent identification, measurement, monitoring and mitigation of risks incurred by the Bank. The
challenge of the control functions, review of their status and assessment of their ability to perform duties
independently falls within the remit of the Audit Committee of the Board.
Matters related to Bank-wide risk and associated policies and procedures are considered by the Risk
Committee. The Risk Committee is accountable to the President. It oversees all aspects of the Banking
portfolio across all sectors and countries, and provides advice on Risk Management policies, measures and
controls. It also approves proposals for new products submitted by Banking. The membership comprises
senior managers across the Bank including representatives from Risk Management, Finance, Banking and
the Office of the General Counsel.
The Risk Committee is chaired by the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO.
The Managing Director, Risk Management reports to the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO and leads the
overall management of the department. Risk Management provides an independent assessment of risks
associated with individual investments undertaken by the Bank, and performs an ongoing review of the
portfolio to monitor credit, market and liquidity risks and to identify appropriate risk management actions. It
also assesses and proposes ways to manage risks arising from correlations and concentrations within the
portfolio, and ensures that adequate systems and controls are put in place for identifying and managing
operational risks across the Bank. It develops and maintains the Risk Management policies to facilitate
Banking and Treasury operations and promotes risk awareness across the Bank.
In exercising its responsibilities, Risk Management is guided by its mission to:
•
Provide assurance to stakeholders that risk decision-making in the Bank is balanced and within agreed
appetite, and that control processes are rigorously designed and applied; and
•
Support the Bank’s business strategy including the maximisation of transition impact through provision
of efficient and effective delivery of risk management advice, challenge and decision making.
A. Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential loss to a portfolio that could result from the default of a counterparty or the
deterioration of its creditworthiness. The Fund may also be exposed to concentration risk, which is the risk
arising from too high a proportion of the portfolio being allocated to a specific country, industry sector or
obligor, or to a particular type of instrument or individual transaction.
The Fund is exposed to credit risk as counterparties could default on their contractual obligations.
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The carrying amounts of financial assets presented on the balance sheet, together with the guarantees as
shown under memorandum items, best represents the Fund’s maximum exposure to credit risk at 31
December 2016 and 31 December 2015, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit
enhancements.
Credit risk management and measurement
As previously stated, the Fund participates jointly with the Bank in the financing of investments in the
Bank’s countries of operations. It therefore benefits from the same governance process employed by the
Bank in the measurement and management of credit exposures, which is described below.
Underlying principles and procedures
The Board of Directors ("the Board") approves a document that defines the principles underlying the credit
process for the approval, management and review of Banking exposures. The Audit Committee periodically
reviews these principles and its review is submitted to the Board for approval.
Individual projects
The Operations Committee reviews all Banking projects prior to their submission for Board approval. The
Committee is chaired by the First Vice President and Head of Client Services Group and its membership
comprises senior managers of the Bank, including the VP Risk & Compliance, CRO and the Managing
Director, Risk Management. A number of frameworks for smaller projects are considered by the Small
Business Investment Committee or by senior management under a delegated authority framework supervised
by the Operations Committee. The project approval process is designed to ensure compliance with the
Bank’s criteria for sound banking, transition impact and additionality. It operates within the authority
delegated by the Board, via the President, to approve projects within Board-approved framework operations.
The Operations Committee is also responsible for approving significant changes to existing operations.
Risk Management conducts reviews of all exposures within the Banking portfolio. At each review, Risk
Management assesses whether there has been any change in the risk profile of the exposure, recommends
actions to mitigate risk and reconfirms or adjusts the risk rating. It also reviews the fair value of equity
investments.
Portfolio level review
Risk Management reports on the development of the portfolio as a whole on a quarterly basis to the Audit
Committee of the Board. The report includes a summary of key factors affecting the portfolio and provides
analysis and commentary on trends within the portfolio and various sub-portfolios. It also includes reporting
on compliance with all portfolio risk limits including an explanation of any limit breaches.
To identify emerging risk and enable appropriate risk mitigating actions Risk Management also conducts
regular Bank-wide (top-down) and country level (bottom-up) stress testing exercises and comprehensive
reviews of its investment portfolios. The Bank recognises that any resulting risk mitigation is constrained by
the limited geographical space within which the Bank operates.
EBRD internal ratings
Probability of default (PD)
The Bank assigns its internal risk ratings to all counterparties, including borrowers, investee companies,
guarantors and sovereigns in the Banking portfolio. Risk ratings reflect the financial strength of the
counterparty as well as consideration of any implicit support, for example from a major shareholder. The
sovereign rating takes into consideration the ratings assigned by external rating agencies. For non-sovereign
operations, probability of default ratings are normally capped by the sovereign rating, except where the
Bank has recourse to a guarantor from outside the country which may have a better rating than the local
sovereign rating.
The table below shows the Bank’s internal probability of default rating scale from 1.0 (lowest risk) to nonperforming (highest risk) and how this maps to the external ratings of Standard & Poor’s (S&P). References
to risk rating through this text relate to probability of default ratings unless otherwise specified.
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EBRD risk
rating category
1

EBRD risk rating

External rating equivalent

Category name

1.0
1.7
2.0
2.3/2.5
2.7
3.0
3.3
3.7
4.0
4.3
4.7
5.0
5.3
5.7
6.0
6.3
6.7
7.0
7.3
8.0

AAA
AA+
AA
AAA+
A
ABBB+
BBB
BBBBB+
BB
BBB+
B
BCCC+
CCC
CCC-/CC/C
D

Excellent

2

3

4

5

6

7
8

Broader category

Very Strong

Strong

Investment Grade

Good

Fair

Risk class 5

Weak

Risk class 6

Special Attention

Classified

Non-performing

Loss given default (LGD)
The Bank assigns loss given default percentages on a scale of 0 to 100 determined by the seniority of the
instrument in which the Bank invested.
Non-performing (NP)
NP definition
An asset is designated as non-performing when either the borrower is more than 90 days past due on
payment to any material creditor, or when Risk Management considers that the counterparty is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations in full without recourse by the Bank to actions such as realising security, if held.
Credit risk exposures
Placements with credit institutions
The Fund’s placements with credit institutions were classified in internal credit rating risk category 2
(approximately AA+ to AA- in terms of S&P equivalent).
Other financial assets
Other financial assets represent guarantee fees payable by the Bank to the Fund and the initial fair value
balance of guarantee assets less cumulative amortisation.
Guarantees
At 31 December 2016, the Bank had outstanding guarantees under the Balkan Region TFP for which, in the
event of a future default, losses incurred by the Bank will be refunded in part from the resources of the Fund.
At 31 December 2016, the Fund’s maximum exposure under such guarantees was €4.9 million
(2015: €7.7 million).
No amounts are currently recognised as required to settle a guarantee commitment (2015: nil). The
guarantee liability shown within ‘other financial liabilities’ on the balance sheet represents the initial fair
value recognised when the guarantees were issued less cumulative amortisation. The Fund does not actively
manage credit risk on its guarantee exposure.
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B. Market risk
Market risk is the potential loss that could result from adverse market movements. The driver of market risk
for the Fund is interest rate risk.
Market risk management and measurement
As discussed at the beginning of the Risk Management section, the Fund does not actively monitor or hedge
against market risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. The length of time for which the rate of interest is fixed on a financial instrument indicates to
what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk.
The Fund's placements are repriced to market interest rates within one month, therefore the exposure to
interest rate risk is considered to be minimal.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Fund does not hold any assets or liabilities of non-euro denomination as at 31 December 2016, hence it
is not exposed to any foreign exchange risk.
C. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Fund’s Rules and regulations require guarantees are financed from the resources of the Fund, which
comprise contributions received.
Accordingly, the Fund cannot commit more than the available resources and cannot borrow funds to finance
operations. The Fund’s guarantees are limited to the resources of the TFP sub-account. The Fund recognises
contributions received as a liability, which may be returned to a contributor upon termination of a
contribution agreement. Amounts returned are based on the Fund’s net assets and take into account any
existing commitments and guarantees. As a result, the Fund’s exposure to liquidity risk is considered to be
minimal.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Creation of the Special Fund
The creation of the Fund was approved by the Board at its meeting on 15 September 1999 and is
administered, inter alia, in accordance with the AEB and under the terms of the Rules and Regulations of the
Fund. The Fund became operational on 7 December 1999 following the signing of the first contribution
agreement.
The Fund’s principal office is located in London at One Exchange Square, EC2A 2JN.
The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the AEB. The Fund is not part of the ordinary
capital resources of the Bank, but any privileges and immunities available to the Bank are extended to the
Fund.
2. President’s responsibilities
The President is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS issued by the
IASB.
3. Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses comprised the following:

Audit fees

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

7

8

Interest expense

31

7

At 31 December

38

15

The Bank pays the auditor’s remuneration on behalf of the Fund, who in turn reimburses the Bank in full. At
31 December 2016 €6,700 (2015: €7,700) is payable to the Bank in relation to the 2016 external audit. In
2014 the Bank approved an extension of the external auditor’s term of appointment from four years to five
with a maximum of two consecutive terms. Deloitte LLP (UK) completed its first four-year term in 2014 and
has been re-appointed for the five year period 2015-2019.
The fall in the fee for the audit paid to the Fund’s external auditor from 2015 to 2016 is attributable to
movements in the value of pound sterling. The pound sterling equivalent of these fees was £5,800 (2015:
£5,700).
4. Other financial assets

Fee income receivable from financial guarantees
Unamortised fair value of TFP financial guarantees
At 31 December

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

7

8

7

24

14

32

5. Other financial liabilities

Unamortised fair value of TFP financial guarantees
Audit fees payable
Interest payable
At 31 December

11

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

7

24

7

8

2

1

16

33
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6. Contributions
Contributions received are set out below.
2016

2016

2015

€ 000

%

€ 000

%

Austria

276

2.8

276

2.8

Canada

1,472

15.1

1,472

15.1

750

7.7

750

7.7

Norway

1,568

16.0

1,568

16.0

Switzerland

4,218

43.1

4,218

43.1

Taipei China

1,495

15.3

1,495

15.3

At 31 December

9,779

100.0

9,779

100.0

Cumulative contributions received

Denmark

2015

7. Analysis of current and non-current assets and liabilities
The table below provides the classification of current and non-current assets and liabilities in the balance
sheet.
Current

Non-current

Total

Current

Non-current

2016

2016

2016

2015

2015

Total
2015

Assets

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

Placements with credit institutions

7,932

-

7,932

7,929

-

7,929

Other financial assets
Total assets

12
7,944

2
2

14
7,946

29
7,958

3
3

32
7,961

Liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Total contributors' resources

(14)
(7,930)

(2)
-

(16)
(7,930)

(30)
(7,928)

(3)
-

(33)
(7,928)

Total liabilities

(7,944)

(2)

(7,946)

(7,958)

(3)

(7,961)

8. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet approximate to their
fair value.
9. Events after the reporting period
There have been no material events since the reporting date that would require disclosure or adjustment to
these financial statements.
10. Related parties
The Fund’s related parties are the Bank and the contributors.
The Bank is entitled to charge the Fund a management fee of an amount equal to 2.5 and 5 per cent of
contributions received. As there were no contributions received in 2016, there were no management fees
paid by the Fund to the Bank (2015: nil) and there was no accrued management fee payable by the Fund to
the Bank at 31 December 2016 (2015: nil). Also during 2016, the Fund received fees from the Bank in
relation to TFP guarantees of €40,000 (2015: €34,000), of which €7,000 are receivable as at 31 December
2016 (2015: €8,000).
Audit fees payable to the Bank are outlined in note 3.
Contributions received from the contributors are outlined in note 6.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GOVERNORS OF THE EUROPEAN BANK FOR
RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT (“THE BANK”)
Report on the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the Balkan Region Special Fund (“the Fund”) for the year ended 31
December 2016 which comprise the statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the statement of changes in
contributors’ resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting policies, the risk management statement and the
related notes 1 to 10.
In our opinion the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Balkan Region
Special Fund as at 31 December 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the United Kingdom, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
President’s responsibility for the financial statements
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal
control as the President determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the President is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The President is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's
internal control.
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the President.
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of the President’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going
concern.
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records, if the
proper accounting records have not been kept, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require
for our audit. We have nothing to report in connection with these matters.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank in accordance with Article 24 of the
Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for the use of the contributor and for no other purpose. We do
not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this
Report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants
London, United Kingdom
5 April 2017
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Statement of comprehensive income
Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

For the year ended 31 December 2016
Note

Net unrealised gains from share investments
Write-off of share investments
Foreign exchange movement
Other operating expenses
Net (loss)/profit and comprehensive (expense)/income for the year
Attributable to:

3

Contributors

€ 000

€ 000

75

3,031

(97)

(2,372)

(7)

29

(21)

(10)

(50)

678

(50)

678

Balance sheet
At 31 December 2016

31 December 2016
Note

Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Share investments
Total assets

€ 000

€ 000

31 December 2015
€ 000

€ 000

3,760
658

3,788

4,418

4,468

Liabilities
Audit fees payable

7

8

Interest payable

1

-

4

680

Contributors' resources
Contributions
Reserves and retained earnings

5

2,650

6

1,760

2,650
1,810

Contributors' resources

4,410

4,460

Total liabilities

4,418

4,468
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Statement of changes in contributors’ resources
For the year ended 31 December 2016
Contributions
€ 000
2,650
2,650
2,650

At 31 December 2014
Total comprehensive income for the year
At 31 December 2015
Total comprehensive expense for the year
At 31 December 2016

Special

Retained

reserve

earnings

€ 000
173
173
173

€ 000
959
678
1,637
(50)
1,587

Total
€ 000
3,782
678
4,460
(50)
4,410

Statement of cash flows
Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

For the year ended 31 December 2016
€ 000

Cash flows (used in)/from operating activities
Net (loss)/profit and comprehensive (expense)/income for the year
Adjustments for:
Net interest
Net unrealised gains from share investments
Write-off of impaired share investments
Foreign exchange movement

€ 000

14
(75)
97
7
(7)

2
(3,031)
2,372
(29)
(8)

(14)

(2)

-

54

1
(1)

1
(21)
(21)
3,788
(7)
3,760

2

€ 000

678

(50)

Net interest paid
Decrease in operating assets:
Proceeds from sale of share investments
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:
Interest payable
Audit fees payable
Net cash (used in)/from operating activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

€ 000

45
45
3,714
29
3,788
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Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
A. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).
Going concern
In July 2006 the Baltic Investment Special Fund (the “Fund”) was terminated by the Board of Directors of
the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“the Bank”), following a request from the
contributors to the Fund. In accordance with the Rules and Regulations (“the Rules”) of the Fund, the net
assets then available were returned to the contributors with provision for future distributions to occur as and
when a minimum amount of €3 million becomes available (refer to note 1). This is dependent upon the Fund
realising its remaining share investments. The Fund will continue to incur fees from the managers of the
investments until they have been realised. These fees are not expected to be significant and the financial
statements do not include any provision for the future costs of terminating the Fund, except to the extent that
such costs were committed at the end of the reporting period. There are no other costs expected to be
incurred in relation to termination of the Fund. Once all share investments have been realised, the Fund’s
remaining cash resources will be returned to the contributions regardless of whether they exceed €3 million.
The financial statements for the Fund are therefore presented on a basis other than that of a going concern as
the Fund is in the process of being wound up. In such circumstances all assets and liabilities are more
appropriately reported at net realisable value rather than historical cost. No material adjustments arose from
ceasing to apply the going concern basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses.
For the Fund, the exercise of judgement is required for the valuation of unlisted share investments, which is
explained in “Critical accounting estimates and judgements” within the section for accounting policies.
New and amended IFRS mandatorily effective for the current reporting period
There are a number of amendments to standards effective for the current reporting period which have no or
negligible impact on the Fund’s financial statements, namely:
 IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
 IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements
 IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment
 IAS 38: Intangible Assets
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments is the IASB’s replacement project for IAS 39. The Standard has developed in
phases and was completed in July 2014 with a mandatory application date for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Fund adopted the first phase ‘recognition and measurement of
financial assets’ (November 2009) in its 2010 financial statements. See the accounting policy for financial
assets for more details.
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IFRS not yet mandatorily effective and not adopted early
The following standards are not yet effective and have not been adopted early.
Pronouncement
Amendments to:
IFRS 2: Share-based
Payment

Amendments to:
IFRS 4: Insurance
Contracts

IFRS 9
Financial Instruments

Nature of change
Accounting for a modification of a share-based payment
transaction that changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Provides guidance for insurers in applying IFRS 9:
Financial Instruments with IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(October 2010).
Hedge accounting (November 2013).

Potential Impact
The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.

The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.
The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Impairment methodology and introduction of ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ measurement
category for financial assets represented by simple debt
instruments (July 2014).

Amendments to:
IFRS 10:
Consolidation
Financial Statements
and
IAS 28: Investments in
Associates and Joint
Ventures
IFRS 15: Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

IFRS 16: Leases

Amendments to:
IAS 7: Statement of
Cash Flows

Amendments to:
IAS 12: Income Taxes

IFRS 9 to be adopted in its entirety for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Provides guidance for accounting for the loss of control of a
subsidiary as a result of a transaction involving an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method.

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined by the IASB.
Establishes principles for reporting useful information to
users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers.

The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a
contract, i.e. the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier
(‘lessor’).

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019.
An entity shall provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes.

This is a disclosure
requirement only
which the Fund will
comply with in 2017.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
Clarifies the requirements on recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at
fair value
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
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The Baltic Investment Special Fund
B. Significant accounting policies
Financial assets and financial liabilities
As the Fund is in the process of being wound up, assets and liabilities are measured at fair value. In the case
of cash placements, the principal equates to fair value given the short-term nature of such placements.
All of the share investments held by the Fund are measured at fair value through profit or loss.
The basis of fair value for share investments that are unlisted is determined using valuation techniques
appropriate to the market and industry of each investment. The primary valuation technique used is net asset
value.
The Fund’s share investments are recognised on a trade date basis.
At initial recognition, the Fund measures these assets at their fair value. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in the income statement. Such assets are carried at
fair value on the balance sheet with changes in fair value included in the income statement in the period in
which they occur.
Derecognition of financial assets
The Fund derecognises a financial asset, or a portion of a financial asset, where the contractual rights to that
asset have expired or where the rights to further cash flows from the asset have been transferred to a third
party and, with them, either:
(i) substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or
(ii) significant risks and rewards, along with the unconditional ability to sell or pledge the asset.
Contributors’ resources
The Fund recognises contributions received from contributors as a liability on the basis that should a
contributor choose to withdraw from the Fund, the Fund is obligated to return such contributions to the
extent these are not needed to meet existing commitments and obligations of the Fund.
Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents comprise
balances with less than three months maturity from the date of the transaction, which are available for use at
short notice and that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Foreign currencies
The Fund’s reporting currency for the presentation of its financial statements is the euro (€).
Foreign currency transactions are initially translated into euro using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions, and from the translation at the year-end exchange rate of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, are included in the income statement.
Interest
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis. Interest income is recognised within 'interest income' in the income
statement. Interest expense is recognised in 'operating expenses' in the income statement.
Taxation
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank (“the AEB”), within the scope of its
official activities, the Bank, its assets, property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and
duties levied upon goods and services acquired or imported, except for those parts of taxes or duties that
represent charges for public utility services. As described in note 1, this exemption is extended to the Fund.
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C. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Preparing financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and judgements
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts included in the income statement during the reporting period.
The Fund’s critical accounting estimates and judgements are as follows:
Fair value of share investments
The Fund’s method for determining the fair value of share investments is described under “Financial assets”
within the accounting policies section of the report and an analysis of the share investment portfolio is
provided in note 4. Where unobservable market data has been used, a sensitivity analysis has been included
within the risk management section of the report.

Risk management
The Fund’s financial risks can be summarised as follows:








Credit risk is limited to the financial institutions with whom the Fund places its cash which, at
31 December 2016, were accorded the Bank’s second-highest internal credit rating risk category,
approximating to a rating of AA+ to AA- in terms of S&P equivalent. The carrying amount of
placements presented on the balance sheet represents the Fund's maximum exposure to credit risk
at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015;
As the Fund’s placements are re-priced to market interest rates within one month, its exposure to
interest rate risk is considered minimal;
The fund does not hold any assets or liabilities of non-euro denomination, nor does it have any
non-euro commitments, hence it is not exposed to any foreign exchange risk;
The Fund is exposed to equity price risk in respect of its share investments – i.e. that its portfolio
will be impacted by general volatility in equity markets reflective of its investments. Based on the
absolute five year average movement in the Stoxx EU Enlarged TMI index, the potential impact on
the Fund’s net profit from a 9 per cent movement (2015: 13 per cent) in equity prices is +/€59,000 (2015: +/- €88,000).
The Fund is not considered to be exposed to liquidity risk as it has no liabilities other than the
obligation to return to contributors their pro rata share of net assets as they become available for
distribution in accordance with the Rules of the Fund.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Creation and termination of the Fund
The Fund, whose objective was to promote private sector development through support for small and
medium sized entities in the Baltic States, was established in accordance with Article 18 of the AEB. The
Board of Directors approved its creation in April 1992 and, at the request of its contributors, terminated the
Fund in July 2006. Pending the realisation and distribution of all remaining net assets in the Fund, the Fund
continues to be administered, inter alia, in accordance with the AEB and its Rules. The Fund is not part of
the ordinary capital resources of the Bank, but any privileges and immunities available to the Bank are
extended to the Fund.
Net assets available to return to the contributors exceeded €3 million as at 31 December 2016. The Fund will
be returning the excess in accordance with instructions from the contributors.
The Fund’s principal office is located in London at One Exchange Square, EC2A 2JN.
2. President’s responsibilities
The President is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS issued by the
IASB.
3. Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses are comprised of the following:

Audit fees
Interest expense
At 31 December

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

7
14
21

8
2
10

The Bank pays the external auditor’s remuneration on behalf of the Fund, which in turn reimburses the Bank
in full. At 31 December 2016 €6,700 (2015: €7,700) is payable to the Bank in relation to the 2016 external
audit. In 2014 the Bank approved an extension of the term of appointment from four years to five with a
maximum of two consecutive terms. Deloitte LLP (UK) completed its first four year term in 2014 and has
been reappointed for the five year period 2015 - 2019.
The fall in the fee for the audit paid to the Fund’s external auditor from 2015 to 2016 is attributable to
movements in the value of pound sterling. The pound sterling equivalent of these fees was £5,800 (2015:
£5,700).
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4. Share investments
IFRS 7 specifies classification of fair values on the basis of a three-level hierarchy of valuation
methodologies. The classifications are determined based on whether the inputs used in the measurement of
fair values are observable or unobservable. The fair values of the Fund's share investments have been
classified as Level 3, that is, those which have fair values determined by inputs not based on observable
market data.
The main valuation technique used in the valuation of these share investments is net asset value. Reasonably
plausible alternative valuations have been determined based on an adjustment to the portfolio discount
applied to equity funds and would lead to a favourable change in value of €36,700 (2015: €47,100) and an
unfavourable change in value of €28,100 (2015: €56,500).
The table below provides information about the Fund's share investments at fair value through profit or loss.
2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

633

3,059

(97)
536

(54)
(2,372)
633

Fair value adjustment
At 1 January
Movement in fair value revaluation
At 31 December

47
75
122

(2,984)
3,031
47

Fair value at 31 December

658

Outstanding disbursements
At 1 January
Disposals
Write-off of share investments
At 31 December

680

5. Contributions
Contributions received are set out below.
2016

2015

2016

€ 000

€ 000

%

%

Denmark

571

571

21.6

21.6

Finland

551

551

20.8

20.8

Cumulative contributions received

2015

Iceland

27

27

1.0

1.0

Norway

494

494

18.6

18.6

Sweden

1,007

1,007

38.0

38.0

At 31 December

2,650

2,650

100.0

100.0

6. Reserves
The special reserve was established, in accordance with the Rules of the Fund, to meet certain defined losses
and was built up by setting aside qualifying fees and commissions associated with loans previously made by
the Fund. The Fund is not making any new loans so the balance in the reserve will not change pending final
distribution of the Fund’s net assets to its contributors.
7. Analysis of current and non-current assets and liabilities
All assets and liabilities on the balance sheet are classified as current for both 2016 and 2015 due to the fact
that the financial statements are prepared on a basis other than that of a going concern.
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8. Undrawn commitments
The Fund had no undrawn share commitments at 31 December 2016 (2015: nil).
9. Events after the reporting period
There have been no material events since the reporting date that would require disclosure or adjustment to
these financial statements.
10. Related Parties
The Fund’s related parties are the Bank and the contributors.
The Bank is entitled to charge the Fund a management fee, which from time to time shall be determined by
the Board of Directors. During the year ended 31 December 2016 the Fund paid the Bank no management
fee for operating the Fund (2015: nil) and there was no accrued management fee payable by the bank as at
31 December 2016 (2015: nil).
Audit fees payable to the Bank are outlined in note 3.
Contributions received from the contributors are outlined in note 5.

9

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GOVERNORS OF THE EUROPEAN BANK FOR
RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT (“THE BANK”)
Report on the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the Baltic Investment Special Fund (“the Fund”) for the year ended 31
December 2016 which comprise the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the
statement of changes in contributors’ resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting policies, the risk management
statement and the related notes 1 to 10.
In our opinion the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Baltic
Investment Special Fund as at 31 December 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the United Kingdom, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
Emphasis of matter - Financial statements prepared other than on a going concern basis
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we have considered the adequacy of the
disclosure made in the Basis of preparation to the financial statements, which explains that the financial statements have
been prepared on a basis other than that of a going concern.
President’s responsibility for the financial statements
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal
control as the President determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the President is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The President is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
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for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's
internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the President.
Conclude on the appropriateness of the President’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going
concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records, if the
proper accounting records have not been kept, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require
for our audit. We have nothing to report in connection with these matters.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank in accordance with Article 24 of the
Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for the use of the contributor and for no other purpose. We do
not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this
Report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants
London, United Kingdom
5 April 2017
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The Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund
Statement of comprehensive income
Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

15
42
80
152
(33)
256

7
37
76
552
(14)
658

256

658

Note

Interest income
Fee income
Financial guarantees movement
Foreign exchange movement
Other operating expenses
Net profit and comprehensive income for the year
Attributable to:
Contributors

3

Balance sheet
As at 31 December 2016
31 December 2016
Note

Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Other financial assets
Total assets
Liabilities and contributors' resources
Other financial liabilities
Contributors' resources
Contributions
Reserves and retained earnings
Total contributors' resources
Total liabilities and contributors' resources

*See section on credit risk exposures on page 10 for additional details.

1

€ 000

31 December 2015
€ 000

€ 000

4

12,323
41
12,364

12,145
55
12,200

5

103

195

6

Memorandum items
Guarantees*

€ 000

10,583
1,422

10,583
1,678
12,261
12,364

12,005
12,200

2,502

2,826

The Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund
Statement of changes in contributors’ resources
For the year ended 31 December 2016
Retained

At 31 December 2014
Total comprehensive income for the year
At 31 December 2015
Total comprehensive income for the year
At 31 December 2016

Contributions

earnings

Total

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

10,583
10,583
10,583

764
658
1,422
256
1,678

11,347
658
12,005
256
12,261

Statement of cash flows
€ 000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Net interest
Financial guarantees movement
Foreign exchange movement

Net interest received
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
Fee income receivable
Increase in operating liabilities:
Accrued expenses
Net cash from operating activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

256

658

(15)
(80)
(152)
9

(7)
(76)
(552)
23

15

7

(2)

4

€ 000

2

1
23
23
12,145
155
12,323

2

€ 000

36
36
11,535
574
12,145

The Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund
Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
A. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"). The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss. The financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
policies of the Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund (“the Fund”). The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where judgements and estimates are significant to the financial
statements, are disclosed in “Critical accounting estimates and judgements” within the section for accounting
policies.
New and amended IFRS mandatorily effective for the current reporting period
There are a number of amendments to standards effective for the current reporting period which have no or
negligible impact on the Fund’s financial statements, namely:
 IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
 IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements
 IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment
 IAS 38: Intangible Assets
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments is the IASB’s replacement project for IAS 39. The Standard has developed in
phases and was completed in July 2014 with a mandatory application date for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Fund adopted the first phase ‘recognition and measurement of
financial assets’ (November 2009) in its 2010 financial statements. See the accounting policy for financial
assets for more details.
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IFRS not yet mandatorily effective and not adopted early
The following standards are not yet effective and have not been adopted early
Pronouncement
Amendments to:
IFRS 2: Share-based
Payment

Amendments to:
IFRS 4: Insurance
Contracts

IFRS 9
Financial Instruments

Nature of change
Accounting for a modification of a share-based payment
transaction that changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Provides guidance for insurers in applying IFRS 9:
Financial Instruments with IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(October 2010).
Hedge accounting (November 2013).

Potential Impact
The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.

The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.
The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Impairment methodology and introduction of ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ measurement
category for financial assets represented by simple debt
instruments (July 2014).

Amendments to:
IFRS 10:
Consolidation
Financial Statements
and
IAS 28: Investments in
Associates and Joint
Ventures
IFRS 15: Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

IFRS 16: Leases

Amendments to:
IAS 7: Statement of
Cash Flows

Amendments to:
IAS 12: Income Taxes

IFRS 9 to be adopted in its entirety for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Provides guidance for accounting for the loss of control of a
subsidiary as a result of a transaction involving an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method.

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined by the IASB.
Establishes principles for reporting useful information to
users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers.

The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a
contract, ie the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier
(‘lessor’).

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019.
An entity shall provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes.

This is a disclosure
requirement only
which the Fund will
comply with in 2017.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
Clarifies the requirements on recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at
fair value
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
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The Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund
B. Significant accounting policies
Financial assets - Classification and measurement
The Fund early adopted the first instalment of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, concerning the classification
and measurement of financial assets, with effect from 1 January 2010. Pursuant to that adoption, the Fund
classifies its financial assets in the following categories: those measured at amortised cost and those
measured at fair value. This classification depends on both the contractual characteristics of the assets and
the business model adopted for their management.
Financial assets at amortised cost
An investment is classified as ‘amortised cost’ only if both of the following criteria are met: the objective of
the Fund’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flow; and the contractual terms
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding, interest being consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated with the
principal amount outstanding.
Investments meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less any impairment. The Fund’s financial assets at amortised cost are
recognised at settlement date.
Financial assets at fair value
If either of the two criteria above is not met, the debt instrument is classified as ‘fair value through profit or
loss’. The Fund does not currently have any such assets in this category.
Financial liabilities
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to financial liabilities and therefore still
applies IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
All financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, expect for financial guarantees which are measured in
accordance with IAS 39, as described under “Financial guarantees” below.
Financial guarantees
The Fund provides two types of guarantee to the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“the
Bank”) to cover principal losses the Bank may incur either from providing its own guarantees under its
Trade Facilitation Programme (“TFP”) or in providing loans to customers in certain eligible countries. The
Fund’s resources are allocated into a number of sub-accounts, with a single one for TFP-related guarantees
and individual ones for loan-related guarantees in each eligible country. In the case of loan exposures, the
guarantee is for 50 per cent of the principal losses incurred by the Bank, subject to a limit of the available
resources in each relevant sub-account. The Fund’s guarantees are provided on a first-loss basis.
When a guarantee is issued, it is initially recognised at its fair value. In the case of the Fund’s guarantees
over the Bank’s TFP guarantees, this is measured as the present value of the fees to be received by the Fund
for the provision of those guarantees. This initial fair value represents both an asset for the Fund and a
liability for the same amount.
In the case of the Fund's guarantees over the Bank's loans, the Fund receives no fees from the Bank.
Therefore the initial fair value is estimated using the risk margin associated with the Bank's loans as a proxy
for the fees the Fund might have otherwise obtained. In this case the Fund has no asset, due to the absence of
any fee income, so the initial fair value is recognised as a liability and a corresponding expense.
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The initial fair value for both the asset and the liability is subsequently amortised to nil over the life of the
guarantee using the effective interest rate method, unless it is both probable that the guarantee will need to
be settled and the settlement amount can be reliably estimated. In this case, the liability is measured at the
higher of the initial fair value less cumulative amortisation or the expenditure required to settle the
commitment at the balance sheet date.
Financial guarantees are recognised within other financial assets and other financial liabilities.
Contributors’ resources
The Fund recognises contributions received from the contributors as a liability on the basis that, should a
contributor choose to withdraw from the Fund, the Fund is obligated to return such contributions to the
extent these are not needed to meet existing commitments and obligations of the Fund.
Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents comprise
balances with less than three months maturity from the date of the transaction, which are available for use at
short notice and that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Foreign currencies
The Fund’s reporting currency for the presentation of its financial statements is the euro (€).
Foreign currency transactions are initially translated into euro using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions, and from the translation at the year-end exchange rate of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, are included in the income statement.
Contributions
Contributions received in currencies other than euro are translated into euro at the exchange rates ruling at
the time of the transaction.
Interest and fees
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis. Interest income is recognised within 'interest income' in the income
statement. Interest expense is recognised in 'operating expenses' in the income statement.
Fees received in respect of services provided over a period of time are recognised as income as the services
are provided. Other fees and commissions are classed as income when received.
Taxation
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank (''the AEB''), within the scope of its
official activities, the Bank, its assets, property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and
duties levied upon goods and services acquired or imported, except for those parts of taxes or duties that
represent charges for public utility services. As described in note 1, this exemption is extended to the Fund.
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C. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Preparing financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and judgements
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts included in the income statement during the reporting period.
The Fund’s critical accounting estimates and judgements are as follows:
Financial guarantee liability
The Fund's method for determining the fair value of financial guarantees is described under "Financial
guarantees" within the accounting policies section of the report and further explained under credit risk within
the risk management section of the report.

7

The Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund
Risk management
The Fund was established as a risk sharing facility for small and medium-sized enterprise (SME) credit lines,
to promote a higher level of investment in Kyrgyz Republic, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan
(collectively the “Eligible Countries”). To achieve this, the Fund may:

Provide guarantees on a first-loss basis for the Bank’s TFP; and

Provide guarantees on a first-loss basis on the Bank’s SME and micro enterprise loans in the Eligible
Countries.
As the purpose of the Fund is to promote investment in the Eligible Countries rather than to generate profits,
not all financial risks are actively managed by the Fund. Credit risk is jointly managed with the Bank;
however the Fund does not hedge against market risk and is hence exposed to foreign exchange risk and
interest rate risk.
At 31 December 2016, the Fund had four sub-accounts: the KMSEFF sub-account, the TAFF sub-account,
the TSFF sub-account and the TFP sub-account.
Risk governance
The Fund follows the Bank's risk governance procedures as below:
The Bank’s overall framework for identifying and managing risks is underpinned by the Banking VicePresidency being the first line of defence related to debt and equity operations and an independent second
line of defence control functions, including the Risk Management department, Office of the Chief
Compliance Officer, Environmental and Social Department, Finance Department, Evaluations Department
and other relevant units. An Internal Audit Department acts as third line of defence and independently
assesses the effectiveness of the processes within the first and second lines of defence. The Vice President,
Risk and Compliance, Chief Risk Officer (CRO) is responsible for ensuring the independent risk
management of the Banking exposures, including adequate processes and governance structure for
independent identification, measurement, monitoring and mitigation of risks incurred by the Bank. The
challenge of the control functions, review of their status and assessment of their ability to perform duties
independently falls within the remit of the Audit Committee of the Board.
Matters related to Bank-wide risk and associated policies and procedures are considered by the Risk
Committee. The Risk Committee is accountable to the President. It oversees all aspects of the Banking
portfolio across all sectors and countries, and provides advice on Risk Management policies, measures and
controls. It also approves proposals for new products submitted by Banking. The membership comprises
senior managers across the Bank including representatives from Risk Management, Finance, Banking and
the Office of the General Counsel.
The Risk Committee is chaired by the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO.
The Managing Director, Risk Management reports to the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO and leads the
overall management of the department. Risk Management provides an independent assessment of risks
associated with individual investments undertaken by the Bank, and performs an ongoing review of the
portfolio to monitor credit, market and liquidity risks and to identify appropriate risk management actions. It
also assesses and proposes ways to manage risks arising from correlations and concentrations within the
portfolio, and ensures that adequate systems and controls are put in place for identifying and managing
operational risks across the Bank. It develops and maintains the Risk Management policies to facilitate
Banking and Treasury operations and promotes risk awareness across the Bank.
In exercising its responsibilities, Risk Management is guided by its mission to:

Provide assurance to stakeholders that risk decision-making in the Bank is balanced and within agreed
appetite, and that control processes are rigorously designed and applied; and

Support the Bank’s business strategy including the maximisation of transition impact through provision
of efficient and effective delivery of risk management advice, challenge and decision making.
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A. Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential loss to a portfolio that could result from the default of a counterparty or the
deterioration of its creditworthiness. The Fund may also be exposed to concentration risk, which is the risk
arising from too high a proportion of the portfolio being allocated to a specific country, industry sector or
obligor, or to a particular type of instrument or individual transaction.
The Fund is exposed to credit risk as counterparties could default on their contractual obligations.
The carrying amounts of financial assets presented on the balance sheet, together with the guarantees as
shown under memorandum items, best represents the Fund’s maximum exposure to credit risk at 31
December 2016 and 31 December 2015, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit
enhancements.
Credit risk management and measurement
As previously stated, the Fund participates jointly with the Bank in the financing of investments in the
Bank’s countries of operations. It therefore benefits from the same governance process employed by the
Bank in the measurement and management of credit exposures, which is described below.
Underlying principles and procedures
The Board of Directors ("the Board") approves a document that defines the principles underlying the credit
process for the approval, management and review of Banking exposures. The Audit Committee periodically
reviews these principles and its review is submitted to the Board for approval.
Individual projects
The Operations Committee reviews all Banking projects prior to their submission for Board approval. The
Committee is chaired by the First Vice President and Head of Client Services Group and its membership
comprises senior managers of the Bank, including the VP Risk & Compliance, CRO and the Managing
Director, Risk Management. A number of frameworks for smaller projects are considered by the Small
Business Investment Committee or by senior management under a delegated authority framework supervised
by the Operations Committee. The project approval process is designed to ensure compliance with the
Bank’s criteria for sound banking, transition impact and additionality. It operates within the authority
delegated by the Board, via the President, to approve projects within Board-approved framework operations.
The Operations Committee is also responsible for approving significant changes to existing operations.
Risk Management conducts reviews of all exposures within the Banking portfolio. At each review, Risk
Management assesses whether there has been any change in the risk profile of the exposure, recommends
actions to mitigate risk and reconfirms or adjusts the risk rating. It also reviews the fair value of equity
investments.
Portfolio level review
Risk Management reports on the development of the portfolio as a whole on a quarterly basis to the Audit
Committee of the Board. The report includes a summary of key factors affecting the portfolio and provides
analysis and commentary on trends within the portfolio and various sub-portfolios. It also includes reporting
on compliance with all portfolio risk limits including an explanation of any limit breaches.
To identify emerging risk and enable appropriate risk mitigating actions Risk Management also conducts
regular Bank-wide (top-down) and country level (bottom-up) stress testing exercises and comprehensive
reviews of its investment portfolios. The Bank recognises that any resulting risk mitigation is constrained by
the limited geographical space within which the Bank operates.
EBRD internal ratings
Probability of default (PD)
The Bank assigns its internal risk ratings to all counterparties, including borrowers, investee companies,
guarantors and sovereigns in the Banking portfolio. Risk ratings reflect the financial strength of the
counterparty as well as consideration of any implicit support, for example from a major shareholder. The
sovereign rating takes into consideration the ratings assigned by external rating agencies. For non-sovereign
operations, probability of default ratings are normally capped by the sovereign rating, except where the
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Bank has recourse to a guarantor from outside the country which may have a better rating than the local
sovereign rating.
The table below shows the Bank’s internal probability of default rating scale from 1.0 (lowest risk) to 8.0
(highest risk) and how this maps to the external ratings of Standard & Poor’s (S&P). References to risk
rating through this text relate to probability of default ratings unless otherwise specified.
EBRD risk
category
1

EBRD risk rating

External rating equivalent

Category name

1.0
1.7
2.0
2.3/2.5
2.7
3.0
3.3
3.7
4.0
4.3
4.7
5.0
5.3
5.7
6.0
6.3
6.7
7.0
7.3
8.0

AAA
AA+
AA
AAA+
A
ABBB+
BBB
BBBBB+
BB
BBB+
B
BCCC+
CCC
CCC-/CC/C
D

Excellent

2

3

4

5

6

7
8

Broader category

Very Strong

Strong

Investment Grade

Good

Fair

Risk class 5

Weak

Risk class 6

Special Attention

Classified

Non-performing

Loss given default (LGD)
The Bank assigns loss given default percentages on a scale of 0 to 100 determined by the seniority of the
instrument in which the Bank invested.
Non-performing loans (NPL)
NPL definition
An asset is designated as non-performing when either the borrower is more than 90 days past due on
payment to any material creditor, or when Risk Management considers that the counterparty is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations in full without recourse by the Bank to actions such as realising security, if held.
Provisioning methodology
A specific provision is raised on all NPLs accounted for at amortised cost. The provision represents the
amount of expected loss, being the difference between the outstanding amount from the client and the
expected recovery amount. The expected recovery amount is equal to the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the loan’s original effective interest rate.
Credit risk exposures
Placements with credit institutions
The Fund’s placements with credit institutions were all classified in internal credit rating risk category 2
(approximately AA+ to AA- in terms of S&P equivalent).
Other financial assets
Other financial assets represent fee income receivable from financial guarantees and the unamortised fair
value balance of guarantee assets.
Guarantees
At 31 December 2016, the Bank had outstanding guarantees under the TFP for which, in the event of a
future default, principal losses incurred by the Bank will be refunded in part from the resources of the TFP
sub-account of the Fund. At 31 December 2016, the Fund’s maximum exposure under such guarantees was
€2.3 million (2015: €2.3 million).
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At 31 December 2016, the Bank had outstanding loans amounting to €0.3 million (2015: €0.9 million) under
the TSFF sub-account, for which, in the event of a future default, losses incurred by the Bank may be
refunded in part from the resources of the TSFF sub-account of the Fund. At 31 December 2016, the Fund’s
maximum exposure under such guarantees was €0.2 million (2015: €0.5 million).
At 31 December 2016, the Bank had no outstanding loans (2015: nil) under the TAFF or KMSEFF subaccounts of the Fund. Accordingly the Fund is not subject to any guarantee exposure in relation to these subaccounts.
No amounts are currently recognised as required to settle a guarantee commitment (2015: nil). The guarantee
liability on the balance sheet of €0.1 million (2015: €0.1 million) represents the initial fair value recognised
when the guarantees were issued less cumulative amortisation. The Fund does not actively manage credit
risk on its guarantee exposure.
B. Market risk
Market risk is the potential loss that could result from adverse market movements. The drivers of market
risk for the Fund are interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk.
Market risk management and measurement
As discussed at the beginning of the Risk Management section, the Fund does not actively monitor or hedge
against market risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. The length of time for which the rate of interest is fixed on a financial instrument indicates to
what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk.
The Fund's placements are repriced to market interest rates within one month, therefore the exposure to
interest rate risk is considered to be minimal.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Fund’s net exposure to foreign exchange risk is considered to be minimal as outlined in the table below.
United States
Euro

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net currency position at 31 December 2016

dollars

2016

2016

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

6,757

5,607

12,364

(6,762)

(5,602)

(12,364)

(5)

5

Total

-

United States
Euro

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net currency position at 31 December 2015

2015

Total

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

6,743

5,457

12,200

(6,749)

(5,451)

(12,200)

(6)

11

dollars

2015

6

-

The Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund
C. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Fund’s Rules and Regulations require that guarantees are settled from the available resources within
each sub-account of the Fund. Accordingly, the Fund cannot commit more than the available resources and
cannot borrow funds to finance operations. Contributions received are recognised as a liability which will be
repayable to the contributor only after relevant liabilities are discharged and assets disposed of or redeemed.
As a result, the Fund's exposure to liquidity risk is considered to be minimal.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Creation of the Special Fund
The creation of the Fund was approved by the Board at its meeting of 26 June 2002 and is administered,
inter alia, in accordance with the AEB and under the terms of the Rules and Regulations of the Fund. The
Fund became operational on 15 August 2002 following the receipt of the first contribution.
The Fund’s principal office is located in London at One Exchange Square, EC2A 2JN.
The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the AEB. The Fund is not part of the ordinary
capital resources of the Bank, but any privileges and immunities available to the Bank are extended to the
Fund.
2. President’s responsibilities
The President is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS issued by the
IASB.
3. Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses are comprised of the following:

Audit fees

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

7

8

Interest expense

26

6

At 31 December

33

14

Other operating expenses comprise administrative expenses directly related to the Fund and include external
auditor's remuneration of €6,700 (2015: €7,700). The Bank pays the external auditor’s remuneration on
behalf of the Fund, which in turn reimburses the Bank in full. At 31 December 2016 €6,700 (2015: €7,700)
is payable to the Bank in relation to the 2016 external audit. In 2014 the Bank approved an extension of the
external auditor’s term of appointment from four years to five with a maximum of two consecutive terms.
Deloitte LLP (UK) completed its first four-year term in 2014 and has been re-appointed for the five year
period 2015 - 2019.
The fall in the fee for the audit paid to the Fund’s external auditor from 2015 to 2016 is attributable to
movements in the value of pound sterling. The pound sterling equivalent of these fees was £5,800 (2015:
£5,700).
4. Other financial assets
2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

Fee income receivable from financial guarantees

11

9

Unamortised fair value of TFP financial guarantees

30

46

At 31 December

41

55

5. Other financial liabilities
2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

Loan-related guarantees

64

140

Unamortised fair value of TFP financial guarantees

30

46

Audit fees payable

7

8

Interest payable

2

1

103

195

At 31 December
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6. Contributions
Contributions received are set out below.
TFP

KMSEFF

TAFF

TSFF

Total

Cumulative contributions received

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

Total
%

Germany

2,389

-

-

-

2,389

22.6

Switzerland

3,164

2,180

855

1,995

8,194

77.4

At 31 December 2016

5,553

2,180

855

1,995

10,583

100.0

TFP

KMSEFF

TAFF

TSFF

Total

Total

Cumulative contributions received

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

%

Germany

2,389

-

-

-

2,389

22.6

Switzerland

3,164

2,180

855

1,995

8,194

77.4

At 31 December 2015

5,553

2,180

855

1,995

10,583

100.0

7. Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet approximate to their
fair value.
8. Analysis of current and non-current assets and liabilities
The table below provides the classification of current and non-current assets and liabilities in the balance
sheet.

Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Other financial assets
Total assets

Current

Non-current

Total

Current

Non-current

2016

2016

2016

2015

2015

Total
2015

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

12,323

-

12,323

12,145

-

12,145

35

6

41

23

32

55

12,358

6

12,364

12,168

32

12,200

Liabilities and contributors' resources
Other financial liabilities

97

6

103

163

32

195

Total contributors’ resources

12,261

-

12,261

12,005

-

12,005

Liabilities and contributors' resources

12,358

6

12,364

12,168

32

12,200

9. Events after the reporting period
There have been no material events since the reporting date that would require disclosure or adjustment to
these financial statements.
10. Related parties
The Fund’s related parties are the Bank and the contributors.
The Bank is entitled to charge the Fund a management fee, as determined by the Board, each time a
contribution is made to the Fund. As there were no contributions received in 2016, no management fees
were paid by the Fund to the Bank (2015: nil). There was no accrued management fee payable by the Fund
to the Bank at 31 December 2016 (2015: nil). Also during 2016, the Fund received fees from the Bank in
relation to TFP guarantees of €42,000 (2015: €37,000), of which €11,000 are receivable as at 31 December
2016 (2015: €9,000).
Financial guarantees issued by the Fund to the Bank are disclosed under credit risk exposures.
Audit fees payable to the Bank are outlined in note 3.
Contributions received and receivable from the contributors are outlined in note 6.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GOVERNORS OF THE EUROPEAN BANK FOR
RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT (“THE BANK”)
Report on the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund (“the Fund”) for the year ended 31
December 2016 which comprise the statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the statement of changes in
contributors’ resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting policies, the risk management statement and the related
notes 1 to 10.
In our opinion the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Central Asia Risk
Sharing Special Fund as at 31 December 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the United Kingdom, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
President’s responsibility for the financial statements
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal
control as the President determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the President is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The President is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's internal control.
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the President.
 Conclude on the appropriateness of the President’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
15

attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records, if the
proper accounting records have not been kept, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for
our audit. We have nothing to report in connection with these matters.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank in accordance with Article 24 of the
Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for the use of the contributor and for no other purpose. We do not,
in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this Report is
shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants London,
United Kingdom
5 April 2017
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The EBRD CIF Special Fund
Income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Restated *

Note

Year to

Year to

31 December

31 December

2016

2015

€ million

€ million

Net interest
Amounts refunded to contributor

4

4

(3)

(2)

Concessional loan discount

9

(4)

(15)

Impairment charge on loan investments

7

(4)

(8)

Disbursements for technical co-operation

4

(1)

(1)

Foreign exchange movements

(2)

(9)

General administration expenses

(1)

(2)

(11)

(33)

(11)

(33)

Net loss for the year
Attributable to:
Contributors

Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Restated *
Year to

Year to

31 December

31 December

2016

2015

€ million

€ million

(11)

(33)

Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive expense
Foreign exchange movement between functional
and presentational currencies

(2)

(9)

Total comprehensive expense

(13)

(42)

(13)

(42)

Attributable to:
Contributors

These items will not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss.

Balance sheet
At 31 December 2016

Restated *

Note

€ million

31 December
2016
€ million

€ million

31 December
2015
€ million

Restated *

€ million

1 January
2015
€ million

Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Contributions receivable

5

224

201

150

27

49

25

Loan investments
Loans

6

104

94

Less: Provisions for impairment

7

(18)

(14)

Total assets

65
(6)

86

80

59

337

330

234

Liabilities
Other financial liabilities

8

3

3

2

Concessional loan discount

9

30

26

17

Contributors' resources
Contributions

5

Reserves and accumulated loss

417

401

(113)

(100)

273
(58)

Total contributors’ resources

304

301

215

Total liabilities

337

330

234

70

65

46

Memorandum items
Undrawn loan commitments

*Refer to Note 3

1

The EBRD CIF Special Fund
Statement of changes in contributors’ resources
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Restated *
Contributions
€ million
273

At 31 December 2014

Restated *
General reserve
€ million
(2)

Accumulated
loss
€ million
(56)

Contributions received and receivable

96

-

-

Revaluation of contributions

32

-

-

Total comprehensive expense
At 31 December 2015
Contributions received and receivable
Revaluation of contributions
Total comprehensive expense
At 31 December 2016

-

(9)

401

(11)

-

Restated *
Total
€ million
215
96
32

(33)

(42)

(89)

301

4

-

-

4

12

-

-

12

-

(2)

(11)

(13)

417

(13)

(100)

304

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2016
Year to

Restated *

31 December

31 December
2015

2016
€ million

€ million

€ million

€ million

Cash flows used in operating activities
Net loss for the period

(11)

(33)

(4)

(4)

Adjustment for:
Net interest
Income refunded

3

2

Concessional loan discount

4

15

Impairment charge on loan investments

4

8

Foreign exchange movement

2

9

(2)

(3)

Net interest received
Income refunded

2

1

(2)

(2)

Increase/(decrease) in operating assets:
Proceeds from repayment of loans

1

1

Funds advanced for loans
Net cash used in operating activities

(7)

(29)
(32)

(8)

Cash flows from financing activities
Contributions received

72

26

Net cash from financing activities

26

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

18

40

201

150

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

2

72

5

11

224

201
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Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
A. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention and have been prepared on a going concern basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the policies of the
EBRD CIF Special Fund ("the Fund"). The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where judgements and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in “Critical accounting
estimates and judgements” within the section for accounting policies.
New and amended IFRS mandatorily effective for the current reporting period
There are a number of amendments to standards effective for the current reporting period which have no or
negligible impact on the Fund’s financial statements, namely:
 IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
 IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements
 IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment
 IAS 38: Intangible Assets
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments is the IASB’s replacement project for IAS 39. The Standard has developed in
phases and was completed in July 2014 with a mandatory application date for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Fund adopted the first phase ‘recognition and measurement of
financial assets’ (November 2009) in its 2010 financial statements. See the accounting policy for financial assets
for more details.
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IFRS not yet mandatorily effective and not adopted early
The following standards are not yet effective and have not been adopted early.
Pronouncement
Amendments to:
IFRS 2: Share-based
Payment

Amendments to:
IFRS 4: Insurance
Contracts

IFRS 9
Financial Instruments

Nature of change
Accounting for a modification of a share-based payment
transaction that changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Provides guidance for insurers in applying IFRS 9:
Financial Instruments with IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(October 2010).
Hedge accounting (November 2013).

Potential Impact
The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable
to
its
operations.

The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable
to
its
operations.
The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Impairment methodology and introduction of ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ measurement
category for financial assets represented by simple debt
instruments (July 2014).

Amendments to:
IFRS 10:
Consolidation
Financial Statements
and
IAS 28: Investments in
Associates and Joint
Ventures
IFRS 15: Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

IFRS 16: Leases

Amendments to:
IAS 7: Statement of
Cash Flows

Amendments to:
IAS 12: Income Taxes

IFRS 9 to be adopted in its entirety for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Provides guidance for accounting for the loss of control of a
subsidiary as a result of a transaction involving an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method.

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined by the IASB.
Establishes principles for reporting useful information to
users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers.

The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a
contract, ie the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier
(‘lessor’).

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019.
An entity shall provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes.

This is a disclosure
requirement
only
which the Fund will
comply with in 2017.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
Clarifies the requirements on recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at
fair value
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
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The Fund
from all
direct taxes
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applicable.
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The EBRD CIF Special Fund
B. Significant accounting policies
Financial assets - Classification and measurement
The Fund early adopted the first instalment of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, concerning the classification and
measurement of financial assets, with effect from 1 January 2010. Pursuant to that adoption, the Fund classifies
its financial assets in the following categories: those measured at amortised cost and those measured at fair
value. This classification depends on both the contractual characteristics of the assets and the business model
adopted for their management.
Financial assets at amortised cost
An investment is classified as ‘amortised cost’ only if both of the following criteria are met: the objective of the
Fund’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flow; and the contractual terms give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding, interest being consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated with the
principal amount outstanding.
Investments meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. The initial fair value of a financial asset is normally
represented by the transaction price exchanged for its acquisition or origination as the price is assumed to reflect
the market conditions that an entity would normally have taken into consideration in determining the transaction
price. The Fund makes loans to its borrowers at concessional rates and therefore each loan is priced at a discount
to normal market rates. This discount to fair value is accounted for as a "day one" loss through the Fund's
income statement, with a corresponding liability. The day one loss is recognised upon signing of the loan. Once
the Fund disburses the loan to its borrower, the day one loss is reflected within the loan investment as it forms
part of the initial fair value of the asset.
Subsequently, these loans are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment that may be necessary. The initial fair value discount applied to each loan is therefore recovered in
the effective interest rate at which income is recognised in the income statement over the tenor of the loan.
The Fund’s financial assets at amortised cost are recognised at settlement date.
Financial assets at fair value
If either of the two criteria above is not met, the debt instrument is classified as ‘fair value through profit or
loss’. The Fund does not currently have any such assets in this category.
Financial liabilities
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to financial liabilities and therefore still applies
IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
All financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost.
Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to impairment and therefore still applies IAS
39: Financial Instruments.
Where there is objective evidence that an identified loan asset is impaired, specific provisions for impairment are
recognised in the income statement. Impairment is quantified as the difference between the carrying amount of
the asset and the net present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective
interest rate where applicable. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. The carrying amount of the asset is
reduced directly only upon write-off. Resulting adjustments include the unwinding of the discount in the income
statement over the life of the asset, and any adjustments required in respect of a reassessment of the initial
impairment.
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The criteria that the Fund uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:

delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;

cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower;

breach of loan covenants or conditions;

initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;

deterioration in the borrower’s competitive position; and

deterioration in the value of collateral.
Provisions for impairment of classes of similar assets that are not individually identified as impaired are
calculated on a portfolio basis (the general provision). The methodology used for assessing such impairment is
based on a risk-rated approach for non-sovereign assets. The Fund’s methodology calculates impairment on an
incurred loss basis. Impairment is deducted from the asset categories on the balance sheet.
Impairment, less any amounts reversed during the year, is charged to the income statement. When a loan is
deemed uncollectible the principal is written off against the related impairment provision. Such loans are
written off only after all necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been
determined. Recoveries are credited to the income statement if previously written off.
Loans and advances are generally renegotiated in response to an adverse change in the circumstances of the
borrower. Depending upon the degree to which the original loan is amended, it may continue to be recognised
or will be derecognised and replaced with a new loan. To the extent the original loan is retained, it will continue
to be shown as overdue if appropriate and individually impaired where the renegotiated payments of interest and
principal will not recover the original carrying amount of the asset.

Contributors’ resources
The Fund recognises contributions received from the contributors as a liability on the basis that, should a
contributor choose to withdraw from the Fund, the Fund is obligated to return such contributions to the extent
these are not needed to meet existing commitments and obligations of the Fund.
General reserve
The general reserve represents foreign exchange movements on translation from functional currency to
presentational currency.
Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances
with less than three months maturity from the date of the transaction, which are available for use at short notice
and that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Foreign currencies
The functional currency of the Fund is the United States dollar (USD) as this reflects the transactions, events and
conditions under which the Fund conducts its business. For financial statement reporting purposes the unit of
measurement is the euro.
For functional currency reporting, transactions in currencies other than USD are translated into USD at exchange
rates ruling at the time of the transaction. All assets and liabilities in currencies other than USD are re-translated
into USD at spot rates ruling at 31 December 2016 with the resultant exchange gains or losses taken to the
income statement.
For financial statement reporting, income and expenses (excluding exchange gains or losses) are translated from
the functional currency to euro using exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction. Exchange gains or
losses are translated from the functional currency to euro at 31 December 2016 using the average exchange rate
for the year. Assets and liabilities denominated in the functional currency are re-translated to euro at spot rates
ruling at 31 December 2016 with the resultant exchange gains and losses taken to other comprehensive income.
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Contributions
Contributions received in currencies other than USD are translated into USD at exchange rates ruling at the time
of the transaction. Currencies are then subsequently re-translated to the presentational currency at the year-end
exchange rate.
Contributions are recognised as receivable on the balance sheet on the date of project approval by the Board of
Directors ("the Board") of the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development ("the Bank") following
receipt of a letter of commitment from the Contributor. Contributions receivable have not been discounted on a
present value basis as there is no indication as to their precise payment date. The Fund is satisfied that they will
be realised for the amounts stated in the financial statements.
Interest
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis using the effective interest method. Interest income is recognised within
'net interest income' in the income statement. Interest expense is recognised in 'operating expenses' in the
income statement.
Interest is recognised on impaired loans through unwinding the discount used in deriving the present value of
expected future cash flows.
Disbursements for technical cooperation
Disbursements for technical cooperation, which represent payments for consultancy services provided to the
Fund over a period of time, are recorded as expenditure over the period during which the services are received.

Taxation
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank (“the AEB”) within the scope of its
official activities, the Bank, its assets, property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and
duties levied upon goods and services acquired or imported, except for those parts of taxes or duties that
represent charges for public utility services. As described in note 1, this exemption is extended to the Fund.
C. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Preparing financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and judgements that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts included in the income statement during the reporting period.
The Fund’s critical accounting estimates and judgements are as follows:
Provisions for the impairment of loan investments
The Fund’s method for determining the level of impairment of loan investments is described within the
accounting policies section of the report and further explained under credit risk within the risk management
section of the report. As described in the risk management section the Fund participates in investments jointly
with the Bank and credit risk is jointly managed. Accordingly, the risk management disclosures are based on the
Bank’s risk processes and procedures.
Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments at 31 December 2016 were €1.6 million
(2015: €1.7 million).
During 2016 the Bank carried out its regular annual review of the loss parameters underpinning estimates of
unidentified impairment, with the aim of better reflecting the Bank's loss experience. This review resulted in a
modest reduction in the level of portfolio provisions. The key revision to these estimates was:
Probability of default
 In determining the probabilities of default for each risk rating, the historical datasets used to calibrate the
rates were updated to include 2015. This was carried out for both the internal and external data used to
determine the final probability of default rates.
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If this change to loss parameter estimates had been applied at 31 December 2015, the portfolio provisions for
the unidentified impairment of loan investments would have reduced by €0.2million from €1.7 million to €1.5
million. No estimate of the effect these changes may have on future periods has been undertaken on the grounds
of impracticability.
In addition, the sensitivity of portfolio provisions as at 31 December 2016 to the key variables used in
determining the level of impairment is provided below.
Risk ratings

If all loan investments were upgraded by three ‘notches’ or detailed ratings on the Bank’s probability of
default rating scale, this would result in a reduction of €1.3 million in portfolio provisions on loan
investments (2015: €1.4 million).

Conversely, if all loan investments were downgraded by three ‘notches’ or detailed risk ratings on the
Bank’s probability of default rating scale, this would result in a charge to the income statement of €2.9
million in relation to portfolio provisions for loans (2015: €2.8 million).
Probability of default rates

In determining the probabilities of default for each risk rating, the relative weighting applied to external
data and the Bank’s own experience is reviewed annually. The 2016 general provisioning methodology
applies a 67 per cent weighting to the Bank’s own experience and a 33 per cent weighting to external data.
A +/- 10 percentage points change in the weighting assigned to the Bank’s own experience would lead to a
change in portfolio provisions of -/+ €0.2 million (2015: €0.2 million).
Loss emergence period

Provisions for unidentified impairment are made to reflect losses arising from events existing but not
identified at the balance sheet date and which will emerge within a 12 month period from that date. If the
loss emergence period was reduced to three months it is broadly estimated that this would result in a
decrease in the portfolio provision charged to the income statement of €1.0 million (2015: €1.2 million).
Loss given default rates

A change in loss given default rates by ten percentage points would lead to a change in portfolio provisions
of +/- € 0.4million (2015: €0.4 million).
With respect to specific provisions, a decrease of ten per cent level of impaired loans would have an impact of
-€1.6 million (2015: an increase or decrease of ten percent in the level of impaired loans would have an impact
of €1.6 million).
Financial assets at amortised cost initial recognition
The Fund's method for determining the fair value on the initial recognition of concessional loans is further
detailed in the significant accounting policies section of the report.
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Risk management
The Fund was established to provide a long-term contribution in support of activities that promote low carbon
technologies with significant potential for long-term greenhouse gas savings and other climate change activities
in certain countries of operations of the Bank. To achieve this, the Fund provides concessional loans alongside
the Bank’s market rate loans. The Fund’s resources may also be used for grants in support of technical
assistance.
As the primary purpose of the Fund is to provide concessional lending and grants rather than to generate a return
on its assets, most financial risks are not actively managed by the Fund. As the Fund participates in investments
alongside the Bank, although under different terms, credit risk is jointly managed; however the Fund does not
hedge against market risk and is hence exposed to interest rate and foreign exchange risk.
Risk governance
The Fund follows the Bank's risk governance procedures as below:
The Bank’s overall framework for identifying and managing risks is underpinned by the Banking VicePresidency being the first line of defence related to debt and equity operations and an independent second line of
defence control functions, including the Risk Management department, Office of the Chief Compliance Officer,
Environmental and Social Department, Finance Department, Evaluations Department and other relevant units.
An Internal Audit Department acts as third line of defence and independently assesses the effectiveness of the
processes within the first and second lines of defence. The Vice President, Risk and Compliance, Chief Risk
Officer (CRO) is responsible for ensuring the independent risk management of the Banking exposures, including
adequate processes and governance structure for independent identification, measurement, monitoring and
mitigation of risks incurred by the Bank. The challenge of the control functions, review of their status and
assessment of their ability to perform duties independently falls within the remit of the Audit Committee of the
Board.
Matters related to Bank-wide risk and associated policies and procedures are considered by the Risk Committee.
The Risk Committee is accountable to the President. It oversees all aspects of the Banking portfolio across all
sectors and countries, and provides advice on Risk Management policies, measures and controls. It also
approves proposals for new products submitted by Banking. The membership comprises senior managers across
the Bank including representatives from Risk Management, Finance, Banking and the Office of the General
Counsel.
The Risk Committee is chaired by the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO.
The Managing Director, Risk Management reports to the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO and leads the overall
management of the department. Risk Management provides an independent assessment of risks associated with
individual investments undertaken by the Bank, and performs an ongoing review of the portfolio to monitor
credit, market and liquidity risks and to identify appropriate risk management actions. It also assesses and
proposes ways to manage risks arising from correlations and concentrations within the portfolio, and ensures
that adequate systems and controls are put in place for identifying and managing operational risks across the
Bank. It develops and maintains the Risk Management policies to facilitate Banking and Treasury operations
and promotes risk awareness across the Bank.
In exercising its responsibilities, Risk Management is guided by its mission to:

Provide assurance to stakeholders that risk decision-making in the Bank is balanced and within agreed
appetite, and that control processes are rigorously designed and applied; and

Support the Bank’s business strategy including the maximisation of transition impact through provision of
efficient and effective delivery of risk management advice, challenge and decision making.
A. Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential loss to a portfolio that could result from the default of a counterparty or the
deterioration of its creditworthiness. The Fund may also be exposed to concentration risk, which is the risk
arising from too high a proportion of the portfolio being allocated to a specific country, industry sector or
obligor, or to a particular type of instrument or individual transaction.
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The Fund is exposed to credit risk as borrowers and counterparties could default on their contractual obligations,
or the value of the Fund's investments could become impaired.
The carrying amounts of financial assets presented on the balance sheet, together with the undrawn loan
commitments as shown under memorandum items, best represents the Fund’s maximum exposure to credit risk
at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit
enhancements.
Credit risk management and measurement
As stated previously, the Fund participates jointly with the Bank in the financing of investments in the Bank’s
countries of operations. It therefore benefits from the same governance process employed by the Bank in the
measurement and management of credit exposures, which is described below.
Underlying principles and procedures
The Board of Directors ("the Board") approves a document that defines the principles underlying the credit
process for the approval, management and review of Banking exposures. The Audit Committee periodically
reviews these principles and its review is submitted to the Board for approval.
Individual projects
The Operations Committee reviews all Banking projects prior to their submission for Board approval. The
Committee is chaired by the First Vice President and Head of Client Services Group and its membership
comprises senior managers of the Bank, including the VP Risk & Compliance, CRO and the Managing Director,
Risk Management. A number of frameworks for smaller projects are considered by the Small Business
Investment Committee or by senior management under a delegated authority framework supervised by the
Operations Committee. The project approval process is designed to ensure compliance with the Bank’s criteria
for sound banking, transition impact and additionality. It operates within the authority delegated by the Board,
via the President, to approve projects within Board-approved framework operations. The Operations Committee
is also responsible for approving significant changes to existing operations.
Risk Management conducts reviews of all exposures within the Banking portfolio. At each review, Risk
Management assesses whether there has been any change in the risk profile of the exposure, recommends actions
to mitigate risk and reconfirms or adjusts the risk rating.
Portfolio level review
Risk Management reports on the development of the portfolio as a whole on a quarterly basis to the Audit
Committee of the Board. The report includes a summary of key factors affecting the portfolio and provides
analysis and commentary on trends within the portfolio and various sub-portfolios. It also includes reporting on
compliance with all portfolio risk limits including an explanation of any limit breaches.
To identify emerging risk and enable appropriate risk mitigating actions Risk Management also conducts regular
Bank-wide (top-down) and country level (bottom-up) stress testing exercises and comprehensive reviews of its
investment portfolios. The Bank recognises that any resulting risk mitigation is constrained by the limited
geographical space within which the Bank operates.
EBRD internal ratings
Probability of default (PD)
The Bank assigns its internal risk ratings to all counterparties, including borrowers, investee companies,
guarantors and sovereigns in the Banking portfolio. Risk ratings reflect the financial strength of the counterparty
as well as consideration of any implicit support, for example from a major shareholder. The sovereign rating
takes into consideration the ratings assigned by external rating agencies. For sovereign risk projects, the overall
rating is the same as the sovereign rating. For non-sovereign operations, probability of default ratings are
normally capped by the sovereign rating, except where the Bank has recourse to a guarantor from outside the
country which may have a better rating than the local sovereign rating.
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The table below shows the Bank’s internal probability of default rating scale from 1.0 (lowest risk) to 8.0
(highest risk) and how this maps to the external ratings of Standard & Poor’s (S&P). References to risk rating
through this text relate to probability of default ratings unless otherwise specified.
EBRD risk
category
1

EBRD risk rating

2

3

4

5

6

7
8

1.0
1.7
2.0
2.3/2.5
2.7
3.0
3.3
3.7
4.0
4.3
4.7
5.0
5.3
5.7
6.0
6.3
6.7
7.0
7.3
8.0

External rating equivalent

Category name

AAA
AA+
AA
AAA+
A
ABBB+
BBB
BBBBB+
BB
BBB+
B
BCCC+
CCC
CCC-/CC/C
D

Excellent

Broader category

Very Strong

Strong

Investment Grade

Good

Fair

Risk class 5

Weak

Risk class 6

Special Attention

Classified

Non-performing

Loss given default (LGD)
The Bank assigns loss given default percentages on a scale of 0 to 100 determined by the seniority of the
instrument in which the Bank invested.
Non-performing loans (NPL)
NPL definition
An asset is designated as non-performing when either the borrower is more than 90 days past due on payment to
any material creditor, or when Risk Management considers that the counterparty is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations in full without recourse by the Bank to actions such as realising security, if held.
Provisioning methodology
A specific provision is raised on all NPLs accounted for at amortised cost. The provision represents the amount
of expected loss, being the difference between the outstanding amount from the client and the recovery amount.
The expected recovery amount is equal to the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
loan’s original effective interest rate.
General portfolio provisions
In the performing portfolio, provisions are held against losses incurred but not identified at the balance sheet
date. These amounts are based on the PD rates associated with the rating assigned to each counterparty, the LGD
parameters reflecting product seniority and the Exposure at Default (EAD). EAD is calculated based on
outstanding operating assets and the expected disbursement of committed but not yet drawn amounts.
Credit risk exposures
Placements with credit institutions
The Fund’s placements with credit institutions were all classified at the internal risk rating category of 2.
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Loan investments
Set out below is an analysis of the Fund’s loan investments and the associated impairment provisions for each of
the Bank’s relevant internal risk rating categories.
Portfolio

Specific

Neither past

provisions for

provisions for

Total net of

due nor

unidentified

unidentified

impairment

Impairment

impaired

Impaired

Total

Total

impairment

impairment

provisions

provisions

€ million

€ million

€ million

%

€ million

€ million

€ million

%

5: Fair

55

-

55

53

-

-

55

-

6: Weak

22

-

22

21

-

-

22

-

7: Special Attention

11

-

11

11

(2)

-

9

18

-

16

16

15

-

(16)

-

100

88

16

104

100

(2)

(16)

86

17

Restated *

Restated *

Risk category

8: Non-performing
At 31 December 2016

Risk category

Restated *

Portfolio

Specific

Restated *

Neither past

provisions for

provisions for

Total net of

Restated *

unidentified
impairment
€ million

unidentified
impairment
€ million

impairment
provisions
€ million

Impairment
provisions
%
-

due nor
impaired
€ million

Restated *
Impaired
€ million

Restated *
Total
€ million

Restated *
Total
%

5: Fair

49

-

49

52

-

-

49

6: Weak

21

-

21

22

-

-

21

-

8

-

8

9

(2)

-

6

25

-

16

16

17

-

(12)

4

75

78

16

94

100

(2)

(12)

80

15

7: Special Attention
8: Non-performing
At 31 December 2015

At 31 December 2016 the Fund had security arrangements in place for loan investments with a disbursed value
of €5.2 million (2015: €14.1 million).
Undrawn loan commitments
Set out below is an analysis of the Fund’s undrawn commitments for loan investments for each of the Bank’s
relevant internal risk rating categories.

Risk category

Undrawn loan

Undrawn loan

commitments

commitments

2016

2015

€ million

€ million

5: Fair

1

6

6: Weak

48

39

7: Special attention

21

20

At 31 December

70

65

Concentration of credit risk exposure
The following table breaks down the main credit risk exposures at the carrying amount by geographical region.
Undrawn loan

Undrawn loan
commitments

Loans

commitments

Restated *
Loans

2016

2016

2015

2015

€ million

€ million

€ million

€ million

Kazakhstan

39

14

33

14

Tajikistan

11

3

12

-

1

61

1

56

Turkey
Morocco

9

-

10

-

Ukraine

10

26

9

24

At 31 December

70

104

65

94
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The following table breaks down the main credit risk exposures at the carrying amount by industry sector.
Undrawn loan

Undrawn loan
commitments

Depository credit (banks)

Loans

commitments

Restated *
Loans

2016

2016

2015

2015

€ million

€ million

€ million

€ million

56

1

61

2

Municipal and environmental infrastructure

26

6

21

5

Power and energy

41

35

40

33
-

Transport

1

-

1

Manufacturing & Services

1

2

1

-

70

104

65

94

At 31 December

B. Market risk
Market risk is the potential loss that could result from adverse market movements. The drivers of market risk for
the Fund are interest rate and foreign exchange risk.
Market risk management and measurement
As discussed at the beginning of the risk management section, the Fund does not actively monitor or hedge
against market risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. The length of time for which the rate of interest is fixed on a financial instrument indicates to
what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk.
The Fund's placements and floating rate loan investments are repriced to market interest rates within one month
and six months respectively, therefore the exposure to interest rate risk is considered to be minimal.
The Fund also has a number of fixed rate loan investments. Based on a reasonable basis point change in the
underlying interest rates, the potential impact to the Fund’s net profit is considered to be minimal.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
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The Fund's net exposure to functional currency foreign exchange risk (euro to USD) is outlined in the table
below.
United States

Pounds

Tajik

dollars

Sterling

Somoni

Euro

2016

2016

2016

2016

Total

€ million

€ million

€ million

€ million

€ million

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net currency position at 31 December 2016

90

245

-

2

337

(158)

(179)

-

-

(337)

(68)

66

-

2

Restated *

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net currency position at 31 December 2015

-

Restated *

Restated *

United States

Pounds

Euro

dollars

Sterling

2015

2015

2015

Total

€ million

€ million

€ million

€ million

93

236

1

330

(152)

(178)

-

(330)

(59)

58

1

Restated *

-

Based on the average five year absolute rolling average movement in the USD to euro exchange rate, the
potential impact on other comprehensive income due to presentation currency movement, from a 5 per cent
strengthening or weakening (2015: 5 per cent) is €6.0 million (2015: considered minimal).
C. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Rules of the Fund require that operations are financed from the resources of the Fund which comprise of
contributions received. Accordingly, the Fund cannot commit more than the available resources and cannot
borrow funds to finance operations. The Fund recognises contributions received as a liability, which will be
returned to the contributors either upon termination of the Fund, or to the extent that funds remain uncommitted,
upon request from the contributors. As a result, the Fund’s exposure to liquidity risk is considered to be
minimal.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Creation of the Special Fund
On 30 May 2008 the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“IBRD”), the Bank and other
multilateral development banks reached an agreement on the design and establishment of the Climate
Investment Fund (“CIF”) which comprises the Strategic Climate Fund (“SCF”) and the Clean Technology Fund
(“CTF”), the Contributors. The IBRD acts as a Trustee for the CIF.
The CTF was established to provide scaled up financing in order to contribute to the demonstration, deployment
and transfer of low carbon technologies with significant potential for long-term greenhouse gas emission
savings. The objective of the SCF is to support financing for scaled-up, transformational action in support of
adaptation and mitigation measures to specific climate change challenges.
The creation of the Fund was approved by the Board at its meeting on 21 October 2009 and is administered,
inter alia, in accordance with the AEB and the Rules of the Fund. The Fund became operational on
21 April 2010 following the signing of the Financial Procedures Agreements for the SCF and CTF.
The Fund’s principal office is located in London at One Exchange Square, EC2A 2JN.
The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the AEB. The Fund is not part of the ordinary capital
resources of the Bank, but any privileges and immunities available to the Bank are extended to the Fund.
2. President’s responsibilities
The President is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS issued by the IASB.
3. Restatement
The Fund measures its concessional loans at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Amortised cost
financial instruments are initially measured at their fair value on recognition. In the case of concessional loans,
the initial fair value of the loan includes the “day one” loss to discount the loans back to market rates. In prior
years, the day one losses on all concessional loans were recorded as a separate financial liability. However, the
day one loss for all disbursed loans are more appropriately included as part of the loan’s amortised cost within
loan investments. The impairment provision was also therefore restated due to the reduction in the carrying
value of the loans. The prior year restatement reflects the impact of this change.
The restatement resulted in a decrease to impairment charge on loan investments of €5 million on both the
Income Statement and Balance Sheet.
Effect on 2015
€ million
(Decrease) in Impairment charge on loan investments

(5)

Increase in profit

5

(Decrease) in Provision for impairment

(5)

Increase in Loan investments

5

The restatement resulted in a decrease in loan investments and concessional loan discount of €29 million on the
Balance Sheet.
Previous

Loans
Concessional loan discount

15

Restated

31 December 2015

Adjustment

31 December 2015

€ million

€ million

€ million

123

(29)

94

55

(29)

26
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4. Disbursements for technical cooperation
Commitments

Undrawn

approved
€ million

Disbursements
€ million

commitments
€ million

At 31 December 2014

5

(4)

1

Movement in the year

1

(1)

-

At 31 December 2015

6

(5)

1

Movement in the year

-

(1)

(1)

At 31 December 2016

6

(6)

-

Total projects

5. Contributions
2016

2015

€ million

€ million

362

329

Cumulative contributions received
Clean Technology Fund
Strategic Climate Fund

28

23

390

352

Clean Technology Fund

26

46

Strategic Climate Fund

1

3

27

49

388

375

Contributions received at 31 December
Contributions receivable

Contributions receivable at 31 December
Total contributions
Clean Technology Fund
Strategic Climate Fund

29

26

417

401

2016

Restated *
2015

€ million

€ million

94

65

7

29

(1)

(1)

Day one fair value adjustment (Note 9)

-

(6)

Unwinding discount (loan interest)

3

3

Foreign exchange movements

1

4

At 31 December

104

94

Impairment at 31 December

(18)

(14)

86

80

Total contributions at 31 December

6. Loan investments

At 1 January
Disbursements
Repayments

Total loan investments net of impairment at 31 December
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7. Provision for impairment of loan investments
Restated *
(Release)/Charge for the year

2016

2015

€ million

€ million

Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments

-

5

Specific provisions for the identified impairment of loan investments

(4)

(13)

Impairment charge on loan investments

(4)

(8)

(14)

(6)

Movement in provisions
At I January
Release for the year to the income statement
Impairment charge on loan investments
At 31 December

-

5

(4)

(13)

(18)

(14)

(2)
(16)
(18)

(2)
(12)
(14)

Analysed between
Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments
Specific provisions for the identified impairment of loan investments
At 31 December

8. Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities include income reimbursable to contributors of €1.2 million (2015: €2.0 million),
disbursements for technical cooperation payable of €0.9 million (2015: €0.7 million) and expenses payable of
€1.3 million (2015: €0.3 million).
9. Concessional loan discount
2016

2015

€ million

€ million

Day one fair value

4

15

Net loan discount movement

4

15

2016

2015

€ million

€ million

At 1 January

26

17

Day one fair value adjustment

4

15

Derecognition of liability on loan disbursement

-

At 31 December

(6)
26

30

10. Analysis of current and non-current assets and liabilities
The table below provides the classification of current and non-current assets and liabilities in the balance sheet.
Current
Assets

Placements with credit institutions
Contributions receivable
Loans

Non-current

Total

Restated *
Current

Restated *
Non-current

Restated *
Total

2016

2016

2016

2015

2015

2015

€ million

€ million

€ million

€ million

€ million

€ million

224

-

224

201

-

201

27

-

27

49

-

49

3

101

104

1

93

94

Provisions for impairment
Total assets

(18)
236

101

(18)
337

(14)
237

93

(14)
330

Liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Concessional loan discount

(3)
(30)

-

(3)
(30)

(3)
(26)

-

(3)
(26)

Total contributors' resources

(304)

-

(304)

(301)

-

(301)

Total liabilities

(337)

-

(337)

(330)

-

(330)
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11. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet approximate to their fair
value.
12. Events after the reporting period
There have been no material events since the reporting date that would require disclosure or adjustment to these
financial statements.
13. Related parties
The Fund’s related parties are the Bank and the contributors.
Fees are paid to the Bank based on budgeted expenditure as approved by the Trustee for the CIF. During 2016
the Bank incurred €1.0 million of reimbursable expenses on behalf of the Fund (2015: €1.5 million), of which
€0.9 million remain payable at year end (2015: €0.3 million). Included in this amount are audit fees of €12,500
(2015: €14,400). Audit fees totalling €26,800 remain payable to the Bank at year end. In 2014 the Bank
approved an extension of the term of appointment from four year to five with a maximum of two consecutive
terms. Deloitte LLP (UK) completed its first four year term in 2014 and has been re-appointed for the five year
period 2015 – 2019.
The fall in the fee for the audit paid to the Fund’s external auditor from 2015 to 2016 is attributable to
movements in the value of pound sterling. The pound sterling equivalent of these fees was £10,800 (2015:
£10,700)
Contributions received and receivable from the contributors are outlined in note 5. During 2016, income of €2.5
million was reimbursed to the contributors (2015: €1.5 million). The amounts refundable at the end of the year
are disclosed in note 8.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GOVERNORS OF THE EUROPEAN BANK FOR
RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT (“THE BANK”)
Report on the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the EBRD CIF Special Fund (“the Fund”) for the year ended 31 December
2016 which comprise the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the statement of
changes in contributors’ resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting policies, the risk management statement and
the related notes 1 to 13.
In our opinion the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the EBRD CIF
Special Fund as at 31 December 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the United Kingdom, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
President’s responsibility for the financial statements
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal
control as the President determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the President is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The President is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:





Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the President.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the President’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records, if the
proper accounting records have not been kept, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for
our audit. We have nothing to report in connection with these matters.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank in accordance with Article 24 of the
Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for the use of the contributor and for no other purpose. We do
not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this Report
is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants London,
United Kingdom
5 April 2017
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The EBRD Community Special Fund
Statement of comprehensive income
For the period 12 May 2016 to 31 December 2016

Period to
31 December 2016
€ 000
(22)
(30)
(52)

Disbursements
Management fees
Net loss and comprehensive expense for the period
Attributable to:
Contributor

(52)

Balance sheet
Balance sheet
At 31 December 2016
Note
Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Total assets

31 December 2016
€ 000
963
963

Liabilities and contributor’s resources
Accrued expenses
Total liabilities

15
15

Contributions
Reserves and accumulated loss
Total contributor’s resources

3

Total liabilities and contributor’s resources

1,000
(52)
948
963
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Statement of changes in contributor’s resources
For the period 12 May 2016 to 31 December 2016
Accumulated

At 12 May 2016
Contributions received
Total comprehensive expense for the period
At 31 December 2016

Contributions

loss

Total

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

1,000
1,000

(52)
(52)

1,000
(52)
948

Statement of cash flows
Period to

For the period 12 May 2016 to 31 December 2016

31 December 2016
€ 000

Cash flows used in operating activities
Net loss for the period

€ 000

(52)

Increase in operating liabilities
Accrued expenses
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Contributions received
Net cash from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

15
(37)
1,000
1,000
963
963

2

The EBRD Community Special Fund
Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to the period presented.
A. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"). The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and have been prepared on a going
concern basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
policies of The EBRD Community Special Fund (“the Fund”). The Fund does not have any areas with
accounting estimates and judgements for the period presented.
New and amended IFRS mandatorily effective for the current reporting period
There are a number of amendments to standards effective for the current reporting period which have no or
negligible impact on the Fund’s financial statements, namely:
 IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
 IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements
 IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment
 IAS 38: Intangible Assets
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments is the IASB’s replacement project for IAS 39. The Standard has developed in
phases and was completed in July 2014 with a mandatory application date for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Fund adopted the first phase ‘recognition and measurement of
financial assets’ (November 2009) in its 2010 financial statements. See the accounting policy for financial
assets for more details.
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective and not adopted early

The following standards are not yet effective and have not been adopted early.
Pronouncement
Amendments to:
IFRS 2: Share-based
Payment

Amendments to:
IFRS 4: Insurance
Contracts

IFRS 9
Financial Instruments

Nature of change
Accounting for a modification of a share-based payment
transaction that changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Provides guidance for insurers in applying IFRS 9:
Financial Instruments with IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(October 2010).
Hedge accounting (November 2013).
Impairment methodology and introduction of ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ measurement
category for financial assets represented by simple debt
instruments (July 2014).
IFRS 9 to be adopted in its entirety for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
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Potential Impact
The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.

The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.
The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.
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Amendments to:
IFRS 10:
Consolidation
Financial Statements
and
IAS 28: Investments in
Associates and Joint
Ventures
IFRS 15: Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

IFRS 16: Leases

Amendments to:
IAS 7: Statement of
Cash Flows

Amendments to:
IAS 12: Income Taxes

Provides guidance for accounting for the loss of control of a
subsidiary as a result of a transaction involving an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method.

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined by the IASB.
Establishes principles for reporting useful information to
users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers.

The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a
contract, ie the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier
(‘lessor’).

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019.
An entity shall provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes.

This is a disclosure
requirement only
which the Fund will
comply with in 2017.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
Clarifies the requirements on recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at
fair value
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.

The Fund is exempt
from all forms of
direct taxes and so this
Standard is not
applicable.

B. Significant accounting policies
Financial assets - Classification and measurement
The Fund early adopted the first instalment of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, concerning the classification
and measurement of financial assets, with effect from 12 May 2016. Pursuant to that adoption, the Fund
classifies its financial assets in the following categories: those measured at amortised cost and those
measured at fair value. This classification depends on both the contractual characteristics of the assets and
the business model adopted for their management.
Financial assets at amortised cost
An investment is classified as ‘amortised cost’ only if both of the following criteria are met: the objective of
the Fund’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flow; and the contractual terms
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding, interest being consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated with the
principal amount outstanding.
Investments meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less any impairment. The Fund’s financial assets at amortised cost are
recognised at settlement date.
Financial assets at fair value
If either of the two criteria above is not met, the debt instrument is classified as ‘fair value through profit or
loss’. The Fund does not currently have any such assets in this category.

4

The EBRD Community Special Fund
Financial liabilities
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to financial liabilities and therefore still
applies IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
All financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost.
Contributor's resources
The Fund recognises contributions received from the contributor as equity on the basis that the termination of
the contribution agreement would lead to the winding up of the Fund and the distribution of the residual
assets to the contributor.
Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents comprise
balances with less than three months maturity from the date of the transaction, which are available for use at
short notice and that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Disbursements
Disbursements represent payments to charitable organisations by matching staff financial contributions
collected for charitable causes over a period of time, these are recorded as expenditure over the period the
payment became eligible.
Taxation
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the European Bank for Reconstruction and
Development ("the AEB") (''the Bank''), within the scope of its official activities, the Bank, its assets,
property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and duties levied upon goods and services
acquired or imported, except for those parts of taxes or duties that represent charges for public utility
services. As described in note 1, this exemption is extended to the Fund.
Comparatives
There are no comparative figures as this is the first period of operation of the Fund.
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Risk management
The Fund was established to provide a framework for staff engagement in philanthropic, social and cultural
activities relating to the Bank’s countries of operations. To achieve this, the resources of the Fund may be
used to match staff financial contributions collected for charitable/social causes as well as promote
philanthropic, cultural and charitable activities in the Bank’s countries of operations.
As the purpose of the Fund is to support the Bank and their staff’s engagement in philanthropic activities in
their countries of operation rather than to generate a return on its assets, financial risks, with the exception of
credit risk, are not actively managed by the Fund.
Risk governance
The Fund follows the Bank's risk governance procedures as below:
The Bank’s overall framework for identifying and managing risks is underpinned by the Banking VicePresidency being the first line of defence related to debt and equity operations and an independent second
line of defence control functions, including the Risk Management department, Office of the Chief
Compliance Officer, Environmental and Social Department, Finance Department, Evaluations Department
and other relevant units. An Internal Audit Department acts as third line of defence and independently
assesses the effectiveness of the processes within the first and second lines of defence. The Vice President,
Risk and Compliance, Chief Risk Officer (CRO) is responsible for ensuring the independent risk
management of the Banking exposures, including adequate processes and governance structure for
independent identification, measurement, monitoring and mitigation of risks incurred by the Bank. The
challenge of the control functions, review of their status and assessment of their ability to perform duties
independently falls within the remit of the Audit Committee of the Board.
Matters related to Bank-wide risk and associated policies and procedures are considered by the Risk
Committee. The Risk Committee is accountable to the President. It oversees all aspects of the Banking
portfolio across all sectors and countries, and provides advice on Risk Management policies, measures and
controls. It also approves proposals for new products submitted by Banking. The membership comprises
senior managers across the Bank including representatives from Risk Management, Finance, Banking and
the Office of the General Counsel.
The Risk Committee is chaired by the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO.
The Managing Director, Risk Management reports to the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO and leads the
overall management of the department. Risk Management provides an independent assessment of risks
associated with individual investments undertaken by the Bank, and performs an ongoing review of the
portfolio to monitor credit, market and liquidity risks and to identify appropriate risk management actions. It
also assesses and proposes ways to manage risks arising from correlations and concentrations within the
portfolio, and ensures that adequate systems and controls are put in place for identifying and managing
operational risks across the Bank. It develops and maintains the Risk Management policies to facilitate
Banking and Treasury operations and promotes risk awareness across the Bank.
In exercising its responsibilities, Risk Management is guided by its mission to:
• Provide assurance to stakeholders that risk decision-making in the Bank is balanced and within agreed
appetite, and that control processes are rigorously designed and applied; and
• Support the Bank’s business strategy including the maximisation of transition impact through provision
of efficient and effective delivery of risk management advice, challenge and decision making.
A. Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential loss to a portfolio that could result from the default of a counterparty or the
deterioration of its creditworthiness.
The Fund's exposure to credit risk is currently limited to the financial institutions with which it may place its
cash resources. For banks with which the Fund places its cash, internal credit ratings are determined by Risk
Management and are the same as those used for Banking exposures. These ratings are based on internal
analysis of approved counterparties' creditworthiness through synthesis of externally provided credit research
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and market data, including approved external agency ratings. All individual counterparty credit lines for
banks are measured, monitored and reviewed by Risk Management annually.
At period end the Fund’s cash was placed with a financial institution which ranked in the second highest
internal credit rating risk category assigned by the Bank’s Risk Management department. This rating
approximated to a Standard & Poor’s equivalent rating of AA+ to AA-.
The carrying amount of placements presented on the balance sheet represents the Fund’s maximum exposure
to credit risk at 31 December 2016.
B. Market risk
Market risk is the potential loss that could result from adverse market movements. The driver of market risk
for the Fund is interest rate risk.
Market risk management and measurement
As discussed at the beginning of the risk management section, the Fund does not actively monitor or hedge
against market risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. The length of time for which the rate of interest is fixed on a financial instrument indicates to
what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk.
The Fund's placements are repriced to market interest rates within one month, therefore the exposure to
interest rate risk is considered to be minimal.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Fund does not hold any assets or liabilities of non-euro denomination, nor does it have any non-euro
commitments as at 31 December 2016, hence it is not exposed to any foreign exchange risk.
C. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Fund's Rules and Regulations require that payments to charitable organisations and activities are
financed from the resources of the Fund, which comprises of contributions received and investment income.
Accordingly, the Fund cannot commit more than the available resources and cannot borrow funds to finance
operations. The Fund recognises contributions received as equity, which will only be returned to the
contributor as part of the residual assets upon termination of the Fund. As a result, the exposure to liquidity
risk is considered to be minimal.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Creation of the Special Fund
The creation of the Fund was approved by the Board of Directors ("the Board") of the Bank at its meeting of
6 April 2016 and is administered, inter alia, in accordance with the AEB and under the terms of the Rules
and Regulations of the Fund approved by the Board on that date, as may be amended from time to time. The
Fund became operational after the Governors of the Bank adopted the 2015 Net Income Allocation
Resolution during its Annual Meeting on 12 May 2016.
The Fund’s principal office is located in London at One Exchange Square, EC2A 2JN.
The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the AEB. The Fund is not part of the ordinary
capital resources of the Bank, but any privileges and immunities available to the Bank are extended to the
Fund.
2. President’s responsibilities
The President is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS issued by the
IASB.
3. Contributions
During the period a contribution of €1,000,000 was received from the Bank representing a net income
allocation approved by the Board of Governors on 12 May 2016.
4. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet approximate to their
fair value.
5. Analysis of current and non-current assets and liabilities
All assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet are classified as current for 2016.
6. Events after the reporting period
There have been no material events since the reporting date that would require disclosure or adjustment to
these financial statements.
7. Related parties
The Fund’s only related party is the Bank.
The Bank is entitled to charge the Fund a management fee of an amount equal to 3 per cent of contributions
received. During the period 12 May 2016 to 31 December 2016, the Fund paid a management fee of €30,000
and there were no accrued management fees payable by the Fund to the Bank at 31 December 2016.
External auditor's remuneration of €6,700 is payable by the Bank from the management fee.
Deloitte LLP (UK) has been appointed for the five year period 2015 - 2019. The fall in the fee for the audit
paid to the Fund’s external auditor from 2015 to 2016 is attributable to movements in the value of pound
sterling. The pound sterling equivalent of these fees was £5,800 (2015: £5,700).

8

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GOVERNORS OF THE EUROPEAN BANK FOR
RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT (“THE BANK”)
Report on the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the EBRD Community Special Fund (“the Fund”) for the year ended 31
December 2016 which comprise the statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the statement of changes in
contributors’ resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting policies, the risk management statement and the related
notes 1 to 7.
In our opinion the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the EBRD Community
Special Fund as at 31 December 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the United Kingdom, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
President’s responsibility for the financial statements
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal
control as the President determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the President is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The President is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's internal control.
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the President.
 Conclude on the appropriateness of the President’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
9

attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records, if the
proper accounting records have not been kept, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for
our audit. We have nothing to report in connection with these matters.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank in accordance with Article 24 of the
Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for the use of the contributor and for no other purpose. We do not,
in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this Report is
shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants London,
United Kingdom
5 April 2017
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The EBRD GEF Investment Special Fund
Income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Note
Interest income
Interest income refunded
Disbursements for technical cooperation

3

Foreign exchange movements

Year to

Year to

31 December

31 December

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

59

5

(59)

(5)

(12)

(118)

(53)

(6)

(1,236)

(1,761)

Management fee expense

10

Impairment charge on loan commitments

4

(53)

Concessional loan discount

5

(342)

Net loss for the year

-

(1,696)

(1,885)

(1,696)

(1,885)

Attributable to:
Contributor

Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Net loss for the year

Year to

Year to

31 December

31 December

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

(1,696)

(1,885)

Other comprehensive expense
Foreign exchange movement between functional
and presentational currencies

(62)

(34)

Total comprehensive expense

(1,758)

(1,919)

(1,758)

(1,919)

31 December
2016
€ 000

31 December
2015
€ 000

Attributable to:
Contributor

These items will not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss.

Balance sheet
At 31 December 2016
€ 000

Note

€ 000

Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Contributions receivable

24,028

23,146
6

Total assets

3,810

-

26,956

24,028

1,236

1,772

-

9

32

4

Liabilities
Management fee payable

10

Disbursements for technical cooperation
Interest refundable
Concessional loan discount

5

343

-

Provisions for impairment of loan commitments

4

53

-

Contributor's resources
Contributions

6

24,341

29,148

Reserves and accumulated loss

(2,098)

(3,856)

Total contributor’s resources

25,292

22,243

Total liabilities

26,956

24,028

1,704

-

Memorandum items
Undrawn loan commitments
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Statement of changes in contributor’s resources
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Accumulated

At 31 December 2014
Contributions received and receivable
Revaluation of contributions
Total comprehensive expense
At 31 December 2015
Contributions received and receivable
Revaluation of contributions
Total comprehensive expense
At 31 December 2016

Contributions

General reserve

loss

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

2,072

(2)

(177)

1,893

22,139

-

-

130

-

-

-

(34)

24,341

(36)

-

Total

22,139
130

(1,885)

(1,919)

(2,062)

22,243

4,113

-

-

694

-

-

4,113
694

-

(62)

(1,696)

(1,758)

29,148

(98)

(3,758)

25,292

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Year to

Year to

31 December

31 December

2016
€ 000

€ 000

2015
€ 000

€ 000

Cash flows used in operating activities
Net loss for the year

(1,696)

(1,885)

(59)

(5)

53

6

Adjustment for:
Interest income
Foreign exchange movement
Provisions and concessional loan discount

395

-

Interest income refunded

59

5

Management fee expense

1,236

1,761

(12)
Interest income received
Interest refunded
Management fees paid

(118)

59

5

(32)

(2)

(1,735)

-

(Decrease)/Increase in operating liabilities:
Disbursements for technical cooperation
Net cash used in operating activities

(9)

9
(1,729)

(106)

Cash flows from financing activities
Contributions received

303

Net cash from financing activities

22,139
303

22,139

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

(1,426)

22,033

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

24,028

1,894

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

2

544

101

23,146

24,028
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Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
A. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"). The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss. The financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
policies of the EBRD GEF Investment ("the Fund"). The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where judgements and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed
in “Critical accounting estimates and judgements” within the section for Accounting Policies.
New and amended IFRS mandatorily effective for the current reporting period
There are a number of amendments to standards effective for the current reporting period which have no or
negligible impact on the Fund’s financial statements, namely:
 IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
 IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements
 IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment
 IAS 38: Intangible Assets
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments is the IASB’s replacement project for IAS 39. The Standard has developed in
phases and was completed in July 2014 with a mandatory application date for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Fund adopted the first phase ‘recognition and measurement of
financial assets’ (November 2009) in its 2010 financial statements. See the accounting policy for financial
assets for more details.
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective and not adopted early
The following standards are not yet effective and have not been adopted early.
Pronouncement
Amendments to:
IFRS 2: Share-based
Payment

Amendments to:
IFRS 4: Insurance
Contracts

IFRS 9
Financial Instruments

Nature of change
Accounting for a modification of a share-based payment
transaction that changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Provides guidance for insurers in applying IFRS 9:
Financial Instruments with IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(October 2010).
Hedge accounting (November 2013).
Impairment methodology and introduction of ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ measurement
category for financial assets represented by simple debt
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Potential Impact
The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.

The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.
The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

The EBRD GEF Investment Special Fund
instruments (July 2014).

Amendments to:
IFRS 10:
Consolidation
Financial Statements
and
IAS 28: Investments in
Associates and Joint
Ventures
IFRS 15: Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

IFRS 16: Leases

Amendments to:
IAS 7: Statement of
Cash Flows

Amendments to:
IAS 12: Income Taxes

IFRS 9 to be adopted in its entirety for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Provides guidance for accounting for the loss of control of a
subsidiary as a result of a transaction involving an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method.

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined by the IASB.
Establishes principles for reporting useful information to
users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers.

The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a
contract, ie the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier
(‘lessor’).

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019.
An entity shall provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes.

This is a disclosure
requirement only
which the Fund will
comply with in 2017.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
Clarifies the requirements on recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at
fair value
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.

The Fund is exempt
from all forms of
direct taxes and so this
Standard is not
applicable.

B. Significant accounting policies
Financial assets - Classification and measurement
The Fund early adopted the first instalment of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, concerning the classification
and measurement of financial assets, with effect from 7 May 2014. Pursuant to that adoption, the Fund
classifies its financial assets in the following categories: those measured at amortised cost and those
measured at fair value. This classification depends on both the contractual characteristics of the assets and
the business model adopted for their management.
Financial assets at amortised cost
An investment is classified as ‘amortised cost’ only if both of the following criteria are met: the objective of
the Fund’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flow; and the contractual terms
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding, interest being consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated with the
principal amount outstanding.
Investments meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. The initial fair value of a financial asset is normally
represented by the transaction price exchanged for its acquisition or origination as the price is assumed to
reflect the market conditions that an entity would normally have taken into consideration in determining the
transaction price. The Fund makes loans to its borrowers at concessional rates and therefore each loan is
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priced at a discount to normal market rates. This discount to fair value is accounted for as a "day one" loss
through the Fund's income statement, with a corresponding liability. The day one loss is recognised upon
signing the loan.
Subsequently, these loans are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment that may be necessary. The initial fair value discount applied to each loan is therefore recovered
in the effective interest rate at which income is recognised in the income statement over the tenor of the loan.
The Fund's financial assets at amortised cost are recognised at settlement date.
Financial assets at fair value
If either of the two criteria above is not met, the debt instrument is classified as ‘fair value through profit or
loss’. The Fund does not currently have any such assets in this category.
Financial liabilities
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to financial liabilities and therefore applies
IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
All financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost.
Impairment of financial assets
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to impairments and therefore still applies
IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
Where there is objective evidence that an identified loan asset is impaired, specific provisions for
impairment are recognised in the income statement. Impairment is quantified as the difference between the
carrying amount of the asset and the net present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the asset’s
original effective interest rate where applicable. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use
of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. The carrying
amount of the asset is reduced directly only upon write-off. Resulting adjustments include the unwinding of
the discount in the income statement over the life of the asset, and any adjustments required in respect of a
reassessment of the initial impairment.
The criteria that the Fund uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:
·
delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;
·
cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower;
·
breach of loan covenants or conditions;
·
initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;
·
deterioration in the borrower’s competitive position; and
·
deterioration in the value of collateral.
Provisions for impairment of classes of similar assets that are not individually identified as impaired are
calculated on a portfolio basis (the general provision). The methodology used for assessing such impairment
is based on a risk-rated approach for non-sovereign assets. The Fund’s methodology calculates impairment
on an incurred loss basis. Impairment is deducted from the asset categories on the balance sheet.
Impairment, less any amounts reversed during the year, is charged to the income statement. When a loan is
deemed uncollectible the principal is written off against the related impairment provision. Such loans are
written off only after all necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been
determined. Recoveries are credited to the income statement if previously written off.
Loans and advances are generally renegotiated in response to an adverse change in the circumstances of the
borrower. Depending upon the degree to which the original loan is amended, it may continue to be
recognised or will be derecognised and replaced with a new loan. To the extent the original loan is retained,
it will continue to be shown as overdue if appropriate and individually impaired where the renegotiated
payments of interest and principal will not recover the original carrying amount of the asset.
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Contributor’s resources
The Fund recognises contributions received from the contributor as a liability on the basis that the Fund is
obligated to return such contributions, upon request of the contributor, to the extent these are not needed to
meet existing commitments and obligations of the Fund.
Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents comprise
balances with less than three months maturity from the date of the transaction, which are available for use at
short notice and that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Disbursements for technical cooperation
Disbursements for technical cooperation, which represent payments for consultancy services provided to the
Fund over a period of time, are recorded as expenditure over the period during which the services are
received.
Foreign currencies
The functional currency of the Fund is the United States dollar (USD) as this reflects the transactions, events
and conditions under which the Fund conducts its business. For financial statement reporting purposes the
unit of measurement is the euro (EUR).
For functional currency reporting, transactions in currencies other than USD are translated into USD at
exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction. All assets and liabilities in currencies other than USD are
re-translated into USD at spot rates ruling at 31 December 2016 with the resultant exchange gains or losses
taken to the income statement.
For financial statement reporting, income and expenses (excluding exchange gains or losses) are translated
from the functional currency to euro using exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction. Exchange
gains or losses are translated from the functional currency to euro at 31 December 2016 using the average
exchange rate for the year. Assets and liabilities denominated in the functional currency are re-translated to
euro at spot rates ruling at 31 December 2016 with the resultant exchange gains and losses taken to other
comprehensive income.
Contributions
Contributions received in currencies other than USD are translated into USD at the exchange rates ruling at
the time of the transaction. Currencies are then subsequently re-translated to euro at the year-end exchange
rate.
Contributions are recognised as receivable on the balance sheet on the date of project approval by the Board
of Directors ("the Board") of the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development ("the Bank")
following receipt of a letter of commitment from the Contributor. Contributions receivable have not been
discounted on a present value basis as there is no indication as to their precise payment date. The Fund is
satisfied that they will be realised for the amounts stated in the financial statements.
General reserve
The general reserve represents foreign exchange movements on translation from functional currency to
presentational currency.
Interest
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis. All interest income is recognised within ‘interest income’ in the
income statement.
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Taxation
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the European Bank for Reconstruction and
Development (“the AEB”) (“the Bank” or “the EBRD”) within, the scope of its official activities, the Bank, its
assets, property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and duties levied upon goods and
services acquired or imported, except for those parts of taxes or duties that represent charges for public utility
services. As described in note 1, this exemption is extended to the Fund.
C. Critical accounting estimate and judgements
Preparing financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and judgements
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts included in the income statement during the reporting period.
The Fund’s critical accounting estimates and judgements are as follows:
Provisions for the impairment of loan commitments
The Fund’s method for determining the level of impairment of loan commitments is described within the
accounting policies section of the report and further explained under credit risk within the risk management
section of the report. As described in the risk management section the Fund participates in investments jointly
with the Bank and credit risk is jointly managed. Accordingly, the risk management disclosures are based on the
Bank’s risk processes and procedures.
Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan commitments at 31 December 2016 were €53,000
(2015: nil).
During 2016 the Bank carried out its regular annual review of the loss parameters underpinning estimates of
unidentified impairment, with the aim of better reflecting the Bank's loss experience. This review resulted in a
modest reduction in the level of portfolio provisions. The key revision to these estimates was:
Probability of default
• In determining the probabilities of default for each risk rating, the historical datasets used to calibrate the
rates were updated to include 2015. This was carried out for both the internal and external data used to
determine the final probability of default rates.
There would be no change to the portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments if this
change to loss parameter estimates had been applied at 31 December 2015, as the Fund did not have a provision.
No estimate of the effect these changes may have on future periods has been undertaken on the grounds of
impracticability.
The sensitivity of portfolio provisions as at 31 December 2016 to the key variables used in determining the level
of impairment is provided below.
Risk ratings
• If all loan commitments were upgraded by three 'notches' or detailed ratings on the Bank’s probability of
default rating scale, this would result in a reduction of €43,000 in portfolio provisions on loan investments.
• Conversely, if all loan commitments were downgraded by three 'notches' or detailed ratings on the Bank’s
probability of default rating scale, this would result in no change to the income statement in relation to
portfolio provisions for loans.
Probability of default rates
• In determining the probabilities of default for each risk rating, the relative weighting applied to external
data and the Bank’s own experience is reviewed annually. The 2016 general provisioning methodology
applies a 67 per cent weighting to the Bank’s own experience and a 33 per cent weighting to external data.
A +/- 10 percentage points change in the weighting assigned to the Bank’s own experience would lead to a
change in portfolio provisions of -/+ €5,000.
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Loss emergence period
• Provisions for unidentified impairment are made to reflect losses arising from events existing but not
identified at the balance sheet date and which will emerge within a 12 month period from that date. If the
loss emergence period was reduced to three months it is broadly estimated that this would result in a
decrease in portfolio provisions charged to the income statement of approximately €39,000.
Loss given default rates
• A change in loss given default rates by ten percentage points would lead to a change in portfolio provisions
of +/- €12,000.

8

The EBRD GEF Investment Special Fund
Risk management
The Fund was established to provide financing to promote environmental and sustainable development and
cover the incremental costs associated with introducing global environmental benefits to local and regional
projects. To achieve this, the Fund will provide concessional loans alongside the Bank’s market rate loans,
as well as grants in support of technical cooperation and investment incentives.
As the primary purpose of the Fund is to provide concessional lending and grants rather than to generate a
return on its assets, most financial risks are not actively managed by the Fund. As the Fund will participate
in investments alongside the Bank, although under different terms, credit risk is jointly managed; however
the Fund does not hedge against market risk and is hence exposed to interest rate and foreign exchange risk.
Risk governance
The Fund follows the Bank's risk governance procedures as below:
The Bank’s overall framework for identifying and managing risks is underpinned by the Banking VicePresidency being the first line of defence related to debt and equity operations and an independent second
line of defence control functions, including the Risk Management department, Office of the Chief
Compliance Officer, Environmental and Social Department, Finance Department, Evaluations Department
and other relevant units. An Internal Audit Department acts as third line of defence and independently
assesses the effectiveness of the processes within the first and second lines of defence. The Vice President,
Risk and Compliance, Chief Risk Officer (CRO) is responsible for ensuring the independent risk
management of the Banking exposures, including adequate processes and governance structure for
independent identification, measurement, monitoring and mitigation of risks incurred by the Bank. The
challenge of the control functions, review of their status and assessment of their ability to perform duties
independently falls within the remit of the Audit Committee of the Board.
Matters related to Bank-wide risk and associated policies and procedures are considered by the Risk
Committee. The Risk Committee is accountable to the President. It oversees all aspects of the Banking
portfolio across all sectors and countries, and provides advice on Risk Management policies, measures and
controls. It also approves proposals for new products submitted by Banking. The membership comprises
senior managers across the Bank including representatives from Risk Management, Finance, Banking and
the Office of the General Counsel.
The Risk Committee is chaired by the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO.
The Managing Director, Risk Management reports to the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO and leads the
overall management of the department. Risk Management provides an independent assessment of risks
associated with individual investments undertaken by the Bank, and performs an ongoing review of the
portfolio to monitor credit, market and liquidity risks and to identify appropriate risk management actions. It
also assesses and proposes ways to manage risks arising from correlations and concentrations within the
portfolio, and ensures that adequate systems and controls are put in place for identifying and managing
operational risks across the Bank. It develops and maintains the Risk Management policies to facilitate
Banking and Treasury operations and promotes risk awareness across the Bank.
In exercising its responsibilities, Risk Management is guided by its mission to:
• Provide assurance to stakeholders that risk decision-making in the Bank is balanced and within agreed
appetite, and that control processes are rigorously designed and applied; and
• Support the Bank’s business strategy including the maximisation of transition impact through provision of
efficient and effective delivery of risk management advice, challenge and decision making.
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A. Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential loss to a portfolio that could result from the default of a counterparty or the
deterioration of its creditworthiness. The Fund may also be exposed to concentration risk, which is the risk
arising from too high a proportion of the portfolio being allocated to a specific country, industry sector or
obligor, or to a particular type of instrument or individual transaction.
The Fund is exposed to credit risk as borrowers and counterparties could default on their contractual
obligations, or the value of the Fund's investments could become impaired.
The carrying amounts of financial assets presented on the balance sheet, together with the undrawn
commitments as shown under memorandum items, best represents the Fund’s maximum exposure to credit
risk at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, without taking account of any collateral held or other
credit enhancements.
Credit risk management and measurement
As previously stated, the Fund participates jointly with the Bank in the financing of investments in the
Bank’s countries of operations. It therefore benefits from the same governance process employed by the
Bank in the measurement and management of credit exposures, which is described below.
Underlying principles and procedures
The Board of Directors ("the Board") approves a document that defines the principles underlying the credit
process for the approval, management and review of Banking exposures. The Audit Committee periodically
reviews these principles and its review is submitted to the Board for approval.
Individual projects
The Operations Committee reviews all Banking projects prior to their submission for Board approval. The
Committee is chaired by the First Vice President and Head of Client Services Group and its membership
comprises senior managers of the Bank, including the VP Risk & Compliance, CRO and the Managing
Director, Risk Management. A number of frameworks for smaller projects are considered by the Small
Business Investment Committee or by senior management under a delegated authority framework supervised
by the Operations Committee. The project approval process is designed to ensure compliance with the
Bank’s criteria for sound banking, transition impact and additionality. It operates within the authority
delegated by the Board, via the President, to approve projects within Board-approved framework operations.
The Operations Committee is also responsible for approving significant changes to existing operations.
Risk Management conducts reviews of all exposures within the Banking portfolio. At each review, Risk
Management assesses whether there has been any change in the risk profile of the exposure, recommends
actions to mitigate risk and reconfirms or adjusts the risk rating.
Portfolio level review
Risk Management reports on the development of the portfolio as a whole on a quarterly basis to the Audit
Committee of the Board. The report includes a summary of key factors affecting the portfolio and provides
analysis and commentary on trends within the portfolio and various sub-portfolios. It also includes reporting
on compliance with all portfolio risk limits including an explanation of any limit breaches.
To identify emerging risk and enable appropriate risk mitigating actions Risk Management also conducts
regular Bank-wide (top-down) and country level (bottom-up) stress testing exercises and comprehensive
reviews of its investment portfolios. The Bank recognises that any resulting risk mitigation is constrained by
the limited geographical space within which the Bank operates.
EBRD internal ratings
Probability of default (PD)
The Bank assigns its internal risk ratings to all counterparties, including borrowers, investee companies,
guarantors and sovereigns in the Banking portfolio. Risk ratings reflect the financial strength of the
counterparty as well as consideration of any implicit support, for example from a major shareholder. The
sovereign rating takes into consideration the ratings assigned by external rating agencies. For non-sovereign
operations, probability of default ratings are normally capped by the sovereign rating, except where the Bank
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has recourse to a guarantor from outside the country which may have a better rating than the local sovereign
rating.
The table below shows the Bank’s internal probability of default rating scale from 1.0 (lowest risk) to 8.0
(highest risk) and how this maps to the external ratings of Standard & Poor’s (S&P). References to risk
rating through this text relate to probability of default ratings unless otherwise specified.
EBRD risk
category
1

EBRD risk rating

2

3

4

5

6

7
8

1.0
1.7
2.0
2.3/2.5
2.7
3.0
3.3
3.7
4.0
4.3
4.7
5.0
5.3
5.7
6.0
6.3
6.7
7.0
7.3
8.0

External rating equivalent

Category name

AAA
AA+
AA
AAA+
A
ABBB+
BBB
BBBBB+
BB
BBB+
B
BCCC+
CCC
CCC-/CC/C
D

Excellent

Broader category

Very Strong

Strong

Investment Grade

Good

Fair

Risk class 5

Weak

Risk class 6

Special Attention

Classified

Non-performing

Loss given default (LGD)
The Bank assigns loss given default percentages on a scale of 0 to 100 determined by the seniority of the
instrument in which the Bank invested.
Non-performing loans (NPL)
NPL definition
An asset is designated as non-performing when either the borrower is more than 90 days past due on
payment to any material creditor, or when Risk Management considers that the counterparty is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations in full without recourse by the Bank to actions such as realising security, if held.
Provisioning methodology
A specific provision is raised on all NPLs accounted for at amortised cost. The provision represents the
amount of expected loss, being the difference between the outstanding amount from the client and the
expected recovery amount. The expected recovery amount is equal to the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the loan’s original effective interest rate.
General portfolio provisions
In the performing portfolio, provisions are held against losses incurred but not identified at the balance sheet
date. These amounts are based on the PD rates associated with the rating assigned to each counterparty, the
LGD parameters reflecting product seniority and the Exposure at Default (EAD). EAD is calculated based
on outstanding operating assets and the expected disbursement of committed but not yet drawn amounts.
Credit risk exposures
Placements with credit institutions
The Fund’s placements with credit institutions were all classified at the internal risk rating category of 2
(approximately AA+ to AA- in terms of S&P equivalent).
Undrawn loan commitments
The Fund’s undrawn loan commitments were internally risk rated at 7.
Concentration of credit risk exposure
The Fund's credit risk exposure is concentrated in a single geographical region, Ukraine and a single industry
sector, infrastructure.
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B. Market risk
Market risk is the potential loss that could result from adverse market movements. The drivers of market risk
for the Fund are interest rate and foreign exchange risk.
Market risk management and measurement
As discussed at the beginning of the risk management section, the Fund does not actively monitor or hedge
against market risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. The length of time for which the rate of interest is fixed on a financial instrument indicates to
what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk.
The Fund's placements are repriced to market interest rates within one month, therefore the exposure to
interest rate risk is considered to be minimal.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Fund's net exposure to foreign exchange risk is considered to be minimal, at 31 December 2016 as
outlined in the table below.
United States

Total assets

Euro

dollars

2016

2016

2016

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

1,835

Total

25,121

26,956

Total liabilities and contributor's resources

-

(26,956)

(26,956)

Net currency position at 31 December 2016

1,835

(1,835)

-

United States

Total assets
Total liabilities and contributor's resources
Net currency position at 31 December 2015

Euro

dollars

Total

2015

2015

2015

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

1,835

22,193

24,028

-

(24,028)

(24,028)

1,835

(1,835)

Based on the average five year absolute rolling average movement in the USD to euro exchange rate, the
potential impact on other comprehensive income due to presentational currency movement, from a 5 per cent
strengthening or weakening is €0.1 million (2015: €0.1 million).
C. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Rules of the Fund require that operations are financed from the resources of the Fund which comprise of
contributions received. Accordingly, the Fund cannot commit more than the available resources and cannot
borrow funds to finance operations. The Fund recognises contributions received as a liability, which will be
returned to the contributor either upon termination of the Fund, or to the extent that funds remain
uncommitted, upon request from the contributor. As a result, the Fund’s exposure to liquidity risk is
considered to be minimal.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Creation of the Special Fund
The creation of the Fund was approved by the Board of Directors (“the Board”) of the Bank at its meeting of
7 May 2014 and is administered, inter alia, in accordance with the AEB and under the terms of the Rules and
Regulations of the Fund and the Financial Procedures Agreement (“the FPA”).
The FPA was signed between the EBRD and the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development as
the Trustee of the Global Environment Facility (“the Trustee”) on 6 November 2006. A new FPA was signed
on 30 September 2009 superseding the previous version, and further amended on 9 March 2014.
The Fund became operational upon approval of the Rules on 7 May 2014.
The Fund’s principal office is located in London at One Exchange Square, EC2A 2JN.
The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the AEB. The Fund is not part of the ordinary
capital resources of the Bank, but any privileges and immunities available to the Bank are extended to the
Fund. The objective of the Fund is to finance lending, guarantee or investment operations and provide
financing for technical cooperation and investment incentives.
The FPA was extended on 3 December 2015 to a termination date of 30 December 2019. The FPA allows
either the Bank or the Trustee to terminate the Fund by giving 60 days’ notice. The Rules allow the Board of
Directors to terminate the Fund after consultation between the Bank and the Trustee.
2. President’s responsibilities
The President is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS issued by the
IASB.
3. Disbursements for technical cooperation
Commitments
approved
€ 000

Undrawn
Disbursements
€ 000

commitments
€ 000

-

-

Total projects
At 31 December 2014

-

Movement in the period

118

(118)

-

At 31 December 2015

118

(118)

-

Movement in the period

12

(12)

-

At 31 December 2016

130

(130)

-

4. Provisions for impairment of loan commitments
2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan commitments

(53)

-

Impairment charge on loan investments

(53)

-

Charge for the year to the income statement

(53)

-

At 31 December

(53)

-

Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan commitments

(53)

-

At 31 December

(53)

-

Charge for the period

Movement in provisions

Representing:
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5. Concessional loans

Day one concessional loan fair value discount
Foreign exchange movements
At 31 December

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

(342)

-

(1)

-

(343)

-

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

Day one fair value adjustment

(342)

-

Net loan discount movement

(342)

-

6. Contributions

Cumulative contributions received

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

25,338

24,341

Contributions receivable
Total contributions at 31 December

3,810

-

29,148

24,341

7. Analysis of current and non-current assets and liabilities
The table below provides the classification of current and non-current assets and liabilities in the balance
sheet.
Current

Non-current

Total

Current

Non-current

2016

2016

2016

2015

2015

2015

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

Placements with credit institutions

23,146

-

23,146

24,028

-

24,028

Contributions receivable
Total assets

3,810
26,956

-

3,810
26,956

24,028

-

24,028

Liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Disbursements for technical cooperation
Management fee payable
Concessional loan discount
Provisions for impairment

(32)
(1,236)
-

(32)
(1,236)
(343)
(53)

(4)
(9)
(1,772)
-

-

(4)
(9)
(1,772)
-

(25,292)

(22,243)

-

(22,243)

(26,956)

(24,028)

-

(24,028)

Assets

Total contributor's resources

(25,292)

Total liabilities

(26,560)

(343)
(53)
(396)

Total

8. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet approximate to their
fair value.
9. Events after the reporting period
There have been no material events since the reporting date that would require disclosure or adjustment to
these financial statements.
10. Related parties
The Fund’s related parties are the Bank and the Trustee.
Fees are paid to the Bank based on a fixed fee per contribution as approved by the Trustee. The fees paid
during the year are disclosed in the income statement. As at 31 December 2016 there are accrued fees of
€1.24 million payable to the Bank (2015: €1.76 million).
External auditor's remuneration of €6,700 (2015: €7,700) is payable by the Bank from the management fee.
In 2014 the Bank approved an extension of the term of appointment from four year to five with a maximum
of two consecutive terms. Deloitte LLP (UK) completed its first four year term in 2014 and has been reappointed for the five year period 2015 – 2019.
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The fall in the fee for the audit services paid to the Fund’s external auditor from 2015 to 2016 is attributable
to movements in the value of pound sterling. The pound sterling equivalent of these fees was £5,800
(2015: £5,700).
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GOVERNORS OF THE EUROPEAN BANK FOR
RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT (“THE BANK”)
Report on the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of EBRD GEF Investment Special Fund (“the Fund”) for the year ended 31
December 2016 which comprise the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the
statement of changes in contributors’ resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting policies, the risk management
statement and the related notes 1 to 10.
In our opinion the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the EBRD GEF
Investment Special Fund as at 31 December 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the United Kingdom, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
President’s responsibility for the financial statements
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal
control as the President determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the President is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The President is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:





Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the President.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the President’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records, if the
proper accounting records have not been kept, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for
our audit. We have nothing to report in connection with these matters.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank in accordance with Article 24 of the
Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for the use of the contributor and for no other purpose. We do
not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this Report
is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants London,
United Kingdom
5 April 2017
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Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

103

22

43

20

146

42

Note

Interest income
From loans
From credit institutions
Total interest
Fee income
Other operating expenses
Foreign exchange movement
Impairment release on loan investments
Concessional loan discount
Net profit and comprehensive income
Attributable to:
Contributor

-

3

3

(21)

(50)

1,561

462

5
6

26

34

(1,149)

987
1,582

459

1,582

459

Balance sheet
At 31 December 2016

31 December 2016
Note

Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Interest receivable
Commitment fees receivable
Loan investments
Loans
Less: Provisions for impairment

5
6

€ 000

21,645
1

1

3

3

315

126

(95)

(120)

3,683

220

6

23,795

23,339

21,655

13

-

-

86

1,225

-

20,838
1,276

1

€ 000

3

2,858

*Refer to Note 3

€ 000

23,113

20,838

Memorandum items
Undrawn loan commitments

€ 000

18

(62)

8
7

€ 000

Restated*
1 January 2015

20,093

3,745

Total assets
Liabilities
Other liabilities
Concessional loan discount
Contributor's resources
Contributions
Reserves and retained earnings
Total contributor’s resources
Total liabilities

€ 000

Restated*
31 December 2015

20,838
817

23,696

22,114

21,655

23,795

23,339

21,655

2,119

13,510

8,870
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Statement of changes in contributor’s resources
For the year ended 31 December 2016
Retained

At 31 December 2014
Total comprehensive income for the year
At 31 December 2015
Total comprehensive income for the year
At 31 December 2016

Contributions

earnings

€ 000

€ 000

Total
€ 000

20,838

817

21,655

-

459

459

20,838

1,276

22,114

-

1,582

1,582

20,838

2,858

23,696

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2016

€ 000

Cash flows used in operating activities
Net profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Interest income
Fee income
Provisions and concessional loan discount
Foreign exchange movement

Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

(42)

(146)
(3)

-

(1,021)

1,123

(462)

(1,561)

(50)

(21)

63

28

34

24

3

(255)

(3,521)

31

77

-

11
(3,383)
(3,383)

2

€ 000

459

1,582

Net interest received
Loan fees received
Fee income received
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
Funds advanced for loans
Proceeds from repayment of loans
Increase in operating liabilities:
Interest refundable
Net cash used in operating activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

€ 000

(193)
(193)

363

1,661

23,113

21,645

20,093

23,113
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Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
A. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention and have been prepared on a going concern basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the policies of the
EBRD Green Energy Special Fund ("the Fund"). The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where judgements and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in
“Critical accounting estimates and judgements” within the section for accounting policies.
New and amended IFRS mandatorily effective for the current reporting period
There are a number of amendments to standards effective for the current reporting period which have no or
negligible impact on the Fund’s financial statements, namely:
• IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
• IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements
• IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment
• IAS 38: Intangible Assets
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments is the IASB’s replacement project for IAS 39. The Standard has developed in
phases and was completed in July 2014 with a mandatory application date for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Fund adopted the first phase ‘recognition and measurement of
financial assets’ (November 2009) in its 2010 financial statements. See the accounting policy for financial assets
for more details.
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IFRS not yet mandatorily effective and not adopted early
The following standards are not yet effective and have not been adopted early.
Pronouncement
Amendments to:
IFRS 2: Share-based
Payment

Amendments to:
IFRS 4: Insurance
Contracts

IFRS 9
Financial Instruments

Nature of change
Accounting for a modification of a share-based payment
transaction that changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Provides guidance for insurers in applying IFRS 9:
Financial Instruments with IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(October 2010).
Hedge accounting (November 2013).

Potential Impact
The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.

The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.
The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Impairment methodology and introduction of ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ measurement
category for financial assets represented by simple debt
instruments (July 2014).

Amendments to:
IFRS 10: Consolidation
Financial Statements and
IAS 28: Investments in
Associates and Joint
Ventures
IFRS 15: Revenue from
Contracts with Customers

IFRS 16: Leases

Amendments to:
IAS 7: Statement of Cash
Flows

IFRS 9 to be adopted in its entirety for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Provides guidance for accounting for the loss of control of a
subsidiary as a result of a transaction involving an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method.

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined by the IASB.
Establishes principles for reporting useful information to
users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers.

The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a
contract, ie the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier
(‘lessor’).

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019.
An entity shall provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes.

This is a disclosure
requirement only
which the Fund will
comply with in 2017.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.

4

The EBRD Green Energy Special Fund
Amendments to:
IAS 12: Income Taxes

Clarifies the requirements on recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at
fair value
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.

The Fund is exempt
from all forms of
direct taxes and so this
Standard is not
applicable.

B. Significant accounting policies
Financial assets - Classification and measurement
The Fund early adopted the first instalment of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, concerning the classification
and measurement of financial assets in 2011. Pursuant to that adoption, the Fund classifies its financial
assets in the following categories: those measured at amortised cost and those measured at fair value. This
classification depends on both the contractual characteristics of the assets and the business model adopted
for their management.
Financial assets at amortised cost
An investment is classified as ‘amortised cost’ only if both of the following criteria are met: the objective of
the Fund’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flow; and the contractual terms
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding, interest being consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated with the
principal amount outstanding.
Investments meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. The initial fair value of a financial asset is normally
represented by the transaction price exchanged for its acquisition or origination as the price is assumed to
reflect the market conditions that an entity would normally have taken into consideration in determining the
transaction price. The Fund makes loans to its borrowers at concessional rates and therefore each loan is
priced at a discount to normal market rates. This discount to fair value is accounted for as a “day one” loss
through the Fund’s income statement, with a corresponding liability. The day one loss is recognised upon
signing of the loan. Once the Fund disburses the loan to its borrower, the day one loss is reflected within the
loan investment as it forms part of the initial fair value of the asset.
Subsequently, these loans are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment that may be necessary. The initial fair value discount applied to each loan is therefore recovered
in the effective interest rate at which income is recognised through interest income over the tenor of the loan.
The Fund’s financial assets at amortised cost are recognised at settlement date.
Financial assets at fair value
If either of the two criteria above is not met, the debt instrument is classified as ‘fair value through profit or
loss’. The Fund does not currently have any such assets in this category.
Financial liabilities
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to financial liabilities and therefore still
applies IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
All financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost.
Impairment of financial assets
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to impairment and therefore still applies
IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
Where there is objective evidence that an identified loan asset is impaired, specific provisions for
impairment are recognised in the income statement. Impairment is quantified as the difference between the
carrying amount of the asset and the net present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the asset’s
original effective interest rate where applicable. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use
of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. The carrying
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amount of the asset is reduced directly only upon write-off. Resulting adjustments include the unwinding of
the discount in the income statement over the life of the asset, and any adjustments required in respect of a
reassessment of the initial impairment.
The criteria that the Fund uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:
·
delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;
·
cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower;
·
breach of loan covenants or conditions;
·
initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;
·
deterioration in the borrower’s competitive position; and
·
deterioration in the value of collateral.
Provisions for impairment of classes of similar assets that are not individually identified as impaired are
calculated on a portfolio basis (the general provision). The methodology used for assessing such impairment
is based on a risk-rated approach for non-sovereign assets. The Fund’s methodology calculates impairment
on an incurred loss basis. Impairment is deducted from the asset categories on the balance sheet.
Impairment, less any amounts reversed during the year, is charged to the income statement. When a loan is
deemed uncollectible the principal is written off against the related impairment provision. Such loans are
written off only after all necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been
determined. Recoveries are credited to the income statement if previously written off.
Loans and advances are generally renegotiated in response to an adverse change in the circumstances of the
borrower. Depending upon the degree to which the original loan is amended, it may continue to be
recognised or will be derecognised and replaced with a new loan. To the extent the original loan is retained,
it will continue to be shown as overdue if appropriate and individually impaired where the renegotiated
payments of interest and principal will not recover the original carrying amount of the asset.
Contributor's resources
The Fund recognises contributions received from the contributor as a liability on the basis that, should a
contributor choose to withdraw from the Fund, the Fund is obligated to return such contributions to the
extent these are not needed to meet existing commitments and obligations of the Fund.
Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents
comprise balances with less than three months maturity from the date of the transaction, which
are available for use at short notice and that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Foreign currencies
The Fund’s reporting currency for the presentation of its financial statements is the euro (€).
Foreign currency transactions are initially translated into euro using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions, and from the translation at the year-end exchange rate of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, are included in the income statement.
Contributions
Contributions received in USD are translated into euro at the exchange rates ruling at the time of the
transaction.
Interest and fees
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis using the effective interest method. Interest income earned on
placement with credit institutions is recognised within ‘interest income’ in the income statement. Interest
expense is recognised in ‘operating expenses’ in the income statement.
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Commitment fees are deferred in accordance with IAS 18: Revenue. These are then recognised in interest
income using the effective interest method over the period from disbursement to repayment of the related
loan. If the commitment expires without the loan being drawn down, the fee is recognised as income on
expiry.
Loan cancellation fees are recognised as income when received.
Taxation
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the European Bank for Reconstruction and
Development (“the AEB”) (“the Bank”), within the scope of its official activities, the Bank, its assets,
property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and duties levied upon goods and services
acquired or imported, except for those parts of taxes or duties that represent charges for public utility
services. As described in note 1, this exemption is extended to the Fund.
C. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Preparing financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and judgements
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts included in the income statement during the reporting period.
The Fund’s critical accounting estimates and judgements are as follows:
Provisions for the impairment of loan investments
The Fund’s method for determining the level of impairment of loan investments is described within the
accounting policies section of the report and further explained under credit risk within the risk management
section of the report. As described in the risk management section the Fund participates in investments
jointly with the Bank and credit risk is jointly managed. Accordingly, the risk management disclosures are
based on the Bank’s risk processes and procedures.
Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments at 31 December 2016 were
€62,000 (2015: €95,000).
During 2016 the Bank carried out a review of its loss parameters underpinning estimates of unidentified
impairment, with the aim of better reflecting the Bank’s loss experience. The review resulted in a reduction
in the level of portfolio provisions. The key revision to these estimates was:
Probability of default
 In determining the probabilities of default for each risk rating, the historical datasets used to calibrate
the rates were updated to include 2015. This was carried out for both the internal and external data used
to determine the final probability of default rates.
If this change to loss parameter estimates had been applied at 31 December 2015, the portfolio provisions for
the unidentified impairment of loan investments would have reduced by €11,000 from €95,000 to €84,000.
No estimate of the effect these changes may have on future periods has been undertaken on the grounds of
impracticability.
In addition, the sensitivity of portfolio provisions as at 31 December 2016 to the key variables used in
determining the level of impairment is provided below.
Risk ratings:
 If all loan investments were upgraded by three 'notches' or detailed ratings on the Bank’s probability of
default rating scale, this would result in a reduction of €50,000 (2015: €76,000) in portfolio provisions
on loan investments.
 Conversely, if all loan investments were downgraded by three 'notches' or detailed ratings on the Bank’s
probability of default rating scale, this would result in a charge to the income statement of €8,000 (2015:
€174,000) in relation to portfolio provisions for loans.
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Probability of default rates
 In determining the probabilities of default for each risk rating, the relative weighting applied to external
data and the Bank’s own experience is reviewed annually. The 2016 general provisioning methodology
applies a 67 per cent weighting to the Bank’s own experience and a 33 per cent weighting to external
data. A +/- 10 percentage points change in the weighting assigned to the Bank’s own experience would
lead to a change in portfolio provisions of -/+ €6,000 (2015: €7,000).
Loss emergence period
 Provisions for unidentified impairment are made to reflect losses arising from events existing but not
identified at the balance sheet date and which will emerge within a 12 month period from that date. If
the loss emergence period was reduced to three months it is broadly estimated that this would result in
a decrease in portfolio provisions charged to the income statement of €46,000 (2015: €70,000).
Loss given default rates
 A change in loss given default rates by ten percentage points would lead to a change in portfolio
provisions of +/- €17,000 (2015: €24,000).
The methodology and judgements used for estimating provisions for the impairment of loan investments are
reviewed annually to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual experience.
Financial assets at amortised cost initial recognition
The Fund's method for determining the fair value on the initial recognition of concessional loans is further
detailed in the significant accounting policies section of the report.
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Risk management
The Fund was established to provide financial support to eligible projects related to sustainable and green
energy investments. To achieve this, the Fund provides concessional loans alongside the Bank’s market rate
loans in support of projects and activities which promote energy efficiency and the reduction of carbon
emissions.
As the primary purpose of the Fund is to provide concessional lending rather than to generate a return on its
assets, most financial risks are not actively managed by the Fund. As the Fund participates in investments
alongside the Bank, although under different terms, credit risk is jointly managed; however the Fund does
not hedge against market risk and is hence exposed to interest rate and foreign exchange risk.
Risk governance
The Fund follows the Bank's risk governance procedures as below:
The Bank’s overall framework for identifying and managing risks is underpinned by the Banking VicePresidency being the first line of defence related to debt and equity operations and an independent second
line of defence control functions, including the Risk Management department, Office of the Chief
Compliance Officer, Environmental and Social Department, Finance Department, Evaluations Department
and other relevant units. An Internal Audit Department acts as third line of defence and independently
assesses the effectiveness of the processes within the first and second lines of defence. The Vice President,
Risk and Compliance, Chief Risk Officer (CRO) is responsible for ensuring the independent risk
management of the Banking exposures, including adequate processes and governance structure for
independent identification, measurement, monitoring and mitigation of risks incurred by the Bank. The
challenge of the control functions, review of their status and assessment of their ability to perform duties
independently falls within the remit of the Audit Committee of the Board.
Matters related to Bank-wide risk and associated policies and procedures are considered by the Risk
Committee. The Risk Committee is accountable to the President. It oversees all aspects of the Banking
portfolio across all sectors and countries, and provides advice on Risk Management policies, measures and
controls. It also approves proposals for new products submitted by Banking. The membership comprises
senior managers across the Bank including representatives from Risk Management, Finance, Banking and
the Office of the General Counsel.
The Risk Committee is chaired by the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO.
The Managing Director, Risk Management reports to the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO and leads the
overall management of the department. Risk Management provides an independent assessment of risks
associated with individual investments undertaken by the Bank, and performs an ongoing review of the
portfolio to monitor credit, market and liquidity risks and to identify appropriate risk management actions. It
also assesses and proposes ways to manage risks arising from correlations and concentrations within the
portfolio, and ensures that adequate systems and controls are put in place for identifying and managing
operational risks across the Bank. It develops and maintains the Risk Management policies to facilitate
Banking and Treasury operations and promotes risk awareness across the Bank.
In exercising its responsibilities, Risk Management is guided by its mission to:
 Provide assurance to stakeholders that risk decision-making in the Bank is balanced and within agreed
appetite, and that control processes are rigorously designed and applied; and
 Support the Bank’s business strategy including the maximisation of transition impact through provision
of efficient and effective delivery of risk management advice, challenge and decision making.
A. Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential loss to a portfolio that could result from the default of a counterparty or the
deterioration of its creditworthiness. The Fund may also be exposed to concentration risk, which is the risk
arising from too high a proportion of the portfolio being allocated to a specific country, industry sector, or
obligor, or to a particular type of instrument or individual transaction.

9

The EBRD Green Energy Special Fund
The Fund is exposed to credit risk as borrowers and counterparties could default on their contractual
obligations, or the value of the fund’s investments could become impaired.
The carrying amounts of financial assets presented on the balance sheet, together with undrawn
commitments as shown under memorandum items, best represents the Fund’s maximum exposure to credit
risk at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, without taking account of any collateral held or other
credit enhancements.
Credit risk management and measurement
As previously stated, the Fund participates jointly with the Bank in the financing of investments in the
Bank’s countries of operations. It therefore benefits from the same governance process employed by the
Bank in the measurement and management of credit exposures, which is described below.
Underlying principles and procedures
The Board of Directors ("the Board") approves a document that defines the principles underlying the credit
process for the approval, management and review of Banking exposures. The Audit Committee periodically
reviews these principles and its review is submitted to the Board for approval.
Individual projects
The Operations Committee reviews all Banking projects prior to their submission for Board approval. The
Committee is chaired by the First Vice President and Head of Client Services Group and its membership
comprises senior managers of the Bank, including the VP Risk & Compliance, CRO and the Managing
Director, Risk Management. A number of frameworks for smaller projects are considered by the Small
Business Investment Committee or by senior management under a delegated authority framework supervised
by the Operations Committee. The project approval process is designed to ensure compliance with the
Bank’s criteria for sound banking, transition impact and additionality. It operates within the authority
delegated by the Board, via the President, to approve projects within Board-approved framework operations.
The Operations Committee is also responsible for approving significant changes to existing operations.
Risk Management conducts reviews of all exposures within the Banking portfolio. At each review, Risk
Management assesses whether there has been any change in the risk profile of the exposure, recommends
actions to mitigate risk and reconfirms or adjusts the risk rating. It also reviews the fair value of equity
investments.
Portfolio level review
Risk Management reports on the development of the portfolio as a whole on a quarterly basis to the Audit
Committee of the Board. The report includes a summary of key factors affecting the portfolio and provides
analysis and commentary on trends within the portfolio and various sub-portfolios. It also includes reporting
on compliance with all portfolio risk limits including an explanation of any limit breaches.
To identify emerging risk and enable appropriate risk mitigating actions Risk Management also conducts
regular Bank-wide (top-down) and country level (bottom-up) stress testing exercises and comprehensive
reviews of its investment portfolios. The Bank recognises that any resulting risk mitigation is constrained by
the limited geographical space within which the Bank operates.
EBRD internal ratings
Probability of default (PD)
The Bank assigns its internal risk ratings to all counterparties, including borrowers, investee companies,
guarantors and sovereigns in the Banking portfolio. Risk ratings reflect the financial strength of the
counterparty as well as consideration of any implicit support, for example from a major shareholder. The
sovereign rating takes into consideration the ratings assigned by external rating agencies. For non-sovereign
operations, probability of default ratings are normally capped by the sovereign rating, except where the
Bank has recourse to a guarantor from outside the country which may have a better rating than the local
sovereign rating.
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The table below shows the Bank’s internal probability of default rating scale from 1.0 (lowest risk) to 8.0
(highest risk) and how this maps to the external ratings of Standard & Poor’s (S&P). References to risk
rating through this text relate to probability of default ratings unless otherwise specified.
EBRD risk
category
1
2

3

4

5

6

7
8

EBRD risk rating
1.0
1.7
2.0
2.3/2.5
2.7
3.0
3.3
3.7
4.0
4.3
4.7
5.0
5.3
5.7
6.0
6.3
6.7
7.0
7.3
8.0

External rating
equivalent
AAA
AA+
AA
AAA+
A
ABBB+
BBB
BBBBB+
BB
BBB+
B
BCCC+
CCC
CCC-/CC/C
D

Category name

Broader category

Excellent
Very Strong

Strong

Investment Grade

Good

Fair

Risk class 5

Weak

Risk class 6

Special Attention

Classified

Non-performing

Loss given default (LGD)
The Bank assigns loss given default percentages on a scale of 0 to 100 determined by the seniority of the
instrument in which the Bank invested.
Non-performing loans (NPL)
NPL definition
An asset is designated as non-performing when either the borrower is more than 90 days past due on
payment to any material creditor, or when Risk Management considers that the counterparty is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations in full without recourse by the Bank to actions such as realising security, if held.
Provisioning methodology
A specific provision is raised on all NPLs accounted for at amortised cost. The provision represents the
expected amount of expected loss, being the difference between the outstanding amount from the client and
the recovery amount. The expected recovery amount is equal to the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the loan’s original effective interest rate.
General portfolio provisions
In the performing portfolio, provisions are held against losses incurred but not identified at the balance sheet
date. These amounts are based on the PD rates associated with the rating assigned to each counterparty, the
LGD parameters reflecting product seniority and the Exposure at Default (EAD). EAD is calculated based
on outstanding operating assets and the expected disbursement of committed but not yet drawn amounts.
Credit risk exposures
Placements with credit institutions
The Fund’s placements with credit institutions were all classified in internal credit rating risk category 2
(approximately AA+ to AA- in terms of S&P equivalent).
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Loan investments
Set out below is an analysis of the Fund’s loan investments and the associated impairment provisions for
each of the Bank’s relevant internal risk rating categories.
Portfolio
provisions
Neither past

for

due nor

unidentified

Total net of

Impairment

impairment

impairment

provisions

impaired

Total

Risk rating category

€ 000

%

5: Fair

2,918

7: Special attention

827

At 31 December 2016

3,745

€ 000

€ 000

%

77.9

(2)

2,916

0.1

22.1

(60)

767

7.3

(62)

3,683

1.7

100.0

In 2015, the Fund’s only loan investment was internally risk rated 7 (approximately CCC+ to C in terms of
S&P equivalent). The loan investment was neither past due nor impaired.
Undrawn loan commitments
Set out below is an analysis of the Fund’s undrawn commitments for loan investments for each of the Bank’s
relevant internal risk rating categories.
2016

2015

Risk rating

€ 000

€ 000

5: Fair

1,722

7,364

-

5,151

6: Weak
7: Special Attention
At 31 December

397

995

2,119

13,510

Concentration of credit risk exposure
The following table breaks down the main credit risk exposures at the carrying amount by geographical
region.
Undrawn loan
commitments

Loans

Undrawn loan

*Restated

commitments

Loans

2016

2016

2015

2015

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

Moldova

397

827

995

339

Romania

-

-

5,151

Kazakhstan

-

-

2,762

Jordan

1,722

2,918

4,602

-

At 31 December

2,119

3,745

13,510

315

(24)

The loan balances above include provisions on undrawn commitments which caused individual regions to
show balances of less than zero in 2015. The Fund’s credit risk exposure is concentrated in a single industry
sector, infrastructure.
B. Market risk
Market risk is the potential loss that could result from adverse market movements. The drivers of market risk
for the Fund are interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk.
Market risk management and measurement
As discussed at the beginning of the Risk Management section, the Fund does not actively monitor or hedge
against market risk.
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Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. The length of time for which the rate of interest is fixed on a financial instrument indicates to
what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk.
The Fund's placements are repriced to market interest rates within one month, therefore the exposure to
interest rate risk is considered to be minimal. The Fund also has a fixed rate loan investment. Based on
reasonable basis point change in the underlying interest rates, this potential impact on the fund’s net profit is
considered to be minimal.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Fund's net exposure to foreign exchange risk is outlined in the table below.
United States

Total assets

Euro

dollars

2016

2016

2016

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

7,679

16,116

Total liabilities

(23,740)

Net currency position at 31 December 2016

(16,061)

Total assets

(55)

Total

23,795
(23,795)

16,061

-

United States

*Restated

Euro

dollars

Total

2015

2015

2015

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

7,669

15,670

Total liabilities

(22,703)

Net currency position at 31 December 2015

(15,034)

(636)

23,339
(23,339)

15,034

Based on the average five year absolute rolling average movement in the USD to euro exchange rate, the
potential impact on the Fund’s net profit from a 5 per cent strengthening or weakening (2015: 5 per cent) is
€0.8 million (2015: €0.7 million).
C. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Fund’s Rules and Regulations require that loan investments are financed from the resources of the Fund,
which comprise contributions received and investment income. Accordingly, the Fund cannot commit more
than the available resources and cannot borrow funds to finance operations. The Fund recognises
contributions received as a liability, which may be returned to a contributor upon termination of a
contribution agreement. Amounts returned are based on the Fund’s net assets and take into account existing
commitments. As a result, the Fund’s exposure to liquidity risk is considered to be minimal.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Creation of the Special Fund
The creation of the Fund was approved by the Board of Directors (“the Board”) of the Bank at its meeting of
29 March 2011 and is administered, inter alia, in accordance with the AEB and under the terms of the Rules
and Regulations of the Fund. The Fund became operational on 19 May 2011 following the signing of the
first Contribution Agreement.
The Fund’s principal office is located in London at One Exchange Square, EC2A 2JN.
The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the AEB. The Fund is not part of the ordinary
capital resources of the Bank, but any privileges and immunities available to the Bank are extended to the
Fund.
2. President’s responsibilities
The President is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS issued by the
IASB.
3. Restatement
The Fund measures its concessional loans at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Amortised
cost financial instruments are initially measured at their fair value on recognition. In the case of concessional
loans, the initial fair value of the loan includes the “day one” loss to discount the loans back to market rates.
In prior years, the day one losses on all concessional loans were recorded as a separate financial liability.
However, the day one loss for all disbursed loans are more appropriately included as part of the loan’s
amortised cost within loan investments. The prior year restatement reflects the impact of this change.
The restatement resulted in a decrease to the concessional loan discount and loan balance of €21,000 on the
Balance Sheet.

Loans
Concessional loan discount

Previous 2015

Adjustment

Restated 2015

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

336

(21)

315

1,246

(21)

1,225

4. Other operating expenses
2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

Interest expense

(28)

(6)

Interest refundable

(22)

(15)

Operating expenses

(50)

(21)
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5. Loan investments
*Restated

Operating assets
At 1 January
Disbursements

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

315

126

3,521

255

Foreign exchange movements

91

Repayments
Day one fair value adjustment

(77)

(31)

-

(144)

(21)

Unwinding discount (loan interest)

13

4

Movement in net deferral of commitment fees

26

(18)

At 31 December

315

3,745

Impairment at 31 December

(62)

Total loan investments net of impairment at 31 December

(95)
220

3,683

6. Provisions for impairment of loan investments

Release for the year
Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments
Provisions for impairment of loan investments

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

34

26

34

26

Movement in provisions
At 1 January

(95)

(120)

Release for the year to the income statement

34

26

Foreign exchange movement
At 31 December

(1)

(1)

(62)

(95)

Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments

(62)

(95)

At 31 December

(62)

(95)

Representing:

7. Concessional loan discount

Day one fair value

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

-

(1,149)

Release of discount on loan cancellation

987

Net loan discount movement

987

At 1 January

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

(1,225)

Derecognition of liability on loan disbursement

144

Day one fair value

-

Release of discount on loan cancellation

987

Foreign exchange movement

8

At 31 December

(1,149)

(86)

21
(1,149)
(97)
(1,225)

The discount released on loan cancellation includes a foreign exchange gain of €84,000.

8. Other liabilities

Other liabilities
Interest expense

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

2

-

Interest refundable

11

-

At 31 December

13

-
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9. Analysis of current and non-current assets and liabilities
The table below provides the classification of current and non-current assets and liabilities in the balance
sheet.
Restated*

Assets

Placements with credit institutions
Interest receivable
Commitment fees receivable
Loan investments
Loans
Less: Provisions for impairment
Total assets

Current

Non-current

Total

Current

Non-current

2016

2016

2016

2015

2015

2015

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

20,093

-

20,093

23,113

-

23,113

18
1

-

18
1

3
3

-

3
3

66
(1)
20,177

3,679
(61)
3,618

3,745
(62)
23,795

55
(17)
23,157

260
(78)
182

Total

315
(95)
23,339

Liabilities
Other liabilities

(13)

-

(13)

Concessional loan discount

(86)

-

(86)

(1,225)

-

-

(1,225)

-

Total contributor's resources

(23,696)

-

(23,696)

(22,114)

-

(22,114)

Total liabilities

(23,795)

-

(23,795)

(23,339)

-

(23,339)

10. Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet approximate to their
fair value.
11. Events after the reporting period
There have been no material events since the reporting date that would require disclosure or adjustment to
these financial statements.
12. Related parties
The Fund’s related parties are the Bank and the contributor, International Cooperation Development Fund
(TaiwanICDF).
The Bank is entitled to charge the Fund a management fee of an amount equal to 1 per cent on contributions
greater than €10 million and 2 per cent on contributions of less than €10 million. As there were no
contributions received in 2016, there were no management fees paid by the Fund to the Bank (2015: nil) and
there was no accrued management fee payable by the Fund to the Bank at 31 December 2016 (2015: nil).
External auditor's remuneration of €6,700 (2015: €7,700) is payable by the Bank from the management fee.
In 2014 the Bank approved an extension of the term of appointment from four year to five with a maximum
of two consecutive terms. Deloitte LLP (UK) completed its first four year term in 2014 and has been reappointed for the five year period 2015 – 2019.
The fall in the fee for the audit services paid to the Fund’s external auditor from 2015 to 2016 is attributable
to movements in the value of pound sterling. The pound sterling equivalent of these fees was £5,800 (2015:
£5,700).
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GOVERNORS OF THE EUROPEAN BANK FOR
RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT (“THE BANK”)
Report on the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of EBRD Green Energy Special Fund (“the Fund”) for the year ended 31
December 2016 which comprise the statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the statement of changes in
contributors’ resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting policies, the risk management statement and the
related notes 1 to 12.
In our opinion the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the EBRD Green
Energy Special Fund as at 31 December 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the United Kingdom, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
President’s responsibility for the financial statements
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal
control as the President determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the President is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The President is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:




Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's
internal control.

17






Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the President.
Conclude on the appropriateness of the President’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going
concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records, if the
proper accounting records have not been kept, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require
for our audit. We have nothing to report in connection with these matters.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank in accordance with Article 24 of the
Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for the use of the contributor and for no other purpose. We do
not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this
Report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants
London, United Kingdom
5 April 2017
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The EBRD Post-Graduation Special Fund
Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2016
Note
Operating expenses
Disbursements for technical cooperation
Net loss and comprehensive expense for the year
Attributable to:
Contributor

3

Year to
31 December 2016
€ 000
(19)
6
(13)

Year to
31 December 2015
€ 000
(2)
(108)
(110)

(13)

(110)

31 December 2016
€ 000

31 December 2015
€ 000

9,677
9,677

9,709
9,709

25
25

44
44

Balance sheet
At 31 December 2016
Note
Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Total assets
Liabilities and contributor’s resources
Accrued expenses
Total liabilities
Contributions
Reserves and accumulated loss
Total contributor’s resources

4

5

Total liabilities and contributor’s resources

1

10,000
(348)
9,652

10,000
(335)
9,665

9,677

9,709

The EBRD Post-Graduation Special Fund
Statement of changes in contributor’s resources
For the year ended 31 December 2016
Accumulated
Contributions

loss

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

10,000
10,000
10,000

(225)
(110)
(335)
(13)
(348)

9,775
(110)
9,665
(13)
9,652

At 31 December 2014
Total comprehensive expense for the period
At 31 December 2015
Total comprehensive expense for the year
At 31 December 2016

Total

Statement of cash flows
Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2016
€ 000

Cash flows used in operating activities
Net loss for the period
Adjustments for:
Negative interest

Net interest paid
(Decrease)/increase in operating liabilities
Accrued expenses
Net cash used in operating activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

(13)

(110)

19
6

2
(108)

(19)

(2)

(19)

44
(32)
(32)
9,709
9,677

2

(66)
(66)
9,775
9,709
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Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
A. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"). The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and have been prepared on a going
concern basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
policies of The EBRD Post-Graduation Special Fund (“the Fund”). The Fund does not have any areas with
accounting estimates and judgements for the years presented.
New and amended IFRS mandatorily effective for the current reporting period
There are a number of amendments to standards effective for the current reporting period which have no or
negligible impact on the Fund’s financial statements, namely:
 IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
 IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements
 IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment
 IAS 38: Intangible Assets
IFRS not yet effective but adopted early
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments is the IASB’s replacement project for IAS 39. The Standard has developed in
phases and was completed in July 2014 with a mandatory application date for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January, 2018. The Fund has adopted the first stage ‘recognition and measurement of
financial assets’ in its 2014 financial statements. See the accounting policy for financial assets for more
details.
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective and not adopted early
The following standards are not yet effective and have not been adopted early.
Pronouncement
Amendments to:
IFRS 2: Share-based
Payment

Amendments to:
IFRS 4: Insurance
Contracts

IFRS 9
Financial Instruments

Nature of change
Accounting for a modification of a share-based payment
transaction that changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Provides guidance for insurers in applying IFRS 9:
Financial Instruments with IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(October 2010).
Hedge accounting (November 2013).

Potential Impact
The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.

The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.
The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Impairment methodology and introduction of ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ measurement
category for financial assets represented by simple debt
instruments (July 2014).

Amendments to:
IFRS 10:

IFRS 9 to be adopted in its entirety for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Provides guidance for accounting for the loss of control of a
subsidiary as a result of a transaction involving an associate

3

The Fund considers
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Consolidation
Financial Statements
and
IAS 28: Investments in
Associates and Joint
Ventures
IFRS 15: Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

IFRS 16: Leases

Amendments to:
IAS 7: Statement of
Cash Flows

Amendments to:
IAS 12: Income Taxes

or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method.

has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined by the IASB.
Establishes principles for reporting useful information to
users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers.

The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a
contract, ie the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier
(‘lessor’).

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019.
An entity shall provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes.

This is a disclosure
requirement only
which the Fund will
comply with in 2017.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
Clarifies the requirements on recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at
fair value
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.

The Fund is exempt
from all forms of
direct taxes and so this
Standard is not
applicable.

B. Significant accounting policies
Financial assets - Classification and measurement
The Fund early adopted the first instalment of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, concerning the classification
and measurement of financial assets, with effect from 15 May 2014. Pursuant to that adoption, the Fund
classifies its financial assets in the following categories: those measured at amortised cost and those
measured at fair value. This classification depends on both the contractual characteristics of the assets and
the business model adopted for their management.
Financial assets at amortised cost
An investment is classified as ‘amortised cost’ only if both of the following criteria are met: the objective of
the Fund’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flow; and the contractual terms
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding, interest being consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated with the
principal amount outstanding.
Investments meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less any impairment. The Fund’s financial assets at amortised cost are
recognised at settlement date.
Financial assets at fair value
If either of the two criteria above is not met, the debt instrument is classified as ‘fair value through profit or
loss’. The Fund does not currently have any such assets in this category.
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Financial liabilities
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to financial liabilities and therefore still
applies IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
All financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost.
Contributor's resources
The Fund recognises contributions received from the contributor as equity on the basis that the termination of
the contribution agreement would lead to the winding up of the Fund and the distribution of the residual
assets to the contributor.
Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents comprise
balances with less than three months maturity from the date of the transaction, which are available for use at
short notice and that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Interest
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis using the effective interest method. Interest income is recognised
within 'interest income' in the income statement. Interest expense is recognised in 'operating expenses' in the
income statement.
Disbursements for technical cooperation
Disbursements for technical cooperation, which represent payments for consultancy services provided to the
Fund over a period of time, are recorded as expenditure over the period during which the services are
received.
Taxation
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the European Bank for Reconstruction and
Development ("the AEB") (''the Bank''), within the scope of its official activities, the Bank, its assets,
property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and duties levied upon goods and services
acquired or imported, except for those parts of taxes or duties that represent charges for public utility
services. As described in note 1, this exemption is extended to the Fund.
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Risk management
The Fund was established to assist the Bank achieve its mandate of implementing a strategic and
comprehensive approach to post-graduation. The resources of the Fund may be used to finance activities and
costs to provide expertise to clients in countries where there is a clear perspective on graduation or to support
post-graduation business development.
As the primary purpose of the Fund is to assist the Bank to achieve its post-graduation mandate rather than to
generate a return on its assets, financial risks, with the exception of credit risk, are not actively managed by
the Fund.
Risk governance
The Fund follows the Bank's risk governance procedures as below:
The Bank’s overall framework for identifying and managing risks is underpinned by the Banking VicePresidency being the first line of defence related to debt and equity operations and an independent second
line of defence control functions, including the Risk Management department, Office of the Chief
Compliance Officer, Environmental and Social Department, Finance Department, Evaluations Department
and other relevant units. An Internal Audit Department acts as third line of defence and independently
assesses the effectiveness of the processes within the first and second lines of defence. The Vice President,
Risk and Compliance, Chief Risk Officer (CRO) is responsible for ensuring the independent risk
management of the Banking exposures, including adequate processes and governance structure for
independent identification, measurement, monitoring and mitigation of risks incurred by the Bank. The
challenge of the control functions, review of their status and assessment of their ability to perform duties
independently falls within the remit of the Audit Committee of the Board.
Matters related to Bank-wide risk and associated policies and procedures are considered by the Risk
Committee. The Risk Committee is accountable to the President. It oversees all aspects of the Banking
portfolio across all sectors and countries, and provides advice on Risk Management policies, measures and
controls. It also approves proposals for new products submitted by Banking. The membership comprises
senior managers across the Bank including representatives from Risk Management, Finance, Banking and
the Office of the General Counsel.
The Risk Committee is chaired by the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO.
The Managing Director, Risk Management reports to the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO and leads the
overall management of the department. Risk Management provides an independent assessment of risks
associated with individual investments undertaken by the Bank, and performs an ongoing review of the
portfolio to monitor credit, market and liquidity risks and to identify appropriate risk management actions. It
also assesses and proposes ways to manage risks arising from correlations and concentrations within the
portfolio, and ensures that adequate systems and controls are put in place for identifying and managing
operational risks across the Bank. It develops and maintains the Risk Management policies to facilitate
Banking and Treasury operations and promotes risk awareness across the Bank.
In exercising its responsibilities, Risk Management is guided by its mission to:
• Provide assurance to stakeholders that risk decision-making in the Bank is balanced and within agreed
appetite, and that control processes are rigorously designed and applied; and
• Support the Bank’s business strategy including the maximisation of transition impact through
provision of efficient and effective delivery of risk management advice, challenge and decision making.
A. Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential loss to a portfolio that could result from the default of a counterparty or the
deterioration of its creditworthiness.
The Fund's exposure to credit risk is currently limited to the financial institutions with which it may place its
cash resources. For banks with which the Fund places its cash, internal credit ratings are determined by Risk
Management and are the same as those used for Banking exposures. These ratings are based on internal
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analysis of approved counterparties' creditworthiness through synthesis of externally provided credit research
and market data, including approved external agency ratings. All individual counterparty credit lines for
banks are measured, monitored and reviewed by Risk Management annually.
At year end the Fund’s cash was placed with a financial institution which ranked in the second highest
internal credit rating risk category assigned by the Bank’s Risk Management department. This rating
approximated to a Standard & Poor’s equivalent rating of AA+ to AA-.
The carrying amount of placements presented on the balance sheet represents the Fund’s maximum exposure
to credit risk at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015.
B. Market risk
Market risk is the potential loss that could result from adverse market movements. The driver of market risk
for the Fund is interest rate risk.
Market risk management and measurement
As discussed at the beginning of the risk management section, the Fund does not actively monitor or hedge
against market risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. The length of time for which the rate of interest is fixed on a financial instrument indicates to
what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk.
The Fund's placements are repriced to market interest rates within one month, therefore the exposure to
interest rate risk is considered to be minimal.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Fund does not hold any assets or liabilities of non-euro denomination, nor does it have any non-euro
commitments as at 31 December 2016, hence it is not exposed to any foreign exchange risk.
C. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Fund's Rules and Regulations require that technical assistance is financed from the resources of the
Fund, which comprise contributions received and income earned.
Accordingly, the Fund cannot commit more than the available resources and cannot borrow funds to finance
operations. The Fund recognises contributions received as equity, which will only be returned to the
contributor as part of the residual assets upon termination of the Fund. As a result, the exposure to liquidity
risk is considered to be minimal.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Creation of the Special Fund
The creation of the Fund was approved by the Board of Directors ("the Board") of the Bank at its meeting of
26 March 2014 and is administered, inter alia, in accordance with the AEB and under the terms of the Rules
and Regulations of the Fund approved by the Board on that date, as may be amended from time to time. The
Fund became operational after the Governors of the Bank adopted the 2013 Net Income Allocation
Resolution during its Annual Meeting on 15 May 2014.
The Fund’s principal office is located in London at One Exchange Square, EC2A 2JN.
The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the AEB. The Fund is not part of the ordinary
capital resources of the Bank, but any privileges and immunities available to the Bank are extended to the
Fund.

2. President’s responsibilities
The President is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS issued by the
IASB.

3. Disbursements for technical cooperation
Commitments

Undrawn

approved

Disbursements

commitments

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

Total projects
At 31 December 2014

25

(25)

-

Movement in the year

120

(108)

12

At 31 December 2015

145

(133)

12

Movement in the year

-

At 31 December 2016

145

6

6

(127)

18

4. Accrued expenses

Disbursements for technical cooperation payable
Interest expense payable
At 31 December

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

24

44

1

-

25

44

5. Contributions
No contributions were received during the year by the Fund (2015:nil).
6. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet approximate to their
fair value.
7. Analysis of current and non-current assets and liabilities
All assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet are classified as current for both 2015 and 2016.
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8. Events after the reporting period
There have been no material events since the reporting date that would require disclosure or adjustment to
these financial statements.
9. Related parties
The Fund’s only related party is the Bank.
The Bank is entitled to charge the Fund a management fee of an amount equal to 2 per cent of contributions
received. During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Fund paid no management fee (2015: nil) and there
were no accrued management fees payable by the Fund to the Bank at 31 December 2016 (2015: nil).
External auditor's remuneration of €6,700 (2015: €7,700) is payable by the Bank from the management fee.
In 2014 the Bank approved an extension of the term of appointment from four year to five with a maximum
of two consecutive terms. Deloitte LLP (UK) completed its first four year term in 2014 and has been reappointed for the five year period 2015 – 2019.
The fall in the fee for the audit paid to the Fund’s external auditor from 2015 to 2016 is attributable to
movements in the value of pound sterling. The pound sterling equivalent of these fees was £5,800 (2015:
£5,700).
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GOVERNORS OF THE EUROPEAN BANK FOR
RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT (“THE BANK”)
Report on the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the EBRD Post Graduation Special Fund (“the Fund”) for the year ended 31
December 2016 which comprise the statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the statement of changes in
contributors’ resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting policies, the risk management statement and the related
notes 1 to 9.
In our opinion the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the EBRD Post
Graduation Special Fund as at 31 December 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the United Kingdom, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
President’s responsibility for the financial statements
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal
control as the President determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the President is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The President is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's internal control.
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the President.
 Conclude on the appropriateness of the President’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
10

attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records, if the
proper accounting records have not been kept, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for
our audit. We have nothing to report in connection with these matters.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank in accordance with Article 24 of the
Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for the use of the contributor and for no other purpose. We do not,
in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this Report is
shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants London,
United Kingdom
5 April 2017
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The EBRD Shareholder Special Fund
Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ million

€ million

(46)

(36)

(4)

(2)

(2)

(2)

Note

Disbursements for technical cooperation
Disbursements for investment grants
Incentive fees
Disbursement to other funds
Foreign exchange movement
Other operating expenses
Net loss and comprehensive expense for the year
Total comprehensive expense attributable to:
Contributor

3

4

(7)

-

-

1

(5)

(1)

(64)

(40)

(64)

(40)

Balance sheet
At 31 December 2016

31 December 2016
Note

Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Contributions receivable
Total assets

€ million

5

Liabilities and contributor's resources
Accrued expenses
Total liabilities

7

Contributions
Reserves and accumulated loss
Total contributor's resources

8

Total liabilities and contributor's resources

1

€ million

31 December 2015
€ million

€ million

219

234

220

115

439

349

40

26

40

26

680

540

(281)

(217)
399

323

439

349
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Statement of changes in contributor’s resources
For the year ended 31 December 2016
31 December 2015

Accumulated

At 31 December 2014
Contributions received
Total comprehensive expense for the year
At 31 December 2015
Contributions received and receivable
Total comprehensive expense for the year
At 31 December 2016

Contributions

loss

Total

€ million

€ million

€ million

410

(177)

233

130

-

130

-

(40)

(40)

540

(217)

323

140

-

140

-

(64)

(64)

680

(281)

399

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Year to

Year to

31 December

31 December
2015

2016
€ million

€ million

€ million

€ million

Cash flows used in operating activities
Net loss for the year
Adjustments for:
Foreign exchange movement

(40)

(64)

(1)

-

(41)

(64)

Increase in operating liabilities:
Accrued expenses
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Contributions received
Net cash from financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

8

14

(33)

(50)
15

35

2

35

15

(15)

(18)

-

1

234

251

219

234
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Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
A. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss. The financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
policies of the EBRD Shareholder Special Fund (“the Fund”). The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where judgements and estimates are significant to the financial
statements, are disclosed in “Critical accounting estimates and judgements” within the section for accounting
policies.
New and amended IFRS mandatorily effective for the current reporting period
There are a number of amendments to standards effective for the current reporting period which have no or
negligible impact on the Fund’s financial statements, namely:





IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements
IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment
IAS 38: Intangible Assets

IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments is the IASB’s replacement project for IAS 39. The Standard has developed in
phases and was completed in July 2014 with a mandatory application date for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Fund adopted the first phase ‘recognition and measurement of
financial assets’ (November 2009) in its 2010 financial statements. See the accounting policy for financial
assets for more details.
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective and not adopted early
The following standards are not yet effective and have not been adopted early.
Pronouncement
Amendments to:
IFRS 2: Share-based
Payment

Amendments to:
IFRS 4: Insurance
Contracts

IFRS 9
Financial Instruments

Nature of change
Accounting for a modification of a share-based payment
transaction that changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Provides guidance for insurers in applying IFRS 9:
Financial Instruments with IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(October 2010).
Hedge accounting (November 2013).
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Potential Impact
The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.

The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.
The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.
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Impairment methodology and introduction of ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ measurement
category for financial assets represented by simple debt
instruments (July 2014).

Amendments to:
IFRS 10:
Consolidation
Financial Statements
and
IAS 28: Investments in
Associates and Joint
Ventures
IFRS 15: Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

IFRS 16: Leases

Amendments to:
IAS 7: Statement of
Cash Flows

Amendments to:
IAS 12: Income Taxes

IFRS 9 to be adopted in its entirety for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Provides guidance for accounting for the loss of control of a
subsidiary as a result of a transaction involving an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method.

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined by the IASB.
Establishes principles for reporting useful information to
users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers.

The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a
contract, ie the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier
(‘lessor’).

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019.
An entity shall provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes.

This is a disclosure
requirement only
which the Fund will
comply with in 2017.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
Clarifies the requirements on recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at
fair value
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.

The Fund is exempt
from all forms of
direct taxes and so this
Standard is not
applicable.

B. Significant accounting policies
Financial assets - Classification and measurement
The Fund early adopted the first instalment of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, concerning the classification
and measurement of financial assets, with effect from 1 January 2010. Pursuant to that adoption, the Fund
classifies its financial assets in the following categories: those measured at amortised cost and those
measured at fair value. This classification depends on both the contractual characteristics of the assets and
the business model adopted for their management.
Financial assets at amortised cost
An investment is classified as ‘amortised cost’ only if both of the following criteria are met: the objective of
the Fund’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flow; and the contractual terms
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding, interest being consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated with the
principal amount outstanding.
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Investments meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less any impairment. The Fund’s financial assets at amortised cost are
recognised at settlement date.
Financial assets at fair value
If either of the two criteria above is not met, the debt instrument is classified as ‘fair value through profit or
loss’. All of the share investments held by the Fund were measured at fair value through profit or loss in
2015.
The basis of fair value for share investments that are unlisted is determined using valuation techniques
appropriate to the market and industry of each investment. The primary valuation technique is based on the
price offered by a buyer.
The Fund’s share investments are recognised on a trade date basis.
At initial recognition, the Fund measures these assets at their fair value. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in the income statement. Such assets are carried at
fair value on the balance sheet with changes in fair value included in the income statement in the period in
which they occur.
Financial liabilities
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to financial liabilities and therefore still
applies IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
All financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, expect for financial guarantees which are measured in
accordance with IAS 39, as described under “Financial guarantees” below.
Financial guarantees
The Fund’s resources are also used to guarantee a proportion of principal losses of loan investments made by
participating banks (“PB”) under specific signed loan agreements. When a guarantee is issued, its initial fair
value reflects the fees charged for such guarantee, assuming an arm’s-length commercial transaction. As the
Fund does not charge the PB any fee for its guarantee, its initial fair value is estimated based on the fee that
the Fund might otherwise have charged, given the credit risk attaching to the guaranteed portfolio. This
initial fair value is recognised as a financial guarantee liability with a corresponding charge to the income
statement. Subsequently the guarantee is measured at the higher of the initial fair value less cumulative
amortisation or, if appropriate, the expenditure required to settle the commitment at the balance sheet
date. When it is probable that the guarantee will need to be settled and the settlement amount can be reliably
estimated, a financial guarantee contract is recognised. The Fund’s financial guarantee liability is considered
immaterial at 31 December 2016 (2015: immaterial).
Contributor's resources
The Fund recognises contributions received from the contributor as equity on the basis that the termination
of the contribution agreement would lead to the winding up of the Fund and the distribution of the residual
assets to the contributor.
Foreign currencies
The Fund’s reporting currency for the presentation of its financial statements is the euro (€).
Foreign currency transactions are initially translated into euro using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions, and from the translation at the year-end exchange rate of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, are included in the income statement.

5

The EBRD Shareholder Special Fund
Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents comprise
balances with less than three months maturity from the date of the transaction, which are available for use at
short notice and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Interest
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis. Interest income is recognised within 'interest income' in the income
statement. Interest expense is recognised in 'operating expenses' in the income statement.
Disbursements for technical cooperation and investment grants
Disbursements for technical cooperation, which represent payments for services provided to the Fund over a
period of time, are recorded as expenditure over the period during which the services are received.
Capital expenditure (investment) grants are disbursed in coordination with the related European Bank for
Reconstruction and Development (“the Bank”) loan resources, generally directly to the contractor.
Disbursements are made periodically and upon verification of the investment.
Incentive fees
Incentive fees represent amounts incurred for a period to be paid to clients (“Borrowers”) or end-borrowers
under credit lines extended by the Bank. The fees are calculated for each sub-project in line with the
eligibility criteria set out in the Loan agreement between the Bank and the Borrower. Payments to Borrowers
are made either on the basis of disbursement made in a relevant reporting period or verification of the
investment. Incentives to end-borrowers are made on the basis of verification of the investment.
Taxation
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank (“the AEB”), within the scope of its
official activities, the Bank, its assets, property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and
duties levied upon goods and services acquired or imported, except for those parts of taxes or duties that
represent charges for public utility services. As described in note 1, this exemption is extended to the Fund.
C. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Preparing financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and judgements
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts included in the income statement during the reporting period. The Fund’s outstanding
share investments are nil at 31 December 2016 and immaterial at 31 December 2015.
The Fund’s critical accounting estimates and judgements are as follows:
Financial guarantee liability
The Fund's method for determining the fair value of financial guarantees is described under "Financial
guarantees" within the accounting policies section of the report and further explained within credit risk
within the risk management section of the report.
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Risk management
The purpose of the Fund is to assist the Bank to achieve its mandate of promoting transition towards open
market-oriented economies by preparing the way for future Bank-financed projects and improving the
investment climate in the Bank’s countries of operations.
The resources of the Fund may be used to finance:
 Technical assistance (or cooperation) which involves the provision of services, usually those of
consultants, to provide expertise to clients in the Bank’s countries of operations;
 Non-technical assistance initiatives which are principally used to provide working capital, incentive fees
or to pay for goods and works contracts in support of Bank investment operations; and
 Investment activities which may include guarantees, equity or debt financing.
As the primary purpose of the Fund is to assist the Bank to achieve its transition mandate rather than to
generate a return on its assets, not all financial risks are actively managed by the Fund. Credit risk is jointly
managed with the Bank; however the Fund does not hedge against market risk and is hence exposed to
foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk.
Risk governance
The Fund follows the Bank's risk governance procedures as below:
The Bank’s overall framework for identifying and managing risks is underpinned by the Banking VicePresidency being the first line of defence related to debt and equity operations and an independent second
line of defence control functions, including the Risk Management department, Office of the Chief
Compliance Officer, Environmental and Social Department, Finance Department, Evaluations Department
and other relevant units. An Internal Audit Department acts as third line of defence and independently
assesses the effectiveness of the processes within the first and second lines of defence. The Vice President,
Risk and Compliance, Chief Risk Officer (CRO) is responsible for ensuring the independent risk
management of the Banking exposures, including adequate processes and governance structure for
independent identification, measurement, monitoring and mitigation of risks incurred by the Bank. The
challenge of the control functions, review of their status and assessment of their ability to perform duties
independently falls within the remit of the Audit Committee of the Board.
Matters related to Bank-wide risk and associated policies and procedures are considered by the Risk
Committee. The Risk Committee is accountable to the President. It oversees all aspects of the Banking
portfolio across all sectors and countries, and provides advice on Risk Management policies, measures and
controls. It also approves proposals for new products submitted by Banking. The membership comprises
senior managers across the Bank including representatives from Risk Management, Finance, Banking and
the Office of the General Counsel.
The Risk Committee is chaired by the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO.
The Managing Director, Risk Management reports to the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO and leads the
overall management of the department. Risk Management provides an independent assessment of risks
associated with individual investments undertaken by the Bank, and performs an ongoing review of the
portfolio to monitor credit, market and liquidity risks and to identify appropriate risk management actions. It
also assesses and proposes ways to manage risks arising from correlations and concentrations within the
portfolio, and ensures that adequate systems and controls are put in place for identifying and managing
operational risks across the Bank. It develops and maintains the Risk Management policies to facilitate
Banking and Treasury operations and promotes risk awareness across the Bank.
In exercising its responsibilities, Risk Management is guided by its mission to:
 Provide assurance to stakeholders that risk decision-making in the Bank is balanced and within agreed
appetite, and that control processes are rigorously designed and applied; and
 Support the Bank’s business strategy including the maximisation of transition impact through provision
of efficient and effective delivery of risk management advice, challenge and decision making.

7

The EBRD Shareholder Special Fund
A. Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential loss to a portfolio that could result from either the default of a counterparty or the
deterioration of its creditworthiness. The Fund may also be exposed to concentration risk, which is the risk
arising from too high a proportion of the portfolio being allocated to a specific country, industry sector or
obligor, or to a particular type of instrument or individual transaction.
The Fund is exposed to credit risk as counterparties could default on their contractual obligations.
The carrying amounts of financial assets presented on the balance sheet best represents the Fund’s maximum
exposure to credit risk at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, without taking account of any collateral
held or other credit enhancements.
Included in the placements with credit institutions is a €111.3 million (2014: €164.3million) placement with
the Royal Bank of Scotland via a tri-party repurchase arrangement, with Euroclear acting as the custodian.
This arrangement involves the Fund receiving, as collateral, highly liquid securities equal to the value of the
placement, for a period of approximately one month. The credit risk on the placement is fully mitigated by
collateral held. On termination of the arrangement, the placement and collateral are returned to the respective
parties, and a new arrangement is entered into based on the Fund's excess available cash. Euroclear ensures
that the value of the securities held covers the full value of the placement on a daily basis.
The Fund is not entitled to sell or repledge the collateral outside of a default. The Fund has not taken
possession of any securities held as collateral during the year.
Credit risk management and measurement
As previously stated, the Fund participates jointly with the Bank in the financing of investments in the
Bank’s countries of operations. It therefore benefits from the same governance process employed by the
Bank in the measurement and management of credit exposures, which is described below.
Underlying principles and procedures
The Board of Directors ("the Board") approves a document that defines the principles underlying the credit
process for the approval, management and review of Banking exposures. The Audit Committee periodically
reviews these principles and its review is submitted to the Board for approval.
Individual projects
The Operations Committee reviews all Banking projects prior to their submission for Board approval. The
Committee is chaired by the First Vice President and Head of Client Services Group and its membership
comprises senior managers of the Bank, including the VP Risk & Compliance, CRO and the Managing
Director, Risk Management. A number of frameworks for smaller projects are considered by the Small
Business Investment Committee or by senior management under a delegated authority framework supervised
by the Operations Committee. The project approval process is designed to ensure compliance with the
Bank’s criteria for sound banking, transition impact and additionality. It operates within the authority
delegated by the Board, via the President, to approve projects within Board-approved framework operations.
The Operations Committee is also responsible for approving significant changes to existing operations.
The Equity Committee acts as the governance committee for the equity portfolio and reports to the
Operations Committee.
Risk Management conducts reviews of all exposures within the Banking portfolio. At each review, Risk
Management assesses whether there has been any change in the risk profile of the exposure, recommends
actions to mitigate risk and reconfirms or adjusts the risk rating. It also reviews the fair value of equity
investments.
Portfolio level review
Risk Management reports on the development of the portfolio as a whole on a quarterly basis to the Audit
Committee of the Board. The report includes a summary of key factors affecting the portfolio and provides
analysis and commentary on trends within the portfolio and various sub-portfolios. It also includes reporting
on compliance with all portfolio risk limits including an explanation of any limit breaches.
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To identify emerging risk and enable appropriate risk mitigating actions Risk Management also conducts
regular Bank-wide (top-down) and country level (bottom-up) stress testing exercises and comprehensive
reviews of its investment portfolios. The Bank recognises that any resulting risk mitigation is constrained by
the limited geographical space within which the Bank operates.
EBRD internal ratings
Probability of default (PD)
The Bank assigns its internal risk ratings to all counterparties, including borrowers, investee companies,
guarantors and sovereigns in the Banking portfolio. Risk ratings reflect the financial strength of the
counterparty as well as consideration of any implicit support, for example from a major shareholder. The
sovereign rating takes into consideration the ratings assigned by external rating agencies. For non-sovereign
operations, probability of default ratings are normally capped by the sovereign rating, except where the
Bank has recourse to a guarantor from outside the country which may have a better rating than the local
sovereign rating.
The table below shows the Bank’s internal probability of default rating scale from 1.0 (lowest risk) to 8.0
(highest risk) and how this maps to the external ratings of Standard & Poor’s (S&P). References to risk
rating through this text relate to probability of default ratings unless otherwise specified.
EBRD risk
category
1

EBRD risk rating

External rating equivalent

Category name

1.0
1.7
2.0
2.3/2.5
2.7
3.0
3.3
3.7
4.0
4.3
4.7
5.0
5.3
5.7
6.0
6.3
6.7
7.0
7.3
8.0

AAA
AA+
AA
AAA+
A
ABBB+
BBB
BBBBB+
BB
BBB+
B
BCCC+
CCC
CCC-/CC/C
D

Excellent

2

3

4

5

6

7
8

Broader category

Very Strong

Strong

Investment Grade

Good

Fair

Risk class 5

Weak

Risk class 6

Special Attention

Classified

Non-performing

Credit risk exposures
Placements with credit institutions
The Fund’s placements with credit institutions were all classified in internal credit rating risk categories 2
and 3 (approximately AA+ to A- in terms of the S&P equivalent).
Other financial assets
Other financial assets include Business Advisory Services Programme (“BAS”) and Secretariat Office
advances. BAS and Secretariat Office advances are held with institutions in local countries of operations and
may be risk rated below A-; however balances are monitored to ensure credit exposure is minimal.
Financial guarantees
At 31 December 2016 the total loans disbursed by the Bank to the PB’s are €16.5 million (2015: €3 million).
The guarantee is provided over the sub-loans made from the PB to a sub-borrower. A guarantee liability will
be recognised when the loan from the Bank has been disbursed to the PB, and the PB has the funds available
to on-lend to sub-borrowers. At 31 December 2016 the total on-lent from the PB to sub-borrowers is
€8 million (2015: €0.5million).
The maximum exposure under the guarantees is €800,000. Accordingly, no liability or expense is recognised
as the effect on the financial statements is considered immaterial.
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B. Market risk
Market risk is the potential loss that could result from adverse market movements. The drivers of market
risk for the Fund are interest rate, foreign exchange and equity price risk.
Market risk management and measurement
As discussed at the beginning of the risk management section, the Fund does not actively monitor or hedge
against market risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. The length of time for which the rate of interest is fixed on a financial instrument indicates to
what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk.
The Fund's placements are repriced to market interest rates within one month, therefore the exposure to
interest rate risk is considered to be minimal.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Fund's net exposure to foreign exchange risk is considered to be minimal as outlined in the table below.
United States
Euro

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net currency position at 31 December 2016

dollars

2016

2016

Total

€ million

€ million

€ million

426

13

439

(39)

(1)

(40)

387

12

399

United States
Euro

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net currency position at 31 December 2015

dollars

2015

2015

Total

€ million

€ million

€ million

339

10

349

(22)

(4)

(26)

317

6

323

Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices.
The Fund’s share investment was disposed of during the year and therefore there is no equity price risk to
the Fund.
C. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Fund’s Rules and Regulations require that share investments and technical assistance are financed from
the resources of the Fund, which comprises contributions received and investment income. Accordingly, the
Fund cannot commit more than the available resources and cannot borrow funds to finance operations. The
Fund also recognises contributions received as equity, which will only be returned to the contributor as part
of the residual assets upon termination of the Fund. As a result, the Fund’s exposure to liquidity risk is
considered to be minimal.
10

The EBRD Shareholder Special Fund
Notes to the financial statements
1. Creation of the Special Fund
The creation of the Fund was approved by the Board on 15 April 2008 and is administered, inter alia, in
accordance with the AEB and under the terms of the Rules and Regulations of the Fund. The Fund became
operational after the Governors of the Bank adopted the 2007 Net Income Allocation Resolution during its
Annual Meeting on 18-19 May 2008.
The Fund’s principal office is located in London at One Exchange Square, EC2A 2JN.
The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the AEB. The Fund is not part of the ordinary
capital resources of the Bank, but the privileges and immunities available to the Bank are extended to the
Fund.
2. President’s responsibilities
The President is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS issued by the
IASB.
3. Disbursements for technical cooperation
Commitments

Undrawn

approved

Disbursements

commitments

€ million

€ million

€ million

158

(140)

18

25

(36)

(11)

183

(176)

7

46

(46)

-

229

(222)

7

Total projects
At 31 December 2014
Movement in the year
As at 31 December 2015
Movement in the year
As at 31 December 2016

4. Disbursement to other funds
In 2016 the Board approved a disbursement of €6.85 million to the ETC Local Currency Risk Sharing
Special Fund (2015: nil), of which €1.85 million was still payable as at 31 December 2016.
5. Placements with credit institutions

Cash and cash equivalents
Business Advisory Services offices advances
At 31 December

2016

2015

€ million

€ million

219

233

-

1

219

234

6. Share investments
IFRS 7 specifies classification of fair values on the basis of a three-level hierarchy of valuation
methodologies. The classifications are determined based on whether the inputs used in the measurement of
fair values are observable or unobservable. The fair values of the Fund's share investments have been
classified as Level 3, that is, those which have fair values determined by inputs not based on observable
market data.
The Fund’s share investment was fully disposed of in 2016.
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7. Accrued expenses

Disbursements for technical cooperation
Management fees payable
Disbursements payable to other funds
At 31 December

2016

2015

€ million

€ million

34

25

4

1

2

-

40

26

8. Contributions received and receivable
During 2016 the Fund received contributions of €140 million (2015: €130 million), of which €105 million
are receivable as at 31 December 2016 (2015: €115 million). The total contributions receivable at 31
December 2016 are €220 million.
9. Analysis of current and non-current assets and liabilities
Assets and liabilities on the balance sheet are classified as current for both 2016 and 2015.
10. Undrawn commitments

Disbursements for technical cooperation
Incentive payments
First loss risk sharing guarantees
Investment grants
At 31 December

2016

2015

€ million

€ million

7

7

11

2

4

1

41

25

63

35

11. Events after the reporting period
There have been no material events since the reporting date that would require disclosure or adjustment to
these financial statements.
12. Related parties
The Fund’s only related party is the Bank.
The Bank is entitled to charge the Fund a management fee, as determined by the Board of Directors, each
time a contribution is made to the Fund. Management fees of €5.5 million were charged during the year
(2015: € 1.3 million). There was an accrued management fee payable of €4.45 million by the Fund to the
Bank at 31 December 2016 (2015: 1.3 million).
During 2016 the Bank reimbursed the Fund €40,000 of bank charges (2015: €22,000). €4,000 is receivable
as at 31 December 2016 (2015: €22,000).
External auditor's remuneration of €6,700 (2015: €7,700) is payable by the Bank from the management fee.
In 2014 the Bank approved an extension of the term of appointment from four year to five with a maximum
of two consecutive terms. Deloitte LLP (UK) completed its first four year term in 2014 and has been reappointed for the five year period 2015 – 2019.
The fall in the fees for audit services paid to the Bank’s external auditor from 2015 to 2016 is attributable to
movements in the value of the pound sterling. The pound sterling equivalent of these fees was £5,800
(2015:£5,700).
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GOVERNORS OF THE EUROPEAN BANK FOR
RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT (“THE BANK”)
Report on the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the EBRD Shareholder Special Fund (“the Fund”) for the year ended 31
December 2016 which comprise the statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the statement of changes in
contributors’ resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting policies, the risk management statement and the
related notes 1 to 12.
In our opinion the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the EBRD
Shareholder Special Fund as at 31 December 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the United Kingdom, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
President’s responsibility for the financial statements
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal
control as the President determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the President is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The President is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:





Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's
internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the President.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the President’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going
concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records, if the
proper accounting records have not been kept, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require
for our audit. We have nothing to report in connection with these matters.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank in accordance with Article 24 of the
Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for the use of the contributor and for no other purpose. We do
not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this
Report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants
London, United Kingdom
5 April 2017
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The EBRD SME Special Fund
Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2016
Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

6
(6)
(1,783)
96
6
(76)
(8)
(1,765)

5
(5)
(1,296)
65
322
(109)
(1,018)

(1,765)

(1,018)

Note

Interest income
Interest income refunded
Disbursements for technical cooperation
Client cost sharing for technical cooperation
Foreign exchange movement
Provision on placements with credit institutions
Other operating expenses
Net loss and comprehensive expense for the year
Attributable to:
Contributors

3

Balance sheet
At 31 December 2016
31 December 2016

Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Less: Provision on placements with credit institutions
Other assets
Total assets

Note

€ 000

4

4,383
(76)

6

Contributors' resources
Contributions
Reserves and accumulated loss
Total contributors' resources
Total liabilities

€ 000

6,076
6,076
6,076

279

335

38,234
(32,437)

38,234
(34,202)
4,032
4,367

1

31 December 2015
€ 000

4,307
60
4,367

5

Liabilities
Other financial liabilities

€ 000

5,797
6,076

The EBRD SME Special Fund
Statement of changes in contributors’ resources
For the year ended 31 December 2016
Accumulated

At 31 December 2014
Contributions receivable
Total comprehensive expense for the year
At 31 December 2015
Total comprehensive expense for the year
At 31 December 2016

Contributions

loss

€ 000

€ 000

Total
€ 000

37,919
315
38,234
38,234

(31,419)
(1,018)
(32,437)
(1,765)
(34,202)

6,500
315
(1,018)
5,797
(1,765)
4,032

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2016

€ 000

Cash flows used in operating activities
Net loss for the year
Adjustment for:
Provision on placements with credit institutions
Interest income
Interest income refunded
Foreign exchange movement

Interest income received
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
Bank charges refundable
Client cost sharing for technical cooperation receivable
Increase in operating liabilities
Accrued expenses
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Contributions received
Net cash from financing activities
Net decrease/(increase) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year*
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

(1,765)

(1,018)

76
(6)
6
(6)
(1,695)

(5)
5
(322)
(1,340)

6

5

(2)
(58)

-

€ 000

98

50

(1,237)

(1,699)
4,841

(1,699)
6,076
6
4,383

4,841
3,604
2,148
324
6,076

*The opening balance includes Business Advisory Services advances of EUR 90,000 at 2015 and EUR 126,000
in 2014.
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Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
A. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and on a going concern basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
policies of the EBRD SME Special Fund (“the Fund”). The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where judgements and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed
in “Critical accounting estimates and judgements” within the section for Accounting Policies.
New and amended IFRS mandatorily effective for the current reporting period
There are a number of amendments to standards effective for the current reporting period which have no or
negligible impact on the Fund’s financial statements, namely:
 IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
 IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements
 IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment
 IAS 38: Intangible Assets
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments is the IASB’s replacement project for IAS 39. The Standard has developed in
phases and was completed in July 2014 with a mandatory application date for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Fund adopted the first phase ‘recognition and measurement of
financial assets’ (November 2009) in its 2010 financial statements. See the accounting policy for financial
assets for more details.
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective and not adopted early
The following standards are not yet effective and have not been adopted early.
Pronouncement
Amendments to:
IFRS 2: Share-based
Payment

Amendments to:
IFRS 4: Insurance
Contracts

IFRS 9
Financial Instruments

Nature of change
Accounting for a modification of a share-based payment
transaction that changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Provides guidance for insurers in applying IFRS 9:
Financial Instruments with IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(October 2010).
Hedge accounting (November 2013).
Impairment methodology and introduction of ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ measurement
category for financial assets represented by simple debt
instruments (July 2014).
IFRS 9 to be adopted in its entirety for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
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Potential Impact
The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.

The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.
The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.
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Amendments to:
IFRS 10:
Consolidation
Financial Statements
and
IAS 28: Investments in
Associates and Joint
Ventures
IFRS 15: Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

IFRS 16: Leases

Amendments to:
IAS 7: Statement of
Cash Flows

Amendments to:
IAS 12: Income Taxes

Provides guidance for accounting for the loss of control of a
subsidiary as a result of a transaction involving an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method.

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined by the IASB.
Establishes principles for reporting useful information to
users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers.

The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a
contract, ie the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier
(‘lessor’).

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019.
An entity shall provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes.

This is a disclosure
requirement only
which the Fund will
comply with in 2017.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
Clarifies the requirements on recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at
fair value
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.

The Fund is exempt
from all forms of
direct taxes and so this
Standard is not
applicable.

B. Significant accounting policies
Financial assets – Classification and measurement
The Fund early adopted the first instalment of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, concerning the classification
and measurement of financial assets, with effect from 1 January 2010. Pursuant to that adoption, the Fund
classifies its financial assets in the following categories: those measured at amortised cost and those
measured at fair value. This classification depends on both the contractual characteristics of the assets and
the business model adopted for their management.
Financial assets at amortised cost
An investment is classified as ‘amortised cost’ only if both of the following criteria are met: the objective of
the Fund’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flow; and the contractual terms
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding, interest being consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated with the
principal amount outstanding.
Investments meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less any impairment. The Fund’s financial assets at amortised cost are
recognised at settlement date.
Financial assets at fair value
If either of the two criteria above is not met, the debt instrument is classified as ‘fair value through profit or
loss’. The Fund does not currently have any such assets in this category.
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Financial liabilities
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to financial liabilities and therefore still
applies IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
All financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost.
Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to impairment and therefore still applies
IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
Where there is objective evidence that an identified financial asset is impaired, specific provisions for
impairment are recognised in the income statement. Impairment is quantified as the difference between the
carrying amount of the asset and the net present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the asset’s
original effective interest rate where applicable. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use
of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. The carrying
amount of the asset is reduced directly only upon write-off. Resulting adjustments include the unwinding of
the discount in the income statement over the life of the asset, and any adjustments required in respect of a
reassessment of the initial impairment.
The criteria that the Fund uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:

delinquency in contractual payments of interest;

cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower;

initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;

deterioration in the borrower’s competitive position; and

deterioration in the value of collateral.
Provisions for impairment of classes of similar assets that are not individually identified as impaired are
calculated on a portfolio basis (the general provision). The methodology used for assessing such impairment
is based on a risk-rated approach for non-sovereign assets. The Fund’s methodology calculates impairment
on an incurred loss basis. Impairment is deducted from the asset categories on the balance sheet.
Impairment, less any amounts reversed during the year, is charged to the income statement. When a
financial asset is deemed uncollectible the asset is written off against the related impairment provision. Such
assets are written off only after all necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has
been determined. Recoveries are credited to the income statement if previously written off.
Contributors' resources
The Fund recognises contributions received from contributors as a liability on the basis that, should a
contributor choose to withdraw from the Fund, the Fund is obligated to return such contributions to the
extent these are not needed to meet existing commitments and obligations of the Fund.
Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents comprise
balances with less than three months maturity from the date of the transaction, which are available for use at
short notice and that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Foreign currencies
The Fund’s reporting currency for the presentation of its financial statements is the euro (€).
Foreign currency transactions are initially translated into euro using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions, and from the translation at the year-end exchange rate of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, are included in the income statement.
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Contributions
Contributions received in USD are translated into euro at the exchange rates ruling at the time of transaction.
Outstanding contributions are recognised as receivables in the balance sheet on the date of signature of a
contribution arrangement by the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development ("the Bank") and a
contributor.
Disbursements for technical cooperation
Disbursements for technical cooperation, which represent payments for consultancy services provided to the
Fund over a period of time, are recorded as expenditure over the period during which the services are
received.
Interest
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis. All interest income is recognised within ‘interest income’ in the
income statement.
Client cost sharing for technical cooperation
Client cost sharing for technical cooperation represents reimbursements in relation to consultancy services
provided. A letter of engagement indicates expected amounts and timing of payments, however these are not
considered due until an invoice is issued from the Fund to the client. Amounts are recorded as income when
invoiced.
Taxation
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank (“the AEB”), within the scope of its
official activities, the Bank, its assets, property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and
duties levied upon goods and services acquired or imported, except for those parts of taxes or duties that
represent charges for public utility services. As described in note 1, this exemption is extended to the Fund.
C. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Preparing financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and judgements
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts included in the income statement during the reporting period.
The Fund’s critical accounting estimates and judgements are as follows:
Provisions for the impairment of Business Advisory Programme Advances
The Fund’s method for determining the level of impairment of financial assets is described within the
accounting policies section of the report and further explained under credit risk within the risk management
section of the report. As described in the risk management section the Fund participates in investments
jointly with the Bank and credit risk is jointly managed. Accordingly, the risk management disclosures are
based on the Bank’s risk processes and procedures.
A provision for the impairment of funds held at a local BAS office bank account at 31 December 2016 was
€76,000 (2015: nil). This is due to the local bank’s financial position and the bank’s inability to make
repayments to account holders, accordingly all assets held there have been fully impaired.
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Risk management
The Fund was established to assist the development of small (including micro) and medium-size enterprises
(“SMEs”) in Albania, Armenia, Azerbaijan, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, Georgia,
Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic, Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Moldova, Montenegro, Romania,
Serbia, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, Ukraine and Uzbekistan (collectively, the “Eligible Countries”).
To achieve this, the resources of the Fund may be used to:
 participate alongside the Bank in providing loans to SMEs;
 finance technical assistance which includes procuring consultancy services to assist SMEs; and
 provide guarantees on a first loss basis on the Bank’s SME loans.
As the primary purpose of the Fund is to assist the development of SMEs rather than to generate a return on
its assets, financial risks, with the exception of credit risk, are not actively managed by the Fund.
Risk governance
The Fund follows the Bank's risk governance procedures as below:
The Bank’s overall framework for identifying and managing risks is underpinned by the Banking VicePresidency being the first line of defence related to debt and equity operations and an independent second
line of defence control functions, including the Risk Management department, Office of the Chief
Compliance Officer, Environmental and Social Department, Finance Department, Evaluations Department
and other relevant units. An Internal Audit Department acts as third line of defence and independently
assesses the effectiveness of the processes within the first and second lines of defence. The Vice President,
Risk and Compliance, Chief Risk Officer (CRO) is responsible for ensuring the independent risk
management of the Banking exposures, including adequate processes and governance structure for
independent identification, measurement, monitoring and mitigation of risks incurred by the Bank. The
challenge of the control functions, review of their status and assessment of their ability to perform duties
independently falls within the remit of the Audit Committee of the Board.
Matters related to Bank-wide risk and associated policies and procedures are considered by the Risk
Committee. The Risk Committee is accountable to the President. It oversees all aspects of the Banking
portfolio across all sectors and countries, and provides advice on Risk Management policies, measures and
controls. It also approves proposals for new products submitted by Banking. The membership comprises
senior managers across the Bank including representatives from Risk Management, Finance, Banking and
the Office of the General Counsel.
The Risk Committee is chaired by the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO.
In exercising its responsibilities, Risk Management is guided by its mission to:
 Provide assurance to stakeholders that risk decision-making in the Bank is balanced and within agreed
appetite, and that control processes are rigorously designed and applied; and
 Support the Bank’s business strategy including the maximisation of transition impact through provision
of efficient and effective delivery of risk management advice, challenge and decision making.
A. Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential loss to a portfolio that could result from the default of a counterparty or the
deterioration of its creditworthiness.
The Fund’s exposure to credit risk is currently limited to the financial institutions with which it may place its
cash resources, as well as client cost sharing amounts receivable and contributions receivable from the
Contributor. For banks with which the Fund places its cash, internal credit ratings are determined by Risk
Management and are the same as those used for Banking exposures. These ratings are based on internal
analysis of approved counterparties’ creditworthiness through the synthesis of externally provided credit
research and market data, including approved external agency ratings. All individual counterparty credit
lines for banks are measured, monitored and reviewed by Risk Management annually.
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At year end the Fund’s cash was placed with a financial institution which ranked in the second highest
internal credit rating risk category assigned by the Bank’s Risk Management department. This rating
approximated to a Standard & Poor’s equivalent rating in the range of AA+ to AA-.
Business Advisory Services Programme advances are held with institutions in local countries of operations
and may be risk rated below AA-; however balances are monitored to ensure credit exposure is minimal. A
provision for impairment on these accounts is detailed in the critical accounting estimates and judgements
section.
The carrying amount of placements presented on the balance sheet represents the Fund’s maximum exposure
to credit risk at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015.
B. Market risk
Market risk is the potential loss that could result from adverse market movements. The drivers of market
risk for the Fund are interest rate and foreign exchange risk.
Market risk management and measurement
As discussed at the beginning of the risk management section, the Fund does not actively monitor or hedge
against market risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. The length of time for which the rate of interest is fixed on a financial instrument indicates to
what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk.
The Fund's placements are repriced to market interest rates within one month, therefore the exposure to
interest rate risk is considered to be minimal.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Fund's net exposure to foreign exchange risk is outlined in the table below.
United
States
Euro

Total assets

2016

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

2,933

1,434

4,367

(4,064)

(4,367)

(303)

Total liabilities
Net currency position at 31 December 2016

dollars

2016

2,630

(2,630)

Total

-

United
States
Euro

Total assets

2015

Total

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

3,204

Total liabilities

(252)

Net currency position at 31 December 2015

dollars

2015

2,952

2,872

6,076

(5,824)

(6,076)

(2,952)

-

Based on the average five year absolute rolling average movement in the US dollar to euro exchange rate,
the potential impact on the Fund’s net profit from a 5 per cent strengthening or weakening (2015: 5 per cent)
is €131,000 (2015: €150,000).
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C. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Fund’s Rules and Regulations require that technical assistance, loan investments and guarantees are
financed from the resources of the Fund, which comprise contributions received and investment income.
Accordingly, the Fund cannot commit more than the available resources and cannot borrow funds to finance
operations. The Fund recognises contributions received as a liability, which may be returned to a contributor
upon termination of a contribution agreement. Amounts returned are based on the Fund’s net assets and take
into account any existing commitments. As a result, the Fund’s exposure to liquidity risk is considered to be
minimal.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Creation of the Special Fund
The creation of the Fund was approved by the Board of Directors (“the Board”) of the Bank on 28 June 2000
and is administered, inter alia, in accordance with the AEB and under the terms of the Rules and
Regulations of the Fund. The Fund became operational on 24 July 2000 following the signing of the first
contribution agreement.
The Fund’s principal office is located in London at One Exchange Square, EC2A 2JN.
The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the AEB. The Fund is not part of the ordinary
capital resources of the Bank, but any privileges and immunities available to the Bank are extended to the
Fund.
2. President's responsibilities
The President is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS issued by the
IASB.
3. Other operating expenses
2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

Management fees

-

99

Audit fees

7

8

Bank charges

1

2

At 31 December

8

109

4. Placements with credit institutions

Cash and cash equivalents
Business Advisory Services office advances
At 31 December

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

4,306

2,022

77

126

4,383

2,148

5. Other financial assets

Bank charges refundable

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

2

-

Client cost sharing for technical cooperation receivable

58

-

At 31 December

60

-

6. Other financial liabilities

Interest income reimburseable to contributor
Disbursements for technical cooperation payable
Audit fees payable
At 31 December

10

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

33

27

295

244

7

8

335

279

The EBRD SME Special Fund
7. Undrawn Commitments

Total commitments approved
Total disbursements for technical cooperation
Undrawn commitments at 31 December

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

30,019

28,118

(29,550)

(27,767)

469

351

This represents amounts for which the Fund has contracted but for which the transaction or service was not
undertaken at 31 December 2016.
8. Analysis of current and non-current assets and liabilities
All assets and liabilities in the balance sheet are classified as current for both 2016 and 2015.
9. Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet approximate to their
fair value.
10. Events after the reporting period
There have been no material events since the reporting date that would require disclosure or adjustment to
these financial statements.
11. Related parties
The Fund’s related parties are the Bank and the contributors, including the United States Government.
The Bank is entitled to charge the Fund a management fee of an amount equal to 2.0 per cent of
contributions received. There were no management fees paid by the Fund to the Bank in 2016 (2015:
€99,000) and no amount is payable by the Fund to the Bank at 31 December 2016 (2015: nil).
External auditor's remuneration of €6,700 (2015: €7,700) is payable by the Bank from the management fee.
In 2014 the Bank approved an extension of the term of appointment from four years to five with a maximum
consecutive terms. Deloitte LLP (UK) completed its first four-year term in 2014 and has been re-appointed
for the five year period 2015-2019.
The fall in the fee for the audit services paid to the Fund’s external auditor from 2015 to 2016 is attributable
to movements in the value of pound sterling. The pound sterling equivalent of these fees was £5,800 (2015:
£5,700).
Contributions received from the contributors are shown on the balance sheet. Interest income reimbursable
to the contributors is disclosed in note 5.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GOVERNORS OF THE EUROPEAN BANK FOR
RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT (“THE BANK”)
Report on the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of EBRD SME Special Fund (“the Fund”) for the year ended 31 December
2016 which comprise the the statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the statement of changes in
contributors’ resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting policies, the risk management statement and the
related notes 1 to 11.
In our opinion the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the EBRD SME
Special Fund as at 31 December 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the United Kingdom, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
President’s responsibility for the financial statements
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal
control as the President determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the President is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The President is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's
internal control.
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the President.
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of the President’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going
concern.
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records, if the
proper accounting records have not been kept, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require
for our audit. We have nothing to report in connection with these matters.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank in accordance with Article 24 of the
Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for the use of the contributor and for no other purpose. We do
not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this
Report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants
London, United Kingdom
5 April 2017
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Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2016
Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

304

599

52

22

Note

Interest and other similar income
From loans
From credit institutions
Fee income
Net unrealised losses from share investments
Foreign exchange movement
Other operating expenses
Impairment (charge)/release on loan investments
Net (loss)/profit and comprehensive (expense)/income for the year
Attributable to:
Contributors

6

-

13

-

(70)
1,569

584
3

(78)

4

(2,229)
(1,367)

(2)
2,396

(1,367)

2,396

265

Balance sheet
At 31 December 2016
31 December 2016

Note

Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Interest receivable
Contributions receivable
Loan investments
Loans
Less: Provisions for impairment

€ 000

€ 000

31 December 2015

€ 000

21,031

24,606
7
5

8,002

3

(2,519)

Total assets
Liabilities
Contributions received
Reserves and retained earnings
Total contributors’ resources
Total liabilities

7

59

132

-

3,682
7,582
(186)

5,483

7,396

30,148

32,241

30,136

30,133

2,105

15

Memorandum items
Undrawn loan commitments

1

€ 000

30,148

32,241

30,148

32,241

2,370

-

The Financial Intermediary and Private Enterprises Investment Special Fund
Statement of changes in contributors’ resources
For the year ended 31 December 2016

(Accumulated
loss)/
Contributions

Retained Earnings

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

34,348

99

34,447

(7,894)

(390)

(8,284)

At 31 December 2014
Distribution of funds to contributors
Contributions receivable
Total comprehensive income for the year
At 31 December 2015
Foreign exchange (loss) on contributions received
Distribution of funds to contributors
Total comprehensive expense for the year
At 31 December 2016

Total

3,682

-

-

2,396

2,396

30,136

2,105

32,241

(3)

3,682

-

-

(723)

-

(1,367)

30,133

(3)
(723)
(1,367)

15

30,148

FX arising on the distribution of funds to contributors has been included in the total comprehensive income for the year in 2015.

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2016

€ 000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net (loss)/profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Interest and other similar income
Net unrealised losses from share investments
Foreign exchange movement
Impairment charge/(release) on loan investments

Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

(1,367)

(619)

-

70

(584)

(1,569)

2,229

(265)

(78)

13

415

623

2,194

5,775

(2,484)

47

3,679

6,411
-

(723)

(9,518)
2,956

2

€ 000

2,396

(356)

Interest received
Decrease/(increase) in operating assets:
Proceeds from repayment of loans
Funds advanced for loans
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities
Contributions received
Distribution of funds to contributors
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

€ 000

(9,518)

3,003

(3,107)

21,031

22,136

572

2,002

24,606

21,031
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Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
A. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"). The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss. The financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
policies of the Financial Intermediary and Private Enterprises Investment Special Fund ("the Fund"). The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where judgements and estimates are
significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in “Critical accounting estimates and judgements”
within the section for Accounting Policies.
New and amended IFRS mandatorily effective for the current reporting period
There are a number of amendments to standards effective for the current reporting period which have no or
negligible impact on the Fund’s financial statements, namely:
 IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
 IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements
 IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment
 IAS 38: Intangible Assets
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments is the IASB’s replacement project for IAS 39. The Standard has developed in
phases and was completed in July 2014 with a mandatory application date for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Fund adopted the first phase ‘recognition and measurement of
financial assets’ (November 2009) in its 2010 financial statements. See the accounting policy for financial
assets for more details.
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective and not adopted early
The following standards are not yet effective and have not been adopted early.
Pronouncement
Amendments to:
IFRS 2: Share-based
Payment

Amendments to:
IFRS 4: Insurance
Contracts

IFRS 9
Financial Instruments

Nature of change
Accounting for a modification of a share-based payment
transaction that changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Provides guidance for insurers in applying IFRS 9:
Financial Instruments with IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(October 2010).
Hedge accounting (November 2013).
Impairment methodology and introduction of ‘fair value
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Potential Impact
The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.

The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.
The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

The Financial Intermediary and Private Enterprises Investment Special Fund
through other comprehensive income’ measurement
category for financial assets represented by simple debt
instruments (July 2014).

Amendments to:
IFRS 10:
Consolidation
Financial Statements
and
IAS 28: Investments in
Associates and Joint
Ventures
IFRS 15: Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

IFRS 16: Leases

Amendments to:
IAS 7: Statement of
Cash Flows

Amendments to:
IAS 12: Income Taxes

IFRS 9 to be adopted in its entirety for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Provides guidance for accounting for the loss of control of a
subsidiary as a result of a transaction involving an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method.

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined by the IASB.
Establishes principles for reporting useful information to
users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers.

The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a
contract, ie the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier
(‘lessor’).

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019.
An entity shall provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes.

This is a disclosure
requirement only
which the Fund will
comply with in 2017.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
Clarifies the requirements on recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at
fair value
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.

The Fund is exempt
from all forms of
direct taxes and so this
Standard is not
applicable.

B. Significant accounting policies
Financial assets - Classification and measurement
The Fund early adopted the first instalment of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, concerning the classification
and measurement of financial assets, with effect from 1 January 2010. Pursuant to that adoption, the Fund
classifies its financial assets in the following categories: those measured at amortised cost and those
measured at fair value. This classification depends on both the contractual characteristics of the assets and
the business model adopted for their management.
Financial assets at amortised cost
An investment is classified as ‘amortised cost’ only if both of the following criteria are met: the objective of
the Fund’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flow; and the contractual terms
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding, interest being consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated with the
principal amount outstanding.
Investments meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
4
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the effective interest method less any impairment. The Fund’s financial assets at amortised cost are
recognised at settlement date.
Financial assets at fair value
If either of the two criteria above is not met, the debt instrument is classified as ‘fair value through profit or
loss’.
The share investment held by the Fund is measured at fair value through profit or loss.
The basis of fair value for share investments that are unlisted is determined using valuation techniques
appropriate to the market and industry of each investment. The primary valuation technique used is net asset
value.
Share investments are recognised on a trade date basis.
At initial recognition, the Fund measures these assets at their fair value. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in the income statement. Such assets are carried at
fair value on the balance sheet with changes in fair value included in the income statement in the period in
which they occur.
Financial liabilities
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to financial liabilities and therefore still
applies IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
All financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost.
Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to impairment and therefore still applies
IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
Where there is objective evidence that an identified loan asset is impaired, specific provisions for
impairment are recognised in the income statement. Impairment is quantified as the difference between the
carrying amount of the asset and the net present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the asset’s
original effective interest rate where applicable. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use
of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. The carrying
amount of the asset is reduced directly only upon write-off. Resulting adjustments include the unwinding of
the discount in the income statement over the life of the asset, and any adjustments required in respect of a
reassessment of the initial impairment.
The criteria that the Fund uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:







delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;
cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower;
breach of loan covenants or conditions;
initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;
deterioration in the borrower’s competitive position; and
deterioration in the value of collateral.

Provisions for impairment of classes of similar assets that are not individually identified as impaired are
calculated on a portfolio basis (the general provision). The methodology used for assessing such impairment
is based on a risk-rated approach for non-sovereign assets. The Fund’s methodology calculates impairment
on an incurred loss basis. Impairment is deducted from the asset categories on the balance sheet.
Impairment, less any amounts reversed during the year, is charged to the income statement. When a loan is
deemed uncollectible the principal is written off against the related impairment provision. Such loans are
written off only after all necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been
determined. Recoveries are credited to the income statement if previously written off.
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Loans and advances are generally renegotiated in response to an adverse change in the circumstances of the
borrower. Depending upon the degree to which the original loan is amended, it may continue to be
recognised or will be derecognised and replaced with a new loan. To the extent the original loan is retained,
it will continue to be shown as overdue if appropriate and individually impaired where the renegotiated
payments of interest and principal will not recover the original carrying amount of the asset.
Contributors’ resources
The Fund recognises contributions received from the contributors as a liability on the basis that, should a
contributor choose to withdraw from the Fund, the Fund is obligated to return such contributions to the
extent these are not needed to meet existing commitments and obligations of the Fund.
Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents comprise
balances with less than three months maturity from the date of the transaction, which are available for use at
short notice and that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Foreign currencies
The Fund’s reporting currency for the presentation of its financial statements is the euro (€).
Foreign currency transactions are initially translated into euro using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions, and from the translation at the year-end exchange rate of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, are included in the income statement.
Contributions
Contributions received in currencies other than euro are translated into euro at the exchange rates ruling at
the time of the transaction. Outstanding contributions are recognised as receivables in the balance sheet on
the date of signature of a contribution agreement by the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development
("the Bank") and a contributor. Contributions receivable have not been discounted on a present value basis
as there is no indication as to their precise payment date. The Fund is satisfied that they will be realised for
the amounts stated in the financial statements.
Interest and fees
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis using the effective interest method. Interest income is recognised
within 'interest income/interest and similar income' in the income statement. Interest expense is recognised
in 'operating expenses' in the income statement.
Interest is recognised on impaired loans through unwinding the discount used in deriving the present value
of the expected cash flows.
Fees received in respect of services provided over a period of time are recognised as income as the services
are provided. Other fees and commissions are classified as income when received.
Taxation
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank (“the AEB”), within the scope of its
official activities, the Bank, its assets, property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and
duties levied upon goods and services acquired or imported, except for those parts of taxes or duties that
represent charges for public utility services. As described in note 1, this exemption is extended to the Fund.
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C. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Preparing financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and judgements
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts included in the income statement during the reporting period.
The Fund’s critical accounting estimates and judgements are as follows:
Fair value of share investments
The Fund’s method for determining the fair value of share investments is described under “Financial assets”
within the accounting policies section of the report and an analysis of the share investment portfolio is
provided in note 6. Where unobservable market data has been used, a sensitivity analysis has been included
within the risk management section of the report.
Provisions for the impairment of loan investments
The Fund’s method for determining the level of impairment of loan investments is described within the
accounting policies section of the report and further explained under credit risk within the risk management
section of the report. As described in the risk management section the Fund participates in investments
jointly with the Bank and credit risk is jointly managed. Accordingly, the risk management disclosures are
based on the Bank’s risk processes and procedures.
Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments at 31 December 2016 were
€128,000 (2015: €186,000).
During 2016 the Bank carried out its regular annual review of the loss parameters underpinning estimates of
unidentified impairment, with the aim of better reflecting the Bank's loss experience.This review resulted in
a modest reduction in the level of portfolio provisions. The key revision to these estimates was:
Probability of default
• In determining the probabilities of default for each risk rating, the historical datasets used to calibrate
the rates were updated to include 2015. This was carried out for both the internal and external data
used to determine the final probability of default rates.
If this change to loss parameter estimates had been applied at 31 December 2015, the portfolio provisions for
the unidentified impairment of loan investments would have reduced by €12,000 from €186,000 to
€174,000. No estimate of the effect these changes may have on future periods has been undertaken on the
grounds of impracticability.
In addition, the sensitivity of portfolio provisions as at 31 December 2016 to the key variables used in
determining the level of impairment is provided below.
Risk ratings

If all loan investments were upgraded by three “notches” or detailed ratings on the Bank’s probability
of default rating scale, this would result in a reduction of €107,000 (2015: €158,000) in portfolio
provisions on loan investments.

Conversely, if all loan investments were downgraded by three “notches” or detailed risk ratings on the
Bank’s probability of default rating scale, this would result in a charge to the income statement of
€226,000 (2015: €333,000) in relation to portfolio provisions for loans.
Probability of default rates

•

In determining the probabilities of default for each risk rating, the relative weighting applied to external
data and the Bank’s own experience is reviewed annually. The 2016 general provisioning methodology
applies a 67 per cent weighting to the Bank’s own experience and a 33 per cent weighting to external
data. A +/- 10 percentage points change in the weighting assigned to the Bank’s own experience would
lead to a change in portfolio provisions of -/+ €13,000 (2015: €15,000).

Loss emergence period

Provisions for unidentified impairment are made to reflect losses arising from events existing but not
identified at the balance sheet date and which will emerge within a 12 month period from that date. If
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the loss emergence period was reduced to three months it is broadly estimated that this would result in
a decrease in portfolio provisions charged to the income statement of €95,000 (2015: €138,000).
Loss given default rates

A change in loss given default rates by ten percentage points would lead to a change in portfolio
provisions of +/- €28,000 (2015: €41,000)
With respect to specific provisions, an increase or decrease of ten percentage points in the level of impaired
loans would have an impact of +/- €284,000 (2015: nil).
The methodology and judgements used for estimating provisions for the impairment of loan investments are
reviewed annually to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual experience.
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Risk management
The Fund was established to support financial intermediaries in the Bank’s countries of operations by
providing loans, investing in equity capital and providing guarantees or other credit support. On 17 March
2015, the Rules and Regulations of the Fund were amended to also allow support to be provided to private
sector enterprises.
As the primary purpose of the Fund is to encourage development in the countries of operations, rather than
to generate a return on its net assets, most financial risks are not actively managed by the Fund. As the Fund
participates in investments jointly with the Bank, credit risk is jointly managed; however the Fund does not
hedge against market risk and is hence exposed to interest rate, foreign exchange and equity price risk.
Risk governance
The Fund follows the Bank's risk governance procedures as below:
The Bank’s overall framework for identifying and managing risks is underpinned by the Banking VicePresidency being the first line of defence related to debt and equity operations and an independent second
line of defence control functions, including the Risk Management department, Office of the Chief
Compliance Officer, Environmental and Social Department, Finance Department, Evaluations Department
and other relevant units. An Internal Audit Department acts as third line of defence and independently
assesses the effectiveness of the processes within the first and second lines of defence. The Vice President,
Risk and Compliance, Chief Risk Officer (CRO) is responsible for ensuring the independent risk
management of the Banking exposures, including adequate processes and governance structure for
independent identification, measurement, monitoring and mitigation of risks incurred by the Bank. The
challenge of the control functions, review of their status and assessment of their ability to perform duties
independently falls within the remit of the Audit Committee of the Board.
Matters related to Bank-wide risk and associated policies and procedures are considered by the Risk
Committee. The Risk Committee is accountable to the President. It oversees all aspects of the Banking
portfolio across all sectors and countries, and provides advice on Risk Management policies, measures and
controls. It also approves proposals for new products submitted by Banking. The membership comprises
senior managers across the Bank including representatives from Risk Management, Finance, Banking and
the Office of the General Counsel.
The Risk Committee is chaired by the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO.
The Managing Director, Risk Management reports to the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO and leads the
overall management of the department. Risk Management provides an independent assessment of risks
associated with individual investments undertaken by the Bank, and performs an ongoing review of the
portfolio to monitor credit, market and liquidity risks and to identify appropriate risk management actions. It
also assesses and proposes ways to manage risks arising from correlations and concentrations within the
portfolio, and ensures that adequate systems and controls are put in place for identifying and managing
operational risks across the Bank. It develops and maintains the Risk Management policies to facilitate
Banking and Treasury operations and promotes risk awareness across the Bank.
In exercising its responsibilities, Risk Management is guided by its mission to:
• Provide assurance to stakeholders that risk decision-making in the Bank is balanced and within agreed
appetite, and that control processes are rigorously designed and applied; and
• Support the Bank’s business strategy including the maximisation of transition impact through provision
of efficient and effective delivery of risk management advice, challenge and decision making.
A. Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential loss to a portfolio that could result from either the default of a counterparty or the
deterioration of its creditworthiness. The Fund may also be exposed to concentration risk, which is the risk
arising from too high a proportion of the portfolio being allocated to a specific country, industry sector or
obligor, or to a particular type of instrument or individual transaction.
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The Fund is exposed to credit risk as borrowers and counterparties could default on their contractual
obligations, or the value of the Fund's investments could become impaired.
The carrying amounts of financial assets presented on the balance sheet, together with the undrawn
commitments as shown under memorandum items, best represent the Fund’s maximum exposure to credit
risk at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, without taking account of any collateral held or other
credit enhancements.
Credit risk management and measurement
As previously stated, the Fund participates jointly with the Bank in the financing of investments in the
Bank’s countries of operations. It therefore benefits from the same governance process employed by the
Bank in the measurement and management of credit exposures, which is described below.
Underlying principles and procedures
The Board of Directors ("the Board") approves a document that defines the principles underlying the credit
process for the approval, management and review of Banking exposures. The Audit Committee periodically
reviews these principles and its review is submitted to the Board for approval.
Individual projects
The Operations Committee reviews all Banking projects prior to their submission for Board approval. The
Committee is chaired by the First Vice President and Head of Client Services Group and its membership
comprises senior managers of the Bank, including the VP Risk & Compliance, CRO and the Managing
Director, Risk Management. A number of frameworks for smaller projects are considered by the Small
Business Investment Committee or by senior management under a delegated authority framework supervised
by the Operations Committee. The project approval process is designed to ensure compliance with the
Bank’s criteria for sound banking, transition impact and additionality. It operates within the authority
delegated by the Board, via the President, to approve projects within Board-approved framework operations.
The Operations Committee is also responsible for approving significant changes to existing operations.
The Equity Committee acts as the governance committee for the equity portfolio and reports to the
Operations Committee.
Risk Management conducts reviews of all exposures within the Banking portfolio. At each review, Risk
Management assesses whether there has been any change in the risk profile of the exposure, recommends
actions to mitigate risk and reconfirms or adjusts the risk rating. It also reviews the fair value of equity
investments.
Portfolio level review
Risk Management reports on the development of the portfolio as a whole on a quarterly basis to the Audit
Committee of the Board. The report includes a summary of key factors affecting the portfolio and provides
analysis and commentary on trends within the portfolio and various sub-portfolios. It also includes reporting
on compliance with all portfolio risk limits including an explanation of any limit breaches.
To identify emerging risk and enable appropriate risk mitigating actions Risk Management also conducts
regular Bank-wide (top-down) and country level (bottom-up) stress testing exercises and comprehensive
reviews of its investment portfolios. The Bank recognises that any resulting risk mitigation is constrained by
the limited geographical space within which the Bank operates.
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EBRD internal ratings
Probability of default (PD)
The Bank assigns its internal risk ratings to all counterparties, including borrowers, investee companies,
guarantors and sovereigns in the Banking portfolio. Risk ratings reflect the financial strength of the
counterparty as well as consideration of any implicit support, for example from a major shareholder. The
sovereign rating takes into consideration the ratings assigned by external rating agencies. For non-sovereign
operations, probability of default ratings are normally capped by the sovereign rating, except where the Bank
has recourse to a guarantor from outside the country which may have a better rating than the local sovereign
rating.
The table below shows the Bank’s internal probability of default rating scale from 1.0 (lowest risk) to 8.0
(highest risk) and how this maps to the external ratings of Standard & Poor’s (S&P). References to risk
rating through this text relate to probability of default ratings unless otherwise specified.
EBRD risk
rating category
1
2

3

4

5

6

7
8

EBRD risk rating

External rating equivalent

Category name

1.0
1.7
2.0
2.3/2.5
2.7
3.0
3.3
3.7
4.0
4.3
4.7
5.0
5.3
5.7
6.0
6.3
6.7
7.0
7.3
8.0

AAA
AA+
AA
AAA+
A
ABBB+
BBB
BBBBB+
BB
BBB+
B
BCCC+
CCC
CCC-/CC/C
D

Excellent

Broader category

Very Strong

Strong

Investment Grade

Good

Fair

Risk class 5

Weak

Risk class 6

Special Attention

Classified

Non-performing

Loss given default (LGD)
The Bank assigns loss given default percentages on a scale of 0 to 100 determined by the seniority of the
instrument in which the Bank invested.
Impaired loss provisioning
Non-Performing Loan (NPL) definition
An asset is designated as non-performing when either the borrower is more than 90 days past due on
payment to any material creditor, or when Risk Management considers that the counterparty is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations in full without recourse by the Bank to actions such as realising security, if held.
Provisioning methodology
A specific provision is raised on all NPLs accounted for at amortised cost. The provision represents the
amount of expected loss, being the difference between the outstanding amount from the client and the
expected recovery amount. The expected recovery amount is equal to the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the loan’s original effective interest rate.
General portfolio provisions
In the performing portfolio, provisions are held against losses incurred but not identified at the balance sheet
date. These amounts are based on the PD rates associated with the rating assigned to each counterparty, the
LGD parameters reflecting product seniority and the Exposure at Default (EAD). EAD is calculated based
on outstanding operating assets and the expected disbursement of committed but not yet drawn amounts.
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Credit risk exposures
Placements with credit institutions
The Fund’s placements with credit institutions were all classified in internal credit rating risk categories 2
and 3 (approximately AA+ to A- in terms of the S&P equivalent).
Other financial assets
Other financial assets represent interest receivable on loans.
Loan investments
Set out below is an analysis of the Fund’s loan investments and the associated impairment provisions for
each of the Bank’s relevant internal risk rating categories.
Portfolio

Specific

Neither past

provisions

provisions

Total loans net

due nor

for unidentified

for identified

of impairment

Impairment

impaired

Impaired

Total

Total

impairment

impairment

provisions

provisions

Risk category

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

%

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

6: Weak

4,138

-

4,138

51.7

(34)

-

4,104

7: Special attention

1,023

-

1,023

-

2,841

2,841

35.5

5,161

2,841

8,002

100

6: Weak

4,130

-

-

54.5

(43)

7: Special attention

3,452

-

-

45.5

(143)

At 31 December 2015

7,582

-

-

100

(186)

8: Expected loss/impaired
At 31 December 2016

12.8

(94)
(128)

-

%
0.8

929

9.2

(2,391)

450

84.2

(2,391)

5,483

48.8

-

4,087

1.0

-

3,309

4.1

-

7,396

2.5

Risk category

Undrawn loan commitments
Set out below is an analysis of the Funds undrawn commitments for loan for each of the Bank relevant
internal risk rating categories.

Undrawn loan

Undrawn loan

commitments
2016

commitments
2015

€ 000

€ 000

Risk category
6: Weak

2,200

-

170

-

2,370

-

7: Special Attention
At 31 December

Concentration of credit risk exposure
The following table breaks down the main credit risk exposures at the carrying amount by geographical
region.
Undrawn loan

Undrawn loan
commitments

Loans

commitments

2016

2016

2015

Loans
2015

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

Azerbaijan

-

2,841

-

3,452

Mongolia

-

1,353

-

2,630

Moldova

2,200

-

-

-

-

2,786

-

1,500

170

1,022

-

-

2,370

8,002

-

7,582

Tunisia
Turkmenistan
At 31 December

The following table breaks down the main credit risk exposures at the carrying amount by sector.
Undrawn loan

Undrawn loan

Financial Institutions

commitments

Loans

commitments

Loans

2016
€ 000

2016
€ 000

2015
€ 000

2015
€ 000

-

6,979

-

Industry, Commerce & Agribusiness

2,370

1,023

-

-

At 31 December

2,370

8,002

-

7,582
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B. Market risk
Market risk is the potential loss that could result from adverse market movements. The drivers of market
risk for the Fund are interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and equity risk.
Market risk management and measurement
As discussed at the beginning of the Risk Management section, the Fund does not actively monitor or hedge
against market risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. The length of time for which the rate of interest is fixed on a financial instrument indicates to
what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk.
The Fund's placements and floating rate loan investments are repriced to market interest rates within one and
six months respectively, therefore the exposure to interest rate risk is considered to be minimal.
The Fund also has a number of fixed rate loan investments. Based on a reasonable basis point change in the
underlying interest rates, the potential impact to the Fund’s net profit is considered to be minimal.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Fund's net exposure to foreign exchange risk is outlined in the table below.
United States
Euro

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net currency position at 31 December 2016

dollars

2016

2016

€ 000

€ 000

Total
€ 000

5,951

24,197

30,148

-

(30,148)

(30,148)

5,951

(5,951)

-

United States
Euro

Total assets

2015

Total

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

8,560

Total liabilities
Net currency position at 31 December 2015

dollars

2015

23,681

32,241

-

(32,241)

(32,241)

8,560

(8,560)

-

Based on the average five year absolute rolling average movement in the United States dollar to euro
exchange rate, the potential impact on the Fund’s net profit from a 5 per cent strengthening or weakening
(2015: 5 per cent) is €297,000 (2015: €408,000).
Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices.
The Fund expects the effect of equity price risk on net profit will bear a linear relationship to the movement
in equity indices.
As the Fund’s only equity investment is valued at nil at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2016, there is no
equity price risk.
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C. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Fund’s Rules and Regulations require that loan, equity investments and guarantees are financed from the
resources of the Fund, which comprises contributions received and investment income. Accordingly, the
Fund cannot commit more than the available resources and cannot borrow funds to finance operations. The
Fund recognises contributions received as a liability, which may be returned to the contributor upon
termination of a contribution agreement only after relevant liabilities have been discharged and assets
disposed of or redeemed. As a result, the Fund’s exposure to liquidity risk is considered to be minimal.
D. Management of contributors' resources
At 31 December 2016, the Fund had four Sub-accounts:
 The United States Agency for International Development (USAID) Horizonte Slovene Enterprise Fund,
equity Sub-account;
 The International Cooperation and Development Fund (ICDF) Small Business Account (SBA) II, loan
Sub-account; the SBA III, loan Sub-account; and the Agribusiness Account (ABA), loan Sub-account.
The ICDF is the sole remaining contributor to the Fund. The other contributors have chosen to withdraw
from the Fund but have some remaining resurces to be distributed.
ICDF SBA loan Sub-account closed during the year and all remaining assets were returned to the donor.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Creation of the Special Fund
The creation of the Fund was approved by the Board of the Bank at its meeting of 16 December 1996 and is
administered, inter alia, in accordance with the AEB and under the terms of the Rules and Regulations of the
Fund. The Fund became operational on 22 May 1997 following the receipt of the first contributions. On 17
March 2015, the Rules and Regulations of the Fund was amended, changing the name of the Fund from
“Financial Intermediary Investment Special Fund” to “Financial Intermediary and Private Enterprises
Investment Special Fund”.
The Fund’s principal office is located in London at One Exchange Square, EC2A 2JN.
The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the AEB. The Fund is not part of the ordinary
capital resources of the Bank, but any privileges and immunities available to the Bank are extended to the
Fund.
2. President’s responsibilities
The President is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS issued by the
IASB.
3. Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses are comprised of the following:
2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

Management Fees

71

-

Interest expense
At 31 December

7

2

78

2

4. Provisions for impairment of loan investments

(Charge)/release for the year
Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

63

265

Specific provisions for the identified impairment of loan investments

(2,292)

-

Impairment (charge)/release on loan investments

(2,229)

265

Movement in provisions
At 1 January

(186)

(Charge)/Release for the year to the income statement

(2,229)

Unwinding discount relating to the identified impairment of assets
Foreign exchange adjustments
At 31 December

15

(411)
265
-

(119)

(40)

(2,519)

(186)

(128)

(186)

Analysed between
Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments
Specific provisions for the identified impairment of loan investments

(2,391)

At 31 December

(2,519)

15

(186)
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5. Loan investments
2016

2015

Operating assets

€ 000

€ 000

At 1 January

7,582

12,528

Disbursements

2,484

Repayments
Foreign exchange movements
At 31 December
Impairment at 31 December

-

(2,194)
130

(5,775)
829

8,002

7,582
(186)

(2,519)

Total loan investments net of impairment at 31 December

7,396

5,483

6. Share Investments
IFRS 7 specifies classification of fair values on the basis of a three-level hierarchy of valuation
methodologies. The classifications are determined based on whether the inputs used in the measurement of
fair values are observable or unobservable. The fair value of the Fund’s share investment has been classified
as Level 3, that is, it has a fair value determined by inputs not based on observable market data.
No reasonably plausible alternative valuations have been determined as the effect on the financial statements
is considered immaterial.
The table below provides information about the Fund's share investment.

Outstanding disbursements
At 1 January
At 31 December
Fair value adjustment
At 1 January
Movement in fair value revaluation
At 31 December
Fair value at 31 December

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

1

1

1

1

(1)

69

-

(70)

(1)

(1)

-

-

7. Contributions
Executing

2016

2015

agency

€ 000

€ 000

ICDF

30,133

26,454

Cumulative contributions received
Taipei China
Contributions due not yet received
Taipei China

ICDF

At 31 December

-

3,682

30,133

30,136

8. Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet approximate to their
fair value.
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9. Analysis of current and non-current assets and liabilities
The table below provides the classification of current and non-current assets and liabilities in the balance
sheet.

Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Other financial assets

Current

Non-current

Total

Current

Non-current

Total

2016

2016

2016

2015

2015

2015

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

24,606

-

24,606

21,031

-

59

-

59

132

-

132

-

-

-

3,682

-

3,682

2,384

5,198

7,582

Contributions receivable
Loans

6,221

8,002

(2,475)

(2,519)

26,402

3,746

30,148

27,171

5,070

32,241

Total contributors' resources

30,148

-

30,148

32,241

-

32,241

Total liabilities

30,148

-

30,148

32,241

-

32,241

Provisions for impairment
Total assets

1,781

€ 000
21,031

(44)

(58)

(128)

(186)

Liabilities

10. Events after the reporting period
There have been no material events since the reporting date that would require disclosure or adjustment to
these financial statements.

11. Related parties
The Fund’s related parties are the Bank and the contributors.
The Bank is entitled to charge the Fund a management fee of an amount equal to one per cent of
contributions received. During the period a management fee of €71,000 (2015: nil) was charged by the Bank
to the Fund. There was no accrued management fee payable by the Fund to the Bank at 31 December 2016
(2015: nil).
External auditor's remuneration of €6,700 (2015: €7,700) is payable by the Bank from the management fee.
In 2014 the Bank approved an extension of the term of appointment from four year to five with a maximum
of two consecutive terms. Deloitte LLP (UK) completed its first four year term in 2014 and has been reappointed for the five year period 2015 – 2019.
The fall in the fee for the audit services paid to the Fund’s external auditor from 2015 to 2016 is attributable
to movements in the value of pound sterling. The pound sterling equivalent of these fees was £5,800
(2015: £5,700).
Contributions received and receivable from the contributors and amounts returned to the contributors are
outlined in note 7.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GOVERNORS OF THE EUROPEAN BANK FOR
RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT (“THE BANK”)
Report on the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Financial Intermediary and Private Enterprises Investment Special Fund (“the
Fund”) for the year ended 31 December 2016 which comprise the statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the
statement of changes in contributors’ resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting policies, the risk management
statement and the related notes 1 to 11.
In our opinion the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Financial
Intermediary and Private Enterprises Investment Special Fund as at 31 December 2016 and its financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the United Kingdom, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
President’s responsibility for the financial statements
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal
control as the President determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the President is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The President is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's internal control.
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the President.
 Conclude on the appropriateness of the President’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
18

the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records, if the
proper accounting records have not been kept, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for
our audit. We have nothing to report in connection with these matters.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank in accordance with Article 24 of the
Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for the use of the contributor and for no other purpose. We do not,
in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this Report is
shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants London,
United Kingdom
5 April 2017

19

European Bank
for Reconstruction and Development

The Italian Investment Special Fund

Annual Financial Report
31 December 2016

The Italian Investment Special Fund

Contents
Statement of comprehensive income ...................................................................................................................... 1
Balance sheet .......................................................................................................................................................... 1
Statement of changes in contributor’s resources .................................................................................................... 2
Statement of cash flows .......................................................................................................................................... 2
Accounting policies ................................................................................................................................................ 3
Risk management ................................................................................................................................................. 10
Notes to the financial statements .......................................................................................................................... 18
Independent Auditor’s report to the Governors .................................................................................................... 22
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Statement of comprehensive income
Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

Note

€ 000

€ 000

3

166

417

For the year ended 31 December 2016

Interest income from loans
Dividend income
Net losses from share investments
Net gains/(losses) from loans at fair value through profit or loss
Financial guarantees movement
Foreign exchange movement
Other operating expenses
Impairment release/(charge) on loan investments
Net loss and comprehensive expense for the year
Attributable to:
Contributor

11

4

(1,938)

(171)

9

1,039

(1,110)

5

255

(302)

72

(19)

6

(50)

(17)

7

104

(462)

(352)

(1,653)

(352)

(1,653)

Balance sheet
At 31 December 2016

31 December 2016
Note

Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Interest receivable on loans
Loan investments
Loans at amortised cost
Less: Provisions for impairment
Loans at fair value through profit or loss

€ 000

€ 000

11,208

18

69

1,971

3,951

7

(1,000)

(1,819)
764

202
1,173

10

Liabilities and contributor’s resources
Other financial liabilities
Financial guarantee liabilities
Total liabilities

€ 000

12,267

8
9

Share investments
Total assets

31 December 2015
€ 000

2,896

2,483

436

15,941

14,609

11

2,480

445

12

1,282

1,633

3,762

2,078

Contributions
Reserves and accumulated loss
Total contributor’s resources

19,524

19,524

Total liabilities and contributor’s resources

Memorandum items
Guarantees

13

1

(7,345)

(6,993)

12,179

12,531

15,941

14,609

3,252

6,295
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Statement of changes in contributor’s resources
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Accumulated
Contributions

loss

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

19,524
-

(5,340)
(1,653)

14,184
(1,653)

19,524

(6,993)

12,531

-

(352)

19,524

(7,345)

At 31 December 2014
Total comprehensive expense for the year
At 31 December 2015
Total comprehensive expense for the year
At 31 December 2016

Total

(352)
12,179

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Year to

Year to

31 December

31 December
2015

2016
€ 000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss for the year
Adjustment for:
Interest from loans
Interest expense on placements
Net losses from share investments
Net losses from loans at fair value through profit or loss
Foreign exchange movement
Financial guarantees movement
Impairment charge on loan investments

€ 000

(352)

(1,653)

(166)

(417)

43

9

1,938

171

€ 000

1,110

(1,039)

Interest received from loans
Interest paid on placements
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
Proceeds from repayment of loan investments
Proceeds from sale of share investments
Funds advanced for share guarantee payments
Funds advanced for share investments
Funds advanced for loan guarantee payments
(Decrease)/increase in operating liabilities
Audit fees payable

€ 000

(72)

19

(255)

302

(104)

462

(7)

3
334

111

(7)

(41)

2,105

2,960
242

431

(248)

(430)

(1,945)

(130)
(79)

-

1

(1)

Net cash from operating activities

1,071

2,228

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

1,071

2,228

11,208

8,982

(12)
12,267

2

(2)
11,208
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Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
A. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"). The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss and all derivative
contracts. The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the policies of the Italian Investment Special Fund (“the Fund”). The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where judgements and estimates are significant to the financial
statements, are disclosed in “Critical accounting estimates and judgements” within the section for
Accounting Policies.
New and amended IFRS mandatorily effective for the current reporting period
There are a number of amendments to standards effective for the current reporting period which have no
or negligible impact on the Fund’s financial statements, namely:
 IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
 IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements
 IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment
 IAS 38: Intangible Assets
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments is the IASB’s replacement project for IAS 39. The Standard has
developed in phases and was completed in July 2014 with a mandatory application date for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Fund adopted the first phase ‘recognition
and measurement of financial assets’ (November 2009) in its 2010 financial statements. See the
accounting policy for financial assets for more details.
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IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
The following standards are not yet effective and have not been adopted early.
Pronouncement
Amendments to:
IFRS 2: Share-based
Payment

Amendments to:
IFRS 4: Insurance
Contracts

IFRS 9
Financial Instruments

Nature of change
Accounting for a modification of a share-based payment
transaction that changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Provides guidance for insurers in applying IFRS 9:
Financial Instruments with IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(October 2010).
Hedge accounting (November 2013).

Potential Impact
The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.

The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.
The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Impairment methodology and introduction of ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ measurement
category for financial assets represented by simple debt
instruments (July 2014).

Amendments to:
IFRS 10:
Consolidation
Financial Statements
and
IAS 28: Investments in
Associates and Joint
Ventures
IFRS 15: Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

IFRS 16: Leases

Amendments to:
IAS 7: Statement of
Cash Flows

IFRS 9 to be adopted in its entirety for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Provides guidance for the accounting for loss of control of a
subsidiary as a result of a transaction involving an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method.

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined by the IASB.
Establishes principles for reporting useful information to
users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers.

The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a
contract, ie the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier
(‘lessor’).

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019.
An entity shall provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes.

This is a disclosure
requirement only
which the Fund will
comply with in 2017.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
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Amendments to:
IAS 12: Income Taxes

Clarifies the requirements on recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at
fair value
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.

The Fund is exempt
from all forms of
direct taxes and so this
Standard is not
applicable.

B. Significant accounting policies
Financial assets - Classification and measurement
The Fund early adopted the first instalment of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, concerning the
classification and measurement of financial assets, with effect from 1 January 2010. Pursuant to that
adoption, the Fund classifies its financial assets in the following categories: those measured at amortised
cost and those measured at fair value. This classification depends on both the contractual characteristics
of the assets and the business model adopted for their management.
Financial assets at amortised cost
An investment is classified as ‘amortised cost’ only if both of the following criteria are met: the objective
of the Fund’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flow; and the contractual
terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding, interest being consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk
associated with the principal amount outstanding.
Investments meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. They are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. The Fund’s financial assets at
amortised cost are recognised at settlement date.
Financial assets at fair value
If either of the two criteria above is not met, the debt instrument is classified as ‘fair value through profit
or loss’. The presence of an embedded derivative, which could potentially change the cash flows arising
on a debt instrument so that they no longer represent solely payments of principal and interest, requires
that instrument to be classified at fair value through profit or loss, an example being a convertible loan.
All of the share investments held by the Fund are measured at fair value through profit or loss.
When an instrument which is required to be measured at fair value through profit or loss has
characteristics of both a debt and equity instrument, the Fund determines its classification as a debt or an
equity instrument on the basis of the legal rights and obligations attaching to the instrument in accordance
with IFRS.
The basis of fair value for share investments that are unlisted is determined using valuation techniques
appropriate to the market and industry of each investment. The primary valuation techniques used are
multiples applied to net asset value and earnings-based valuations to which a multiple is applied based on
information from comparable companies and discounted cash flows. Techniques used to support these
valuations include industry valuation benchmarks and recent transaction prices.
The Fund’s share investments are recognised on a trade date basis.
At initial recognition, the Fund measures these assets at their fair value. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in the income statement. Such assets are
carried at fair value on the balance sheet with changes in fair value included in the income statement in
the period in which they occur.
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Derecognition of financial assets
The Fund derecognises a financial asset, or a portion of a financial asset, where the contractual rights to
that asset have expired or where the rights to further cash flows from the asset have been transferred to a
third party and, with them, either:
(i) substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or
(ii) significant risks and rewards, along with the unconditional ability to sell or pledge the asset.
Financial liabilities
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to financial liabilities and therefore still
applies IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
All financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, except for derivative instruments which must be
measured at fair value and financial guarantees which are measured in accordance with IAS 39, as
described under “Financial guarantees” below.
Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to impairment and therefore still applies
IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
Where there is objective evidence that an identified loan asset is impaired, specific provisions for
impairment are recognised in the income statement. Impairment is quantified as the difference between
the carrying amount of the asset and the net present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the
asset’s original effective interest rate where applicable. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced
through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced directly only upon write-off. Resulting adjustments include
the unwinding of the discount in the income statement over the life of the asset, and any adjustments
required in respect of a reassessment of the initial impairment.
The criteria that the Fund uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss
include:

delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;

cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower;

breach of loan covenants or conditions;

initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;

deterioration in the borrower’s competitive position; and

deterioration in the value of collateral.
Provisions for impairment of classes of similar assets that are not individually identified as impaired are
calculated on a portfolio basis (the general provision). The methodology used for assessing such
impairment is based on a risk-rated approach for non-sovereign assets. The Fund’s methodology
calculates impairment on an incurred loss basis. Impairment is deducted from the asset categories on the
balance sheet.
Impairment, less any amounts reversed during the year, is charged to the income statement. When a loan
is deemed uncollectible the principal is written off against the related impairment provision. Such loans
are written off only after all necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has
been determined. Recoveries are credited to the income statement if previously written off.
Loans and advances are generally renegotiated in response to an adverse change in the circumstances of
the borrower. Depending upon the degree to which the original loan is amended, it may continue to be
recognised or will be derecognised and replaced with a new loan. To the extent the original loan is
retained, it will continue to be shown as overdue if appropriate and individually impaired where the
renegotiated payments of interest and principal will not recover the original carrying amount of the asset.
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Derivative financial instruments
The Fund makes use of derivatives to guarantee a minimum return to the European Bank for
Reconstruction and Development ("the Bank") in respect of share investments in which the Fund makes a
parallel investment. In the latter case, the Fund’s liability to make up the minimum return is limited to the
recoverable amount of its own parallel investment.
All derivatives are measured at fair value through the income statement. Fair values are derived from
option-pricing models. Derivatives are carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities
when their fair value is negative.
Financial guarantees
The Fund provides guarantees to cover the principal losses of the Bank’s parallel loan investments,
limited to the debt proceeds recovered on the Fund’s loan investment. When a guarantee is issued, it is
initially recognised at its fair value, which is estimated using the risk margin, principal and tenor of the
guaranteed loan as a proxy for the fees which may have been received if the transaction had been at arm’s
length. Subsequently the guarantee is measured at the higher of the initial fair value less cumulative
amortisation or, if appropriate, the expenditure required to settle the commitment at the balance sheet
date.
Contributor's resources
The Fund recognises contributions received from the contributor as equity on the basis that the
termination of the contribution agreement would lead to the winding up of the Fund and the distribution
of the residual assets to the contributor.
Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents comprise
balances with less than three months maturity from the date of the transaction, which are available for use
at short notice and that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Foreign currencies
The Fund’s reporting currency for the presentation of its financial statements is the euro (€).
Foreign currency transactions are initially translated into euro using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions, and from the translation at the year-end exchange rate of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, are included in the income statement.
Interest, dividends and fees
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis using the effective interest method. Interest income is recognised
within 'interest income’ in the income statement. Interest expense is recognised in 'operating expenses' in
the income statement.
Interest is recognised on impaired loans through unwinding the discount used in deriving the present
value of expected cash flows.
Dividends relating to share investments are recognised in accordance with IAS 18: Revenue when the
Fund’s right to receive payments has been established, and when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Fund and the amount can be reliably measured.
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Taxation
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank (“the AEB”), within the scope of
its official activities, the Bank, its assets, property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all
taxes and duties levied upon goods and services acquired or imported, except for those parts of taxes or
duties that represent charges for public utility services. As described in note 1, this exemption is
extended to the Fund.
C. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Preparing financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and
judgements that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts included in the income statement during the reporting period.
The Fund’s critical accounting estimates and judgements are as follows:
Fair value of derivative financial instruments
The fair values of the Fund’s derivative financial instruments are determined by using discounted cash
flow models. These cash flow models are based on underlying market prices for currencies, interest rates
and option volatilities. Where market data is not available for all elements of a derivative’s valuation,
extrapolation and interpolation of existing data has been used. Where unobservable market data has been
used, a sensitivity analysis has been included within the risk management section of the report.
Fair value of loans at fair value through profit or loss
The fair values of the Fund’s loans at fair value through profit or loss are determined by using a
combination of discounted cash flow models and option pricing models. These models incorporate
market data pertaining to interest rates, borrower’s credit spreads, underlying equity prices and dividend
cash flows. Where relevant market data is not available extrapolation and interpolation of existing data
has been used. Where unobservable market data has been used, a sensitivity analysis has been included
within the risk management section of the report.
Fair value of share investments
The Fund’s method for determining the fair value of share investments is described under “Financial
assets” within the accounting policies section of the report and an analysis of the share investment
portfolio is provided in note 10. Where unobservable market data has been used, a sensitivity analysis has
been included within the risk management section of the report.
Provisions for the impairment of loan investments
The Fund’s method for determining the level of impairment of loan investments is described within the
accounting policies section of the report and further explained under credit risk within the risk
management section of the report. As described in the risk management section the Fund participates in
investments jointly with the Bank and credit risk is jointly managed. Accordingly, the risk management
disclosures are based on the Bank’s risk processes and procedures.
Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments at 31 December 2016 were
€7,000 (2015: €17,000).
During 2016 the Bank carried out a review of its loss parameters underpinning estimates of unidentified
impairment, with the aim of better reflecting the Bank’s loss experience. The review resulted in a
reduction in the level of portfolio provisions. The key revision to these estimates was:
Probability of default

In determining the probabilities of default for each risk rating, the historical datasets used to
calibrate the rates were updated to include 2015. This was carried out for both the internal and
external data used to determine the final probability of default rates.
If this change to loss parameter estimates had been applied at 31 December 2015, the portfolio
provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments would have reduced by €1,000 from
€17,000 to €16,000. No estimate of the effect these changes may have on future periods has been
undertaken on the grounds of impracticability.
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In addition, the sensitivity of portfolio provisions as at 31 December 2016 to the key variables used in
determining the level of impairment is provided below.
Risk ratings

If all loan investments were upgraded by three ‘notches’ or detailed ratings onthe Bank’s probability
of default rating scale, this would result in a reduction of €6,000 in portfolio provisions on loan
investments (2015: €13,000).

Conversely, if all loan investments were downgraded by three ‘notches’ or detailed ratings onthe
Bank’s probability of default rating scale, this would result in a charge to the income statement of
€30,000 in relation to portfolio provisions for loans (2015: €85,000).
Probability of default rates

In determining the probabilities of default for each risk rating, the relative weighting applied to
external data and the Bank’s own experience is reviewed annually. The 2016 general provisioning
methodology applies a 67 per cent weighting to the Bank’s own experience and a 33 per cent
weighting to external data. A +/- 10 percentage points change in the weighting assigned to the
Bank’s own experience would lead to a change in portfolio provisions of -/+ €1,000 (2015: €1,000).
Loss emergence period

Provisions for unidentified impairment are made to reflect losses arising from events existing but
not identified at the balance sheet date and which will emerge within a 12 month period from that
date. If the loss emergence period was reduced to three months it is broadly estimated that this
would result in a decrease in portfolio provisions charged to the income statement of
€5,000 (2015: €12,000).
Loss given default rates

A change in loss given default rates by ten percentage points would lead to a change in portfolio
provisions of +/- €2,000 (2015: €4,000).
With respect to specific provisions, an increase or decrease of ten percent in the level of impaired loans
would have an impact of +/- €130,000 (2015: €245,000).
Financial guarantee liability
The Fund's method for determining the fair value of financial guarantees is described under "Financial
guarantees" within the accounting policies section of the report and further explained under credit risk
within the risk management section of the report.
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Risk management
The Fund was established to assist the modernisation, restructuring, expansion and development of small
and medium size enterprises (SMEs) in Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, Egypt, FYR
Macedonia, Jordan, Kosovo, Montenegro, Morocco, Romania, Serbia, Tunisia and Turkey. To achieve
this, the Fund has participated, alongside the Bank, in providing equity investments and loans to such
businesses. The Fund’s resources are also used to mitigate the Bank’s risk exposure by providing
guarantees on the Bank’s investments in which the Fund also has a parallel investment.
As the primary purpose of the Fund is to assist the development of SMEs rather than to generate a return
on its net assets, most financial risks are not actively managed by the Fund. As the Fund participates in
investments jointly with the Bank, credit risk is jointly managed; however the Fund does not hedge
against market risk and is hence exposed to interest rate, foreign exchange and equity price risk.
Risk governance
The Fund follows the Bank's risk governance procedures as below:
The Bank’s overall framework for identifying and managing risks is underpinned by the Banking VicePresidency being the first line of defence related to debt and equity operations and an independent second
line of defence control functions, including the Risk Management department, Office of the Chief
Compliance Officer, Environmental and Social Department, Finance Department, Evaluations
Department and other relevant units. An Internal Audit Department acts as third line of defence and
independently assesses the effectiveness of the processes within the first and second lines of defence. The
Vice President, Risk and Compliance, Chief Risk Officer (CRO) is responsible for ensuring the
independent risk management of the Banking exposures, including adequate processes and governance
structure for independent identification, measurement, monitoring and mitigation of risks incurred by the
Bank. The challenge of the control functions, review of their status and assessment of their ability to
perform duties independently falls within the remit of the Audit Committee of the Board.
Matters related to Bank-wide risk and associated policies and procedures are considered by the Risk
Committee. The Risk Committee is accountable to the President. It oversees all aspects of the Banking
portfolio across all sectors and countries, and provides advice on Risk Management policies, measures
and controls. It also approves proposals for new products submitted by Banking. The membership
comprises senior managers across the Bank including representatives from Risk Management, Finance,
Banking and the Office of the General Counsel.
The Risk Committee is chaired by the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO.
The Managing Director, Risk Management reports to the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO and leads the
overall management of the department. Risk Management provides an independent assessment of risks
associated with individual investments undertaken by the Bank, and performs an ongoing review of the
portfolio to monitor credit, market and liquidity risks and to identify appropriate risk management
actions. It also assesses and proposes ways to manage risks arising from correlations and concentrations
within the portfolio, and ensures that adequate systems and controls are put in place for identifying and
managing operational risks across the Bank. It develops and maintains the Risk Management policies to
facilitate Banking and Treasury operations and promotes risk awareness across the Bank.
In exercising its responsibilities, Risk Management is guided by its mission to:



Provide assurance to stakeholders that risk decision-making in the Bank is balanced and within
agreed appetite, and that control processes are rigorously designed and applied; and
Support the Bank’s business strategy including the maximisation of transition impact through
provision of efficient and effective delivery of risk management advice, challenge and decision
making.

10

The Italian Investment Special Fund
A. Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential loss to a portfolio that could result from the default of a counterparty or the
deterioration of its creditworthiness. The Fund may also be exposed to concentration risk, which is the
risk arising from too high a proportion of the portfolio being allocated to a specific country, industry
sector or obligor, or to a particular type of instrument or individual transaction.
The Fund is exposed to credit risk as borrowers and counterparties could default on their contractual
obligations, or the value of the Fund's investments could become impaired.
The carrying amounts of financial assets presented on the balance sheet, together with the undrawn loan
commitments and guarantees as shown under memorandum items, best represents the Fund’s maximum
exposure to credit risk at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, without taking account of any
collateral held or other credit enhancements.
Credit risk management and measurement
As previously stated, the Fund participates jointly with the Bank in the financing of investments in the
Bank’s countries of operations. It therefore benefits from the same governance process employed by the
Bank in the measurement and management of credit exposures, which is described below.
Underlying principles and procedures
The Board of Directors ("the Board") approves a document that defines the principles underlying the
credit process for the approval, management and review of Banking exposures. The Audit Committee
periodically reviews these principles and its review is submitted to the Board for approval.
Individual projects
The Operations Committee reviews all Banking projects prior to their submission for Board approval.
The Committee is chaired by the First Vice President and Head of Client Services Group and its
membership comprises senior managers of the Bank, including the VP Risk & Compliance, CRO and the
Managing Director, Risk Management. A number of frameworks for smaller projects are considered by
the Small Business Investment Committee or by senior management under a delegated authority
framework supervised by the Operations Committee. The project approval process is designed to ensure
compliance with the Bank’s criteria for sound banking, transition impact and additionality. It operates
within the authority delegated by the Board, via the President, to approve projects within Board-approved
framework operations. The Operations Committee is also responsible for approving significant changes
to existing operations.
The Equity Committee acts as the governance committee for the equity portfolio and reports to the
Operations Committee.
Risk Management conducts reviews of all exposures within the Banking portfolio. At each review, Risk
Management assesses whether there has been any change in the risk profile of the exposure, recommends
actions to mitigate risk and reconfirms or adjusts the risk rating. It also reviews the fair value of equity
investments.
Portfolio level review
Risk Management reports on the development of the portfolio as a whole on a quarterly basis to the Audit
Committee of the Board. The report includes a summary of key factors affecting the portfolio and
provides analysis and commentary on trends within the portfolio and various sub-portfolios. It also
includes reporting on compliance with all portfolio risk limits including an explanation of any limit
breaches.
To identify emerging risk and enable appropriate risk mitigating actions Risk Management also conducts
regular Bank-wide (top-down) and country level (bottom-up) stress testing exercises and comprehensive
reviews of its investment portfolios. The Bank recognises that any resulting risk mitigation is constrained
by the limited geographical space within which the Bank operates.
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EBRD internal ratings
Probability of default (PD)
The Bank assigns its internal risk ratings to all counterparties, including borrowers, investee companies,
guarantors and sovereigns in the Banking portfolio. Risk ratings reflect the financial strength of the
counterparty as well as consideration of any implicit support, for example from a major shareholder. The
sovereign rating takes into consideration the ratings assigned by external rating agencies. For nonsovereign operations, probability of default ratings are normally capped by the sovereign rating, except
where the Bank has recourse to a guarantor from outside the country which may have a better rating than
the local sovereign rating.
The table below shows the Bank’s internal probability of default rating scale from 1.0 (lowest risk) to 8.0
(highest risk) and how this maps to the external ratings of Standard & Poor’s (S&P). References to risk
rating through this text relate to probability of default ratings unless otherwise specified.
EBRD risk
category
1
2

3

4

5

6

7
8

EBRD risk rating
1.0
1.7
2.0
2.3/2.5
2.7
3.0
3.3
3.7
4.0
4.3
4.7
5.0
5.3
5.7
6.0
6.3
6.7
7.0
7.3
8.0

External rating
equivalent
AAA
AA+
AA
AAA+
A
ABBB+
BBB
BBBBB+
BB
BBB+
B
BCCC+
CCC
CCC-/CC/C
D

Category name

Broader category

Excellent
Very Strong

Strong

Investment Grade

Good

Fair

Risk class 5

Weak

Risk class 6

Special Attention

Classified

Non-performing

Loss given default (LGD)
The Bank assigns loss given default percentages on a scale of 0 to 100 determined by the seniority of the
instrument in which the Bank invested.
Non-performing loans (NPL)
NPL definition
An asset is designated as non-performing when either the borrower is more than 90 days past due on
payment to any material creditor, or when Risk Management considers that the counterparty is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations in full without recourse by the Bank to actions such as realising security, if held.
Provisioning methodology
A specific provision is raised on all NPLs accounted for at amortised cost. The provision represents the
amount of expected loss, being the difference between the outstanding amount from the client and the
expected recovery amount. The expected recovery amount is equal to the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the loan’s original effective interest rate.
General portfolio provisions
In the performing portfolio, provisions are held against losses incurred but not identified at the balance
sheet date. These amounts are based on the PD rates associated with the rating assigned to each
counterparty, the LGD parameters reflecting product seniority and the Exposure at Default (EAD). EAD
is calculated based on outstanding operating assets and the expected disbursement of committed but not
yet drawn amounts.
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Credit risk exposures
Placements with credit institutions
The Fund’s placements with credit institutions were classified in internal credit rating risk category 2
(€12.15 million), category 3 (€0.04 million) and category 5 (€0.08 million).
Derivative financial assets
Derivative financial assets represent option contracts to provide potential exit routes for the Fund on its
unlisted equity investments. All derivative financial assets are currently valued at nil.
Loan investments at amortised cost
Set out below is an analysis of the Fund’s loan investments at amortised cost and the associated
impairment provisions for each of the Bank’s relevant internal risk rating categories.
Portfolio
Neither past
due nor

Risk category
6: Weak
8: Non-performing
At 31 December 2016

provisions

Specific

for

provisions

unidentified

for identified

Total net of

Impairment

impaired

Impaired

Total

Total

impairment

impairment

impairment

provisions

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

%

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

%

668

-

668

33.9

(7)

-

661

1.0

-

1,303

1,303

66.1

-

(993)

310

76.2

668

1,303

1,971

100.0

(7)

(993)

971

50.7

Portfolio
Neither past
due nor

provisions

Specific

for

provisions

unidentified

for identified

Total net of

Impairment

impaired

Impaired

Total

Total

impairment

impairment

impairment

Risk category

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

%

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

provisions
%

6: Weak

2,454

1,497
2,454

37.9
62.1

(17)
-

(1,802)

1,480

8: Non-performing

1,497
-

652

1.1
73.4

At 31 December 2015

1,497

2,454

3,951

100.0

(17)

(1,802)

2,132

46.0

Loans investments at fair value through profit or loss
Set out below is an analysis of the Fund’s loans at fair value through profit or loss for each of the Bank’s
relevant internal risk rating categories.
Fair value

Risk rating
7: Special attention
At 31 December

Fair value

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

202
202

764
764

At 31 December 2016 the Fund had security arrangements in place for €1.1 million of its disbursed loan
investments (2015: €1.2 million).
Credit risk in the loan portfolio
There were no distressed restructured loans1 at 31 December 2016 (2015: €2.0 million).
Guarantees and derivative financial instrument liabilities
At 31 December 2016, the Fund’s assets that may be used to guarantee future default losses incurred on
related Bank’s outstanding loan operating assets and share investment portfolio were €26.8 million
(2015: €37.4 million). At 31 December 2016, the Fund’s maximum exposure under such guarantees was
€4.7 million (2015: €6.7 million), of which €2.5 million (2015: €0.4 million) is recognised as “Derivative
financial instrument liabilities” and €1.3 million (2015: €1.6 million) is recognised as “Financial
guarantee liabilities” on the balance sheet.

1

Defined as a loan in which any of the key terms and conditions have been amended due to the financial stress of the borrower, and
without such amendment(s) would likely have become an impaired loan.
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Concentration of credit risk exposure
The following table breaks down the main credit risk exposures at their carrying amounts by geographic
region.
Loans

Loans

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

Albania

406

596

Bosnia and Herzegovina
Jordan
Kosovo

31
171

143
153
343

Montenegro

335

528

Serbia

575

2,123

Tunisia

333

441

Turkey

322

388

2,173

4,715

At 31 December

The following table breaks down the main credit risk exposures at the carrying amounts by industry
sector.
Loans

Agribusiness

Loans

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

321

481

Depository credit (banks)

-

143

Information and communication technologies

-

500

1,316

2,501

536

1,090

2,173

4,715

Manufacturing and services
Non-depository credit (non-bank)
At 31 December

B. Market risk
Market risk is the potential loss that could result from adverse market movements. The drivers of market
risk for the Fund are interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and equity risk.
Market risk management and measurement
As discussed at the beginning of the Risk Management section, the Fund does not actively monitor or
hedge against market risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. The length of time for which the rate of interest is fixed on a financial instrument indicates
to what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk.
The Fund's placements and floating rate loan investments are repriced to market interest rates within one
and six months respectively, therefore the exposure to interest rate risk is considered to be minimal.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
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The Fund's net exposure to foreign exchange risk is outlined in the table below.

Albanian

Total assets
Net currency position at 31 December 2016

dinar

lira

2016

2016

2016

2016

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

64

15,794

73

10

15,941

64

(3,264)
12,530

Albanian

Total assets
Total liabilities

Total

-

(498)

(3,762)

73

(488)

12,179

Jordanian

Turkish

lek

Euro

dinar

lira

2015

2015

2015

2015

Total

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

385

13,316

299

609

14,609

(9)

Net currency position at 31 December 2015

Turkish

Euro

-

Total liabilities

Jordanian

lek

376

(1,419)
11,897

(1)
298

(649)

(2,078)

(40)

12,531

The overall potential impact on the Fund’s net profit has been assessed based on the average five year
absolute rolling average movement in the below currencies:

2 per cent strengthening or weakening in the Albanian lek to euro exchange rate (2015: 2 per cent);

7 per cent strengthening or weakening in the Jordanian dinar to euro exchange rate (2015: 9 per
cent) (based on a three year absolute rolling average);

11 per cent strengthening or weakening in the Turkish lira to euro exchange rate (2015: 11 per cent);
and
Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices.
The Fund expects the effect of equity price risk on net profit will bear a linear relationship to the
movement in equity indices.
Based on the five year rolling average movement in the Stoxx EU Enlarged TMI index, the potential
impact on the Fund’s fair value of share investments from a 9 per cent movement (2015: 13 per cent) in
equity prices is €223,000 (2015: €57,000).
C. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Fund’s Rules and Regulations require that loan investments, equity investments and guarantees are
financed from the resources of the Fund, which comprise contributions received and investment income.
Accordingly, the Fund cannot commit more than the available resources and cannot borrow funds to
finance operations. The Fund’s guarantees are limited to the proceeds recoverable on the Fund’s parallel
investment. The Fund also recognises contributions received as equity, which will only be returned to the
contributor as part of the residual assets upon termination of the Fund. As a result, the Fund’s exposure
to liquidity risk is considered to be minimal.
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D. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
IFRS 13 specifies classification of fair values on the basis of a three-level hierarchy of valuation
methodologies. The classifications are determined based on whether the inputs used in the measurement
of fair values are observable or unobservable. These inputs have created the following fair value
hierarchy:




Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability.
Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs). This level includes share investments, derivative financial instruments and loans at fair
value through profit or loss for which not all market data is observable.

The fair values of the Fund's share investments, derivative financial instruments and loans at fair value
have been classified as Level 3, that is, those which have fair values determined by inputs not based on
observable market data.
At 31 December 2016, the Fund's balance sheet approximates to the fair value of all financial assets and
liabilities.
Level 3 - sensitivity analysis
The table below presents the Level 3 financial instruments carried at fair value at 31 December 2016,
main valuation models/techniques used in the valuation of these financial instruments and reasonably
possible increases or decreases in fair value based on reasonably possible alternative assumptions.
Impact on net profit in 2016
Carrying

Favourable

Unfavourable

amount

change

change

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

Loan investments

202

8

(14)

Share investments and associated derivatives

14
216

94
102

(14)
(28)

Assets

At 31 December

Impact on net profit in 2015

Assets
Loan investments
Share investments and associated derivatives
8: Non-performing

Carrying

Favourable

Unfavourable

amount

change

change

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

764

23

(37)

1

37

(2)

765

60

(39)

Level 3 financial liabilities relate to derivatives attached to share investments which have been analysed
together in the table above.
Loan investments
Loans at fair value through profit or loss mainly comprise convertible loans or loans with an element of
performance-based return. The valuation models used to fair value these financial instruments are
discounted cash flow models and option pricing models. The inputs into the models include interest
rates, the borrower’s credit spreads and underlying equity prices. Reasonable possible alternative
valuations have been determined based on the borrower’s probability of default.
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Share investments and associated derivatives
The Fund’s unlisted equity portfolio comprises direct share investments, equity derivatives and equity
funds. The valuation techniques/models used to fair value these financial instruments are net asset value
multiples, earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) multiples, book cost and
discounted cash flow models. Reasonable possible alternative valuations have been determined based on
the net asset value and EBITDA multiple ranges used in the valuations.
A valuation model is used to fair value the guarantee of a minimum rate of return on the Bank’s parallel
share investments. The inputs into the model include the euro yield curve, the valuation of the
underlying parallel investments, future dividend yields, equity volatility, the subscription price and an
equity valuation additional amount. Reasonable possible alternative valuations have been determined
based on the favourable and unfavourable change in the underlying direct share investments.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Creation of the Special Fund
The creation of the Fund was approved by the Board of the Bank at its meeting of 15/16 September 1998
and is administered, inter alia, in accordance with the AEB and under the terms of the Rules and
Regulations of the Fund. The Fund became operational on 19 January 1999 following the receipt of the
first contribution.
The Fund’s principal office is located in London at One Exchange Square, EC2A 2JN.
The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the AEB. The Fund is not part of the ordinary
capital resources of the Bank, but any privileges and immunities available to the Bank are extended to the
Fund.
2. President’s responsibilities
The President is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS issued by the
IASB.
3. Interest income from loans

Loans at amortised cost
Loans at fair value through profit or loss
Interest income from loans

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

97
69
166

291
126
417

4. Net losses from share investments

Net unrealised (losses)/gains from share investments and equity related derivatives
Net realised losses from share investments
Charge on derivative financial liability guarantee
Net losses from share investments

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

(1,239)
(451)
(248)
(1,938)

1,357
(1,098)
(430)
(171)

5. Financial guarantees movement

Amortisation of day one fair value
Release/(charge) for estimated settlement of impaired guaranteed loans
Financial guarantees movement

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

218
37
255

744
(1,046)
(302)

6. Other operating expenses

Audit fees
Interest expense on placements
At 31 December

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

7
43
50

8
9
445

At 31 December 2016 €6,700 (2015: €7,700) is payable to the Bank in relation to the 2016 external audit.
In 2014 the Bank approved an extension of the term of appointment from four year to five with a
maximum of two consecutive terms. Deloitte LLP (UK) completed its first four year term in 2014 and
has been re-appointed for the five year period 2015 – 2019.
The fall in the fees for audit services paid to the Bank’s external auditor from 2015 to 2016 is attributable
to movements in the value of the pound sterling. The pound sterling equivalent of these fees was £5,800
(2015: £5,700).
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7. Provision for impairment of loan investments

Release/(charge) for the year
Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments
Specific provisions for the identified impairment of loan investments
Provisions for impairment of loan investments

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

10
94
104

186
(648)
(462)

Movement in provisions
At 1 January
Release/(charge) for the year to the income statement
Release against amounts written off
Unwinding discount relating to the identified impairment of assets
Foreign exchange adjustments
At 31 December

(1,819)
104
651
19
45
(1,000)

(1,428)
(462)
60
12
(1)
(1,819)

Analysed between
Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments
Specific provisions for the identified impairment of loan investments
At 31 December

(7)
(993)
(1,000)

(17)
(1,802)
(1,819)

8. Loan investments at amortised cost

At 1 January
Repayments
Capitalised interest
Foreign exchange movement
Written off
At 31 December
Impairment at 31 December
Total loan investments net of impairment at 31 December

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

3,951
(1,271)
(58)
(651)
1,971
(1,000)
971

5,641
(1,604)
2
(28)
(60)
3,951
(1,819)
2,132

9. Loan investments at fair value through profit or loss

At 1 January
Repayments
Capitalised interest
Movement in fair value revaluation
Fair value at 31 December

19

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

764
(1,689)
88
1,039
202

2,279
(501)
96
(1,110)
764
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10. Share investments

Outstanding disbursements
At 1 January
Disbursements
Disposals
At 31 December
Fair value adjustment
At 1 January
Movement in fair value revaluation
At 31 December
Fair value at 31 December

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

3,652
1,945
(692)
4,905

5,051
130
(1,529)
3,652

(3,216)
794
(2,422)

(3,529)
313
(3,216)

2,483

436

11. Other financial liabilities

Fair value of equity related derivatives
Audit fees payable
Interest payable
At 31 December

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

2,469
7
4
2,480

435
8
2
445

12. Financial guarantee liabilities

At 1 January
Financial guarantee movement
Foreign exchange movement
At 31 December
Represented by:
Unamortised balance of day one fair value
Estimated settlement of impaired guaranteed loans
At 31 December

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

1,633

1,420

(255)
(96)

302
(89)

1,282

1,633

138
1,144
1,282

355
1,278
1,633

13. Undrawn commitments and guarantees

Guarantees
Undrawn share commitments
Undrawn commitments and guarantees at 31 December

20

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

735
2,517
3,252

3,449
2,846
6,295
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14. Analysis of current and non-current assets and liabilities
The table below provides the classification of current and non-current assets and liabilities in the balance
sheet.
Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Interest receivable on loans
Loan investments at amortised cost
Provisions for impairment
Loan investments at fair value through profit or loss
Share investments
Total assets
Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Other financial liabilities
Financial guarantee liabilities
Total liabilities

Current

Non-current

Total

Current

Non-current

2016

2016

2016

2015

2015

2015

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

12,267
18
362
(4)
70
12,713

1,609
(996)
132
2,483
3,228

12,267
18
1,971
(1,000)
202
2,483
15,941

11,208
69
845
(7)
577
12,692

3,106
(1,812)
187
436
1,917

11,208
69
3,951
(1,819)
764
436
14,609

11
1,282
1,293

2,469
2,469

2,469
11
1,282
3,762

10
1,633
1,643

435
435

Total

435
10
1,633
2,078

15. Events after the reporting period
There have been no material events since the reporting date that would require disclosure or adjustment
to these financial statements.
16. Related parties
The Fund’s related parties are the Bank and the contributor.
The Bank is entitled to charge the Fund a management fee of an amount equal to 1.5 per cent of
contributions received. As there were no contributions received in 2016, there were no management fees
paid by the Fund to the Bank (2015: nil) and there was no accrued management fee payable by the Fund
to the Bank at 31 December 2016 (2015: nil). Guarantees issued by the Fund to the Bank are disclosed
under credit risk exposures. Audit fees payable to the Bank are outlined in note 6.

21

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GOVERNORS OF THE EUROPEAN BANK FOR
RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT (“THE BANK”)
Report on the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Italian Investment Special Fund (“the Fund”) for the year ended 31 December
2016 which comprise the statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the statement of changes in contributors’
resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting policies, the risk management statement and the related notes 1 to 16.
In our opinion the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Italian Investment
Special Fund as at 31 December 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the United Kingdom, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
President’s responsibility for the financial statements
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal
control as the President determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the President is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The President is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's internal control.
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the President.
 Conclude on the appropriateness of the President’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
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to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records, if the
proper accounting records have not been kept, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for
our audit. We have nothing to report in connection with these matters.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank in accordance with Article 24 of the
Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for the use of the contributor and for no other purpose. We do not,
in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this Report is
shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants London,
United Kingdom
5 April 2017
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The RDI Special Fund
Income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

45

45

Note

Interest and similar income
From loans
From credit institutions
Net interest income
Other operating expenses
Impairment (charge)/release on loan investments
Net profit for the year
Attributable to:
Contributor

8

4

53

49

3

(7)

(8)

4

(21)

27

25

68

25

68

Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

25

68

111

397

136

465

136

465

Net profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Foreign exchange movement between functional and presentational currencies
Total comprehensive income for the year
Attributable to:
Contributor

These items will not subsequently be reclassified to the income statement.

Balance sheet
At 31 December 2016

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

3,291

2,889

3

4

Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Other financial assets
Loan investments
Loans
Less: Provisions for impairment
Total assets
Liabilities and contributor's resources
Other financial liabilities
Total liabilities
Contributions
Reserves and accumulated loss
Total contributor's resources
Total liabilities and contributor's resources

5

676

4

(32)

921
(11)
644

910

3,938

3,803

7

8

7

8

3,874

3,874

57

1

(79)

3,931

3,795

3,938

3,803

The RDI Special Fund
Statement of changes in contributor’s resources
For the year ended 31 December 2016
General

At 31 December 2014
Total comprehensive income for the year
At 31 December 2015
Total comprehensive income for the year
At 31 December 2016

Accumulated

Contributions

reserve

loss

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

3,874

332

(876)

3,330

-

397

68

3,874

729

(808)

-

111

25

3,874

840

(783)

Total

465
3,795
136
3,931

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Year to

Year to

31 December

31 December
2015

2016
€ 000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Interest income
Impairment charge/(release) on loan investments

Interest income received
Increase in operating assets:
Proceeds from repayment of loans
(Decrease)/increase in operating liabilities:
Accrued expenses
Net cash from operating activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

€ 000

25

68

(53)

(49)

21

(27)

(7)

(8)

55

49

262

-

€ 000

1

(1)
309

2

€ 000

42

309

42

2,889

2,546

93

301

3,291

2,889

The RDI Special Fund
Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
A. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Going concern
The financial statements for the RDI Special Fund (“the Fund”) are presented on a basis other than that of a
going concern as the Fund terminated on 31 December 2016. As at 31 December 2016, the Fund has a loan
investment remaining with expected repayments to 2019. The Fund will remain open until this loan has been
repaid, however no further investments will be undertaken. In such circumstances all assets and liabilities are
more appropriately reported at net realisable value rather than historical cost. No material adjustments arose
from ceasing to apply the going concern basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
policies of the Fund. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
judgements and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in “Critical accounting
estimates and judgements” within the section for Accounting Policies.
New and amended IFRS mandatorily effective for the current reporting period
There are a number of amendments to standards effective for the current reporting period which have no or
negligible impact on the Fund’s financial statements, namely:
 IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
 IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements
 IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment
 IAS 38: Intangible Assets
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments is the IASB’s replacement project for IAS 39. The Standard has developed in
phases and was completed in July 2014 with a mandatory application date for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Fund adopted the first phase ‘recognition and measurement of
financial assets’ (November 2009) in its 2010 financial statements. See the accounting policy for financial
assets for more details.
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective and not adopted early
The following standards are not yet effective and have not been adopted early.
Pronouncement
Amendments to:
IFRS 2: Share-based
Payment

Amendments to:
IFRS 4: Insurance
Contracts

IFRS 9

Nature of change
Accounting for a modification of a share-based payment
transaction that changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Provides guidance for insurers in applying IFRS 9:
Financial Instruments with IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

3

Potential Impact
The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.

The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.
The Fund is yet to

The RDI Special Fund
Financial Instruments

(October 2010).
Hedge accounting (November 2013).

assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Impairment methodology and introduction of ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ measurement
category for financial assets represented by simple debt
instruments (July 2014).

Amendments to:
IFRS 10:
Consolidation
Financial Statements
and
IAS 28: Investments in
Associates and Joint
Ventures
IFRS 15: Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

IFRS 16: Leases

Amendments to:
IAS 7: Statement of
Cash Flows

Amendments to:
IAS 12: Income Taxes

IFRS 9 to be adopted in its entirety for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Provides guidance for accounting for the loss of control of a
subsidiary as a result of a transaction involving an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method.

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined by the IASB.
Establishes principles for reporting useful information to
users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers.

The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a
contract, ie the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier
(‘lessor’).

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019.
An entity shall provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes.

This is a disclosure
requirement only
which the Fund will
comply with in 2017.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
Clarifies the requirements on recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at
fair value
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.

The Fund is exempt
from all forms of
direct taxes and so this
Standard is not
applicable.

B. Significant accounting policies
Financial assets
The Fund early adopted the first instalment of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, concerning the classification
and measurement of financial assets, with effect from 1 January 2010. As the Fund is in the process of being
wound up, assets and liabilities are measured at fair value. In the case of cash placements, the principal
equates to fair value given the short-term nature of such placements. Loan investments are measured at
amortised cost which approximates to their fair value.
Financial assets at amortised cost
An investment is classified as ‘amortised cost’ only if both of the following criteria are met: the objective of
the Fund’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flow; and the contractual terms
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding, interest being consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated with the
principal amount outstanding.
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Investments meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less any impairment. The Fund’s financial assets at amortised cost are
recognised at settlement date.
Financial liabilities
The value of the financial liabilities at amortised cost equates to their fair value as these are expected to be
settled for the values disclosed on the balance sheet in the short-term.
Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to impairment and therefore still applies
IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
Where there is objective evidence that an identified loan asset is impaired, specific provisions for
impairment are recognised in the income statement. Impairment is quantified as the difference between the
carrying amount of the asset and the net present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the asset’s
original effective interest rate where applicable. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use
of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. The carrying
amount of the asset is reduced directly only upon write-off. Resulting adjustments include the unwinding of
the discount in the income statement over the life of the asset, and any adjustments required in respect of a
reassessment of the initial impairment.
The criteria that the Fund uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:
·
delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;
·
cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower;
·
breach of loan covenants or conditions;
·
initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;
·
deterioration in the borrower’s competitive position; and
·
deterioration in the value of collateral.

Provisions for impairment of classes of similar assets that are not individually identified as impaired are
calculated on a portfolio basis (the general provision). The methodology used for assessing such impairment
is based on a risk-rated approach for non-sovereign assets. The Fund’s methodology calculates impairment
on an incurred loss basis. Impairment is deducted from the asset categories on the balance sheet.
Impairment, less any amounts reversed during the year, is charged to the income statement. When a loan is
deemed uncollectible the principal is written off against the related impairment provision. Such loans are
written off only after all necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been
determined. Recoveries are credited to the income statement if previously written off.
Loans and advances are generally renegotiated in response to an adverse change in the circumstances of the
borrower. Depending upon the degree to which the original loan is amended, it may continue to be
recognised or will be derecognised and replaced with a new loan. To the extent the original loan is retained,
it will continue to be shown as overdue if appropriate and individually impaired where the renegotiated payments
of interest and principal will not recover the original carrying amount of the asset.
Contributor's resources
The Fund recognises contributions received from the contributor as equity on the basis that the termination
of the contribution agreement would lead to the winding up of the Fund and the distribution of the residual
assets to the contributor.
General reserve
The general reserve represents foreign exchange movements on translation from functional currency to
presentational currency.
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Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents comprise
balances with less than three months maturity from the date of the transaction, which are available for use at
short notice and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Foreign currencies
The functional currency of the Fund is the United States dollar (USD) as this reflects the transactions, events
and conditions under which the Fund conducts its business. For financial statement reporting purposes the
unit of measurement is the euro (EUR).
For functional currency reporting, transactions in currencies other than USD are translated into USD at
exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction. All assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other
than USD, are re-translated into USD at spot rates ruling at 31 December 2016 with the resultant exchange
gains or losses taken to the income statement.
For financial statement reporting, income and expenses (excluding exchange gains or losses) are translated
from the functional currency to euro using exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction. Exchange
gains or losses are translated from the functional currency to euro at 31 December 2016 using the average
exchange rate for the year. Assets and liabilities denominated in the functional currency are re-translated to
euro at spot rates ruling at 31 December 2016 with the resultant exchange gains and losses taken to other
comprehensive income.
Contributions
Contributions received in USD are translated into euro at exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction.
Interest
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis using the effective interest method. All interest income is recognised
within ‘interest and similar income’ in the income statement.
Taxation
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank (“the AEB”), within the scope of its
official activities, the Bank, its assets, property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and
duties levied upon goods and services acquired or imported, except for those parts of taxes or duties that
represent charges for public utility services. As described in note 1, this exemption is extended to the Fund.
C. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Preparing financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and judgements
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts included in the income statement during the reporting period.
The Fund’s critical accounting estimates and judgements are as follows:
Provisions for the impairment of loan investments
The Fund’s method for determining the level of impairment of loan investments is described within the
accounting policies section of the report and further explained under credit risk within the risk management
section of the report. As described in the risk management section the Fund participates in investments
jointly with the Bank and credit risk is jointly managed. Accordingly, the risk management disclosures are
based on the Bank’s risk processes and procedures.
Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments at 31 December 2016 were €32,000
(2015: €11,000).
During 2016 the Bank carried out its regular annual review of the loss parameters underpinning estimates of
unidentified impairment, with the aim of better reflecting the Bank's loss experience. This review resulted in
a modest reduction in the level of portfolio provisions. The key revision to these estimates was:
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Probability of default
 In determining the probabilities of default for each risk rating, the historical datasets used to calibrate
the rates were updated to include 2015. This was carried out for both the internal and external data
used to determine the final probability of default rates.
If this change to loss parameter estimates had been applied at 31 December 2015, the portfolio
provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments would have reduced by €500 from
€11,400 to €10,900. No estimate of the effect these changes may have on future periods has been
undertaken on the grounds of impracticability.
In addition, the sensitivity of portfolio provisions as at 31 December 2016 to the key variables used in
determining the level of impairment is provided below.
Risk ratings
 If all loan investments were upgraded by three 'notches' or detailed ratings on the Bank’s probability of
default rating scale, this would result in a reduction of €28,000 (2015: €9,000) in portfolio provisions
on loan investments.
 Conversely, if all loan investments were downgraded by three 'notches' or detailed ratings on the
Bank’s probability of default rating scale, this would result in a charge to the income statement of
€10,000 (2015: €56,000) in relation to portfolio provisions for loans.
Probability of default rates
 In determining the probabilities of default for each risk rating, the relative weighting applied to external
data and the Bank’s own experience is reviewed annually. The 2016 general provisioning methodology
applies a 67 per cent weighting to the Bank’s own experience and a 33 per cent weighting to external
data. A +/- 10 percentage points change in the weighting assigned to the Bank’s own experience would
lead to a change in portfolio provisions of -/+ €3,000 (2015: €500).
Loss emergence period
 Provisions for unidentified impairment are made to reflect losses arising from events existing but not
identified at the balance sheet date and which will emerge within a 12 month period from that date. If
the loss emergence period was reduced to three months it is broadly estimated that this would result in
a decrease in portfolio provisions charged to the income statement of approximately €24,000 (2015:
€9,000).
Loss given default rates
 A change in loss given default rates by ten percentage points would lead to a change in portfolio
provisions of +/- €7,000 (2015: €3,000).
The methodology and judgements used for estimating provisions for the impairment of loan investments are
reviewed annually to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual experience.
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Risk management
The Fund was established to provide a long-term contribution to sustainable socio-economic development
across Azerbaijan and Georgia (“the Eligible Countries”). To achieve this, the Fund’s resources may be
used to provide loans, credit support, guarantees, risk participation, debt financing and grants for support of
technical assistance to business entities located in the Eligible Countries.
As the primary purpose of the Fund is to encourage development in the Eligible Countries, rather than to
generate a return on assets, most financial risks are not actively managed by the Fund. As the Fund
participates in investments jointly with the Bank, credit risk is jointly managed; however the Fund does not
hedge against market risk and is hence exposed to foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk.
Risk governance
The Fund follows the Bank's risk governance procedures as below:
The Bank’s overall framework for identifying and managing risks is underpinned by the Banking VicePresidency being the first line of defence related to debt and equity operations and an independent second
line of defence control functions, including the Risk Management department, Office of the Chief
Compliance Officer, Environmental and Social Department, Finance Department, Evaluations Department
and other relevant units. An Internal Audit Department acts as third line of defence and independently
assesses the effectiveness of the processes within the first and second lines of defence. The Vice President,
Risk and Compliance, Chief Risk Officer (CRO) is responsible for ensuring the independent risk
management of the Banking exposures, including adequate processes and governance structure for
independent identification, measurement, monitoring and mitigation of risks incurred by the Bank. The
challenge of the control functions, review of their status and assessment of their ability to perform duties
independently falls within the remit of the Audit Committee of the Board.
Matters related to Bank-wide risk and associated policies and procedures are considered by the Risk
Committee. The Risk Committee is accountable to the President. It oversees all aspects of the Banking
portfolio across all sectors and countries, and provides advice on Risk Management policies, measures and
controls. It also approves proposals for new products submitted by Banking. The membership comprises
senior managers across the Bank including representatives from Risk Management, Finance, Banking and
the Office of the General Counsel.
The Risk Committee is chaired by the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO.
The Managing Director, Risk Management reports to the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO and leads the
overall management of the department. Risk Management provides an independent assessment of risks
associated with individual investments undertaken by the Bank, and performs an ongoing review of the
portfolio to monitor credit, market and liquidity risks and to identify appropriate risk management actions. It
also assesses and proposes ways to manage risks arising from correlations and concentrations within the
portfolio, and ensures that adequate systems and controls are put in place for identifying and managing
operational risks across the Bank. It develops and maintains the Risk Management policies to facilitate
Banking and Treasury operations and promotes risk awareness across the Bank.
In exercising its responsibilities, Risk Management is guided by its mission to:
 Provide assurance to stakeholders that risk decision-making in the Bank is balanced and within agreed
appetite, and that control processes are rigorously designed and applied; and
 Support the Bank’s business strategy including the maximisation of transition impact through provision
of efficient and effective delivery of risk management advice, challenge and decision making.
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A. Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential loss to a portfolio that could result from the default of a counterparty or the
deterioration of its creditworthiness. The Fund may also be exposed to concentration risk, which is the risk
arising from too high a proportion of the portfolio being allocated to a specific country, industry sector or
obligor, or to a particular type of instrument or individual transaction.
The Fund is exposed to credit risk as borrowers and counterparties could default on their contractual
obligations, or the value of the Fund's investments could become impaired.
The carrying amounts of financial assets presented on the balance sheet, best represents the Fund’s
maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, without taking account of
any collateral held or other credit enhancements.
Credit risk management and measurement
As previously stated, the Fund participates jointly with the Bank in the financing of investments in the
Bank’s countries of operations. It therefore benefits from the same governance process employed by the
Bank in the measurement and management of credit exposures, which is described below.
Underlying principles and procedures
The Board of Directors ("the Board") approves a document that defines the principles underlying the credit
process for the approval, management and review of Banking exposures. The Audit Committee periodically
reviews these principles and its review is submitted to the Board for approval.
Individual projects
The Operations Committee reviews all Banking projects prior to their submission for Board approval. The
Committee is chaired by the First Vice President and Head of Client Services Group and its membership
comprises senior managers of the Bank, including the VP Risk & Compliance, CRO and the Managing
Director, Risk Management. A number of frameworks for smaller projects are considered by the Small
Business Investment Committee or by senior management under a delegated authority framework supervised
by the Operations Committee. The project approval process is designed to ensure compliance with the
Bank’s criteria for sound banking, transition impact and additionality. It operates within the authority
delegated by the Board, via the President, to approve projects within Board-approved framework operations.
The Operations Committee is also responsible for approving significant changes to existing operations.
Risk Management conducts reviews of all exposures within the Banking portfolio. At each review, Risk
Management assesses whether there has been any change in the risk profile of the exposure, recommends
actions to mitigate risk and reconfirms or adjusts the risk rating. It also reviews the fair value of equity
investments.
Portfolio level review
Risk Management reports on the development of the portfolio as a whole on a quarterly basis to the Audit
Committee of the Board. The report includes a summary of key factors affecting the portfolio and provides
analysis and commentary on trends within the portfolio and various sub-portfolios. It also includes reporting
on compliance with all portfolio risk limits including an explanation of any limit breaches.
To identify emerging risk and enable appropriate risk mitigating actions Risk Management also conducts
regular Bank-wide (top-down) and country level (bottom-up) stress testing exercises and comprehensive
reviews of its investment portfolios. The Bank recognises that any resulting risk mitigation is constrained by
the limited geographical space within which the Bank operates.
EBRD internal ratings
Probability of default (PD)
The Bank assigns its internal risk ratings to all counterparties, including borrowers, investee companies,
guarantors and sovereigns in the Banking portfolio. Risk ratings reflect the financial strength of the
counterparty as well as consideration of any implicit support, for example from a major shareholder. The
sovereign rating takes into consideration the ratings assigned by external rating agencies. For non-sovereign
operations, probability of default ratings are normally capped by the sovereign rating, except where the
Bank has recourse to a guarantor from outside the country which may have a better rating than the local
sovereign rating.
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The table below shows the Bank’s internal probability of default rating scale from 1.0 (lowest risk) to 8.0
(highest risk) and how this maps to the external ratings of Standard & Poor’s (S&P). References to risk
rating through this text relate to probability of default ratings unless otherwise specified.
EBRD risk
rating category
1

EBRD risk rating

External rating equivalent

Category name

1.0
1.7
2.0
2.3/2.5
2.7
3.0
3.3
3.7
4.0
4.3
4.7
5.0
5.3
5.7
6.0
6.3
6.7
7.0
7.3
8.0

AAA
AA+
AA
AAA+
A
ABBB+
BBB
BBBBB+
BB
BBB+
B
BCCC+
CCC
CCC-/CC/C
D

Excellent

2

3

4

5

6

7
8

Broader category

Very Strong

Strong

Investment Grade

Good

Fair

Risk class 5

Weak

Risk class 6

Special Attention

Classified

Non-performing

Loss given default (LGD)
The Bank also assigns loss given default ratings on a scale of 0 per cent to 100 per cent determined by the
seniority of the instrument in which the Bank invested and the jurisdiction and sector of the transaction.
Non-performing loans (NPL)
NPL definition
An asset is designated as non-performing when either the borrower is more than 90 days past due on
payment to any material creditor, or when Risk Management considers that the counterparty is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations in full without recourse by the Bank to actions such as realising security, if held.
Provisioning methodology
A specific provision is raised on all NPLs accounted for at amortised cost. The provision represents the
amount of expected loss, being the difference between the outstanding amount from the client and the
expected recovery amount. The expected recovery amount is equal to the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the loan’s original effective interest rate.
General portfolio provisions
In the performing portfolio, provisions are held against losses incurred but not identified at the balance sheet
date. These amounts are based on the PD rates associated with the rating assigned to each counterparty, the
LGD parameters reflecting product seniority and the Exposure at Default (EAD). EAD is calculated based
on outstanding operating assets and the expected disbursement of committed but not yet drawn amounts.
Credit risk exposures
Placements with credit institutions
The Fund’s placements with credit institutions were all classified in internal credit rating risk category 2
(approximately AA+ to AA- in terms of S&P equivalent).
Other financial assets
Other financial assets represent interest receivable from the Fund’s placements with credit institutions and
loans.
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Loan investments
Set out below is an analysis of the Fund’s loan investments and the associated impairment provisions for
each of the Bank’s relevant internal risk rating categories.
Portfolio
Neither past

provisions for

Total loans net

due nor

unidentified

of impairment

Total

Impairment

impaired

impairment

provisions

loans

provisions

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

%

%

Rating 7: Special Attention

676

(32)

644

100.0

4.7

Total

676

(32)

644

100.0

4.7

Rating 6: Weak

921

(11)

910

100.0

1.2

Total

921

(11)

910

100.0

1.2

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

Concentration of credit risk exposure
The Fund’s credit risk exposure is concentrated in a single geographical region, Azerbaijan and a single
industry sector, banking.
B. Market risk
Market risk is the potential loss that could result from adverse market movements. The drivers of market
risk for the Fund are interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk.
Market risk management and measurement
As discussed at the beginning of the Risk Management section, the Fund does not actively monitor or hedge
against market risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. The length of time for which the rate of interest is fixed on a financial instrument indicates to
what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk.
The Fund's placements and floating rate loan investments are repriced to market interest rates within one and
six months respectively, therefore the exposure to interest rate risk is considered to be minimal.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
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The Fund's net exposure to functional currency foreign exchange risk (euro to USD) is considered to be
minimal, as outlined in the table below.
United States
Euro

Total assets

dollars

2016

2016

Total

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

-

3,938

3,938

Total liabilities

(7)

-

Net currency position at 31 December 2016

(7)

3,938

(7)
3,931

United States
Euro

dollars

2015

2015

Total

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

3,803

3,803

Total assets

-

Total liabilities

(8)

-

Net currency position at 31 December 2015

(8)

3,803

(8)
3,795

Based on the average five year absolute rolling average movement in the USD to euro exchange rate, the
potential impact on other comprehensive income due to presentational currency movement, from a 5 per cent
strengthening or weakening (2015: 5 per cent) is €0.2 million (2015: €0.2 million).
C. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Fund’s Rules and Regulations require that loan investments and technical assistance are financed from
the resources of the Fund, which comprises contributions received and investment income. Accordingly, the
Fund cannot commit more than the available resources and cannot borrow funds to finance operations. The
Fund recognises contributions received as equity, which will only be returned to the contributor as part of
the residual assets upon termination of the Fund. As a result, the exposure to liquidity risk is considered to
be minimal.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Creation of the Special Fund
The creation of the Fund was approved by the Board on 16 October 2006 and is administered, inter alia, in
accordance with the AEB and under the terms of the Rules and Regulations of the Fund. The Fund became
operational on 15 November 2006 following the signing of the first contribution agreement.
The Fund’s principal office is located in London at One Exchange Square, EC2A 2JN.
The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the AEB. The Fund is not part of the ordinary
capital resources of the Bank, but any privileges and immunities available to the Bank are extended to the
Fund.
2. President’s responsibilities
The President is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS issued by the
IASB.
3. Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses represent external auditor's remuneration of €6,700 (2015: €7,700). At 31
December 2016 €6,700 (2015: €7,700) is payable to the Bank in relation to the 2016 external audit.
In 2014 the Bank approved an extension of the term of appointment from four year to five with a maximum
of two consecutive terms. Deloitte LLP (UK) completed its first four year term in 2014 and has been reappointed for the five year period 2015 – 2019.
The fall in the fee for the audit paid to the Fund’s external auditor from 2015 to 2016 is attributable to
movements in the value of pound sterling. The pound sterling equivalent of these fees was £5,800 (2015:
£5,700).
4. Provisions for impairment of loan investments
2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

(21)

27

(21)

27

At 1 January

(11)

(35)

(Charge)/release for the year to the income statement

(21)

27

(Charge)/Release for the year
Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments
Provisions for impairment of loan investments
Movement in provisions

Foreign exchange adjustments
At 31 December

-

(3)

(32)

(11)

Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments

(32)

(11)

At 31 December

(32)

(11)

Representing:

5. Loan investments
2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

At 1 January

921

823

Repayments

(262)

Operating assets

Foreign exchange movements

-

17

98

At 31 December

676

921

Impairment at 31 December

(32)

(11)

Total loan investments net of impairment at 31 December

644

910
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6. Analysis of current and non-current assets and liabilities
The table below provides the classification of current and non-current assets and liabilities in the balance
sheet.
Current

Non-current

Total

Current

Non-current

2016

2016

2016

2015

2015

2015

Assets

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

Placements with credit institutions

3,291

-

3,291

2,889

-

2,889

3

-

3

4

-

4

270

406

676

263

658

921

Other financial assets
Loan investments
Provisions for Impairment

(13)

(19)

(32)

(3)

(8)

Total

(11)

3,551

387

3,938

3,153

650

3,803

Other financial liabilities

7

-

7

8

-

8

Total liabilities

7

-

7

8

-

8

Total assets
Liabilities

7. Events after the reporting period
There have been no material events since the reporting date that would require disclosure or adjustment to
these financial statements.
8. Related parties
The Fund’s related parties are the Bank and the contributor, BP Exploration (Caspian Sea) Limited.
The Bank is entitled to charge the Fund a management fee equal to 2 per cent of contributions received. As
there were no contributions received in 2016, there were no management fees paid by the Fund to the Bank
(2015: nil) and there was no accrued management fee payable by the Fund to the Bank at 31 December 2016
(2015: nil).
Audit fees payable to the Bank are outlined in note 3.
Cumulative contributions received to date are €3.9 million (2015: €3.9 million).
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GOVERNORS OF THE EUROPEAN BANK FOR
RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT (“THE BANK”)
Report on the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the RDI Special Fund (“the Fund”) for the year ended 31 December 2016 which
comprise the statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the statement of changes in contributors’ resources, the
statement of cash flows, the accounting policies, the risk management statement and the related notes 1 to 8.
In our opinion the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the RDI Special Fund
as at 31 December 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the United Kingdom, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
Emphasis of matter - Financial statements prepared other than on a going concern basis
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we have considered the adequacy of the disclosure
made in the Basis of preparation to the financial statements, which explains that the financial statements have been prepared
on a basis other than that of a going concern.
President’s responsibility for the financial statements
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal
control as the President determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the President is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The President is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's internal control.
15

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the President.
 Conclude on the appropriateness of the President’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records, if the
proper accounting records have not been kept, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for
our audit. We have nothing to report in connection with these matters.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank in accordance with Article 24 of the
Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for the use of the contributor and for no other purpose. We do not,
in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this Report is
shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants London,
United Kingdom
5 April 2017
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The Romania Micro Credit Facility Special Fund
Statement of comprehensive income
Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

(62)
34
(28)

15
4
(20)
21
20

(28)

20

For the year ended 31 December 2016
Note

Interest and other similar income
Foreign exchange movement
Other operating expenses
Impairment release on loan investments
Net (loss) / profit and comprehensive (expense) / income for the year
Attributable to:
Contributor

3
4

Balance sheet
At 31 December 2016

31 December 2016
Note

€ 000

Assets
Placements with credit institutions

€ 000

31 December 2015
€ 000

14,041

14,015

Loan investments
Loans
Less: Provisions for impairment

€ 000

5
37
(37)

3
(3)

Total assets
Liabilities and contributor’s resources
Other financial liabilities
Total liabilities

6

Contributions
Retained earnings
Total contributor’s resources
Total liabilities and contributor’s resources

14,015

14,041

12
12

10
10

13,081
922
14,003
14,015

13,081
950
14,031
14,041

10

10

Memorandum items
Guarantees*

* See section on credit risk exposures on page 11 for additional details
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Statement of changes in contributor’s resources
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Retained

At 31 December 2014
Total comprehensive income for the year
At 31 December 2015
Total comprehensive loss for the year
At 31 December 2016

Contributions

earnings

€ 000

€ 000

Total
€ 000

13,081
13,081
13,081

930
20
950
(28)
922

14,011
20
14,031
(28)
14,003

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2016
€ 000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net (loss) / profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Interest and other similar income
Foreign exchange movement
Impairment release on loan investments

Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

(15)

-

(4)

(34)

(21)

(62)

(20)

-

16

34

1,003
3

2
(26)
(26)
14,041
14,015

2

€ 000

20

(28)

Interest received
Decrease in operating assets:
Proceeds from repayment of loans
Increase in operating liabilities
Accrued expenses
Net cash from operating activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

€ 000

1,002
1,002
13,040
(1)
14,041
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Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
A. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"). The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.
Going concern
The financial statements for the Romania Micro Credit Facility Special Fund (“the Fund”) are presented on a
basis other than that of a going concern as the Fund terminated on 31 December 2016. As at 31 December
2016, the Fund has a loan investment remaining with expected repayments to 2017. The Fund will remain
open until this loan has been repaid, however no further investments will be undertaken. In such
circumstances all assets and liabilities are more appropriately reported at net realisable value rather than
historical cost. No material adjustments arose from ceasing to apply the going concern basis. The remaining
funds will be transferred back to the contributor upon receipt of transfer instructions.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
policies of the Fund. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
judgements and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in “Critical accounting
estimates and judgements” within the section for Accounting Policies.
New and amended IFRS mandatorily effective for the current reporting period
There are a number of amendments to standards effective for the current reporting period which have no or
negligible impact on the Fund’s financial statements, namely:
 IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
 IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements
 IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment
 IAS 38: Intangible Assets
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments is the IASB’s replacement project for IAS 39. The Standard has developed in
phases and was completed in July 2014 with a mandatory application date for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Fund adopted the first phase ‘recognition and measurement of
financial assets’ (November 2009) in its 2010 financial statements. See the accounting policy for financial
assets for more details.
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective and not adopted early
The following standards are not yet effective and have not been adopted early.
Pronouncement
Amendments to:
IFRS 2: Share-based
Payment

Amendments to:
IFRS 4: Insurance
Contracts

Nature of change
Accounting for a modification of a share-based payment
transaction that changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Provides guidance for insurers in applying IFRS 9:
Financial Instruments with IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
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Potential Impact
The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.

The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.

The Romania Micro Credit Facility Special Fund
IFRS 9
Financial Instruments

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(October 2010).
Hedge accounting (November 2013).

The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Impairment methodology and introduction of ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ measurement
category for financial assets represented by simple debt
instruments (July 2014).

Amendments to:
IFRS 10:
Consolidation
Financial Statements
and
IAS 28: Investments in
Associates and Joint
Ventures
IFRS 15: Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

IFRS 16: Leases

Amendments to:
IAS 7: Statement of
Cash Flows

Amendments to:
IAS 12: Income Taxes

IFRS 9 to be adopted in its entirety for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Provides guidance for accounting for the loss of control of a
subsidiary as a result of a transaction involving an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method.

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined by the IASB.
Establishes principles for reporting useful information to
users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers.

The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a
contract, ie the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier
(‘lessor’).

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019.
An entity shall provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes.

This is a disclosure
requirement only
which the Fund will
comply with in 2017.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
Clarifies the requirements on recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at
fair value
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
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The Fund is exempt
from all forms of
direct taxes and so this
Standard is not
applicable.
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B. Significant accounting policies
Financial assets - Classification and measurement
The Fund early adopted the first instalment of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, concerning the classification
and measurement of financial assets, with effect from 1 January 2010. Pursuant to that adoption, the Fund
classifies its financial assets in the following categories: those measured at amortised cost and those
measured at fair value. This classification depends on both the contractual characteristics of the assets and
the business model adopted for their management.
Financial assets at amortised cost
An investment is classified as ‘amortised cost’ only if both of the following criteria are met: the objective of
the Fund’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flow; and the contractual terms
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding, interest being consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated with the
principal amount outstanding.
Investments meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less any impairment. The Fund’s financial assets at amortised cost are
recognised at settlement date.
Financial assets at fair value
If either of the two criteria above is not met, the debt instrument is classified as ‘fair value through profit or
loss’. The Fund does not currently have any such assets in this category.
Financial liabilities
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to financial liabilities and therefore still
applies IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
All financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost.
Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to impairment and therefore still applies
IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
Where there is objective evidence that an identified loan asset is impaired, specific provisions for
impairment are recognised in the income statement. Impairment is quantified as the difference between the
carrying amount of the asset and the net present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the asset’s
original effective interest rate where applicable. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use
of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. The carrying
amount of the asset is reduced directly only upon write-off. Resulting adjustments include the unwinding of
the discount in the income statement over the life of the asset, and any adjustments required in respect of a
reassessment of the initial impairment.
The criteria that the Fund uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:

delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;

cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower;

breach of loan covenants or conditions;

initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;

deterioration in the borrower’s competitive position; and

deterioration in the value of collateral.
Provisions for impairment of classes of similar assets that are not individually identified as impaired are
calculated on a portfolio basis (the general provision). The methodology used for assessing such impairment
is based on a risk-rated approach for non-sovereign assets. The Fund’s methodology calculates impairment
on an incurred loss basis. Impairment is deducted from the asset categories on the balance sheet.
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Impairment, less any amounts reversed during the year, is charged to the income statement. When a loan is
deemed uncollectible the principal is written off against the related impairment provision. Such loans are
written off only after all necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been
determined. Recoveries are credited to the income statement if previously written off.
Loans and advances are generally renegotiated in response to an adverse change in the circumstances of the
borrower. Depending upon the degree to which the original loan is amended, it may continue to be
recognised or will be derecognised and replaced with a new loan. To the extent the original loan is retained,
it will continue to be shown as overdue if appropriate and individually impaired where the renegotiated
payments of interest and principal will not recover the original carrying amount of the asset.
Financial guarantees
The Fund's resources are used to guarantee up to 50 per cent of the principal losses which may be incurred
by partner lending institutions' (PLIs) in their financing of start-up micro and small enterprises (MSEs),
subject to a maximum amount of €3 million overall. The Fund receives no benefit for being a party to these
guarantees, i.e. no fees are received and there are no preferential lending agreements on behalf of the Fund
where parallel lending exists. Where it becomes highly probable that a guarantee will require to be settled
and that amount can be reliably estimated, that amount will be recognised as a liability with a corresponding
charge to the income statement.
Contributor's resources
The Fund recognises contributions received from the contributor as equity on the basis that the termination
of the contribution agreement would lead to the winding up of the Fund and the distribution of the residual
assets to the contributor.
Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents comprise
balances with less than three months maturity from the date of the transaction, which are available for use at
short notice and that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Foreign currencies
The Fund’s reporting currency for the presentation of its financial statements is the euro (€).
Foreign currency transactions are initially translated into euro using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions, and from the translation at the year-end exchange rate of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, are included in the income statement.
Interest and fees
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis using the effective interest method. Interest income is recognised
within 'interest income/interest and similar income' in the income statement. Interest expense is recognised
in 'operating expenses' in the income statement.
Taxation
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the European Bank for Reconstruction and
Development ("the AEB") (''the Bank''), within the scope of its official activities, the Bank, its assets,
property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and duties levied upon goods and services
acquired or imported, except for those parts of taxes or duties that represent charges for public utility
services. As described in note 1, this exemption is extended to the Fund.
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C. Critical estimates and judgements
Preparing financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and judgements
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts included in the income statement during the reporting period.
The Fund’s critical accounting estimates and judgements are as follows:
Provisions for the impairment of loan investments
The Fund’s method for determining the level of impairment of loan investments is described within the
accounting policies section of the report and further explained under credit risk within the risk management
section of the report. As described in the risk management section the Fund participates in investments
jointly with the Bank and credit risk is jointly managed. Accordingly, the risk management disclosures are
based on the Bank’s risk processes and procedures.
Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments at 31 December 2016 were nil
(2015: nil).
At 31 December 2016 and 2015, all loan investments have been fully specifically provided for, and as such,
no other sensitivity analysis has been performed for portfolio provisions.
Specific provision

With respect to specific provisions, a decrease of ten percent in the level of impaired loans would have
an impact of - €300 (2015: an increase or decrease of ten percent in the level of impaired loans would
have an impact of +/- €4,000)
The methodology and judgements used for estimating provisions for the impairment of loan investments are
reviewed annually to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual experience.
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Risk management
The Fund was established to improve access to finance for MSEs in Romania. To achieve this, the Fund
may participate alongside the Bank in providing loans to PLIs. The Fund’s resources may also be used to
provide non-reimbursable technical assistance and to encourage PLIs to finance start-ups by guaranteeing 50
per cent of their losses on their MSE portfolios.
As the purpose of the Fund is to assist MSEs in Romania rather than to generate a return on its assets, not all
financial risks are actively managed by the Fund. Credit risk is jointly managed with the Bank; however the
Fund does not hedge against market risk and is hence exposed to interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk.
Risk governance
The Fund follows the Bank's risk governance procedures as below:
The Bank’s overall framework for identifying and managing risks is underpinned by the Banking VicePresidency being the first line of defence related to debt and equity operations and an independent second
line of defence control functions, including the Risk Management department, Office of the Chief
Compliance Officer, Environmental and Social Department, Finance Department, Evaluations Department
and other relevant units. An Internal Audit Department acts as third line of defence and independently
assesses the effectiveness of the processes within the first and second lines of defence. The Vice President,
Risk and Compliance, Chief Risk Officer (CRO) is responsible for ensuring the independent risk
management of the Banking and Treasury exposures, including adequate processes and governance structure
for independent identification, measurement, monitoring and mitigation of risks incurred by the Bank. The
challenge of the control functions, review of their status and assessment of their ability to perform duties
independently falls within the remit of the Audit Committee of the Board.
Matters related to Bank-wide risk and associated policies and procedures are considered by the Risk
Committee. The Risk Committee is accountable to the President. It oversees all aspects of the Banking and
Treasury portfolios across all sectors and countries, and provides advice on Risk Management policies,
measures and controls. It also approves proposals for new products submitted by Banking or Treasury. The
membership comprises senior managers across the Bank including representatives from Risk Management,
Finance, Banking and the Office of the General Counsel.
The Risk Committee is chaired by the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO.
The Managing Director, Risk Management reports to the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO and leads the
overall management of the department. Risk Management provides an independent assessment of risks
associated with individual investments undertaken by the Bank, and performs an ongoing review of the
portfolio to monitor credit, market and liquidity risks and to identify appropriate risk management actions. It
also assesses and proposes ways to manage risks arising from correlations and concentrations within the
portfolio, and ensures that adequate systems and controls are put in place for identifying and managing
operational risks across the Bank. It develops and maintains the Risk Management policies to facilitate
Banking and Treasury operations and promotes risk awareness across the Bank.
In exercising its responsibilities, Risk Management is guided by its mission to:



Provide assurance to stakeholders that risk decision-making in the Bank is balanced and within agreed
appetite, and that control processes are rigorously designed and applied; and
Support the Bank’s business strategy including the maximisation of transition impact through provision
of efficient and effective delivery of risk management advice, challenge and decision-making.

A. Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential loss to a portfolio that could result from the default of a counterparty or the
deterioration of its creditworthiness. The Fund may also be exposed to concentration risk, which is the risk
arising from too high a proportion of the portfolio being allocated to a specific country, industry sector or
obligor, or to a particular type of instrument or individual transaction.
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The Fund is exposed to credit risk as borrowers and counterparties could default on their contractual
obligations, or the value of the Fund's investments could become impaired.
The carrying amounts of financial assets presented on the balance sheet, together with guarantees as shown
under memorandum items, best represents the Fund’s maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December
2016 and 31 December 2015, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements.
Credit risk management and measurement
As previously stated, the Fund participates jointly with the Bank in the financing of investments in the
Bank’s countries of operations. It therefore benefits from the same governance process employed by the
Bank in the measurement and management of credit exposures, which is described below.
Underlying principles and procedures
The Board of Directors ("the Board") approves a document that defines the principles underlying the credit
process for the approval, management and review of Banking exposures. The Audit Committee periodically
reviews these principles and its review is submitted to the Board for approval.
Individual projects
The Operations Committee reviews all Banking projects prior to their submission for Board approval. The
Committee is chaired by the First Vice President Banking and its membership comprises senior managers of
the Bank, including the VP & CRO and Managing Director Risk Management. A number of frameworks for
smaller projects are considered by the Small Business Investment Committee or by senior management
under a delegated authority framework supervised by the Operations Committee. The project approval
process is designed to ensure compliance with the Bank’s criteria for sound banking, transition impact and
additionality. It operates within the authority delegated by the Board, via the Executive Committee, to
approve projects within Board-approved framework operations. The Operations Committee is also
responsible for approving significant changes to existing operations.
Risk Management conducts reviews of all exposures within the Banking portfolio. At each review, Risk
Management assesses whether there has been any change in the risk profile of the exposure, recommends
actions to mitigate risk and reconfirms or adjusts the risk rating. It also reviews the fair value of equity
investments.
Portfolio level review
Risk Management reports on the development of the portfolio as a whole on a quarterly basis to the Audit
Committee of the Board. The report includes a summary of key factors affecting the portfolio and provides
analysis and commentary on trends within the portfolio and various sub-portfolios. It also includes reporting
on compliance with all portfolio risk limits including an explanation of any limit breaches.
To identify emerging risk and enable appropriate risk mitigating actions Risk Management also conducts
regular Bank-wide (top-down) and country level (bottom-up) stress testing exercises and comprehensive
reviews of its investment portfolios. The Bank recognises that any resulting risk mitigation is constrained by
the limited geographical space within which the Bank operates.
EBRD internal ratings
Probability of default (PD)
The Bank assigns its internal risk ratings to all counterparties, including borrowers, investee companies,
guarantors and sovereigns in the Banking portfolio. Risk ratings reflect the financial strength of the
counterparty as well as consideration of any implicit support, for example from a major shareholder. The
sovereign rating takes into consideration the ratings assigned by external rating agencies. For non-sovereign
operations, probability of default ratings are normally capped by the sovereign rating, except where the
Bank has recourse to a guarantor from outside the country which may have a better rating than the local
sovereign rating.
The table below shows the Bank’s internal probability of default rating scale from 1.0 (lowest risk) to 8.0
(highest risk) and how this maps to the external ratings of Standard & Poor’s (S&P). References to risk
rating through this text relate to probability of default ratings unless otherwise specified.
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EBRD risk
category
1
2

3

4

5

6

7
8

EBRD risk rating

External rating equivalent

Category name

1.0
1.7
2.0
2.3/2.5
2.7
3.0
3.3
3.7
4.0
4.3
4.7
5.0
5.3
5.7
6.0
6.3
6.7
7.0
7.3
8.0

AAA
AA+
AA
AAA+
A
ABBB+
BBB
BBBBB+
BB
BBB+
B
BCCC+
CCC
CCC-/CC/C
D

Excellent

Broader category

Very Strong

Strong

Investment Grade

Good

Fair

Risk class 5

Weak

Risk class 6

Special Attention

Classified

Non-performing

Loss given default (LGD)
The Bank assigns loss given default percentages on a scale of 0 to 100 determined by the seniority of the
instrument in which the Bank invested.
Non-performing loans (NPL)
NPL definition
An asset is designated as non-performing when either the borrower is more than 90 days past due on
payment to any material creditor, or when Risk Management considers that the counterparty is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations in full without recourse by the Bank to actions such as realising security, if held.
Provisioning methodology
A specific provision is raised on all NPLs accounted for at amortised cost. The provision represents the
amount of expected loss, being the difference between the outstanding amount from the client and the
expected recovery amount. The expected recovery amount is equal to the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the loan’s original effective interest rate.
General portfolio provisions
In the performing portfolio, provisions are held against losses incurred but not identified at the balance sheet
date. These amounts are based on the PD rates associated with the rating assigned to each counterparty, the
LGD parameters reflecting product seniority and the Exposure at Default (EAD). EAD is calculated based
on outstanding operating assets and the expected disbursement of committed but not yet drawn amounts.
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Credit risk exposures
Placements with credit institutions
The Fund’s placements with credit institutions were classified in internal credit rating risk category 2 (€14
million) and category 5 (€38,000) (approximately AA+ to BB- in terms of the S&P equivalent).
Loan investments
Set out below is an analysis of the Fund’s loan investments and the associated impairment provisions for
each of the Bank’s relevant internal risk rating categories.

Neither

Risk rating
8: Expected loss/impaired
At 31 December 2016

Specific
provisions

past

for

for

due nor

unidentified

identified

Total
net of

Impairment

impaired

Impaired

Total

Total

impairment

impairment

impairment

provisions

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

%

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

%

-

3
3

3
3

100.0

-

(3)
(3)

-

100.0

100.0

Neither

Risk rating
8: Expected loss/impaired
At 31 December 2015

Portfolio
provisions

Portfolio

Specific

provisions

provisions

past

for

for

due nor

unidentified

identified

100.0

Total
net of

Impairment

impaired

Impaired

Total

Total

impairment

impairment

impairment

provisions

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

%

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

%

-

37
37

37
37

100.0

-

(37)
(37)

-

100.0
100.0

100.0

Guarantees
In accordance with Section 3.01 (a) of the Rules and Regulations of the Fund, the Fund may guarantee 50 per
cent of the principal losses of PLIs which have provided qualifying start-up loans to MSEs, subject to a
maximum amount of €3 million overall. At 31 December 2016, such loans amounted to €20,000 (2015:
€20,000), for which the Fund’s maximum exposure was €10,000 (2015: €10,000).
The Fund does not actively manage credit risk on its guarantee exposure and the Fund's guarantee exposure
is not internally risk rated by the Bank as the relevant information on the PLIs sub-loan portfolio is not
available.
Undrawn loan commitments
There are no undrawn loan commitments at 31 December 2016 (2015: nil).
Concentration of credit risk exposure
The Fund’s credit risk exposure is concentrated in a single geographic region, Romania, and a single
industry sector, finance.
B. Market risk
Market risk is the potential loss that could result from adverse market movements. The drivers of market
risk for the Fund are interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk.
Market risk management and measurement
As discussed at the beginning of the Risk Management section, the Fund does not actively monitor or hedge
against market risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. The length of time for which the rate of interest is fixed on a financial instrument indicates to
what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk.
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The majority of the Fund's placements and loan investments are repriced to market interest rates within one
and six months respectively. The Fund’s Romanian leu placement is repriced from time to time in line with
market fluctuations, but not at set intervals. Exposure to interest rate risk is still considered to be minimal.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Fund's net exposure to foreign exchange risk is considered to be minimal as outlined in the table below.
Romanian

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net currency position at 31 December 2016

Euro

leu

2016

2016

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

13,977
(12)
13,965

38
38

14,015
(12)
14,003

Total

Romanian

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net currency position at 31 December 2015

Euro

leu

2015

2015

Total

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

14,037
(10)
14,027

4
4

14,041
(10)
14,031

C. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Fund’s Rules and Regulations require that loan investments and guarantees are financed from the
resources of the Fund, which comprise contributions received and interest income.
Accordingly, the Fund cannot commit more than the available resources and cannot borrow funds to finance
operations. The Fund’s guarantees are limited to the resources of the guarantee sub-account, and
contributions received are recognised as equity, which will only be returned to the contributor as part of the
residual assets upon termination of the Fund. As a result, the Fund’s exposure to liquidity risk is considered
to be minimal.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Creation of the Special Fund
The creation of the Fund was approved by the Board on 18 October 2006 and is administered, inter alia, in
accordance with the AEB and under the terms of the Rules and Regulations of the Fund. The Fund became
operational on 11 December 2006 following the signing of the first contribution agreement.
The Fund’s principal office is located in London at One Exchange Square, EC2A 2JN.
The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the AEB. The Fund is not part of the ordinary
capital resources of the Bank, but any privileges and immunities available to the Bank are extended to the
Fund.
2. President’s responsibilities
The President is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS issued by the
IASB.

3. Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses are comprised of the following:

Audit fees
Interest expense
At 31 December

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

7

8

55

12

62

20

Other operating expenses comprise administrative expenses directly related to the Fund and includes
external auditor's remuneration of €6,700 (2015: €7,700). The Bank pays the external auditor’s remuneration
on behalf of the Fund, who in turn reimburses the Bank in full. At 31 December 2016 €6,700 (2015: €7,700)
is payable to the Bank in relation to the 2016 external audit. In 2014 the Bank approved an extension of the
term of appointment from four year to five with a maximum of two consecutive terms. Deloitte LLP (UK)
completed its first four year term in 2014 and has been re-appointed for the five year period 2015 – 2019.
The fall in the fee for the audit services paid to the Fund’s external auditor from 2015 to 2016 is attributable
to movements in the value of pound sterling. The pound sterling equivalent of these fees was £5,800
(2015: £5,700).
4. Provision for impairment of loan investments
Release for the year
Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments
Specific provisions for the identified impairment of loan investments
Impairment release on loan investments

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

34
34

16

(37)

(58)

34
(3)

21
(37)

(3)
(3)

(37)
(37)

5
21

Movement in provisions
At 1 January
Release for the year to the income statement
At 31 December
Representing:
Specific provisions for the identified impairment of loan investments
At 31 December
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5.

Loan investments
2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

At 1 January

37

1,035

Repayments

(34)

(1,003)

Foreign exchange movements

-

Movement in net deferral of commitment fees
At 31 December
Impairment at 31 December
Total loan investments net of impairment at 31 December

4
1

3

37

(3)
-

(37)
-

6. Other financial liabilities
2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

Audit fees payable

7

8

Interest payable
At 31 December

5

2

12

10

7. Analysis of current and non-current assets and liabilities
The table below provides the classification of current and non-current assets and liabilities in the balance
sheet.

Assets
Placements with credit institutions

Current

Non-current

Total

Current

Non-current

2016

2016

2016

2015

2015

2015

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

14,015

-

14,015

14,041

-

14,041

-

3

3

-

37

37

Loans
Provision for impairment
Total assets

14,015

(3)
-

(3)
14,015

14,041

(37)
-

Total

(37)
14,041

Liabilities
Other financial liabilities

12

-

12

10

-

10

Total liabilities

12

-

12

10

-

10

8. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet approximate to their
fair value.
9. Events after the reporting period
There have been no material events since the reporting date that would require disclosure or adjustment to
these financial statements.
10. Related parties
The Fund’s related parties are the Bank and the contributor.
The Bank is entitled to charge the Fund a management fee equal to 1.25 per cent of contributions received.
As there were no contributions received in 2016, there were no management fees paid by the Fund to the
Bank (2015: nil) and there was no accrued management fee payable by the Fund to the Bank at 31 December
2016 (2015: nil).
Audit fees payable to the Bank are outlined in note 3.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GOVERNORS OF THE EUROPEAN BANK FOR
RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT (“THE BANK”)

Report on the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Romania Micro Credit Facility Special Fund (“the Fund”) for the year ended
31 December 2016 which comprise the statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the statement of changes
in contributors’ resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting policies, the risk management statement and the
related notes 1 to 10.
In our opinion the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Romania Micro
Credit Facility Special Fund as at 31 December 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the United Kingdom, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
Emphasis of matter - Financial statements prepared other than on a going concern basis
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we have considered the adequacy of the
disclosure made in the Basis of preparation to the financial statements, which explains that the financial statements have
been prepared on a basis other than that of a going concern.
President’s responsibility for the financial statements
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal
control as the President determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the President is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The President is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:


Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund's internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the President.
Conclude on the appropriateness of the President’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records, if the
proper accounting records have not been kept, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require
for our audit. We have nothing to report in connection with these matters.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank in accordance with Article 24 of the
Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for the use of the contributor and for no other purpose. We do
not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this
Report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants
London, United Kingdom
5 April 2017
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The Russia Small Business Technical Cooperation Special Fund
Income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

10
(789)
(7)
4
(782)

5
(748)
8
(8)
20
(723)

(782)

(723)

Note

Interest income
From credit institutions
Disbursements for technical cooperation
Repayments of disbursements for technical cooperation
Other operating expenses
Foreign exchange movement
Net loss for the year
Attributable to:
Contributors

3

Statement of comprehensive income
Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

For the year ended 31 December 2016

Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
Foreign exchange movement between functional
and presentational currencies
Total comprehensive expense for the year
Attributable to:
Contributors

€ 000

€ 000

(782)

(723)

72
(710)

447
(276)

(710)

(276)

31 December

31 December

These items will not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss.

Balance sheet
At 31 December 2016

2015

2016

Note

€ 000

Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Total assets
Liabilities and contributors' resources
Other financial liabilities
Total liabilities

4

Contributions
Reserves and accumulated loss
Total contributors' resources
Total liabilities and contributors' resources

5

€ 000

€ 000

3,163
3,163

3,750
3,750

311
311

188
188

69,580
(66,018)

69,580
(66,728)
2,852
3,163

1

€ 000

3,562
3,750
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Statement of changes in contributors’ resources
For the year ended 31 December 2016
General

At 31 December 2014
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year
As 31 December 2015
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year
As 31 December 2016

Accumulated

Contributions

reserve

loss

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

Total
€ 000

69,580
69,580
69,580

639
447
1,086
72
1,158

(66,381)
(723)
(67,104)
(782)
(67,886)

3,838
(276)
3,562
(710)
2,852

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2016

€ 000

Cash flows used in operating activities
Net loss for the year
Adjustment for:
Interest income
Foreign exchange movement

Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

(10)

(5)

(4)

(20)

(796)

(748)
5

10

15

123
(663)
(663)
3,750

2

€ 000

(723)

(782)

Interest income received
Increase in operating liabilities
Accrued expenses
Net cash used in operating activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

€ 000

(728)
(728)
4,011

76

467

3,163

3,750
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Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
A. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and have been prepared on
a going concern basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
policies of The Russia Small Business Technical Cooperation Special Fund (“the Fund”). The Fund does not
have any areas with accounting estimates and judgements for the years presented.
New and amended IFRS mandatorily effective for the current reporting period
There are a number of amendments to standards effective for the current reporting period which have no or
negligible impact on the Fund’s financial statements, namely:
 IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
 IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements
 IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment
 IAS 38: Intangible Assets
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments is the IASB’s replacement project for IAS 39. The Standard has developed in
phases and was completed in July 2014 with a mandatory application date for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Fund adopted the first phase ‘recognition and measurement of
financial assets’ (November 2009) in its 2012 financial statements. See the accounting policy for financial
assets for more details.
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
The following standards are not yet effective and have not been adopted early.
Pronouncement
Amendments to:
IFRS 2: Share-based
Payment

Amendments to:
IFRS 4: Insurance
Contracts

IFRS 9
Financial Instruments

Nature of change
Accounting for a modification of a share-based payment
transaction that changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Provides guidance for insurers in applying IFRS 9:
Financial Instruments with IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(October 2010).
Hedge accounting (November 2013).

Potential Impact
The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.

The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.
The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Impairment methodology and introduction of ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ measurement
category for financial assets represented by simple debt
instruments (July 2014).

Amendments to:

IFRS 9 to be adopted in its entirety for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Provides guidance for accounting for the loss of control of a
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The Fund considers
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IFRS 10:
Consolidation
Financial Statements
and
IAS 28: Investments in
Associates and Joint
Ventures
IFRS 15: Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

IFRS 16: Leases

Amendments to:
IAS 7: Statement of
Cash Flows

Amendments to:
IAS 12: Income Taxes

subsidiary as a result of a transaction involving an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method.

that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined by the IASB.
Establishes principles for reporting useful information to
users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers.

The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a
contract, ie the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier
(‘lessor’).

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019.
An entity shall provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes.

This is a disclosure
requirement only
which the Fund will
comply with in 2017.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
Clarifies the requirements on recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at
fair value
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.

4

The Fund is exempt
from all forms of
direct taxes and so this
Standard is not
applicable.
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B. Significant accounting policies
Financial assets - Classification and measurement
The Fund early adopted the first instalment of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, concerning the classification
and measurement of financial assets, with effect from 1 January 2010. Pursuant to that adoption, the Fund
classifies its financial assets in the following categories: those measured at amortised cost and those
measured at fair value. This classification depends on both the contractual characteristics of the assets and
the business model adopted for their management.
Financial assets at amortised cost
An investment is classified as ‘amortised cost’ only if both of the following criteria are met: the objective of
the Fund’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flow; and the contractual terms
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding, interest being consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated with the
principal amount outstanding.
Investments meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less any impairment. The Fund’s financial assets at amortised cost are
recognised at settlement date.
Financial assets at fair value
If either of the two criteria above is not met, the debt instrument is classified as ‘fair value through profit or
loss’. The Fund does not currently have any such assets in this category.
Financial liabilities
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to financial liabilities and therefore still
applies IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
All financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost.
Contributors’ resources
The Fund recognises contributions received from the contributors as equity on the basis that, should a
contributor choose to withdraw from the Fund, the Fund is not obliged to return such contributions until the
residual assets are distributed to the contributors upon the winding up of the Fund.
General reserve
The general reserve represents foreign exchange movements on translation from functional currency to
presentational currency.
Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents comprise
balances with less than three months maturity from the date of the transaction, which are available for use at
short notice and that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Foreign currencies
The functional currency of the Fund is the United States dollar (USD) as this reflects the transactions, events
and conditions under which the Fund conducts its business. For financial statement reporting purposes the
unit of measurement is the euro (€).
For functional currency reporting, transactions in currencies other than USD are translated into USD at
exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction. All assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other
than USD are re-translated into USD at spot rates ruling at 31 December 2016 with the resultant exchange
gains or losses taken to the income statement.
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For financial statement reporting, income and expenses (excluding exchange gains or losses) are translated
from the functional currency to euro using exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction. Exchange
gains or losses are translated from the functional currency to euro at 31 December 2016 using the average
exchange rate for the year. Assets and liabilities denominated in the functional currency are re-translated to
euro at spot rates ruling at 31 December 2016 with the resultant exchange gains and losses taken to other
comprehensive income.
Contributions
Contributions received in currencies other than euro are translated into euro at the exchange rates ruling at
the time of the transaction.
Interest
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis. All interest is recognised within 'interest income' in the income
statement.
Disbursements for technical cooperation
Disbursements for technical cooperation, which represent payments for consultancy services provided to the
Fund over a period of time, are recorded as expenditure over the period during which the services are
received.
Taxation
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the European Bank for Reconstruction and
Development (“the AEB”) (“the Bank”), within the scope of its official activities, the Bank, its assets,
property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and duties levied upon goods and services
acquired or imported, except for those parts of taxes or duties that represent charges for public utility
services. As described in note 1, this exemption is extended to the Fund.
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Risk management
The Fund was established to finance technical cooperation for the design and implementation of the pilot,
extended pilot and full-scale phase operations of the Russia Small Business Programme (“the Programme”).
As the purpose of the Fund is to assist the operations of the Programme rather than to generate a return on its
assets, financial risks, with the exception of credit risk, are not actively managed by the Fund.
Risk governance
The Fund follows the Bank's risk governance procedures as below:
The Bank’s overall framework for identifying and managing risks is underpinned by the Banking VicePresidency being the first line of defence related to debt and equity operations and an independent second
line of defence control functions, including the Risk Management department, Office of the Chief
Compliance Officer, Environmental and Social Department, Finance Department, Evaluations Department
and other relevant units. An Internal Audit Department acts as third line of defence and independently
assesses the effectiveness of the processes within the first and second lines of defence. The Vice President,
Risk and Compliance, Chief Risk Officer (CRO) is responsible for ensuring the independent risk
management of the Banking exposures, including adequate processes and governance structure for
independent identification, measurement, monitoring and mitigation of risks incurred by the Bank. The
challenge of the control functions, review of their status and assessment of their ability to perform duties
independently falls within the remit of the Audit Committee of the Board.
Matters related to Bank-wide risk and associated policies and procedures are considered by the Risk
Committee. The Risk Committee is accountable to the President. It oversees all aspects of the Banking
portfolio across all sectors and countries, and provides advice on Risk Management policies, measures and
controls. It also approves proposals for new products submitted by Banking. The membership comprises
senior managers across the Bank including representatives from Risk Management, Finance, Banking and
the Office of the General Counsel.
The Risk Committee is chaired by the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO.
The Managing Director, Risk Management reports to the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO and leads the
overall management of the department. Risk Management provides an independent assessment of risks
associated with individual investments undertaken by the Bank, and performs an ongoing review of the
portfolio to monitor credit, market and liquidity risks and to identify appropriate risk management actions. It
also assesses and proposes ways to manage risks arising from correlations and concentrations within the
portfolio, and ensures that adequate systems and controls are put in place for identifying and managing
operational risks across the Bank. It develops and maintains the Risk Management policies to facilitate
Banking and Treasury operations and promotes risk awareness across the Bank.
In exercising its responsibilities, Risk Management is guided by its mission to:
• Provide assurance to stakeholders that risk decision-making in the Bank is balanced and within agreed
appetite, and that control processes are rigorously designed and applied; and
• Support the Bank’s business strategy including the maximisation of transition impact through provision of
efficient and effective delivery of risk management advice, challenge and decision making.
A. Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential loss to a portfolio that could result from the default of a counterparty or the
deterioration of its creditworthiness.
The Fund's exposure to credit risk is currently limited to the financial institutions with which it may place its
cash resources. For banks with which the Fund places its cash, internal credit ratings are determined by Risk
Management and are the same as those used for Banking exposures. These ratings are based on internal
analysis of approved counterparties' creditworthiness through synthesis of externally provided credit
research and market data, including approved external agency ratings. All individual counterparty credit
lines for banks are measured, monitored and reviewed by Risk Management annually.
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At year end the Fund’s cash was placed with a single financial institution which ranked in the second highest
internal credit rating risk category assigned by the Bank’s Risk Management department. This rating
approximated to a Standard & Poor’s equivalent rating in the range of AA+ to AA-.
The carrying amount of placements presented on the balance sheet represents the Fund's maximum exposure
to credit risk at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015.
B. Market risk
Market risk is the potential loss that could result from adverse market movements. The drivers of market
risk for the Fund are interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk.
Market risk management and measurement
As discussed at the beginning of the Risk Management section, the Fund does not actively monitor or hedge
against market risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. The length of time for which the rate of interest is fixed on a financial instrument indicates to
what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk.
The Fund's placements are repriced to market interest rates within one month, therefore the exposure to
interest rate risk is considered to be minimal.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Fund's net exposure to functional currency foreign exchange risk (euro to USD) is considered to be
minimal, as outlined in the table below.
United States

Total assets

Euro

dollars

2016

2016

2016

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

-

3,163

3,163

Total liabilities

(131)

Net currency position at 31 December 2016

(131)

(180)
2,983

Total

(311)
2,852

United States

Total assets

Euro

dollars

2015

2015

2015

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

-

3,750

3,750

Total liabilities

(188)

-

Net currency position at 31 December 2015

(188)

3,750

Total

(188)
3,562

Based on the average five year absolute rolling average movement in the USD to euro exchange rate, the
potential impact on other comprehensive income due to presentational currency movement from a 5 per cent
strengthening or weakening (2015: 5 per cent) is €0.2 million (2015: €0.2 million).
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C. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Fund’s Rules and Regulations require that technical assistance is financed from the resources of the
Fund, which comprises contributions received and investment income. Accordingly, the Fund cannot
commit more than the available resources and cannot borrow funds to finance operations. The Fund
recognises contributions received as equity, which will only be returned to the contributors as part of the
residual assets upon termination of the Fund. As a result, the exposure to liquidity risk is considered to be
minimal.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Creation of the Special Fund
The creation of the Fund was approved by the Board of Directors ("the Board") of the Bank at its meeting of
18 October 1993 and is administered, inter alia, under the terms of the Rules and Regulations of the Fund.
An amendment to the Rules and Regulations was approved by the Board on 14 July 1994 to change the
denomination of the Fund from the European Currency Unit to United States dollars. The full-scale phase of
the Programme was approved by the Board at its meeting of 30 August 1995 and a revised version of the
Rules and Regulations of the Fund, in connection with the full-scale phase, was approved by the Board on 1
April 1996.
The Fund’s principal office is located in London at One Exchange Square, EC2A 2JN.
The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the AEB. The Fund is not part of the ordinary
capital resources of the Bank, but any privileges and immunities available to the Bank are extended to the
Fund.
2. President’s responsibilities
The President is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS issued by the
IASB.
3. Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses represent external auditor’s remuneration of €6,700 (2015: €7,700). The Bank
pays the remuneration on behalf of the Fund, who in turn reimburses the Bank in full. At 31 December 2016
€6,700 (2015: €7,700) is payable to the Bank in relation to the 2016 external audit. In 2014 the Bank
approved an extension of the term of appointment from four years to five with a maximum of two
consecutive terms. Deloitte LLP (UK) completed its first four-year term in 2014 and has been re-appointed
for the five year period 2015-2019.
The fall in the fee for the audit paid to the Fund’s external auditor from 2015 to 2016 is attributable to
movements in the value of pound sterling. The pound sterling equivalent of these fees was £5,800 (2015:
£5,700).
4. Other financial liabilities

Disbursements for technical cooperation payable
Audit fees payable
At 31 December

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

304

180

7

8

311

188

5. Contributions
Contributions received are set out below:
2015

2016

Cumulative contributions received

€ 000

%

€ 000

%

Canada

4,309

6.2

4,309

6.2

France

4,980

7.2

4,980

7.2

Germany

3,025

4.3

3,025

4.3

Italy

1,360

2.0

1,360

2.0

Japan

3,295

4.7

3,295

4.7

The Russia Small Business Investment Special Fund

8,848

12.7

8,848

12.7

Switzerland

1,244

1.8

1,244

1.8

United Kingdom

12,824

18.4

12,824

18.4

United States of America

29,695

42.7

29,695

42.7

At 31 December

69,580

100.00

69,580

100.00
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6. Undrawn commitments

Commitments approved
Disbursements for technical cooperation (including foreign exchange movement)
Undrawn commitments at 31 December

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

82,106

80,759

(81,277)

(80,499)

829

260

7. Analysis of current and non-current assets and liabilities
All assets and liabilities on the balance sheet are classified as current for both 2016 and 2015.
8. Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet approximate to their
fair value.
9. Events after the reporting period
There have been no material events since the reporting date that would require disclosure or adjustment to
these financial statements.
10. Related parties
The Fund’s related parties are the Bank and the contributors.
The Bank is entitled to charge the Fund a management fee of an amount equal to 3 per cent of contributions
received. As there were no contributions received in 2016, there were no management fees paid by the Fund
to the Bank (2015: nil) and there was no accrued management fee payable by the fund to the Bank at
31December 2016 (2015: nil).
Audit fees payable to the Bank are outlined in note 3.
Contributions received from the contributors are outlined in note 5.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GOVERNORS OF THE EUROPEAN BANK FOR
RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT (“THE BANK”)
Report on the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the Russia Small Business Technical Cooperation Special Fund (“the Fund”)
for the year ended 31 December 2016 which comprise the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the
balance sheet, the statement of changes in contributors’ resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting policies, the
risk management statement and the related notes 1 to 10.
In our opinion the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Russia Small
Business Technical Cooperation Special Fund as at 31 December 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the United Kingdom, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
President’s responsibility for the financial statements
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal
control as the President determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the President is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The President is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's
internal control.
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the President.
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of the President’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going
concern.
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records, if the
proper accounting records have not been kept, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require
for our audit. We have nothing to report in connection with these matters.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank in accordance with Article 24 of the
Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for the use of the contributor and for no other purpose. We do
not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this
Report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants
London, United Kingdom
5 April 2017
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Income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

10
(789)
(7)
4
(782)

5
(748)
8
(8)
20
(723)

(782)

(723)

Note

Interest income
From credit institutions
Disbursements for technical cooperation
Repayments of disbursements for technical cooperation
Other operating expenses
Foreign exchange movement
Net loss for the year
Attributable to:
Contributors

3

Statement of comprehensive income
Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

For the year ended 31 December 2016

Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
Foreign exchange movement between functional
and presentational currencies
Total comprehensive expense for the year
Attributable to:
Contributors

€ 000

€ 000

(782)

(723)

72
(710)

447
(276)

(710)

(276)

31 December

31 December

These items will not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss.

Balance sheet
At 31 December 2016

2015

2016

Note

€ 000

Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Total assets
Liabilities and contributors' resources
Other financial liabilities
Total liabilities

4

Contributions
Reserves and accumulated loss
Total contributors' resources
Total liabilities and contributors' resources

5

€ 000

€ 000

3,163
3,163

3,750
3,750

311
311

188
188

69,580
(66,018)

69,580
(66,728)
2,852
3,163

1

€ 000

3,562
3,750
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Statement of changes in contributors’ resources
For the year ended 31 December 2016
General

At 31 December 2014
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year
As 31 December 2015
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year
As 31 December 2016

Accumulated

Contributions

reserve

loss

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

Total
€ 000

69,580
69,580
69,580

639
447
1,086
72
1,158

(66,381)
(723)
(67,104)
(782)
(67,886)

3,838
(276)
3,562
(710)
2,852

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2016

€ 000

Cash flows used in operating activities
Net loss for the year
Adjustment for:
Interest income
Foreign exchange movement

Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

(10)

(5)

(4)

(20)

(796)

(748)
5

10

15

123
(663)
(663)
3,750

2

€ 000

(723)

(782)

Interest income received
Increase in operating liabilities
Accrued expenses
Net cash used in operating activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

€ 000

(728)
(728)
4,011

76

467

3,163

3,750
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Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
A. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and have been prepared on
a going concern basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
policies of The Russia Small Business Technical Cooperation Special Fund (“the Fund”). The Fund does not
have any areas with accounting estimates and judgements for the years presented.
New and amended IFRS mandatorily effective for the current reporting period
There are a number of amendments to standards effective for the current reporting period which have no or
negligible impact on the Fund’s financial statements, namely:
 IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
 IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements
 IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment
 IAS 38: Intangible Assets
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments is the IASB’s replacement project for IAS 39. The Standard has developed in
phases and was completed in July 2014 with a mandatory application date for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Fund adopted the first phase ‘recognition and measurement of
financial assets’ (November 2009) in its 2012 financial statements. See the accounting policy for financial
assets for more details.
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
The following standards are not yet effective and have not been adopted early.
Pronouncement
Amendments to:
IFRS 2: Share-based
Payment

Amendments to:
IFRS 4: Insurance
Contracts

IFRS 9
Financial Instruments

Nature of change
Accounting for a modification of a share-based payment
transaction that changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Provides guidance for insurers in applying IFRS 9:
Financial Instruments with IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(October 2010).
Hedge accounting (November 2013).
Impairment methodology and introduction of ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ measurement
category for financial assets represented by simple debt
instruments (July 2014).
IFRS 9 to be adopted in its entirety for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
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Potential Impact
The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.

The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.
The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.
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Amendments to:
IFRS 10:
Consolidation
Financial Statements
and
IAS 28: Investments in
Associates and Joint
Ventures
IFRS 15: Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

IFRS 16: Leases

Amendments to:
IAS 7: Statement of
Cash Flows

Amendments to:
IAS 12: Income Taxes

Provides guidance for accounting for the loss of control of a
subsidiary as a result of a transaction involving an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method.

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined by the IASB.
Establishes principles for reporting useful information to
users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers.

The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a
contract, ie the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier
(‘lessor’).

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019.
An entity shall provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes.

This is a disclosure
requirement only
which the Fund will
comply with in 2017.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
Clarifies the requirements on recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at
fair value
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
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The Fund is exempt
from all forms of
direct taxes and so this
Standard is not
applicable.
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B. Significant accounting policies
Financial assets - Classification and measurement
The Fund early adopted the first instalment of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, concerning the classification
and measurement of financial assets, with effect from 1 January 2010. Pursuant to that adoption, the Fund
classifies its financial assets in the following categories: those measured at amortised cost and those
measured at fair value. This classification depends on both the contractual characteristics of the assets and
the business model adopted for their management.
Financial assets at amortised cost
An investment is classified as ‘amortised cost’ only if both of the following criteria are met: the objective of
the Fund’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flow; and the contractual terms
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding, interest being consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated with the
principal amount outstanding.
Investments meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less any impairment. The Fund’s financial assets at amortised cost are
recognised at settlement date.
Financial assets at fair value
If either of the two criteria above is not met, the debt instrument is classified as ‘fair value through profit or
loss’. The Fund does not currently have any such assets in this category.
Financial liabilities
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to financial liabilities and therefore still
applies IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
All financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost.
Contributors’ resources
The Fund recognises contributions received from the contributors as equity on the basis that, should a
contributor choose to withdraw from the Fund, the Fund is not obliged to return such contributions until the
residual assets are distributed to the contributors upon the winding up of the Fund.
General reserve
The general reserve represents foreign exchange movements on translation from functional currency to
presentational currency.
Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents comprise
balances with less than three months maturity from the date of the transaction, which are available for use at
short notice and that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Foreign currencies
The functional currency of the Fund is the United States dollar (USD) as this reflects the transactions, events
and conditions under which the Fund conducts its business. For financial statement reporting purposes the
unit of measurement is the euro (€).
For functional currency reporting, transactions in currencies other than USD are translated into USD at
exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction. All assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other
than USD are re-translated into USD at spot rates ruling at 31 December 2016 with the resultant exchange
gains or losses taken to the income statement.
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For financial statement reporting, income and expenses (excluding exchange gains or losses) are translated
from the functional currency to euro using exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction. Exchange
gains or losses are translated from the functional currency to euro at 31 December 2016 using the average
exchange rate for the year. Assets and liabilities denominated in the functional currency are re-translated to
euro at spot rates ruling at 31 December 2016 with the resultant exchange gains and losses taken to other
comprehensive income.
Contributions
Contributions received in currencies other than euro are translated into euro at the exchange rates ruling at
the time of the transaction.
Interest
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis. All interest is recognised within 'interest income' in the income
statement.
Disbursements for technical cooperation
Disbursements for technical cooperation, which represent payments for consultancy services provided to the
Fund over a period of time, are recorded as expenditure over the period during which the services are
received.
Taxation
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the European Bank for Reconstruction and
Development (“the AEB”) (“the Bank”), within the scope of its official activities, the Bank, its assets,
property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and duties levied upon goods and services
acquired or imported, except for those parts of taxes or duties that represent charges for public utility
services. As described in note 1, this exemption is extended to the Fund.
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Risk management
The Fund was established to finance technical cooperation for the design and implementation of the pilot,
extended pilot and full-scale phase operations of the Russia Small Business Programme (“the Programme”).
As the purpose of the Fund is to assist the operations of the Programme rather than to generate a return on its
assets, financial risks, with the exception of credit risk, are not actively managed by the Fund.
Risk governance
The Fund follows the Bank's risk governance procedures as below:
The Bank’s overall framework for identifying and managing risks is underpinned by the Banking VicePresidency being the first line of defence related to debt and equity operations and an independent second
line of defence control functions, including the Risk Management department, Office of the Chief
Compliance Officer, Environmental and Social Department, Finance Department, Evaluations Department
and other relevant units. An Internal Audit Department acts as third line of defence and independently
assesses the effectiveness of the processes within the first and second lines of defence. The Vice President,
Risk and Compliance, Chief Risk Officer (CRO) is responsible for ensuring the independent risk
management of the Banking exposures, including adequate processes and governance structure for
independent identification, measurement, monitoring and mitigation of risks incurred by the Bank. The
challenge of the control functions, review of their status and assessment of their ability to perform duties
independently falls within the remit of the Audit Committee of the Board.
Matters related to Bank-wide risk and associated policies and procedures are considered by the Risk
Committee. The Risk Committee is accountable to the President. It oversees all aspects of the Banking
portfolio across all sectors and countries, and provides advice on Risk Management policies, measures and
controls. It also approves proposals for new products submitted by Banking. The membership comprises
senior managers across the Bank including representatives from Risk Management, Finance, Banking and
the Office of the General Counsel.
The Risk Committee is chaired by the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO.
The Managing Director, Risk Management reports to the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO and leads the
overall management of the department. Risk Management provides an independent assessment of risks
associated with individual investments undertaken by the Bank, and performs an ongoing review of the
portfolio to monitor credit, market and liquidity risks and to identify appropriate risk management actions. It
also assesses and proposes ways to manage risks arising from correlations and concentrations within the
portfolio, and ensures that adequate systems and controls are put in place for identifying and managing
operational risks across the Bank. It develops and maintains the Risk Management policies to facilitate
Banking and Treasury operations and promotes risk awareness across the Bank.
In exercising its responsibilities, Risk Management is guided by its mission to:
• Provide assurance to stakeholders that risk decision-making in the Bank is balanced and within agreed
appetite, and that control processes are rigorously designed and applied; and
• Support the Bank’s business strategy including the maximisation of transition impact through provision of
efficient and effective delivery of risk management advice, challenge and decision making.
A. Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential loss to a portfolio that could result from the default of a counterparty or the
deterioration of its creditworthiness.
The Fund's exposure to credit risk is currently limited to the financial institutions with which it may place its
cash resources. For banks with which the Fund places its cash, internal credit ratings are determined by Risk
Management and are the same as those used for Banking exposures. These ratings are based on internal
analysis of approved counterparties' creditworthiness through synthesis of externally provided credit
research and market data, including approved external agency ratings. All individual counterparty credit
lines for banks are measured, monitored and reviewed by Risk Management annually.
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At year end the Fund’s cash was placed with a single financial institution which ranked in the second highest
internal credit rating risk category assigned by the Bank’s Risk Management department. This rating
approximated to a Standard & Poor’s equivalent rating in the range of AA+ to AA-.
The carrying amount of placements presented on the balance sheet represents the Fund's maximum exposure
to credit risk at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015.
B. Market risk
Market risk is the potential loss that could result from adverse market movements. The drivers of market
risk for the Fund are interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk.
Market risk management and measurement
As discussed at the beginning of the Risk Management section, the Fund does not actively monitor or hedge
against market risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. The length of time for which the rate of interest is fixed on a financial instrument indicates to
what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk.
The Fund's placements are repriced to market interest rates within one month, therefore the exposure to
interest rate risk is considered to be minimal.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Fund's net exposure to functional currency foreign exchange risk (euro to USD) is considered to be
minimal, as outlined in the table below.
United States

Total assets

Euro

dollars

2016

2016

2016

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

-

3,163

3,163

Total liabilities

(131)

Net currency position at 31 December 2016

(131)

(180)
2,983

Total

(311)
2,852

United States

Total assets

Euro

dollars

2015

2015

2015

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

-

3,750

3,750

Total liabilities

(188)

-

Net currency position at 31 December 2015

(188)

3,750

Total

(188)
3,562

Based on the average five year absolute rolling average movement in the USD to euro exchange rate, the
potential impact on other comprehensive income due to presentational currency movement from a 5 per cent
strengthening or weakening (2015: 5 per cent) is €0.2 million (2015: €0.2 million).
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C. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Fund’s Rules and Regulations require that technical assistance is financed from the resources of the
Fund, which comprises contributions received and investment income. Accordingly, the Fund cannot
commit more than the available resources and cannot borrow funds to finance operations. The Fund
recognises contributions received as equity, which will only be returned to the contributors as part of the
residual assets upon termination of the Fund. As a result, the exposure to liquidity risk is considered to be
minimal.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Creation of the Special Fund
The creation of the Fund was approved by the Board of Directors ("the Board") of the Bank at its meeting of
18 October 1993 and is administered, inter alia, under the terms of the Rules and Regulations of the Fund.
An amendment to the Rules and Regulations was approved by the Board on 14 July 1994 to change the
denomination of the Fund from the European Currency Unit to United States dollars. The full-scale phase of
the Programme was approved by the Board at its meeting of 30 August 1995 and a revised version of the
Rules and Regulations of the Fund, in connection with the full-scale phase, was approved by the Board on 1
April 1996.
The Fund’s principal office is located in London at One Exchange Square, EC2A 2JN.
The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the AEB. The Fund is not part of the ordinary
capital resources of the Bank, but any privileges and immunities available to the Bank are extended to the
Fund.
2. President’s responsibilities
The President is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS issued by the
IASB.
3. Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses represent external auditor’s remuneration of €6,700 (2015: €7,700). The Bank
pays the remuneration on behalf of the Fund, who in turn reimburses the Bank in full. At 31 December 2016
€6,700 (2015: €7,700) is payable to the Bank in relation to the 2016 external audit. In 2014 the Bank
approved an extension of the term of appointment from four years to five with a maximum of two
consecutive terms. Deloitte LLP (UK) completed its first four-year term in 2014 and has been re-appointed
for the five year period 2015-2019.
The fall in the fee for the audit paid to the Fund’s external auditor from 2015 to 2016 is attributable to
movements in the value of pound sterling. The pound sterling equivalent of these fees was £5,800 (2015:
£5,700).
4. Other financial liabilities

Disbursements for technical cooperation payable
Audit fees payable
At 31 December

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

304

180

7

8

311

188

5. Contributions
Contributions received are set out below:
2015

2016

Cumulative contributions received

€ 000

%

€ 000

%

Canada

4,309

6.2

4,309

6.2

France

4,980

7.2

4,980

7.2

Germany

3,025

4.3

3,025

4.3

Italy

1,360

2.0

1,360

2.0
4.7
12.7

Japan

3,295

4.7

3,295

The Russia Small Business Investment Special Fund

8,848

12.7

8,848

Switzerland

1,244

1.8

1,244

1.8

United Kingdom

12,824

18.4

12,824

18.4

United States of America

29,695

42.7

29,695

42.7

At 31 December

69,580

100.00

69,580

100.00
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6. Undrawn commitments

Commitments approved
Disbursements for technical cooperation (including foreign exchange movement)
Undrawn commitments at 31 December

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

82,106

80,759

(81,277)

(80,499)

829

260

7. Analysis of current and non-current assets and liabilities
All assets and liabilities on the balance sheet are classified as current for both 2016 and 2015.
8. Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet approximate to their
fair value.
9. Events after the reporting period
There have been no material events since the reporting date that would require disclosure or adjustment to
these financial statements.
10. Related parties
The Fund’s related parties are the Bank and the contributors.
The Bank is entitled to charge the Fund a management fee of an amount equal to 3 per cent of contributions
received. As there were no contributions received in 2016, there were no management fees paid by the Fund
to the Bank (2015: nil) and there was no accrued management fee payable by the fund to the Bank at
31December 2016 (2015: nil).
Audit fees payable to the Bank are outlined in note 3.
Contributions received from the contributors are outlined in note 5.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GOVERNORS OF THE EUROPEAN BANK FOR
RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT (“THE BANK”)
Report on the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the Russia Small Business Technical Cooperation Special Fund (“the Fund”)
for the year ended 31 December 2016 which comprise the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the
balance sheet, the statement of changes in contributors’ resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting policies, the
risk management statement and the related notes 1 to 10.
In our opinion the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Russia Small
Business Technical Cooperation Special Fund as at 31 December 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the United Kingdom, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
President’s responsibility for the financial statements
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal
control as the President determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the President is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The President is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's
internal control.
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the President.
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of the President’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going
concern.
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records, if the
proper accounting records have not been kept, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require
for our audit. We have nothing to report in connection with these matters.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank in accordance with Article 24 of the
Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for the use of the contributor and for no other purpose. We do
not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this
Report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants
London, United Kingdom
5 April 2017
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Income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Interest income
Financial guarantees movement
Other operating expenses
Net (loss)/profit for the year
Attributable to:
Contributors

Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

Note

€ 000

€ 000

3
4

119
(3,304)
(50)
(3,235)

47
808
855

(3,235)

855

Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

(3,235)

855

Net (loss)/profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Foreign exchange movement between functional and presentational currencies
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year
Attributable to:
Contributors

1,373

3,397

(1,862)

4,252

(1,862)

4,252

Balance sheet
At 31 December 2016

31 December 2016
Note

Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Contributions receivable
Total assets

€ 000

5

Liabilities and contributors' resources
Financial guarantee liability
Total liabilities

6

Contributions
Reserves and accumulated (loss)/gain
Total contributors' resources

5

Total liabilities and contributors' resources

€ 000

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

46,210
1,850
48,060

36,946
36,946

7,561
7,561

4,085
4,085
31,581
1,280

41,081
(582)
40,499

32,861

48,060

36,946

48,060

36,946

Memorandum items
Guarantees*

*See section on credit risk exposures on page 9 for additional details.
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Statement of changes in contributors’ resources
For the year ended 31 December 2016
General

Accumulated

Contributions

reserve

loss

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

31,581

1,549

(4,521)

28,609

-

3,397

31,581

4,946

At 31 December 2014
Total comprehensive income for the year
At 31 December 2015
Contributions received and receivable
Total comprehensive income for the year
At 31 December 2016

Total

855

4,252

(3,666)

32,861

9,500

-

-

1,373

(3,235)

-

(1,862)

9,500

41,081

6,319

(6,901)

40,499

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2016
€ 000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Interest income
Financial guarantees movement

Year to

Year to

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

(47)

(119)

(808)

3,304

-

(50)

47

119

47

69
-

7,650

2

€ 000

855

(3,235)

Interest income received
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Contributions received
Net cash from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

€ 000

7,650

-

7,719

47

36,946

32,987

1,545

3,912

46,210

36,946
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Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
A. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss. The financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
policies of SME Local Currency Special Fund (“the Fund”). The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where judgements and estimates are significant to the financial
statements, are disclosed in “Critical accounting estimates and judgements” within the section for
Accounting Policies.
New and amended IFRS mandatorily effective for the current reporting period
There are a number of amendments to standards effective for the current reporting period which have no or
negligible impact on the Fund’s financial statements, namely:
•
•
•
•

IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements
IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment
IAS 38: Intangible Assets

IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments is the IASB’s replacement project for IAS 39. The Standard has developed in
phases and was completed in July 2014 with a mandatory application date for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Fund adopted the first phase ‘recognition and measurement of
financial assets’ (November 2009) in its 2010 financial statements. See the accounting policy for financial
assets for more details.
IFRS not yet mandatorily effective and not adopted early
The following standards are not yet effective and have not been adopted early.
Pronouncement
Amendments to:
IFRS 2: Share-based
Payment

Amendments to:
IFRS 4: Insurance
Contracts

IFRS 9
Financial Instruments

Nature of change
Accounting for a modification of a share-based payment
transaction that changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Provides guidance for insurers in applying IFRS 9:
Financial Instruments with IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(October 2010).
Hedge accounting (November 2013).
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Potential Impact
The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.

The Fund considers
that this standard is not
applicable to its
operations.
The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

SME Local Currency Special Fund
Impairment methodology and introduction of ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ measurement
category for financial assets represented by simple debt
instruments (July 2014).

Amendments to:
IFRS 10:
Consolidation
Financial Statements
and
IAS 28: Investments in
Associates and Joint
Ventures
IFRS 15: Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

IFRS 16: Leases

Amendments to:
IAS 7: Statement of
Cash Flows

Amendments to:
IAS 12: Income Taxes

IFRS 9 to be adopted in its entirety for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Provides guidance for accounting for the loss of control of a
subsidiary as a result of a transaction involving an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method.

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined by the IASB.
Establishes principles for reporting useful information to
users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers.

The Fund is yet to
assess the potential
impact of adopting this
standard.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a
contract, i.e. the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier
(‘lessor’).

The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its existing operations.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019.
An entity shall provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes.

This is a disclosure
requirement only
which the Fund will
comply with in 2017.

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
Clarifies the requirements on recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at
fair value
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.
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The Fund is exempt
from all forms of
direct taxes and so this
Standard is not
applicable.
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B. Significant accounting policies
Financial assets – Classification and measurement
The Fund early adopted the first instalment of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, concerning the classification
and measurement of financial assets, with effect from 4 April 2011. Pursuant to that adoption, the Fund
classifies its financial assets in the following categories: those measured at amortised cost and those
measured at fair value. This classification depends on both the contractual characteristics of the assets and
the business model adopted for their management.
Financial assets at amortised cost
An investment is classified as ‘amortised cost’ only if both of the following criteria are met: the objective of
the Fund’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flow; and the contractual terms
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding, interest being consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated with the
principal amount outstanding.
Investments meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less any impairment. The Fund’s financial assets at amortised cost are
recognised at settlement date.
Financial assets at fair value
If either of the two criteria above is not met, the debt instrument is classified as ‘fair value through profit or
loss’. The Fund does not currently have any such assets in this category.
Financial liabilities
The Fund has not adopted early that part of IFRS 9 which relates to financial liabilities and therefore still
applies IAS 39: Financial Instruments.
All financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, except for financial guarantees which are measured in
accordance with IAS 39, as described under “Financial guarantees” below.
Contributors’ resources
The Fund recognises contributions received from the contributors as equity on the basis that, should a
contributor choose to withdraw from the Fund, the Fund is not obliged to return such contributions until the
residual assets are distributed to the contributors upon the winding up of the Fund.
General reserve
The general reserve represents foreign exchange movements on translation from functional currency to
presentational currency.
Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents comprise
balances with less than three months maturity from the date of the transaction, which are available for use at
short notice and that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Foreign currencies
The functional currency of the Fund is the United States dollar (USD) as this reflects the transactions, events
and conditions under which the Fund conducts its business. For financial statement reporting purposes the
unit of measurement is the euro (€).
For functional currency reporting, transactions in currencies other than USD are translated into USD at
exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction. All assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other
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than USD are re-translated into USD at spot rates ruling at 31 December 2016 with the resultant exchange
gains or losses taken to the income statement.
For financial statement reporting, income and expenses (excluding exchange gains or losses) are translated
from the functional currency to euro using exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction. Exchange
gains or losses are translated from the functional currency to euro at 31 December 2016 using the average
exchange rate for the year. Assets and liabilities denominated in the functional currency are re-translated to
euro at spot rates ruling at 31 December 2016 with the resultant exchange gains and losses taken to other
comprehensive income.
Contributions
Contributions received in currencies other than euro are translated into euro at the exchange rates ruling at
the time of the transaction.
Financial guarantees
The Fund’s resources are used to guarantee the principal losses of loan investments in the European Bank for
Reconstruction and Development (“the Bank’s”) Programme, limited to the resources of the Fund. When a
guarantee is issued, its initial fair value reflects the fees charged for such guarantee, assuming an arm’slength commercial transaction. As the Fund does not charge the Bank any fee for its guarantee, its initial fair
value is estimated based on the fee that the Fund might otherwise have charged, given the credit risk
attaching to the guaranteed portfolio. This initial fair value is recognised as a financial guarantee liability
with a corresponding charge to the income statement. Subsequently the guarantee is measured at the higher
of the initial fair value less cumulative amortisation or, if appropriate, the expenditure required to settle the
commitment at the balance sheet date. When it is probable that the guarantee will need to be settled and the
settlement amount can be reliably estimated, a financial guarantee contract is recognised.
Interest
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis. All interest income is recognised within ‘interest income’ in the
income statement.
Taxation
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank (“the AEB”), within the scope of its
official activities, the Bank, its assets, property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and
duties levied upon goods and services acquired or imported, except for those parts of taxes or duties that
represent charges for public utility services. As described in note 1, this exemption is extended to the Fund.
C. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Preparing financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and judgements
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts included in the income statement during the reporting period.
The Fund’s critical accounting estimates and judgements are as follows:
Financial guarantee liability
The Fund's method for determining the fair value of financial guarantees is described under "Financial
guarantees" within the accounting policies section of the report and further explained within credit risk
within the risk management section of the report.
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Risk management
The Fund was established to support an increase in local currency lending in the Early Transition Countries
(“the ETCs”) by providing guarantees on a first-loss basis for the Bank’s Programme.
As the purpose of the Fund is to promote local currency lending in the ETCs rather than to generate a return
on its assets, not all financial risks are actively managed by the Fund. Credit risk is jointly managed with the
Bank; however the Fund does not hedge against market risk and is hence exposed to interest rate risk and
foreign exchange risk.
Risk governance
The Fund follows the Bank's risk governance procedures as below:
The Bank’s overall framework for identifying and managing risks is underpinned by the Banking VicePresidency being the first line of defence related to debt and equity operations and an independent second
line of defence control functions, including the Risk Management department, Office of the Chief
Compliance Officer, Environmental and Social Department, Finance Department, Evaluations Department
and other relevant units. An Internal Audit Department acts as third line of defence and independently
assesses the effectiveness of the processes within the first and second lines of defence. The Vice President,
Risk and Compliance, Chief Risk Officer (CRO) is responsible for ensuring the independent risk
management of the Banking exposures, including adequate processes and governance structure for
independent identification, measurement, monitoring and mitigation of risks incurred by the Bank. The
challenge of the control functions, review of their status and assessment of their ability to perform duties
independently falls within the remit of the Audit Committee of the Board.
Matters related to Bank-wide risk and associated policies and procedures are considered by the Risk
Committee. The Risk Committee is accountable to the President. It oversees all aspects of the Banking
portfolio across all sectors and countries, and provides advice on Risk Management policies, measures and
controls. It also approves proposals for new products submitted by Banking. The membership comprises
senior managers across the Bank including representatives from Risk Management, Finance, Banking and
the Office of the General Counsel.
The Risk Committee is chaired by the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO.
The Managing Director, Risk Management reports to the VP Risk and Compliance, CRO and leads the
overall management of the department. Risk Management provides an independent assessment of risks
associated with individual investments undertaken by the Bank, and performs an ongoing review of the
portfolio to monitor credit, market and liquidity risks and to identify appropriate risk management actions. It
also assesses and proposes ways to manage risks arising from correlations and concentrations within the
portfolio, and ensures that adequate systems and controls are put in place for identifying and managing
operational risks across the Bank. It develops and maintains the Risk Management policies to facilitate
Banking and Treasury operations and promotes risk awareness across the Bank.
In exercising its responsibilities, Risk Management is guided by its mission to:
• Provide assurance to stakeholders that risk decision-making in the Bank is balanced and within agreed
appetite, and that control processes are rigorously designed and applied; and
• Support the Bank’s business strategy including the maximisation of transition impact through provision
of efficient and effective delivery of risk management advice, challenge and decision making.
A. Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential loss to a portfolio that could result from the default of a counterparty or the
deterioration of its creditworthiness.
The Fund may also be exposed to concentration risk, which is the risk arising from too high a proportion of
the portfolio being allocated to a specific country, industry sector or obligor, or to a particular type of
instrument or individual transaction.
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The carrying amounts of financial assets presented on the balance sheet, together with the guarantees as
shown under memorandum items, best represents the Fund’s maximum exposure to credit risk at 31
December 2016 and 31 December 2015, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit
enhancements.
Credit risk management and measurement
As previously stated, the Fund participates jointly with the Bank in the financing of investments in the
Bank’s countries of operations. It therefore benefits from the same governance process employed by the
Bank in the measurement and management of credit exposures, which is described below.
Underlying principles and procedures
The Board of Directors ("the Board") approves a document that defines the principles underlying the credit
process for the approval, management and review of Banking exposures. The Audit Committee periodically
reviews these principles and its review is submitted to the Board for approval.
Individual projects
The Operations Committee reviews all Banking projects prior to their submission for Board approval. The
Committee is chaired by the First Vice President and Head of Client Services Group and its membership
comprises senior managers of the Bank, including the VP Risk & Compliance, CRO and the Managing
Director, Risk Management. A number of frameworks for smaller projects are considered by the Small
Business Investment Committee or by senior management under a delegated authority framework supervised
by the Operations Committee. The project approval process is designed to ensure compliance with the
Bank’s criteria for sound banking, transition impact and additionality. It operates within the authority
delegated by the Board, via the President, to approve projects within Board-approved framework operations.
The Operations Committee is also responsible for approving significant changes to existing operations.
Risk Management conducts reviews of all exposures within the Banking portfolio. At each review, Risk
Management assesses whether there has been any change in the risk profile of the exposure, recommends
actions to mitigate risk and reconfirms or adjusts the risk rating. It also reviews the fair value of equity
investments.
Portfolio level review
Risk Management reports on the development of the portfolio as a whole on a quarterly basis to the Audit
Committee of the Board. The report includes a summary of key factors affecting the portfolio and provides
analysis and commentary on trends within the portfolio and various sub-portfolios. It also includes reporting
on compliance with all portfolio risk limits including an explanation of any limit breaches.
To identify emerging risk and enable appropriate risk mitigating actions Risk Management also conducts
regular Bank-wide (top-down) and country level (bottom-up) stress testing exercises and comprehensive
reviews of its investment portfolios. The Bank recognises that any resulting risk mitigation is constrained by
the limited geographical space within which the Bank operates.
EBRD internal ratings
Probability of default (PD)
The Bank assigns its internal risk ratings to all counterparties, including borrowers, investee companies,
guarantors and sovereigns in the Banking portfolio. Risk ratings reflect the financial strength of the
counterparty as well as consideration of any implicit support, for example from a major shareholder. The
sovereign rating takes into consideration the ratings assigned by external rating agencies. For non-sovereign
operations, probability of default ratings are normally capped by the sovereign rating, except where the
Bank has recourse to a guarantor from outside the country which may have a better rating than the local
sovereign rating.
The table below shows the Bank’s internal probability of default rating scale from 1.0 (lowest risk) to 8.0
(highest risk) and how this maps to the external ratings of Standard & Poor’s (S&P). References to risk
rating through this text relate to probability of default ratings unless otherwise specified.
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EBRD risk
rating category
1

EBRD risk rating

External rating equivalent

Category name

1.0
1.7
2.0
2.3/2.5
2.7
3.0
3.3
3.7
4.0
4.3
4.7
5.0
5.3
5.7
6.0
6.3
6.7
7.0
7.3
8.0

AAA
AA+
AA
AAA+
A
ABBB+
BBB
BBBBB+
BB
BBB+
B
BCCC+
CCC
CCC-/CC/C
D

Excellent

2

3

4

5

6

7
8

Broader category

Very Strong

Strong

Investment Grade

Good

Fair

Risk class 5

Weak

Risk class 6

Special Attention

Classified

Non-performing

Loss given default (LGD)
The Bank assigns loss given default percentages on a scale of 0 to 100 determined by the seniority of the
instrument in which the Bank invested.
Non-performing loans (NPL)
An asset is designated as non-performing when either the borrower is more than 90 days past due on
payment to any material creditor, or when Risk Management considers that the counterparty is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations in full without recourse by the Bank to actions such as realising security, if held.
Provisioning methodology
A specific provision is raised on all NPLs accounted for at amortised cost. The provision represents the
amount of expected loss, being the difference between the outstanding amount from the client and the
expected recovery amount. The expected recovery amount is equal to the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the loan’s original effective interest rate.
Credit risk exposures
Placements with credit institutions
At year end the Fund's cash was placed with a financial institution which ranked in the second highest
internal credit rating risk category assigned by the Bank's Risk Management department. This rating
approximated to a Standard & Poor's equivalent rating in the range of AA+ to AA-.
Guarantees
At 31 December 2016, the Bank had outstanding loans amounting to €209.0 million (2015: €198.3 million)
under the Programme, for which, in the event of a future default, losses incurred by the Bank may be
refunded in part from the resources of the Fund. At 31 December 2016, the Fund’s maximum exposure
under such guarantees was €48.1 million (2015: €36.9 million).
At 31 December 2016, €1.1 million is currently recognised as a financial guarantee contract as a result of
specific impairment on Bank loans (2015: €0.1). The guarantee liability on the balance sheet of €7.6 million
(2015: €4.1 million) includes this amount plus the initial fair value of the liability recognised when the
guarantees were issued less cumulative amortisation. The Fund does not actively manage credit risk on its
guarantee exposure.
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B. Market risk
Market risk is the potential loss that could result from adverse market movements. The drivers of market
risk for the Fund are interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk.
Market risk management and measurement
As discussed at the beginning of the Risk Management section, the Fund does not actively monitor or hedge
against market risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. The length of time for which the rate of interest is fixed on a financial instrument indicates to
what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk.
The Fund's placement is repriced to market interest rates within one month, therefore the exposure to interest
rate risk is considered to be minimal.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Fund's net exposure to functional currency foreign exchange risk (euro to USD) is considered to be
minimal, as all assets and liabilities are held in USD as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015.
Based on the average five year absolute rolling average movement in the USD to euro exchange rate, the
potential impact on other comprehensive income due to presentational currency movement, from a 5 per cent
strengthening or weakening (2015: 5 per cent) is €1.9 million (2015: €1.6 million).
C. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Fund’s Rules and Regulations require that guarantees are financed from the resources of the Fund,
which comprise contributions received and investment income. Accordingly, the Fund cannot commit more
than the available resources and cannot borrow funds to finance operations. The Fund’s guarantees are
limited to the resources of the Fund, and contributions received are recognised as equity, which will only be
returned to the contributors as part of the residual assets upon termination of the Fund. As a result, the
exposure to liquidity risk is considered to be minimal.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Creation of the Special Fund
The creation of the Fund was approved by the Board on 15 February 2011 and is administered, inter alia, in
accordance with the AEB and under the terms of the Rules and Regulations of the Fund. The Fund became
operational on 4 April 2011 when the initial aggregate resources of the Fund equalled €10 million. An
amendment to the Rules and Regulations was approved by the Board on 9 May 2012 to change the
denomination of the Fund from euro to the United States dollar. In 2016, following consultation with the
Contributors to the Fund, the Bank’s Board of Directors approved an amendment renaming the Fund from
the “ETC Local Currency Risk Sharing Special Fund” to the “SME Local Currency Special Fund”.
The Fund’s principal office is located in London at One Exchange Square, EC2A 2JN.
The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the AEB. The Fund is not part of the ordinary
capital resources of the Bank, but any privileges and immunities available to the Bank are extended to the
Fund.
2. President’s responsibilities
The President is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS issued by the
IASB.
3. Financial guarantees movement

Financial guarantees issued
Amortisation of day one fair value
Charge for estimated settlement of impaired guaranteed loans
Financial guarantees movement

2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

3,091
(877)
1,090
3,304

(760)
(48)
(808)

4. Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses comprise of administrative costs directly related to the Fund and include fees
payable to the Bank for operating the Fund, calculated in accordance with the Rules and Regulations.
5. Contributions
Cumulative contributions received
EBRD Shareholder Special Fund
Finland
Germany
Ireland
Japan
Korea
Luxembourg
Netherlands
Norway
Spain
Sweden
Switzerland
Taiwan ICDF
United Kingdom
United States of America
Contributions due not yet received
EBRD Shareholder Special Fund
Total contributions at 31 December
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2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

27,334
155
78
71
3,218
117
62
1,168
312
310
210
1,736
108
605
3,747
39,231

22,334
155
78
71
568
117
62
1,168
312
310
210
1,736
108
605
3,747
31,581

1,850
41,081

31,581

SME Local Currency Special Fund
6. Financial guarantee liability
2016

2015

€ 000

€ 000

At 1 January

4,085

4,378

Financial guarantee movement

3,304

(808)

172

515

Movement in functional currency
At 31 December

7,561

4,085

6,376
1,185

3,992
93

Represented by:
Unamortised balance of day one fair value
Estimated settlement of impaired guaranteed loans

7. Analysis of current and non-current assets and liabilities
All assets and liabilities in the balance sheet are classified as current for both 2016 and 2015.
8. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet approximate to their
fair value.
9. Events after the reporting period
There have been no material events since the reporting date that would require disclosure or adjustment to
these financial statements.
10. Related parties
The Fund’s related parties are the Bank and contributors.
The Bank is entitled to charge the Fund a management fee of an amount equal to 2 per cent of contributions
received, taking into account the amount of any management fees paid to the Bank previously for
contributions transferred from existing funds managed and administered by the Bank. During the period a
management fee of €50,400 (2015: nil) was charged by the Bank to the Fund. At 31 December 2016 there
was no accrued management fee payable by the Fund to the Bank (2015: nil).
External auditor's remuneration of €6,700 (2015: €7,700) is payable by the Bank from the management fee.
In 2014 the Bank approved an extension of the term of appointment from four years to five with a maximum
of two consecutive terms. Deloitte LLP (UK) completed its first four-year term in 2014 and has been reappointed for the five year period 2015 - 2019.
The fall in the fee for the audit paid to the Fund’s external auditor from 2015 to 2016 is attributable to
movements in the value of pound sterling. The pound sterling equivalent of these fees was £5,800 (2015:
£5,700).
Guarantees issued by the Fund to the Bank are disclosed under credit risk exposures.
Contributions received from the contributors are outlined in note 5.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GOVERNORS OF THE EUROPEAN BANK FOR
RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT (“THE BANK”)
Report on the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of SME Local Currency Special Fund (“the Fund”) for the year ended 31
December 2016 which comprise the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the
statement of changes in contributors’ resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting policies, the risk management
statement and the related notes 1 to 10.
In our opinion the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the SME Local
Currency Special Fund as at 31 December 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB).
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the United Kingdom, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
President’s responsibility for the financial statements
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal
control as the President determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the President is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The President is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's
internal control.
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 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the President.
 Conclude on the appropriateness of the President’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going
concern.
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records, if the
proper accounting records have not been kept, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require
for our audit. We have nothing to report in connection with these matters.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank in accordance with Article 24 of the
Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for the use of the contributor and for no other purpose. We do
not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this
Report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants
London, United Kingdom
5 April 2017
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The Municipal Finance Facility Special Fund
Statement of comprehensive income
Period to

Year to

25 August 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

(443)
(3,691)
(69)
(336)
(20)
(4,559)

(654)
(6,403)
(289)
(88)
(7,434)

(4,559)

(7,434)

25 August 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

-

12,492
5
12,497

7

-

1,139
1,139

6

-

32,707
(21,349)
11,358

-

12,497

For the period ended 25 August 2016
Note

Incentive fees
Energy efficiency fees to participating banks
Energy efficiency fees to sub-borrowers
Performance fees
Disbursements for technical cooperation
Other operating expenses
Net loss and comprehensive expense for the period
Attributable to:
Contributor

3

4
5

Balance sheet
At 25 August 2016
Note

Assets
Placements with credit institutions
Bank charges refundable
Total assets
Liabilities and contributor’s resources
Other financial liabilities
Total liabilities
Contributions
Reserves and accumulated loss
Total contributor’s resources
Total liabilities and contributor’s resources
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Statement of changes in contributor’s resources
For the period ended 25 August 2016
Accumulated

At 31 December 2014
Reversal of contributions receivable
Total comprehensive expense for the year
At 31 December 2015
Contributions refunded
Total comprehensive expense for the period
At 25 August 2016

Contributions

loss

€ 000

€ 000

Total
€ 000

33,000
(293)
32,707
(32,707)
-

(13,915)
(7,434)
(21,349)
25,908
(4,559)
-

19,085
(293)
(7,434)
11,358
(6,799)
(4,559)
-

Statement of cash flows
Statement of cash flows
For the period ended 25 August 2016
€ 000

Cash flows used in operating activities
Net loss for the period
Adjustments for:
Decrease/ (increase) in operating assets
Bank charges refundable
Increase in operating liabilities
Accrued expenses
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Contributions (refunded)/ received
Net cash from financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

Period to

Year to

25 August 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

(7,434)

(4,559)

(5)

5

(210)

(1,139)

(7,649)

(5,693)
6,000

(6,799)
(6,799)
(12,492)
12,492
-
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€ 000

6,000
(1,649)
14,141
12,492
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Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
A. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Going concern
The financial statements for the Municipal Finance Facility Special Fund (“the Fund”) are presented on a
basis other than that of a going concern as the Fund terminated on 31 December 2015 and was subsequently
closed on 25 August 2016. In such circumstances all assets and liabilities are more appropriately reported at
net realisable value rather than historical cost.
New and amended IFRS mandatorily effective for the current reporting period
The following standards are effective for the reporting period.
Pronouncement
Amendments to:
IFRS 11: Joint
Arrangements
Amendments to:
IAS 1: Presentation of
Financial Statements

Nature of change
Provides guidance on the accounting for acquisitions of
interests in joint operations in which the activity constitutes
a business. Effective for accounting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2016.
Various amendments to improve presentation and disclosure
under IAS 1.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2016.

Amendments to:
IAS 16: Property,
Plant and Equipment
and
IAS 38: Intangible
Assets

Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation and
amortisation.
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2016.

Potential Impact
The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its operations.
The Fund has assessed
the amendments to this
standard and noted that
they would not cause a
significant change in
how information is
currently being
presented and
disclosed.
The Fund considers
that this amendment
has no applicability to
its operations.

IFRS not yet mandatorily effective but adopted early
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments is the IASB’s replacement project for IAS 39. The Standard has developed in
phases and was completed in July 2014 with a mandatory application date for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Fund adopted the first phase ‘recognition and measurement of
financial assets’ (November 2009) in its 2010 financial statements. See the accounting policy for financial
assets for more details.
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IFRS not yet mandatorily effective and not adopted early
The following standards are not yet effective and have not been adopted early.
Pronouncement
IFRS 9
Financial Instruments

Nature of change
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(October 2010).
Hedge accounting (November 2013).

Potential Impact
As the Fund has now
terminated, there is no
potential impact of
adopting this standard

Impairment methodology and introduction of ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ measurement
category for financial assets represented by simple debt
instruments (July 2014).

Amendments to:
IFRS 10:
Consolidation
Financial Statements
and
IAS 28: Investments in
Associates and Joint
Ventures
IFRS 15: Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

IFRS 16: Leases

Amendments to:
IAS 7: Statement of
Cash Flows

IFRS 9 to be adopted in its entirety for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
Provides guidance for the accounting for the loss of control
of a subsidiary as a result of a transaction involving an
associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the
equity method.

As the Fund has now
terminated, there is no
potential impact of
adopting this standard

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined by the IASB.
Establishes principles for reporting useful information to
users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers.

As the Fund has now
terminated, there is no
potential impact of
adopting this standard

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a
contract, ie the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier
(‘lessor’).

As the Fund has now
terminated, there is no
potential impact of
adopting this standard

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019.
An entity shall provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes.

As the Fund has now
terminated, there is no
potential impact of
adopting this standard

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017.

4

The Municipal Finance Facility Special Fund
B. Significant accounting policies
Financial assets and financial liabilities
Assets and liabilities are measured at fair value. In the case of cash placements, the principal equates to fair
value given the short-term nature of such placements. The value of the financial liabilities equates to their
fair value as these are expected to be settled for the values disclosed on the balance sheet in the short-term.
Derecognition of financial assets
The Fund derecognises a financial asset, or a portion of a financial asset, where the contractual rights to that
asset have expired or where the rights to further cash flows from the asset have been transferred to a third
party and, with them, either:
(i) substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or
(ii) significant risks and rewards, along with the unconditional ability to sell or pledge the asset.
Contributor's resources
The Fund recognises contributions received from the contributor as equity on the basis that the termination
of the contribution agreement would lead to the winding up of the Fund and the distribution of the residual
assets to the contributor.
Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents comprise
balances with less than three months maturity from the date of the transaction, which are available for use at
short notice and that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Incentive fees
Incentive fees represent amounts incurred for the period by partner banks and end-borrowers to encourage
particular lending and investment behaviours. Fees are recognised as a liability when the participating bank
or end-borrower satisfies various performance targets.
Disbursements for technical cooperation
Disbursements for technical cooperation, which represent payments for consultancy services provided to the
Fund over a period of time, are recorded as expenditure over the period during which the services are
received.
Interest
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis using the effective interest method. Interest earned on placements
with credit institutions, is recognised within ‘net interest’ in the income statement. Negative interest is
recognised within operating expenses in the income statement.
Taxation
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the European Bank for Reconstruction and
Development (“the AEB”) (“the Bank”), within the scope of its official activities, the Bank, its assets,
property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and duties levied upon goods and services
acquired or imported, except for those parts of taxes or duties that represent charges for public utility
services. As described in note 1, this exemption is extended to the Fund.
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Risk management
The purpose of the Fund is to alleviate the financing problems of small and medium-sized municipalities
within Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Romania, Slovak Republic
and Slovenia (“the Accession countries”). To achieve this, the resources of the Fund may be used to provide
technical assistance and financial incentives to partner banks and end-borrowers participating in the
Municipal Finance Facility which provides financing to small and medium sized municipalities, municipally
owned companies and private companies providing municipal services. In 2008 modifications have been
introduced with the aim to stimulate implementation of energy efficient rehabilitation of municipal buildings
and infrastructure.
As the purpose of the Fund is to assist small and medium-sized municipalities rather than to generate a
return on its assets, financial risks, with the exception of credit risk, are not actively managed by the Fund.

A. Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential loss to a portfolio that could result from the default of a counterparty or the
deterioration of its creditworthiness.
On 25 August 2016 all of the Fund’s resources were transferred to the European Union (“EU”). As such, the
Fund has no exposure to credit risk.

B. Market risk
Market risk is the potential loss that could result from adverse market movements. The driver of market risk
for the Fund is interest rate risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. The length of time for which the rate of interest is fixed on a financial instrument indicates to
what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk.
On 25 August 2016 all of the Fund’s resources were transferred to the EU. As such, the Fund has no
exposure to market risk.

C. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
On 25 August 2016 all of the Fund’s resources were transferred to the EU. As such, the Fund has no
exposure to liquidity risk.

6

The Municipal Finance Facility Special Fund
Notes to the financial statements
1. Creation of the Special Fund
The creation of the Fund was approved by the Board of Directors ("the Board") of the Bank at its meeting of
29 April 2003 and is administered, inter alia, in accordance with the AEB and under the terms of the Rules
and Regulations of such Fund approved by the Board on that date, as may be amended from time to time.
On 12 December 2003, the Bank entered into a contribution agreement (“the Agreement”) in respect of the
Fund with the European Union (“EU”).
The Fund’s principal office is located in London at One Exchange Square, EC2A 2JN.
The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the AEB. The Fund is not part of the ordinary
capital resources of the Bank, but any privileges and immunities available to the Bank are extended to the
Fund. The objective of the Fund is to alleviate the financing problems of municipalities and their utility
companies for small infrastructure investments in the Accession countries.
All payments from the Fund were completed on 7 June 2016. On receipt of a debit note and following the
final transaction, the Fund was closed on 25 August 2016.
2. President’s responsibilities
The President is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS issued by the
IASB.
3. Incentive fees
Maturity enhancement fees, municipality financial incentives and performance fees are paid from the Fund
to partner banks participating in the Municipal Finance Facility, to encourage longer-term lending to small
and medium sized municipalities, municipally owned companies and private companies providing municipal
services.
Maturity enhancement fees and municipality financial incentives are calculated for each sub-loan on a
sliding scale based on maturity and paid to the partner bank. Partner banks retain maturity enhancement fees
which are paid annually or semi-annually. Municipality financial incentives are paid to the partner bank on
account for the sub-borrower and are payable following final disbursement of the sub-loan.
Performance fees are calculated as a percentage of the total commitment of each eligible sub-loan and are
directly paid to the partner banks following signature of the sub-loan.
Energy efficiency fees are paid from the Fund to partner banks and sub-borrowers to encourage the financing
of an investment in energy efficiency projects. Fees paid to partner banks are calculated as a percentage of
the sub-loan whereas fees paid to the sub-borrowers are a fixed percentage of the estimated energy savings
of the project which are paid upon verification.
4. Disbursements for technical cooperation
Commitments

Undrawn

approved

Disbursements

commitments

€ 000

€ 000

€ 000

5,271

(4,512)

Total projects
At 31 December 2014
Movement in the year

(270)

At 31 December 2015
Movement in the period
At 25 August 2016

7

(289)

5,001

(4,801)

136

(336)

5,137

(5,137)

759
(559)
200
(200)
-
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5. Operating expenses
25 August 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

Management fees

-

75

Negative interest

20

13

As at

20

88

6. Contributions received and refunded
Cumulative contributions of €32.7 million have been received from the EU. In accordance with the debit
note, dated 22 August 2016 received from the EU, the unallocated balance of the Fund totalling €6.8 million
was returned to the EU on 25 August 2016.
7. Other financial liabilities
25 August 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

Energy efficiency fees to participating banks payable

-

344

Energy efficiency fees to sub-borrowers payable

-

546

Disbursements for technical cooperation payable

-

197

Management fee payable

-

50

Interest payable

-

2

As at

-

1,139

8. Undrawn commitments
25 August 2016

31 December 2015

€ 000

€ 000

Energy efficiency incentives

-

Disbursements for technical cooperation

-

8,030
200

As at

-

8,230

This represents amounts for which the Fund has contracted but for which the transaction or service was not
undertaken during the period.
9. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
Since the Fund has been closed, no assets or liabilities exist as at 25 August 2016. All assets and liabilities
presented on the balance sheet approximated their fair value at 31 December 2015.
10. Analysis of current and non-current assets and liabilities
Since the Fund has been closed, no assets or liabilities exist as at 25 August 2016. All assets and liabilities
were classified as current at 31 December 2015.
11. Events after the reporting period
There have been no material events since the reporting date that would require disclosure or adjustment to
these financial statements.
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12. Related parties
The Fund’s related parties are the Bank and the contributor.
The Bank is entitled to charge the Fund a management fee of an amount equal to 1.25 per cent of
contributions received. No management fees were charged during the period (2015: €75,000) and there was
no accrued management fee payable by the Fund to the Bank at 25 August 2016 (2015: €50,000). External
auditor's remuneration of €6,700 (2015: €7,700) is payable by the Bank from management fees. In 2014 the
Bank approved an extension of the term of appointment from four years to five with a maximum of two
consecutive terms. Deloitte LLP (UK) completed its first four-year term in 2014 and has been re-appointed
for the five year period 2015 - 2019.
During the period the Bank reimbursed the Fund €1,500 of bank charges (2015: €5,100) of which none were
receivable at the end of the period (2015: €5,100)
Contributions received from the contributor are outlined in note 6.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GOVERNORS OF THE EUROPEAN BANK FOR RECONSTRUCTION
AND DEVELOPMENT (“THE BANK”)
Report on the financial statements
We have audited the financial statements of the Municipal Finance Facility Special Fund (“the Fund”) for the period ended 25 August
2016 which comprise the statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the statement of changes in contributor’s resources,
the statement of cash flows, the accounting policies, the risk management statement and the related notes 1 to 12. The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is the International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board.
President’s responsibility for the financial statements
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal control as the President
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
Auditor's responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Financial Statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the Financial Statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the Financial Statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the Financial
Statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
Bank’s preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the Financial Statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Municipal Finance Facility
Special Fund as at 25 August 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the period then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.
Emphasis of matter - Financial statements prepared other than on a going concern basis
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we have considered the adequacy of the disclosure made in
the Basis of preparation to the financial statements, which explains that the financial statements have been prepared on a basis other
than that of a going concern.
Other reporting responsibilities
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the Financial Statements are not in agreement with the accounting records, if the proper
accounting records have not been kept, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. We
have nothing to report in connection with these matters.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank in accordance with Article 24 of the Agreement
Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for the use of the contributor and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this
opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this Report is shown or into whose
hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants
London, United Kingdom
14 December 2016
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